
UH lli

10011258

WASTE MANAGESENT





To Our Sharehoders CutomerEmp1oyees and CommunitIes

2009 was certanly busy year as the fastchangng

andscape of the economy demanded our intent focus

on fronts But Waste Management company that

embraces change Its the way we work So we did not

hes tate to make the adjustments needed to navigate this

env ronment We tapped nto our cu ture of discipl ne and

mso ye We chose the paths that we expected woud ead

us to not merely survive but thrive the wake of hard

season We made nvestments to pave the way for future

growth We pul ed back some areas while forging ahead

on multtude of crtca At atives We persevered tnrough

the chal enges

And we emerged as stronger better company

Maintaining financial strength We are

proud to report that desp te the economic circurr stances

of 2009 our company performed we many aspects

We generated earn rgs per luted share of $2.01

We reduced our operat ng expenses by 14.5 percent

We generated $1.2 bi on free cash flow reflect ng

our cont nuing ability to mainta strong balance sheet

ano mdrage our finarual assets Wsely

We ssued total of $1 bi Ion senior notes dur ng the

year at very favorab rates an indicatior of the strength of

our ba ance sheet

We retu ned $795 lion to our share olders through

share repurchases and dividends We not only contnued

to pay vidends difficu year but so ncreased the

annua vdend for the sixth consecutive year

car sum up one senterce how we stayed strong

this nancal ci mate We kept our focus on operational

our future growth We did what we always do keeping

to our core princ es and work ng our strateges The main

fference was that we were executing against the

headw nd of poor economy

From the outset we recogn zed that many of the factors

impact ng our business in 2009 were beyond our control

such as recycl ng commodity prices energy prices and

the recessiomdr yen dec nes ndustr al and andf II

vo umes across the board This simp served to sharpen

our focus on two ey factors that are within our contro

manag our costs and keeping steady hand on our

pr ng eadership

One of the rst actions we took toward reducirg costs was

reorgan zaton of the company In our field operat ons we

reduced the number of market areas from 45 to 25 creating

rrore opportunity for the efficiencies of sca that arger

market areas typ ca ly ack ieve At the corporate level we

rca igned the organ zationa framework to better service

the newly structured field operations The reorgan zation

offered both immediate and fasreachng benef ts We

quickly real zed the advantages of managing eaner

more responsive organizat on We exceeded our goa of

$120 hi0 unnualized savings from the mstmcturing

and more importantly positioned the company to reap the

ongoing cost say ngs of more streamlined cost eff cient

organ zatior year after year

excei erce and pricing disciplre and we continued to nvest



Ir addilfon to companywide cost contro measures we

bed rast to our pbcing strateg es 2009 Increas ng

customers are seek ng the compreher ye waste ard

env ronmenta so utions that Waste Management bhngs

to the tab and they are ing to pey pdce to

Ge va ue and ber ef we he br ng to theft busnesses

Regardless of the econom cImate maintain ng

eons stny pric ng 5e PS to ma tam strength

and positior our company for scstarao growtr

Developing customerdriven solutions

Even througb tt is demanding year our focus on customer

service did not oaver In fact we accelerated the pans

begun in 2008 to organ ze our sa es organ zat on around

specific ir dustry

segments By mdOOlO

we expect to have sa as

toe ns traned to serve

dedicated segments of

our customer base

provid ng customers

witn knowledgeable

resourcefu sing nt

of contact at our

compaly Another way

we are making it easier

for customers to do

ousiness wth us

through our cal centers We are ref ning our ca

maragerrent process so that custorrers call answered

and hand ed by one company representative who trained

to coord nate the iesoiuton of ary nqu Th saves time

minates transfers to fferent departments and prov oes

better custorr er experience

We are look ng at how we serve customers through

fferent ens Instead of offering servces that are based

on the assets we have we are studyirg the changing

needs of customers and reshapirg our services and our

sales orgar izatmon to better meet those needs Our goal is

to know more about our customers and how to service

them than anyone else the industry

Leading with safety Ore thing that we ever

ose sight of the mportance of providing safe and

hea thy environment for our employees our customers and

our commun es We are pleased that the challenges of the

economic din ate 2009 did not overshadow our focus on

safety which continued to mprove We reduced our Total

Recordable Ir jury Rate TA IA the number used by the

Occupat onal Safety and Health Administration IOSHA to

track work-related mnturies to record 3.1 for the year

evel tha sign ficantly better than the ndustry average

nce 2000 our ongoing commitment to safety has resulted

tota reduction workplace injuries of more than

85 percent Safety wi ways be cornerstone va ue

of our company

Pursuing our sustainability goals Giver

the offcu econo nic environment of 2009 it would have

been easy to set aside the sustainab ty goa that we

ar nounced 2007 But we ddnt These goals are critical

to our future roe as company that rot only manages

waste but ncreasmngly manages resources More and

is ore our customers look to us for solut ons to wde

range of environmental needs We are responding wth

ew and different ways to help customers governments

and communities advance the own susta nabilty goa

Because of our scope of operations arge customer base

and stra egical ocated assets our company is uniquey

positoned to manage the entire waste stream ard to

extract greatem va ue from the material in the waste stream

We are actively nvesting techno ogy to cap talize on th

ong-term trend We remain comm tted to our susta nabi ty

goa And they wil help drive mproved performance

and returns

Generate more renewahe energy from waste We use

waste to generate energy in two ways One found at

our landfi Is where landfi I-gas to-energy plants convert

nature occurring resource andfil smethaneinto

source of renewable power By the end of 2009

Waste Management had 119 landf -gas to energy

projects producing 540 megawatts of power the

equiva art of powering approximate 400000 homes



Ir add ton our whol owned subsid Wheelabrator

Techno og es owns or operates 16 waste-to-energy plants

and deper dent powm product on fad ties the U.S

that per crate enough energy to power over 900000 homes

Despite the fact that our waste-to energy revenue was

mpacted ir 2009 by the deckne ectr ty sales pr ces

the bus ness of creatng energy fron- waste dynam and

fast growirg Our ng the year we were selected as the

preferred vendor for wo Maryland counties with new

waste-to energy faci it as We won successful bid to

acquire waste-to energy fac lity VirgirA We began

pursu ng nt venture and operating opportun ties in Europe

and we executed an agreement to purcfase an nterest

jo nt venture th Shangha Env rorment Group to pursue

growth opportun es in Cn nas fast-growing waste to-

crc gy market

ncrease recycling The 2009 economy was hard on

toe recyc ng ndustry as pr ces for sa of recycled

comm odties plunged It was tough for everyone the

recyc rg busiress and many srial er companies wert

out of busi ess St our com ment to recycling

rer ns strong

We have taker steps to mod fy our customer pr cing

structure to sh or against future vo ati ty commodities

makets We cort rue to invest sng sream ants

wh cn he ircrease recycl rg by giv rg customers the

conven ence of mix ng all recyc abcs one And we

cont nue to nvest recyc ing technologies for the future

such as converting roof shingles into an aspha product

row beirg pi oted Texas The good rews that recyc ing

comrrodhy prces rallied steadily throughout 2009 and are

expected to stabl ze in 2010

Invest in green technology Because we have one of the

nations largest fleets of heavy duty vehicles we are

posit on to work osely with suppliers on new technologies

that wi ower emissions and increase effcienc es We are

do ng his At the same time were also us ng existng

eWo oges to make our fleet more greem At the end of

2009 we had more thar 800 natural gas-powerea trucks

our fleet with pens to add 200 more ir 2010 Were test ng

parallel hybiid trucks in Texas and in 2009 we put one on

the road in Pennsylvania for one year test During the year

we so used technology to reduce the fuel burn of every

truck our fleet When fully imp nmnted this expected

to save mu ion ga Ions of fuel per year

And tnats not Througt jo nt ver lure with the Linde

roup we ou It piani mar converts aiiuf gds nto

iquefed natura gas for use as fuel in our trucks The facility

cur ently producing 13000 gal ons per day At our

Oklahoma ty Iandfi we are wo king on similar projec

to corve lardfi gas nto desel fuel We also invested in

compary that is developing the technology to convert

orgarc wastes into high-octane transportaton fue as wel



as anotner joint venture to deveop plasma gas icat on

techno ogy that processes wastes from vahous sources nto

range of env ronmentafly beneficial fuels We are excited

about the promise that technology holds for the future of

the coy ronment and for the growth of our business

Protect naturs habitats At Waste Management andf Ms

acoss Noth America we have set asde thousands of

acres of our land as wi dhfe habitats One of our

sustainabi ity goals to quadruple the number of our

habtatsfrom 25 stes 2007 to 100 by the year 2020

that are cert fed by the Wild ife Habitat CouncI WHC
At the end of 2009 we were more than halfway to this

goal with total of 73 WHC-certfied sites We so set

goal to have 25000 acres dedicated so ely to nature

preservation by 2020 and we have nearly reached that goal

at year-end we had 24000 protected acres

Positioning for opportunity and growth
Wh we know the economic chal enges of 2009 will

continue nto the coming year we so know that we are

stronger company better equipped than ever before to

weather the downturn and come out posibon of unique

corn pettive advantage

We are encouraged by the signs we saw in the fourth

quarter of 2009 pointing toward better year in 2010

Recycl ng commod ty pnces have ncreased every month

rnmost doubl ng since January 2009 and they cont nue to

trend upward Natural gas markets which affect the sales

pr ce of electricity at some of our waste-to energy and

landfi -gas-to-energy plants continued to mprove and

matched pfor-year orices at the end of 2009

We remain committed to our goals of growing earnings

expanding our operatng margins increasing returns on

invested capital generating strong free cash ow and

return ng cash to our shareholders Our Board of Directors

announced an 8.6 percent increase the dividend for

2010 and so approved capita al ocation plan that

author zes up to $1.3 bil ion to be returned to shareholders

ThA demonstrates contnu ng conf dence in our ability to

maintav strong nacal foothold

We expect to remember 2009 not as year of ecoromic

woes but as year in which we worked hard to make

Waste Management stronger companyand succeeded

When the economy turns the discipline that we have put in

place during this time wi be great springboard for growth

Our focus remains steadfastly on continuing to lead the

ndustry our core businesses of collecton and disposal

whle also charting the course for the future management

of waste by extractng greater value from the wide range

of materials that make up the waste stream Our customers

are count ng on us to develop and de iver waste so utions

tat are good for bus ness and good for the planet

And we are

Thank you for helping us to succeed

Sincerely

David Steiner

Chief Executive Officer
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WASTE MANAGEM NT
1001 Fannin Street Suite 4000

Houston Texas 77002

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

OF WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

Date and Time

May 11 2010 at 1100 a.m Central Time

Place

The Maury Myers Conference Center

Waste Management Inc

1021 Main Street

Houston Texas 77002

Purpose

To elect eight directors

To ratify the appointment of Ernst Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm

for the fiscal year ending December 31 2010

To vote on our proposal to amend our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate any

supermajority stockholder voting provisions

To vote on stockholder proposal relating to disclosure of political contributions if properly presented

at the meeting

To vote on stockholder proposal relating to the right of stockholders to call special
stockholder

meetings if properly presented at the meeting and

To conduct other business that is properly raised at the meeting

Only stockholders of record on March 15 2010 may vote at the meeting

Your vote is important We urge you to promptly vote your shares by telephone by the Internet or if this

Proxy Statement was mailed to you by completing signing dating and returning your proxy card as soon as

possible in the enclosed postage prepaid envelope

LINDA SMITH

Corporate Secretary

March 29 2010

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON MAY 112010 This Notice of Annual

Meeting and Proxy Statement and the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2009 are available at httpllwww.wm.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

General Information

Board of Directors

Leadership Structure

Role in Risk Oversight

Independence of Board Members

Meetings and Board Committees

Audit Committee Report

Compensation Committee Report

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Related Party Transactions
11

Board of Directors Governing Documents
12

Non-Employee Director Compensation
12

Election of Directors Item on the Proxy Card 14

Director Nominee and Officer Stock Ownership
16

Persons Owning More than 5% of Waste Management Common Stock 18

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
18

Executive Officers
19

Executive Compensation
20

Compensation Discussion and Analysis
20

Executive Compensation Tables
30

Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Item on the Proxy Card 43

Proposal to Amend the Companys Certificate of Incorporation Item on the Proxy Card 44

Stockholder Proposal Relating to Disclosure of Political Contributions Item on the Proxy Card 45

Stockholder Proposal Relating to Right of Stockholders to Call Special Stockholder Meetings

Item on the Proxy Card 47

Other Matters

Appendices

Certificate of Incorporation
A-i



PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC
1001 Fannin Street Suite 4000

Houston Texas 77002

Our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and at any

postponement or adjournment of the meeting We are furnishing proxy materials to our stockholders primarily

via the Internet On March 29 2010 we sent an electronic notice of how to access our proxy materials

including our Annual Report to stockholders that have previously signed up to receive their proxy materials

via the Internet On March 29 2010 we began mailing Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to

those stockholders that previously have not signed up for electronic delivery The Notice contains instructions

on how stockholders can access our proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice or request that

printed set of the proxy materials be sent to them Internet distribution of our proxy materials is designed to

expedite receipt by stockholders lower the costs of the annual meeting and conserve natural resources

Record Date March 15 2010

Quorum majority of shares outstanding on the record date must be

present in person or by proxy

Shares Outstanding There were 484458162 shares of Common Stock outstanding and

entitled to vote as of March 15 2010

Voting by Proxy Internet phone or mall

Voting at the Meeting Stockholders can vote in person during the meeting Stockholders

of record will be on list held by the inspector of elections Bene

ficial holders must obtain proxy from their brokerage firm bank

or other stockholder of record and present it to the inspector of

elections with their ballot Voting in person by stockholder will

replace any previous votes submitted by proxy

Changing Your Vote Stockholders of record may revoke their proxy at any time before

we vote it at the meeting by submitting later-dated vote in person

at the annual meeting via the Internet by telephone by mail or

by delivering instructions to our Corporate Secretary before the

annual meeting If you hold shares through bank or brokerage

firm you may revoke any prior voting instructions by contacting

that firm

Votes Required to Adopt Proposals Each share of our Common Stock outstanding on the record date is

entitled to one vote on each of the eight director nominees and one

vote on each other matter To be elected directors must receive

majority of the votes cast at the meeting The proposal to amend

our Certificate of Incorporation requires the favorable vote of at

least two-thirds of our outstanding shares Each of the other pro

posals requires the favorable vote of majority of the shares

present either by proxy or in person and entitled to vote

Effect of Abstentions and Broker

Non-Votes Abstentions will have no effect on the election of directors For

each of the other proposals abstentions will have the same effect

as vote against these matters because they are considered present

and entitled to vote



If your shares are held by your broker and you do not give voting

instructions your broker will be entitled to vote your shares in its

discretion for the ratification of our independent registered public

accounting firm and for the amendment to our Certificate of Incor

poration For the election of directors and each of the stockholder

proposals your shares will be treated as broker non-votes Broker

non-votes are not entitled to vote Thus absent voting instructions

from you your broker will not be able to vote your shares for the

election of directors and will not be able to vote on the stockholder

proposals broker non-vote has no effect on the outcome of the

vote

Voting Instructions You may receive more than one proxy card depending on how you

hold your shares Shares registered in your name and shares held in

our Employee Stock Purchase Plan are covered by separate proxy

cards If you hold shares through broker your ability to vote by

phone or over the Internet depends on your brokers voting process

You should complete and return each proxy or other voting instruc

tion request provided to you

If you complete and submit your proxy voting instructions the per

sons named as proxies will follow your instructions If you submit

your proxy but do not give voting instructions we will vote your

shares as follows

FOR our director candidates

FOR the ratification of the independent registered public

accounting firm

FOR the amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation

AGAINST the stockholder proposal relating to disclosure of polit

ical contributions and

AGAINST the stockholder proposal relating to the right of stock

holders to call special stockholder meetings

If you give us your proxy any other matters that may properly

come before the meeting will be voted at the discretion of the

proxy holders

Attending in Person Only stockholders their proxy holders and our invited guests may

attend the meeting If you plan to attend please bring identification

and if you hold shares in street name bring your bank or broker

statement showing your beneficial ownership of Waste Manage

ment stock in order to be admitted to the meeting

If you are planning to attend our annual meeting and require direc

tions to the meeting please contact our Corporate Secretary at

713-512-6200

The only items that will be discussed at this years annual meeting

will be the items set out in the Notice There will be no

presentations

Stockholder Proposals for the 2011

Annual Meeting Eligible stockholders who want to have proposals considered for

inclusion in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting



should notify our Corporate Secretary at Waste Management Inc

1001 Fannin Street Suite 4000 Houston Texas 77002 The written

proposal must be received at our offices no later than November 29

2010 and no earlier than October 30 2010 stockholder must

have been the registered or beneficial owner of at least 1% of

our outstanding Common Stock or shares of our Common

Stock with market value of $2000 for at least one year before

submitting the proposal Also the stockholder must continue to

own the stock through the date of the 2011 Annual Meeting

Expenses of Solicitation We pay the cost of preparing assembling and mailing this proxy-

soliciting material In addition to the use of the mail proxies may

be solicited personally by Internet or telephone or by Waste Man

agement officers and employees without additional compensation

We pay all costs of solicitation including certain expenses of bro

kers and nominees who mail proxy materials to their customers or

principals Also Innisfree MA Incorporated has been hired to

help in the solicitation of proxies for the 2010 Annual Meeting for

fee of approximately $15000 plus associated costs and expenses

Annual Report copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended

December 31 2009 which includes our financial statements for fis

cal
year 2009 is included with this Proxy Statement The Annual

Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by reference into this

Proxy Statement or deemed to be part of the materials for the

solicitation of proxies

Householding Information We have adopted procedure approved by the SEC called house

holding Under this procedure stockholders of record who have

the same address and last name and do not participate in electronic

delivery of proxy materials will receive only one copy of the

Annual Report and Proxy Statement unless we are notified that one

or more of these individuals wishes to receive separate copies This

procedure helps reduce our printing costs and postage fees

If you participate in householding and wish to receive separate

copy of this Proxy Statement and the Annual Report please con

tact Waste Management Inc Corporate Secretary 1001 Fannin

Street Suite 4000 Houston Texas 77002 telephone 713-512-6200

If you do not wish to participate in householding in the future and

prefer to receive separate copies of the proxy materials please con

tact Broadridge Financial Solutions Attention Householding

Department 51 Mercedes Way Edgewood NY 11717 telephone

1-800-542-1061 If you are eligible for householding but are cur

rently receiving multiple copies of proxy materials and wish to

receive only one copy for your household please contact

Broadridge



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors currently has eight members Each member of our Board is elected annually

Mr Pope is the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board and presides over all meetings of the Board including

executive sessions that only non-employee directors attend

Stockholders and interested parties wishing to communicate with the Board or the non-employee directors

should address their communications to Mr John Pope Non-Executive Chairman of the Board do Waste

Management Inc P.O Box 53569 Houston Texas 77052-3569

Leadership Structure

We separated the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer at our Company in 2004

The separation of the roles occurred in connection with our Board of Directors succession planning for the

retirement of Maurice Myers our then Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President At that time our

Board decided that when Mr Myers retired the Company should appoint separate individuals to serve as

Chairman and as Chief Executive Officer

We believe that having Non-Executive Chairman of the Board is in the best interests of the Company
and stockholders Over the past several years the demands made on boards of directors have been ever

increasing This is in large part due to increased regulation under federal securities laws national stock

exchange rules and other federal and state regulatory changes More recently macroeconomic conditions such

as the global recession and turmoil in the credit markets have increased the demands made on boards of

directors The Non-Executive Chairmans responsibilities include leading full Board meetings and executive

sessions as well as ensuring best practices and managing the Board function The Board named Mr Pope

Chairman of the Board due to his tenure with and experience and understanding of the Company as well as

his vast experience on public company boards of directors

The separation of the positions allows Mr Pope to focus on management of Board matters and allows our

Chief Executive Officer to focus his talents and attention on managing our business Additionally we believe

the separation of those roles ensures the independence of the Board in its oversight role of critiquing and

assessing the Chief Executive Officer and management generally

Role in Risk Oversight

Our executive officers have the primary responsibility for risk management within our Company Our

Board of Directors oversees risk management to ensure that the processes designed and implemented by our

executives are adapted to and integrated with the Companys strategy and are functioning as directed The

primary means by which the Board oversees our risk management structures and policies is through its regular

communications with management The Company believes that its leadership structure is conducive to

comprehensive risk management practices and that the Boards involvement is appropriate to ensure effective

oversight

The Board of Directors and its committees meet in person approximately six times year including one

meeting that is dedicated specifically to strategic planning At each of these meetings our Chief Executive

Officer President and Chief Operating Officer Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel are asked to

report to the Board and when appropriate specific conmiittees Additionally other members of management

and employees are requested to attend meetings and present information including those responsible for our

Internal Audit and Environmental Audit functions One of the
purposes

of these presentations is to provide

direct communication between members of the Board and members of management the presentations provide

members of the Board with the information necessary to understand the risk profile of the Company including

information regarding the specific risk environment exposures affecting the Companys operations and the

Companys plans to address such risks In addition to information regarding general updates to the Companys

operational and financial condition management reports to the Board on number of specific issues meant to

inform the Board about the Companys outlook and forecasts and any impediments to meeting those or its



pre-defined strategies generally These direct communications between management and the Board of Directors

allow the Board to assess managements evaluation and management of the day-to-day risks of the Company

Management is encouraged to communicate with the Board of Directors with respect to extraordinary risk

issues or developments that may require more immediate attention between regularly scheduled Board

meetings Mr Pope as Non-Executive Chairman facilitates communications with the Board of Directors as

whole and is integral in initiating the frank candid discussions among the independent Board members

necessary to ensure management is adequately evaluating and managing the Companys risks These intra

Board communications are essential in its oversight function Additionally all members of the Board are

invited to attend all committee meetings regardless of whether the individual sits on the specific committee

and committee chairs report to the full Board These practices ensure that all issues affecting the Company are

considered in relation to each other and by doing so risks that affect one aspect of our Company can be taken

into consideration when considering other risks

The Company also initiated an enterprise risk management process several years ago which is

coordinated by the Companys Internal Audit department under the supervision of the Companys Chief

Financial Officer This
process initially involved the identification of the Companys programs and processes

related to risk management and the individuals responsible for them Included was self-assessment survey

completed by senior personnel requesting information regarding perceived risks to the Company with

follow-up interviews with members of senior management to review
any gaps

between their and their direct

reports responses The information gathered was tailored to coordinate with the Companys strategic planning

process such that the risks could be categorized in manner that identified the specific Company strategies

that may be jeopardized and plans could be developed to address the risks to those strategies The Company

then conducted an open-ended survey aligned with the objectives of the Companys strategic goals with several

individuals with broad risk management and/or risk oversight responsibilities Included in the survey was the

identification of the top concerns assessment of their risk impact and probability and identification of the

responsible risk owner Finally condensed survey of top risks was completed by approximately 200 senior

personnel to validate the risks and the risk rankings

The results of these efforts were reported to the Board of Directors which is responsible for the design of

the risk management process Since its implementation regular updates are given to the Board of Directors on

all Company risks In addition the Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that an effective risk

assessment process is in place and quarterly reports are made to the Audit Committee on all financial and

compliance risks in accordance with New York Stock Exchange requirements

Independence of Board Members

The Board of Directors has determined that each of the following seven non-employee director candidates

is independent in accordance with the New York Stock Exchange listing standards

Pastora San Juan Cafferty

Frank Clark Jr

Patrick Gross

John Pope

Robert Reum

Steven Rothmeier

Thomas Weidemeyer

Mr Steiner is an employee of the Company and as such is not considered an independent director

To assist the Board in determining independence the Board of Directors adopted categorical standards of

director independence which meet or exceed the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange These

standards specify certain relationships that must be avoided in order for the non-employee director to be

deemed independent The Board reviewed all commercial and non-profit affiliations of each non-employee

director and the dollar amount of all transactions between the Company and each entity with which non

employee director is affiliated to determine independence These transactions included the Company through



its subsidiaries providing waste management services in the ordinary course of business and the Companys
subsidiaries purchasing goods and services in the ordinary course of business The categorical standards our

Board uses in determining independence are included in our Corporate Governance Guidelines which can be

found on our website The Board has determined that each non-employee director candidate meets these

categorical standards and that there are no other relationships that would affect independence

Meetings and Board Committees

Last year the Board held eight meetings and each committee of the Board met independently as set forth

below Each director attended at least 75% of the meetings of the Board and the committees on which he

served In addition all directors attended the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders Although we do not have

formal policy regarding director attendance at annual meetings it has been longstanding practice that all

directors attend unless there are unavoidable schedule conflicts or unforeseen circumstances

The Board appoints committees to help carry out its duties In particular Board committees work on key

issues in greater detail than would be possible at full Board meetings Each committee reviews the results of

its meetings with the full Board and all members of the Board are invited to attend all committee meetings

The Board has three separate standing committees the Audit Committee which is separately designated

standing committee established in accordance with Section 3a58A of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended the Management Development and Compensation Committee and the Nominating and

Governance Committee Additionally the Board has the power to appoint additional committees as it deems

necessary In 2006 the Board appointed Special Committee as described below

The Audit Committee

Mr Rothmeier has been the Chairman of our Audit Committee since May 2004 The other members of

our Audit Committee are Ms Cafferty and Messrs Clark Gross Pope and Reum Each member of our Audit

Committee satisfies the additional New York Stock Exchange independence standards for audit committees

Our Audit Committee held nine meetings in 2009

SEC rules require that we have at least one financial expert on our Audit Committee Our Board of

Directors has determined that Mr Rothmeier and Mr Pope are both Audit Committee financial experts for

purposes of the SECs rules based on thorough review of their education and financial and public company

experience

Mr Rothmeier served in various leadership positions in the airline industry for approximately 16 years

including the positions of Chairman CEO and CFO of Northwest Airlines He founded Great Northern

Capital private investment management consulting and merchant banking firm in 1993 where he continues

to serve as Chairman and CEO Mr Rothmeier has masters degree in finance from the University of

Chicago Graduate School of Business and bachelors degree in business administration from the University

of Notre Dame Mr Rothmeier serves on one public company audit committee in addition to ours

Mr Pope served in various financial positions primarily in the airline industry for approximately 17
years

including over nine years combined in CFO positions at American Airlines and United Airlines He has

masters degree in finance from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration and bachelors

degree in engineering and applied science from Yale University Mr Pope serves on three public company

audit committees in addition to ours The Board reviewed the time Mr Pope spends on each companys audit

committee and the time he spends on other companies interests and determined that such service and time

does not impair his ability to serve on our Audit Committee

Mr Gross serves on four public company audit committees in addition to ours The Board reviewed the

time Mr Gross spends on each companys audit committee and the time he spends on other companies

interests and determined that such service and time does not impair his ability to serve on our Audit

Committee

Neither Ms Cafferty Mr Clark nor Mr Reum currently serve on the audit committees of other public

companies



The Audit Committees duties are set forth in written charter that was approved by the Board of

Directors copy of the charter can be found on our website The Audit Committee generally is responsible

for overseeing all matters relating to our financial statements and reporting internal audit function and

independent auditors As part of its function the Audit Committee reports the results of all of its reviews to

the full Board In fulfilling its duties the Audit Committee has the following responsibilities

Administrative Responsibilities

Report to the Board at least annually all public company audit committee memberships by members

of the Audit Committee

Perform an annual review of its performance relative to its charter and report the results of its

evaluation to the full Board and

Adopt an orientation program for new Audit Committee members

Independent Auditor

Engage an independent auditor determine the auditors compensation and replace the auditor if necessary

Review the independence of the independent auditor and establish our policies for hiring current or

former employees of the independent auditor

Evaluate the lead partner of our independent audit team and review report at least annually

describing the independent auditors internal control procedures and

Pre-approve all services including non-audit engagements provided by the independent auditor

Internal Audit

Review the plans staffing reports and activities of the internal auditors and

Review and establish procedures for receiving retaining and handling complaints including anonymous

complaints by our employees regarding accounting internal controls and auditing matters

Financial Statements

Review financial statements and Forms 10-K and lO-Q with management and the independent auditor

Review all earnings press releases and discuss with management the type of earnings guidance that we

provide to analysts and rating agencies

Discuss with the independent auditor any
material changes to our accounting principles and matters required

to be communicated under Statement on Auditing Standards No 61 relating to the conduct of the audit

Review our financial reporting accounting and auditing practices with management the independent

auditor and our internal auditors

Review managements and the independent auditors assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of

financial reporting controls and

Review CEO and CFO certifications related to our reports and filings

Audit Committee Report

The role of the Audit Committee is among other things to oversee the Companys financial reporting process

on behalf of the Board of Directors to recommend to the Board whether the Companys financial statements

should be included in the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K and to select the independent auditor for

ratification by stockholders Company management is responsible for the Companys financial statements as well as

for its financial reporting process accounting principles and internal controls The Companys independent auditors

are responsible for performing an audit of the Companys financial statements and expressing an opinion as to the

conformity of such financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles



The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Companys audited financial statements as of and

for the year ended December 31 2009 with management and the independent registered public accounting

finn and has taken the following steps in making its recommendation that the Companys financial statements

be included in its annual report

First the Audit Committee discussed with Ernst Young the Companys independent registered public

accounting firm for fiscal
year 2009 those matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing

Standards No 61 including information regarding the scope and results of the audit These communi
cations and discussions are intended to assist the Audit Committee in overseeing the financial reporting

and disclosure process

Second the Audit Committee discussed with Ernst Young its independence and received from

Ernst Young letter concerning independence as required under applicable independence standards

for auditors of public companies This discussion and disclosure helped the Audit Committee in

evaluating such independence The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision of other

non-audit services to the Company is compatible with the auditors independence

Third the Audit Committee met periodically with members of management the internal auditors and

Ernst Young to review and discuss internal controls over financial reporting Further the Audit

Committee reviewed and discussed managements report on internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31 2009 as well as Ernst Youngs report regarding the effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting

Finally the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the Companys management and Ernst

Young the Companys audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2009 and consolidated

statements of income cash flows and equity for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 including the

quality not just the acceptability of the accounting principles the reasonableness of significant

judgments and the clarity of the disclosure

The Committee has also discussed with the Companys internal auditors and independent registered public

accounting firm the overall scope and plans of their respective audits The Committee meets periodically with

both the internal auditors and independent registered public accounting firm with and without management

present to discuss the results of their examinations and their evaluations of the Companys internal controls

The members of the Audit Committee are not engaged in the accounting or auditing profession and

consequently are not experts in matters involving auditing or accounting In the performance of their oversight

function the members of the Audit Committee necessarily relied upon the information opinions reports and

statements presented to them by Company management and by the independent registered public accounting firm

Based on the reviews and discussions explained above and without other independent verification the

Audit Committee recommended to the Board and the Board approved that the Companys financial

statements be included in its annual report for its fiscal year ended December 31 2009 The Committee has

also approved the selection of Ernst Young as the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

for fiscal year 2010

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Steven Rothmeier Chairman

Pastora San Juan Cafferty

Frank Clark Jr

Patrick Gross

John Pope

Robert Reum

The Management Development and Compensation Committee

Mr Reum has served as the Chairman of our Management Development and Compensation Committee

since May 2004 The other members of the Committee are Messrs Clark Pope Rothmeier and Weidemeyer



Bach member of our Compensation Committee is independent in accordance with the rules and regulations of

the New York Stock Exchange The Compensation Committee met seven times in 2009

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing all of our executive and senior management

compensation as well as developing the Companys compensation philosophy generally The Compensation

Committees written charter which was approved by the Board of Directors can be found on our website In

fulfilling its duties the Compensation Committee has the following responsibilities

Review and establish policies governing the compensation and benefits of all of our executives

Approve the compensation of our senior management and set the bonus plan goals for those

individuals

Conduct an annual evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer by all independent directors to set his

compensation

Oversee the administration of all of our equity-based incentive plans

Recommend to the full Board new Company compensation and benefit plans or changes to our existing

plans and

Perform an annual review of its performance relative to its charter and report the results of its

evaluation to the full Board

In overseeing compensation matters the Compensation Committee may delegate authority for day-to-day

administration and interpretation of the Companys plans including selection of participants determination of

award levels within plan parameters and approval of award documents to Company employees However the

Compensation Committee may not delegate any authority under those plans for matters affecting the

compensation and benefits of the executive officers

For additional information on the Compensation Committee see the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis on page 20

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

beginning on page 20 with management Based on the review and discussions the Compensation Committee

recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the

Companys Proxy Statement

The Management Development and Compensation

Committee of the Board of Directors

Robert Reum Chairman

Frank Clark Jr

John Pope

Steven Rothmeier

Thomas Weidemeyer

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2009 each of Mr Clark Pope Reum Rothmeier and Weidemeyer served on the Compensation

Committee No member of the Compensation Committee was an officer or employee of Waste Management

during 2009 no member of the Compensation Committee is former officer of the Company and no

compensation committee interlocking existed in 2009 Mr Pope entered into an open market transaction

involving publicly traded debt of the Company which is described below under Related Party Transactions



The Nominating and Governance Committee

Ms Cafferty has served as the Chairperson of our Nominating and Governance Committee since May
2008 The other members of the Committee include Messrs Gross Pope and Weidemeyer Each member of

our Nominating and Governance Committee is independent in accordance with the rules and regulations of the

New York Stock Exchange In 2009 the Nominating and Governance Committee met five times

The Nominating and Governance Committee has written charter that has been approved by the Board of

Directors and can be reviewed by accessing our website It is the duty of the Nominating and Governance

Committee to oversee matters regarding corporate governance In fulfilling its duties the Nominating and

Governance Committee has the following responsibilities

Review and recommend the composition of our Board including the nature and duties of each of our

committees

Evaluate and recommend to the Board the compensation paid to our non-employee directors

Evaluate the charters of each of the conmiittees and recommend who the committee chairs will be

Review individual directors performance in consultation with the Chairman of the Board

Recommend retirement policies for the Board the terms for directors and the proper ratio of employee
directors to outside directors

Perform an annual review of its performance relative to its charter and report the results of its

evaluation to the full Board

Review stockholder proposals received for inclusion in the Companys proxy statement and recommend

action to be taken with regard to the proposals to the Board and

Identify and recommend to the Board candidates to fill director vacancies

Potential director candidates are identified through various methods the Committee welcomes suggestions
from directors members of management and stockholders From time to time the Nominating and

Governance Committee uses outside consultants to assist it with identifying potential director candidates

For all potential candidates the Nominating and Governance Committee considers all factors it deems

relevant such as candidates personal and professional integrity and sound judgment business and

professional skills and experience independence possible conflicts of interest diversity and the potential for

effectiveness in conjunction with the other directors to serve the long-term interests of the stockholders

While there is no formal policy with regard to consideration of diversity in identifying director nominees the

Conmiittee considers diversity in business experience professional expertise gender and ethnic background

along with various other factors when evaluating director nominees The Committee uses matrix of

functional and industry experiences to develop criteria to select candidates Before being nominated by the

Nominating and Governance Committee director candidates are interviewed by the Chief Executive Officer

and minimum of two members of the Nominating and Governance Committee including the Non-Executive

Chairman of the Board Additional interviews may include other members of the Board representatives from

senior levels of management and an outside consultant

The Committee currently intends to maintain the size of the Board at eight directors which is consistent

with the objective stated in our Corporate Governance Guidelines The Nominating and Governance Commit
tee will consider all potential nominees on their merits without regard to the source of recommendation The

Nominating and Governance Committee believes that the nominating process will and should continue to

involve significant subjective judgments To suggest nominee you should submit
your candidates name

together with biographical information and his or her written consent to nomination to the Chairman of the

Nominating and Governance Committee Waste Management Inc 1001 Fannin Street Suite 4000 Houston

Texas 77002 between October 30 2010 and November 29 2010
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Related Party Transactions

The Board of Directors has adopted written Related Party Transactions Policy for the review and

approval or ratification of related party transactions Our policy generally defines related party transactions as

current or proposed transactions in excess of $120000 in which the Company is participant and ii any

director executive officer or immediate family member of any director or executive officer has direct or

indirect material interest In addition the policy sets forth certain transactions that will not be considered

related party transactions including executive officer compensation and benefit arrangements ii director

compensation arrangements iii business travel and expenses advances and reimbursements in the ordinary

course of business iv indemnification payments and advancement of expenses and payments under directors

and officers indemnification insurance policies any transaction between the Company and any entity in

which related party has relationship solely as director less than 5% equity holder or an employee

other than an executive officer and vi purchases of Company debt securities provided that the related

party has passive ownership of no more than 2% of the principal amount of
any outstanding series The

Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the policy

All executive officers and directors are required to notify the General counsel or the Corporate Secretary

as soon as practicable of any proposed transaction that they or their family members are considering entering

into that involves the Company The General Counsel will determine whether potential transactions or

relationships constitute related party transactions that must be referred to the Nominating and Governance

Committee

The Nominating and Governance Committee will review detailed description of the transaction

including

the terms of the transaction

the business purpose
of the transaction

the benefits to the Company and to the relevant related party and

whether the transaction would require waiver of the Companys Code of Conduct

In determining whether to approve related party transaction the Nominating and Governance Commit

tee will consider among other things whether

the terms of the related party transaction are fair to the Company and such terms would be on the same

basis if the transaction did not involve director or executive officer

there are business reasons for the Company to enter into the related party transaction

the related party
transaction would impair the independence of any non-employee director

the related party transaction would present an improper conflict of interest for any director or executive

officer of the Company and

the related party transaction is material to the Company or the individual

Any member of the Nominating and Governance Committee who has an interest in transaction

presented for consideration will abstain from voting on the related party
transaction

The Nominating and Governance Committees consideration of related party transactions and its determi

nation of whether to approve such transaction are reflected in the minutes of the Nominating and Governance

Committees meetings

The following transactions did not constitute related party transactions under our policy because the

ownership of the debt securities was less than 2% of the outstanding principal amount of the series however

we are disclosing them in accordance with SEC requirements

In 2008 Mr Steiner Chief Executive Officer and Director purchased $300000 principal amount of the

Companys 6.10% Senior Notes due March 2018 in an open-market transaction Interest payments on the notes
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are made on March 15 and September 15 of each year with the final interest payment made at maturity on

March 15 2018 In 2009 Mr Steiner received interest payments in the amount of $18300

In 2009 Mr Pope Non-Executive Chairman of the Board purchased an aggregate of $600015 of our

tax-exempt bonds in open market transactions The three series of bonds purchased by Mr Pope are

remarketed semi-annually at which time interest rates are set Mr Pope purchased the bonds in the

remarketings that occurred in July 2009 Mr Pope purchased $200005 of each of the three series when the

interest rates were set at 2.63% 2.5% and 2.63% respectively However Mr Pope received no interest

payments until January 2010 at which time he did not participate in the remarketings and as result no

longer owns these securities

The Company is not aware of any other transactions that would require disclosure

Special Committee

The Board of Directors appointed Special Committee in November 2006 to make determinations

regarding the Companys obligation to provide indemnification when and as may be necessary The Special

Committee consists of Mr Gross and Mr Weidemeyer The Special Committee held no meetings in 2009

Board of Directors Governing Documents

Stockholders may obtain copies of our Corporate Governance Guidelines the Charters of the Audit

Committee the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee and our Code of

Conduct free of charge by contacting the Corporate Secretary do Waste Management Inc 1001 Fannin

Street Suite 4000 Houston Texas 77002 or by accessing our website at http//www wrn corn

Non-Employee Director Compensation

Our non-employee director compensation program consists of equity awards and cash consideration

Compensation for directors is recommended annually by the Nominating and Governance Committee with the

assistance of an independent third-party consultant and set by action of the Board of Directors The Boards

goal in designing directors compensation is to provide competitive package that will enable the Company to

attract and retain highly skilled individuals with relevant experience The compensation also is designed to

reflect the time and talent required to serve on the board of company of our size and complexity The Board

seeks to provide sufficient flexibility in the form of compensation delivered to meet the needs of different

individuals while ensuring that substantial portion of directors compensation is linked to the long-term

success of the Company

Equity Compensation

Non-employee directors receive an annual grant of shares of Common Stock There are no restrictions on

the shares however non-employee directors are subject to ownership guidelines that require minimum

ownership and that all net shares received in connection with stock award after selling shares to pay all

applicable taxes be held during their tenure as director and for one year following termination of Board

service The grant of shares is made in two equal installments and the number of shares issued is based on the

market value of our Common Stock on the dates of grants which are January 15 and July 15 of each year In

2009 the equity grant to non-employee directors was valued at $110000 and each director received grant

valued at $55000 on each of January 15 2009 and July 15 2009 In addition to the annual grant Mr Pope
receives grant of shares valued at $100000 for his service as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board which

is also awarded in two equal installments on January 15 and July 15 of each year The grant date fair value of

the awards is equal to the number of shares issued times the market value of our Common Stock on that date

there are no assumptions used in the valuation of shares

Shares granted to the non-employee directors in January 2009 were granted under the Companys 2004

Stock Incentive Plan and shares granted to the non-employee directors in July 2009 were granted under the

Companys 2009 Stock Incentive Plan
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In November 2009 the Board terminated the 2003 Directors Deferred Compensation Plan under which

we previously granted deferred stock units to non-employee directors

Cash Compensation

All non-employee directors receive an annual cash retainer for Board service and additional cash retainers

for serving as committee chair and for service on certain committees Directors do not receive meeting fees

in addition to the retainers The cash retainers are payable in two equal installments in January and July of

each year The payments of the retainers for each six-month period are not pro-rated nor are they subject to

refund The table below sets forth the cash retainers for 2009

Annual Retainer $90000

Annual Chair Retainers $100000 for Non-Executive Chairman

$25000 for Audit Committee Chair

$20000 for Compensation Committee Chair

$15000 for Nominating and Governance Committee Chair

Other Annual Retainers $5000 for Audit Committee service other than Chair

$4000 for Compensation Committee service other than Chair

$10000 for Special Committee service

The table below shows the aggregate cash paid and stock awards issued to the non-employee directors

in 2009 in accordance with the descriptions set forth above

Fees Earned Stock Option

or Paid in Awards Awards Total

Name Cash $1

John Pope Chairman of the Board 199000 210000 409000

Pastora San Juan Cafferty 110000 110000 220000

Frank Clark Jr 99000 110000 209000

Patrick Gross 95000 110000 205000

Robert Reurn 115000 110000 225000

Steven Rothmeier 119000 110000 229000

Thomas Weidemeyer 94000 110000 204000

The table below shows the number of stock options held by each of our non-employee directors as of

December 31 2009 The options are all fully vested based on their initial terms and all expire ten years

from date of grant We have not granted any stock options to our non-employee directors since 2002

No of Options Exercise

Grant Date Outstanding Price

John Pope
01/02/2002 10000 30.240

01/02/2001 10000 26.375

Pastora San Juan Cafferty 01/02/2002 10000 30.240

01/02/2001 10000 26.375

Steven Rothmeier 01/02/2002 10000 30.240

01/02/2001 10000 26.375

On December 31 2009 Mr Pope received cash payment of $50295 representing the payment of

compensation earned in 2000 that Mr Pope had deferred The amount represents 1488 phantom stock units

that had been accrued under the Companys 1999 Directors Deferred Compensation Plan and was paid in

accordance with deferral election that Mr Pope had made in 1999 There are no phantom stock units

outstanding under the 1999 Directors Deferred Compensation Plan
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Item on the Proxy Card

The first proposal on the agenda is the election of eight directors to serve until the 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders or until their respective successors have been duly elected and qualified The Board has nominated

the eight director candidates named below and recommends that you vote FOR their election If any nominee is

unable or unwilling to serve as director which we do not anticipate the Board by resolution may reduce the

number of directors that constitute the Board or may choose substitute Our Bylaws provide that if
any director

nominee does not receive more than 50% of the votes cast for his election he will tender his resignation to the

Board of Directors The Nominating and Governance Committee will then make recommendation to the Board

on whether to accept or reject the resignation or whether other action should be taken

The table below shows all of our director nominees their ages terms of office on our Board experience

within the past five years and their qualifications we considered when inviting them to join our Board as well

as nominating them for re-election We believe that as general matter our directors past five
years

of

experience gives an indication of the wealth of knowledge and experience these individuals have and that we

considered however we have also indicated the specific skills and areas of expertise we believe makes each

of these individuals valuable member of our Board

Director Nominees

Director

Professor Emerita University of Chicago since

June 2005 Professor University of Chicago from

1985 to 2005 and faculty member from 1971 to

2005

Director of Integrys Energy Group Inc or one of its

predecessors since 1988

Director of Harris Financial Corporation private

corporation since 1997

Director of Kimberly Clark Corporation from 1976 to

2007

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer CornEd

energy services company and subsidiary of Exelon

Corporation since November 2005 President

CornEd from 2001 to November 2005

Executive Vice President and Chief of Staff Exelon

Corporation public utility holding company from

2004 to 2005 Senior Vice President Exelon

Corporation from 2002 to 2004

Director of Harris Financial Corporation private

corporation since 2005

Director of Aetna Inc since 2006

Director of Shore Bank private corporation from

2004 to 2005

Ms Cafferty has significant expertise in areas of

public policy strategic planning and government and

community relations through her 34-year

professorship with the University of Chicago

Additionally she has served as director on multiple

public company boards and brings over 30 years of

board experience to the Company

Mr Clark has served in executive positions at large

public utility company for several years providing him

with extensive experience and knowledge of large

company management operations and business critical

functions He also brings eight years of experience as

member of public company board of directors

Qualifications
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Director Qualifications

Chairman of The Lovell Group private investment

and advisory firm since October 2001

Director of Capital One Financial Corporation since

1995

Director of Liquidity Services Inc since 2001

Director of Career Education Corporation since 2005

Director of Taleo Corporation since 2006

Director of Rosetta Stone Inc since 2009

Mr Gross was founder of American Management

Systems Inc global business and information

technology firm where he was principal executive

officer for over 30 years
As result he has extensive

experience in applying information technology and

advanced data analytics in global companies He also

brings over 30 years of experience as director on

public company boards of directors

Director of Computer Network Technology

Corporation from 1997 to 2006

Director of Mobius Management Systems Inc from

2002 to 2007

Director of R.R Donnelley Sons Company or

predecessor companies since 1996

Director of Dollar Thrifty Automotive Group Inc

since 1997

Director of Kraft Foods Inc since 2001

Director of Con-way Inc since 2003

Director of Federal Mogul Corporation from 1987 to

2007

Director of Per-Se Technologies Inc or predecessor

companies from 1998 to 2005

Chairman President and CEO Amsted Industries

Incorporated diversified manufacturer for the

railroad vehicular and construction industries since

March 2001

Mr Pope served in executive operational and

financial positions at large airline companies for

almost 20 years providing him with extensive

experience and knowledge of management of large

public companies His background education and

board service also provide him with expertise in

finance and accounting Additionally Mr Pope has

over 30
years experience as director on public

company boards

Mr Reum has served as the chief executive of

private diversified manufacturing company for several

years He also served as Chairman President and

Chief Executive Officer of The Interlake Corporation

public diversified metal products company from

1991 to 1999 As result he has extensive

management experience within wide range
of

business functions Mr Reum also brings over

15 years of experience as director on public

company boards

Chairman of the Board PFI Group private

investment firm since July 1994
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Director

Chief Operating Officer United Parcel Service Inc

package delivery and supply chain services

company from 2001 to 2003 Senior Vice

President United Parcel Service Inc from 1994 to

2003

President UPS Airlines UPS owned airline from

1994 to 2003

Qualifications

Mr Rothmeier served in executive operational and

financial positions at large airline company for

several years He also has years of experience as an

executive of asset management venture capital and

merchant banking firms His experience and

background provide him with broad range of

expertise in public company issues Mr Rothmeier

brings 28 years of experience as director of wide

range
of public companies

Mr Steiner is our Chief Executive Officer and in that

capacity brings extensive knowledge of the details of

our Company and its employees as well as the day-

to-day experiences of running our Company to his

service as member of our Board

Mr Weidemeyer served in executive positions at

large public company for several
years His roles

encompassed significant operational management
providing him knowledge and experience in an array

of functional areas critical to large public companies

Mr Weidemeyer also has over 10 years of experience

as director on public company boards of directors

Director of NRG Energy Inc since 2003

Director of The Goodyear Tire Rubber Company
since 2004

Director of Amsted Industries Incorporated since

2007

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF
EACH OF THE EIGHT NOMINEE DIRECTORS

DIRECTOR NOMINEE AND OFFICER STOCK OWNERSHIP

Our Board of Directors has adopted stock ownership guidelines for our non-employee directors that

require each director to hold Common Stock or share-based instruments valued at five times his annual cash

retainer basedon $30.00 stock price Non-employee directors other than Mr Pope currently are required to

hold 15000 shares and Mr Pope currently is required to hold approximately 31600 shares Directors have

five
years from the later of the date they join the Board or the effective date of an increase in the holding

requirements to attain the required level of ownership Ms Cafferty Mr Pope Mr Clark and Mr Rothmeier

have all reached their required levels of ownership The remaining non-employee directors have until July

2013 to reach their required level of ownership

Our executive officers including Mr Steiner are also subject to stock ownership guidelines as described

in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis on page 30 of this Proxy Statement

Chairman and CEO Great Northern Capital

private investment management consulting and

merchant banking firm since March 1993

Director of Precision Castparts Inc since 1994

Director of ArvinMeritor Inc since 2004

Director of GenCorp Inc from 2000 to 2006

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

from April 2003 to March 2004

Director of Tyco Electronics Corporation since 2007

Director of FedEx Corporation since 2009
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The Stock Ownership Table below shows how much Common Stock each director nominee and executive

officer named in the Summary Compensation Table on page 32 owned as of March 15 2010 our record date

for the Annual Meeting The table also includes information about restricted stock units stock options and

phantom stock granted under various compensation and benefit plans We did not include information about

performance share units granted to executive officers under our incentive compensation plans Performance

share units are settled in shares of our Common Stock based on the Companys achievement of certain

financial performance objectives during three-year performance period The actual number of shares the

executives may receive at the end of the performance period will vary depending on the level of achievement

of the Companys financial objectives and can vary from zero to two times the number of performance share

units granted Since the number of shares if any that will ultimately be issued pursuant to the performance

share units is not known we have excluded them from the table

These individuals both individually and in the aggregate own less than 1% of our outstanding shares as

of the record date

Stock Ownership Table

Shares of Common

Shares of Common Stock Covered by Phantom

Name Stock Owned Exercisable Options Stock1

Pastora San Juan Cafferty 22495 20000

Frank Clark Jr 15709

Patrick Gross 9542

John Pope2 34382 20000

W.RobertReum 14338

Steven Rothmeier 15266 20000

Thomas Weidemeyer 11253

David Steiner 358139 766593 23834

Lawrence ODonnell III 282593 494466

RobertG Simpson 102201 221768

James Trevathan 84795 355000

Duane Woods3 65018 123000 3944

All directors and executive officers as group

23 persons 13272294 2588666 43027

Executive officers may choose Waste Management stock fund as an investment option under the Compa

nys 409A Deferral Savings Plan described in the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table on page 35

Interests in the fund are considered phantom stock because they are equal in value to shares of our Com

mon Stock Phantom stock receives dividend equivalents in the form of additional phantom stock at the

same time that holders of shares of Common Stock receive dividends The value of the phantom stock is

paid out in cash at future date elected by the executive Phantom stock is not considered an equity own

ership for SEC disclosure purposes we have included it in this table because it represents an investment

risk in the performance of our Common Stock

The number of shares owned by Mr Pope includes 435 shares held in trusts for the benefit of his children

The number of shares owned by Mr Woods includes 125 shares held by his children and 185 shares held

by his wifes IRA

Included in the All directors and executive officers as group are 19303 restricted stock units held by

our executive officers not named in the table Restricted stock units were granted to the executive officers

under our 2004 and 2009 Stock Incentive Plans The restricted stock units will be paid out in shares of our

Common Stock upon vesting subject to forfeiture in certain circumstances
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PERSONS OWNING MORE THAN 5% OF WASTE MANAGEMENT COMMON STOCK

The table below shows information for stockholders known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of

our Common Stock based on their filings with the SEC through March 15 2010

Shares Beneficially

Owned

Name and Address Number Percent

Capital World Investors 66310900 13.5

333 South Hope Street

Los Angeles CA 90071

Maori European Holding S.L formerly known as Riofisa Holdings S.L 32653680 6.7

Arbea Campus Empresarial

Edificio

Carretera de Fuencarral Alcobendas 603

Km 3800 Alcobendas Madrid
Spain

SECTION 16a BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

The federal securities laws require our executive officers and directors to file reports of their holdings and

transactions in our Common Stock with the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange

Based on review of the forms and written representations from our executive officers and directors we
believe that all applicable requirements were complied with in 2009 with the exception of the following

Due to administrative errors by the Company each of Mr Gross member of our Board of Directors

and Mr Weidman President of Wheelabrator Technologies Inc was late in filing Form to report

the grant by the Company of his annual equity award

In early 2009 Mr ODonnell President and Chief Operating Officer learned that member of his

family had purchased shares of our Common Stock on behalf of custodial account whose beneficiaries

included Mr ODonnell and several of his extended family members The purchase which was made

without Mr ODonnells consent or approval occurred in December 2006 Mr ODonnells interest in

the account was approximately 5% which equated to an ownership interest in approximately 108 shares

of our Common Stock Since Mr ODonnell did not become aware of the details of the 2006 purchase

until 2009 he was unable to timely report the transaction on Form Promptly upon being infonned of

the details of the transaction Mr ODonnell reported the purchase on Form
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following is listing of our current executive officers other than Mr Steiner whose personal

information is included in the Director Nominees section of this Proxy Statement on page 16 their ages and

business experience for the past five years

Age Positions Held and Business Experience for Past Five Years

53 Senior Vice President Sales and Marketing since January 2005

47 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since

December 2009

Senior Vice President Global Product Technology Monster

Worldwide provider of global online employment solutions from

April 2005 to November 2009

49 Senior Vice President Government Affairs and Corporate

Communications since September 2002

48 President WM Recycle America L.L.C wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company since March 2005

55 Senior Vice President Eastern Group since June 2007

Vice President Collections Operation Support from February

2006 to June 2007

Vice President Operations Improvement from November 2005

to February 2006

Market Area General Manager Houston Metro Area from

December 2002 to November 2005

55 Senior Vice President Midwest Group since April 2006

Area Vice President Michigan Market Area from April 2000 to

April 2006

52 President and Chief Operating Officer since March 2004

47 Vice President Finance since May 2004 and Treasurer since

January 2004

56 Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since March 2004

59 Senior Vice President People since January 2007

Senior Vice President Human Resources The St Joe Company

real estate operating company from May 2006 to January 2007

Senior Vice President Human Resources Hughes Supply Inc

wholesale distributor of construction repair and maintenance-

related products from December 2004 to March 2006

57 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since March

2004

57 Senior Vice President Southern Group since July 2007

Senior Vice President Eastern Group from July 2004 to June

2007

53 President of Wheelabrator Technologies Inc wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company since March 2006

Vice President Operations of Wheelabrator from June 2001 to

March 2006

62 Senior Vice President General Counsel and Chief Compliance

Officer since November 2003

58 Senior Vice President Western Group since July 2004

Name

David Aardsma

Puneet Bhasin

Barry Caldwell

Patrick DeRueda

Brett Frazier

Jeff Harris

Lawrence ODonnell III

Cherie Rice

Greg Robertson

Michael Romans

Robert Simpson

James Trevathan

Mark Weidman

Rick Wittenbraker

Duane Woods
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis or CDA discusses how our Management

Development and Compensation Committee referred to throughout this discussion as the Compensation

Committee made its compensation decisions for the Companys executive officers that are named in the

Summary Compensation Table on page 32 of this Proxy Statement These officers include David Steiner

Lawrence ODonnell III Robert Simpson James Trevathan and Duane Woods We refer to them

collectively as the named executive officers or named executives throughout this Proxy Statement

Our Compensation Philosophy for Named Executive Officers

The Companys compensation philosophy is designed to

Attract and retain exceptional employees

Encourage and reward performance and

Align our decision makers long-term interests with those of our stockholders

With respect to our named executive officers the Compensation Committee believes that total direct

compensation should be targeted at the competitive median according to the following

Base salaries should be paid within the median range but attention must be given to individual

circumstances including strategic importance of the named executives role his experience his

individual performance and whether he was promoted internally or hired to the role from outside of the

Company and

Short- and long-term incentive opportunities should be targeted at the competitive median with actual

payments varying primarily based on the Companys performance

Highlights of 2009 Named Executive Officer Compensation

Named executive officers were subject to the Companys salary freeze so their base salaries remained

the same as in 2008

Financial metrics used for annual cash bonus targets included income from operations as

percentage of revenues and ii income from operations net of depreciation and amortization or

EBITDA

Actual bonus payments made in March 2010 for fiscal 2009 were 83.8% of target based on

Company-wide performance

Long-term incentive awards granted to named executives consisted of performance share units with

three-year performance period ending December 31 2011 which may be earned based on the

achievement of pre-determined return on invested capital or ROIC goal

Named executive officers earned 84.1% of the performance share units that were granted in 2007

with the three-year performance period ended December 31 2009

Overview

Base Salary We pay base salaries to our named executives to provide them with sufficient regularly

paid income for performing day-to-day responsibilities The amounts of the base salaries we pay are meant to

help us in attracting and retaining the best employees

Annual Cash Bonus Our named executives bonuses are targeted at percentage of base salary

Beginning in 2007 our named executives bonuses have been earned based solely on the achievement of

Company financial measures and can range from zero to 200% of target We tie our named executives

bonuses to the achievement of Company financial measures because these individuals have the highest level of
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decision making authority and therefore the most ability to influence the Companys results of operations As

result we believe it is appropriate to put their entire bonus at risk based on whether the financial goals of

the Company are achieved Additionally we believe this level of objective determination and transparency for

these individuals compensation is appropriate and important to stockholders In cases of individual perfor

mance that varies significantly from expectations the Compensation Committee has the discretion to increase

or decrease the calculated incentive payment by up to 25% resulting in modified payout for the named

executive This modifier has never been used for named executive officer

The financial measures chosen for our named executive officers bonus calculations are those that we

believe drive behaviors that increase value to our stockholders and are appropriately measured on an annual

basis Using income from operations as percentage of revenues is meant to motivate employees to control

and lower costs operate efficiently and drive our pricing programs thereby increasing our income from

operations margin EBITDA is an indication of our ability to generate cash flows before interest and taxes We

believe the ability to grow our cash flow is an important metric to our stockholders and drives stockholder

value The specific targets for the income from operations as percentage of revenues and income from

operations net of depreciation and amortization of the Company necessary to earn bonus in 2009 are

discussed below

Long Term Equity Incentives We grant performance share units with performance period of three

years to motivate our named executive officers to act in manner that can increase the value of the Company

over time The number of performance share units granted to our named executive officers corresponds to an

equal number of shares of Common Stock At the end of the three-year performance period for each grant the

Company will deliver number of shares ranging from 0% to 200% of the initial number of units granted

depending on the Companys three-year performance against pre-established ROTC target and subject to the

general payout and forfeiture provisions ROTC in our plan is defined generally as net operating profit after

taxes divided by capital Recipients can defer receipt of the shares issuable under their performance share unit

awards until specified date or dates they choose Deferred amounts are not invested nor do they earn

interest and are paid out in shares of Common Stock at the end of the deferral period Since 2007

performance share units earn dividend equivalents which are paid out based on the number of shares actually

awarded if any at the end of the performance period

We believe that the profitable allocation of capital is critical to the long term success of the Company

Using ROTC as measure for incentive compensation purposes ensures that decisions are made with the best

long-term interests of the Company in mind ROTC is an indicator of our ability to generate returns for our

stockholders We believe that earnings growth is important and an appropriate measure for our annual bonuses

However creating value over time is also important and we therefore chose the three-year performance period

for our long-term incentive compensation We believe that using three-year average of ROTC incentivizes our

named executive officers to ensure the strategic direction of the Company is being followed and forces them

to balance the short-term incentives awarded for growth with the long-term incentives awarded for value

generated The actual targets for ROIC under awards granted in 2009 are discussed below

How Named Executive Officer Compensation Decisions are Made

The Compensation Committee meets several times each year to perform its responsibilities as delegated

by the Board of Directors and as set forth in the Compensation Committees charter These responsibilities

include evaluating and approving the Companys compensation philosophy policies plans and programs for

our named executive officers

In the performance of its duties the Compensation Committee regularly reviews the total compensation

including the base salary target bonus award opportunities long-term incentive award opportunities and other

benefits including potential severance payments for each of our named executive officers At regularly

scheduled meeting each year the Compensation Committee reviews our named executives total compensation

and compares that compensation to the competitive market as discussed below In the first quarter of each

year the Compensation Committee meets to determine salary increases if any for the named executive

officers verifies the results of the Companys performance for annual incentive calculations reviews the
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individual annual incentive targets for the current year as percent of salary for each of the named executive

officers and makes decisions on granting long-term equity awards

The Compensation Committee uses several resources in its analysis of the appropriate compensation for

the named executive officers Since 2006 the Compensation Committee has used tally sheets to review the

compensation of our named executive officers which show the cumulative impact of all elements of

compensation These tally sheets include detailed information and dollar amounts for each component of

compensation the value of all equity held by each named executive and the value of welfare and retirement

benefits and severance payments The use of tally sheets allows the Compensation Committee to view

executives compensation in detailed cumulative manner and provides means for comparing internal equity

for all compensation components

The Compensation Committee hires an independent consultant to provide advice to the Compensation

Committee relating to market and general compensation trends The Compensation Committee also uses the

services of its independent consultant for data gathering and analyses which the Compensation Committee

uses for its discussions of and decisions on the named executive officers compensation The Compensation
Committee has retained Frederic Cook Co Inc as its independent consultant since 2002 The Company
makes regular payments to Frederic Cook for its services around executive compensation including

meeting preparation and attendance advice best practice information as well as competitive data

In addition to services related to executive compensation the consultant has provided the Board of

Directors Nominating and Governance Committee information and advice related to director compensation

Frederic Cook has no other business relationships with the Company and receives no other payments from

the Company In February 2008 the Compensation Committee adopted written policy to ensure the

independence of any compensation consultants utilized by the Compensation Committee for executive

compensation matters Pursuant to the policy no compensation consultant engaged by the Compensation

Committee to assist in determining or recommending the compensation of executive officers may be engaged

by management of the Company to provide any other services unless first approved by the Compensation

Committee Since the adoption of the policy no engagements have been proposed to the Compensation

Committee for approval

Mr Steiner and Mr ODonnell also play part in determining compensation as they assess the

performance of the named executive officers reporting to them and report these assessments with recommen
dations to the Compensation Committee Personnel within the Companys People Department assist the

Compensation Committee by working with the Compensation Committees independent consultant to provide

information requested by the Compensation Committee and assisting the Compensation Committee in

designing and administering the Companys incentive programs

One of the data sources used by the Compensation Committee is compensation information of

comparison group of companies The
purpose

of the comparisons of our named executives compensation with

executives at other companies is to gauge the competitive market This market is relevant for attracting and

retaining key talent and also for ensuring that the Companys compensation practices are aligned with general

practices Each of our named executive officers has been promoted to his current position from within the

Company which the Compensation Committee believes is an important and beneficial practice

In 2008 the independent consultant provided the Compensation Committee with competitive analysis of

total direct compensation levels and compensation mixes for our executive officers using information from

market data of 61 general industry companies with revenues ranging from $8.5 to $20.1 billion

excluding private companies subsidiaries and financial companies prepared by Hewitt Associates and

comparison group of 20 companies described below

The comparison group of companies is recommended by the independent consultant prior to the actual

data gathering process with input from management and the composition of the group is evaluated and

approved by the Compensation Committee each year The selection process for the comparison group begins

with all companies in the Standard Poors North American database that are publicly traded U.S companies
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in 12 different Global Industry Classifications These industry classifications are meant to provide collection

of companies in industries that share similar characteristics with Waste Management The companies are then

limited to those with at least $5 billion in annual revenue to ensure appropriate comparisons and further

narrowed by choosing those with asset intensive operations and those focusing on transportation and logistics

Companies with these characteristics are chosen because the Compensation Committee believes that it is

appropriate to compare our executives compensation with executives that have similar responsibilities and

challenges at other companies The comparison group used for consideration of 2009 compensation included

the companies listed below

Allied Waste Industries Norfolk Soithern

American Electric Power Pitney Bowes

Burlington Northern Santa Fe Republic Services

CH Robinson Ryder

CSX Schlumberger

Entergy
Southern Company

FedEx Sysco

FPL Group
Union Pacific

Grainger
United Parcel Service

Halliburton YRC Worldwide

Republic Services acquired Allied Waste Industries in December of 2008 Prior to the acquisition Republic

did not meet the minimum annual revenue requirement for inclusion in the comparison group but an excep

tion was made because of Republics status as one of the Companys biggest competitors

The market and the comparison group data are blended when composing the competitive analysis when

possible such that each data source is weighted 50% The competitive analysis shows that the Companys

named executives generally are compensated within median range of the compensation of the executives

used in the competitive analysis For competitive comparisons the Compensation Committee has determined

that total direct compensation packages for our named executive officers within range
of plus or minus

twenty percent of the median total compensation of the competitive analysis is appropriate In making these

determinations total direct compensation consists of base salary target annual bonus and the annualized grant

date fair value of long-term equity incentive awards When the competitive analysis was reviewed in 2008 it

showed that none of our named executive officers total direct compensation was above the median for their

peers in the competitive analysis

The Compensation Committee seeks to comply with the performance-based compensation exemption

under Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code when appropriate Section 162m generally limits

companys ability to deduct compensation paid in excess of $1 million during any fiscal year to the Chief

Executive Officer or any of the other named executive officers unless the excess amount is performance-based

Throughout the following discussion we have noted the programs that are designed to meet the Section 162m

requirements

The Compensation Committee also seeks to structure compensation that will provide sufficient incentives

for named executive officers to drive results while avoiding unnecessary or excessive risk taking that could

harm the long-term value of the Company The Compensation Committee believes that the following measures

help achieve this goal

Named executives are provided with competitive base salaries that are not subject to performance risk

which helps to mitigate risk-taking behaviors and provides an incentive for executives to retain their

employment with the Company

The Compensation Committee relies on detailed processes to establish the Company financial

performance measures under our incentive plans

Measures are recalibrated annually to maintain directional alignment with pay and performance
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Measures while challenging are designed to be achievable to mitigate the potential for excessive

risk-taking behaviors

Both short- and long-term incentives include threshold target and maximum payouts dependent on
the achievement within ranges of performance which are less likely to encourage inappropriate risk-

taking behaviors than single measurement that provides an all-or-nothing basis for compensation

Maximum payouts are capped at 200% of the target awards reducing the likelihood of inappropriate
or overly-aggressive actions for exorbitant payouts

Long-term equity incentive awards are granted annually to allow executives to accumulate these

awards and become further vested in the longer-term sustainability of our business and

Long-term equity incentive awards three-year performance period allows overlap of performance
periods to reduce the incentive to maximize performance in any one year

The Compensation Committee has clawback policy designed to recoup any amounts paid to named

executives when those amounts were based on wrong-doing by the named executive

Elements of Named Executives 2009 Total Compensation

Base Salary Each of our named executive officers is party to an employment agreement approved by
our Compensation Committee that provides for base salary that once increased may not be reduced The

Compensation Conmiittees annual decisions regarding base salaries generally relate to merit increases if any
as each of our named executive officers has been in his current role for several years In determining annual

merit increases the Company looks at competitive market data for cost of labor increases In early 2009 the

Compensation Committee determined that because of economic conditions no named executive officers would

receive an annual merit increase however the salary freeze was lifted for all Company employees in 2010
The table below shows the base salary of each of our named executive officers in 2009

Named Executive Officer Base Salary

Mr Steiner $1075000
Mr ODonnell 775288
Mr Simpson 520985
Mr Trevathan

566298
Mr Woods 565710

Annual Cash Bonus The percentages of base salary targets for the annual bonuses of the named executive

officers were set when the individuals were promoted to their current roles These target percentages are reviewed

annually to ensure they are still appropriate given the competitive market and the individuals responsibilities

Additionally each year the Compensation Conmiittee determines the financial measures that will be used for the

named executives bonus determinations and sets the threshold target and maximum measures necessary for bonus

payments The Compensation Committee makes these determinations based on what it believes are most likely to

both drive and reward performance that is beneficial to the Company and stockholders generally

The annual bonus plan is designed to comply with the performance-based compensation exemption under

Section 162m of the Code by allowing the Compensation Committee to set performance criteria for payments
which may not exceed the predetermined amount of 0.5% of the Companys pre-tax income

per participant

The table below sets forth the performance measures set by the Compensation Committee for the named
executive officers bonuses earned in 2009

Threshold Target Maximum
Performance Performance Performance

30% Payment 100% Payment 200% Payment

Income from Operations Margin 146% 16.2% 22.2%

Income from Operations excluding

Depreciation and Amortization $2947 million $3275 million $4487 million
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The performance measures used under our bonus plan in 2009 shown in the table above were calculated

based on the Companys consolidated results of operations This is change from prior years when field

based employees target measures were based on their specific Area or Group results of operations and only

corporate employees target measures were based on consolidated results In prior years Mr Trevathan and

Mr Woods performance measures were based on the results of operations of the Southern Group and the

Western Group respectively The Compensation Committees decision to use the Companys consolidated

results of operations in 2009 for all employees was direct result of the organizational changes that took place

due to the restructuring we announced in the first quarter of 2009 We believe that using the Companys

consolidated results of operations resulted in all employees working toward the same end goals and allowed

us to reward employees including named executive officers in manner that did not penalize them for the

effects of the restructuring on specific field-based operations Further using consolidated results avoided

incentivizing field-based employees to take actions that may have been overly aggressive in order to meet

field-based financial goals given the negative short-term effects the restructuring may have had on those

operations

The Compensation Committee believes that the 2009 financial performance measures were goals that

appropriately drove behaviors to create performance and results in particular focusing on generating profitable

revenue cost cutting and cost control and making the best use of our assets When setting performance

measure goals each year the Compensation Committee looks to the Companys historical results of operations

and analyses and forecasts for the coming year Specifically the Compensation Committee considers expected

revenue based on analyses of pricing and volume trends as affected by operational and general economic

factors expected wage maintenance fuel and other operational costs and expected selling and administrative

costs Based on this information and in light of general economic conditions and indicators in early 2009 the

Compensation Committee determined that the target performance under the annual bonus plan should be

relatively flat as compared to the prior years results The Committee discussed the effects the recessionary

environment was having on the Companys results of operations and the challenges that the Company was

facing in 2009 Given these factors the Compensation Committee made the determination that if the named

executive officers were able to maintain operating results consistent with the prior year notwithstanding the

difficult economic environment those results should merit an award

Mindful of the negative effect the recessionary environment of the last 18 months had on the Companys

volumes which decreased our revenues the Compensation Committee took additional action in early 2009

One of the Companys most important programs has been its pricing excellence wherein we focus on ensuring

we receive appropriate pricing for all of our services We announced that we are committed to our pricing

program and we do not intend to take volumes at prices that do not cover our costs and that do not provide

strong operating margins As result in January of 2009 the Compensation Committee added feature to our

bonus plan to ensure that employees were maintaining discipline in executing our pricing programs In order

for named executives to be eligible to receive bonuses for 2009 minimum pricing improvement targets were

required of our field operations and minimum improvement target was required for consolidated Corporate

results If the Corporate measure was met all named executive officers would be bonus eligible If the

Corporate measure was not met field-based named executive officers which include Mr Trevathan and

Mr Woods would still be eligible for bonus payment to the extent his respective Group measure was met

The targets shown in the table below were weighted average rate per unit increase based on commercial

residential and industrial collection operations transfer stations and municipal solid waste and construction

and demolition volumes at our landfills

Pricing Improvement

Named Executive Officer Target Required

Corporate

Mr Steiner 2.5%

Mr ODonnell 2.5%

Mr Simpson 2.5%

Mr Trevathan Southern Group 3.0%

Mr Woods Western Group 2.6%
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The pricing measures used for these calculations are not the same as yield as we present in any of our dis

closures such as the Managements Discussion and Analysis section of our Forms 10-K and 10-Q or our

earnings press releases and the targeted increases shown in the table should not be construed as targeted

increase in yield as discussed in those disclosures

The Company exceeded the Corporate pricing improvement target and as result each of the named

executives was eligible to receive his 2009 annual bonus payment

In determining whether Company financial performance measures have been met the Compensation

Committee has discretion to make adjustments to the calculations for unusual non-recurring or otherwise non-

operational matters that it believes do not accurately reflect true results of operations expected from

management for bonus purposes In 2009 actual results were adjusted to exclude the effects of charges

related to our restructuring announced in the first quarter of 2009 ii an increase in net income caused by the

accounting effect of an increase in long-term interest rates which are used to calculate the present value of

our remediation liabilities at our landfills iii charges related to our withdrawal from union sponsored multi-

employer pension plans and iv non-cash charge to fully impair landfill in California The Compensation

Committee deemed these adjustments appropriate for several reasons The Companys restructuring and

withdrawal from the pension plans were actions that the Compensation Committee believes are in the best

long-term interest of the Company as we have been able to operate more efficiently achieve cost-savings and

avoid potentially significant pension liabilities in the future The restructuring reduced our cost structure and

provided better visibility and alignment to our area operations We reduced the number of market areas from

45 to 25 and streamlined various roles and processes We believe this improved management visibility and

efficiency will provide additional short- and long-term benefits As result the Compensation Committee

determined that our named executives should not be penalized by the effects of these actions The non-cash

landfill impairment charge resulted from the Companys decision to discontinue operations at the site and

permanently close the site on an accelerated basis Although the total costs expected to close the landfill did

not increase as result of this revised closure plan the present value of these total costs and our recorded

obligations increased as result of the accelerated timeline The Compensation Committee determined that

this non-cash charge should be excluded from the Companys financial results for purposes of measuring our

financial performance because the current year management decision that the site was no longer

commercially viable is expected to benefit the Companys overall long-term results and ii the charge was

generally related to accounting impacts associated with estimating the present value of the sites closure costs

Further because the increase in net income caused by the increase in long-term interest rates was the result of

accounting principles as opposed to actual operating results the Compensation Committee determined its

effects should also not be considered when calculating the achievement of targets The Compensation

Committees policy generally is for financial results to speak for themselves and determine incentive

compensation for our named executives on objective bases However not adjusting for certain items like those

discussed herein could have the effect of incentivizing these individuals to not take actions that are necessary

for the longer-term good of the Company in order to meet short-term goals

As adjusted for the items noted above the Companys income from operations as percentage of revenue

was 16.4% and income from operations net of depreciation and amortization was $3104 million for 2009
which resulted in the following payouts as percentage of base salaries for our named executive officers

Target Percentage of Percentage of Base Salary

Named Executive Officer Base Salary Earned in 2009

Mr Steiner 115 96.4

Mr ODonnell 100 83.8

Mr Simpson 85 71.2

Mr Trevathan 85 71.2

Mr Woods 85 71.2
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The Companys restructuring was completed in 2009 and we believe the operational and organizational

changes that were necessary have been fully integrated into the Company As result the Compensation

Committee believes using field-based results of operations for target measures of field-based employees in

2010 is appropriate Additionally in setting target measures and determining whether targets have been

achieved the results of Wheelabrator or recycling operations located in geographic Group will be included

in that Groups financial results for incentive compensation purposes We believe using field-based measures is

appropriate because it ties our field-based named executive officers compensation directly to the success or

failure of operations over which they have direct control Including our Wheelabrator and recycling operations

in our geographic Groups for incentive compensation of our named executive officers furthers our strategy of

fully integrating our operations for full-service waste management solutions and maximizes results across all

lines of our business This is one of the ways in which our Compensation Committee adjusts our practices

periodically to ensure that our programs will have their desired effects

Long-Term Equity Incentives Long-term equity incentives are key component of our named executive

officers compensation packages Our equity awards are designed to hold individuals accountable for long-

term decisions by only rewarding the success of those decisions The Compensation Committee continuously

evaluates the components of its programs In determining which forms of equity compensation are appropriate

the Compensation Committee considers whether the awards granted are achieving their purpose the compet

itive market and accounting tax or other regulatory issues among others In determining the appropriate

awards for the named executives 2009 long-term incentive grant the Compensation Committee discussed

granting stock options as means to maximize the link between the value for the individual and the value

created for our stockholders Based on several factors including the then current economic environment that

could have given rise to questions regarding the timing of the stock option grants the Compensation

Committee decided to continue granting only performance share units to the named executive officers for

2009 However in its discussions relating to 2010 equity compensation the Compensation Conmiittee decided

to grant both performance share units and stock options to its named executive officers The Compensation

Committee determined that equally dividing the awards between performance share units that use ROIC to

focus on improved asset utilization and stock options that focus on increasing the market value of our stock

would appropriately incentivize our named executives

Performance Share Units Performance share units are granted to our named executive officers annually

to build stock ownership and align compensation with the achievement of our long-term financial goals

Performance share units provide an immediate retention value to the Company since there is unvested potential

value at the date of grant Each annual grant of performance share units has three-year performance period

and would be forfeited if the executive were to voluntarily terminate his employment

The Compensation Committee determined the number of units that were granted to each of the named

executives in 2009 by establishing targeted dollar amount value for the award The values chosen were based

primarily on the comparison information for the competitive market including an analysis of the named

executives responsibility for meeting the Companys strategic objectives The values also reflect the Compen

sation Committees desired total mix of compensation for each named executive which includes approximately

50% of total compensation relating to long-term equity although the percentage for Mr Steiner is closer to

65% Once dollar values of targeted awards were set those values were divided by the average
of the high and

low over the 30 trading days preceding the Compensation Committee meeting at which the grants were

approved to determine the target number of performance share units granted The dollar value of the awards

and corresponding number of performance share units are shown in the table below

Dollar Values Number of Performance

Named Executive Officer Set by the Committee at Target Share Units

Mr Steiner $4200769 135509

Mr ODonnell $1717483 55403

Mr Simpson $1157360 37335

Mr Trevathan 684130 22069

Mr Woods 684130 22069
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The table below shows the required achievement of the performance measures and the corresponding

potential payouts under our performance share units granted in 2009

Threshold Target Maximum

Performance Payout Performance Payout Performance Payout

ROIC 15.6% 60% 17.3% 100% 20.8% 200%

The threshold target and maximum measures are determined based on an analysis of historical

performance and current projections and trends The Compensation Committee uses this analysis and modeling
of different scenarios related to items that affect the Companys performance such as yield volumes and

capital to set the performance measures As with the consideration of targets for the annual bonus the

Compensation Committee carefully considered several material factors affecting the Company for 2009 and

beyond including the effect of the weak economy in early 2009 and economic indicators for future periods

Given these factors the compensation Committee determined that the target for ROTC for the 2009 award

should be lower than in the prior year

The table below shows the performance measures the achievement of those measures and the correspond

ing payouts for the performance share units that have been granted since 2006

ROIC EPS1
Threshold Target Actual2 Threshold Target Actual Award Earned

2006 PSUs 12.1% 16.7% 16.2% 93.6% of units paid out in

Performance period shares of Common Stock

ended 12/31/08 in February 2009

2007 PSUs 13.4% 18.5% 16.9% 84.1% of units paid out in

Performance period shares of Common Stock
ended 12/31/09 in February 2010

2008 PSUs 17.6% 19.6% $7.15 $7.44

Performance period

ending 12/31/10

Earnings per share is based on the cumulative measure over the three-year performance period

Actual results are based on the Companys reported results of operations as adjusted by the Compensation
Committee to exclude the effect of tax audit settlements described below

In evaluating appropriate financial measures for the 2009 grant to named executives the Compensation
Committee decided to retain only ROTC rather than an equal split between ROTC and EPS measurements

This decision was primarily result of the Compensation Committees determination that the 2009 grant
should subject named executives to the same measures as all other employees that are granted equity awards

and that the most appropriate long-term financial measure for our Companys employees generally is ROIC

Our performance share unit awards are intended to meet the qualified performance-based compensation

exception under Section 162m In February 2009 the Compensation Committee approved adjustments to the

calculation of results under the 2006 awards that had performance period ended December 3.1 2008 to

exclude the effect significant tax audit settlements had on the equity components of the calculation of ROTC
The adjustments increased the payouts of the 2006 awards and as result the 2006 awards no longer satisfied

the qualified performance-based compensation exception This resulted in an increased tax expense to the

Company of approximately $1.1 million based on the federal and state combined statutory rate of 39% The

Compensation Committee believes that the adjustments were necessary and appropriate particularly because

the tax audit settlements were not reflective of operating performance Further it is important and consistent

with the Companys compensation philosophy that extraordinary unusual and one-time items do not affect the

payout expected based on performance Modifications were made to the terms of awards granted in 2007 and

later to allow for payouts under those awards to be fully deductible under Section 162m

Stock Options In 2010 the Compensation Committee decided to re-introduce stock options as

component of the equity compensation awarded to our named executive officers in order to direct focus on

increasing the market value of our Common Stock Stock options were granted in the first quarter of 2010 in
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connection with the annual grant of long-term equity awards at regularly scheduled Compensation

Committee meeting The number of options granted to the named executive officers was based on dollar

value of compensation decided by the Compensation Committee the actual number of stock options granted

was determined by assigning value to the options using an option pricing model and dividing the dollar

value of compensation by the value of each option The stock options will vest in 25% increments on the first

two anniversaries of the date of grant and the remaining 50% will vest on the third anniversary The exercise

price of the options is the fair market value of our Common Stock on the date of grant and the options have

term of 10 years More information regarding the Compensation Committees practices related to stock options

will be included in next years CDA discussing 2010 compensation

Post-Employment Compensation The compensation our named executives receive post-employment is

based on provisions included in individual equity award agreements retirement plan documents and employ

ment agreements We enter into employment agreements with our named executive officers because they

provide form of protection for the Company through restrictive covenant provisions They also provide the

individual with the protection that he will be treated fairly in the event of termination not for cause or under

change-in-control situation The change-in-control provision included in each named executive officers

agreement requires double trigger in order to receive any payment in the event of change-in-control

situation First change-in-control must occur and second the individual must terminate his employment for

good reason or the Company must terminate his employment without cause within six months prior to or two

years following the change-in-control event We believe providing change-in-control protection ensures

impartiality and objectivity of our named executive officers in the context of change-in-control situation and

protects the interests of our stockholders

In August 2005 the Compensation Committee approved an Executive Officer Severance Policy The

policy generally provides that after the effective date of the policy the Company may not enter into severance

arrangements with its executive officers as defined in the federal securities laws that provide for benefits less

the value of vested equity awards and benefits provided to employees generally in an amount that exceeds

2.99 times the executive officers then current base salary and target bonus unless such future severance

arrangement receives stockholder approval The policy applies to all of our named executive officers

Deferral Plan Each of our named executive officers is eligible to participate in our 409A Deferred

Savings Plan The plan allows all employees with minimum base salary of $170000 to defer up to 25% of

their base salary and up to 100% of their annual bonus eligible pay for payment at future date Under

the plan the Company matches the portion of pay that cannot be matched in the Companys 401k Savings

Plan due to IRS limits The Company match provided under the 401k Savings Plan and the Deferral Plan is

dollar for dollar on the first 3% of eligible pay and fifty cents on the dollar for the next 3% of eligible pay

Participants can contribute the entire amount of their eligible pay to the Deferral Plan Contributions in excess

of the 6% will not be matched but will be tax-deferred Company matching contributions begin in the Deferral

Plan once the employee has reached the IRS limits in the 401k plan Funds deferred under this plan are

allocated into accounts that mirror selected investment funds in our 401k plan although the funds deferred

are not actually invested in the funds We believe that providing program that allows and encourages

planning for retirement is key factor in our ability to attract and retain talent Additional details on the plan

can be found in the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table and the footnotes to the table on page 35

Perquisites In the beginning of 2008 we eliminated all perquisites for our executive officers At that

time each of the named executive officers was given one-time increase to his salary in an amount equal to

the value of the perquisites reduced for the impact that the increase would have as result of annual bonuses

being calculated as percentage of base salary in that year Our named executive officers will continue to

receive an annual physical examination that is treated as non-taxable benefit because it is required for the

benefit of the Company

Based on periodic security assessment by an outside consultant for security purposes the Company

requires the Chief Executive Officer to use the Companys aircraft for business and personal use Use of the

Companys aircraft is permitted for other employees personal use only with Chief Executive Officer approval

in special circumstances which does not occur often All of our named executive officers are taxed on the
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value of their personal use of the Companys airplanes if any in accordance with IRS regulations using the

Standard Industry Fare Level formula This is different amount than we disclose in the Summary

Compensation Table which is based on the SEC requirement to report the incremental cost to us of their use

Other Compensation Policies and Practices

Stock Ownership Requirements All of our named executive officers are subject to stock ownership

guidelines We instituted stock ownership guidelines because we believe that ownership of Company stock

demonstrates commitment to and confidence in the Companys long-term prospects and further aligns

employees interests with those of our stockholders We believe that the requirement that these individuals

maintain portion of their individual wealth in the form of Company stock deters actions that would not

benefit stockholders generally Additionally the guidelines contain holding period provisions that generally

require Senior Vice Presidents and above to hold all of their shares and Vice Presidents to hold 50% of their

shares for at least one year even after required ownership levels have been achieved We believe these holding

periods discourage these individuals from taking actions in an effort to gain from short-term or otherwise

fleeting increases in the market value of our stock

The stock ownership guidelines vary dependent on the individuals title and are expressed as fixed

number of shares Ownership requirements range from one to five times base salary as of the later of January

2005 or date of promotion into current position The number of shares required to be owned is determined

based on $30.00 stock price which was the market value of shares of our Common Stock when the

guidelines were adopted The Compensation Committee regularly reviews its ownership guidelines to ensure

that the appropriate share ownership requirements are in place Shares owned outright deferred stock units

phantom stock held in the 401k plan and in the Deferral Plan count toward meeting the targeted ownership

requirements Restricted stock shares restricted stock units and performance share units if any do not count

toward meeting the guideline until they are vested or earned

The following table outlines the ownership requirements for the named executive officers each of whom
had until January 2009 to meet the ownership levels

Ownership Requirement Attainment as of

Named Executive Officer number of shares 12/31/2009

Mr Steiner 145000 221%

Mr ODonnell 87350 294%

Mr Simpson 42000 195%

Mr Trevathan 32600 218%

Mr Woods 32600 156%

Insider Trading The Company maintains an insider trading policy that prohibits the named executive

officers from engaging in most transactions involving the Companys Common Stock during periods

determined by the Company that those executives are most likely to be aware of material inside information

Named executive officers must clear all of their transactions in our Common Stock with the Companys
General Counsels office to ensure they are not transacting in our securities during time that they may have

material non-public information Additionally as general matter it is our policy that no transactions that

reduce or cancel the risk of an investment in our Common Stock such as puts calls and other exchange-

traded derivatives or hedging activities that allow holder to own covered security without the full risks and

rewards of ownership will be cleared

Executive Compensation

We are required to present compensation information in the tabular format prescribed by the SEC This

format including the tables column headings may be different from the way we describe or consider

elements and components of compensation internally We have provided the following information because we
believe it may be useful to an understanding of the tables presented in this section The CDA contains
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discussion that should be read in conjunction with these tables to gain complete understanding of our

executive compensation philosophy programs and decisions

Our annual cash bonuses are earned and paid based on the achievement of performance goals As

result they are included in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensationcolumn of the Summary

Compensation Table

As described in CDA equity awards granted to the named executive officers include performance

share units earned over three-year performance period after which shares of Common Stock may be

issued depending on whether financial performance measures have been met In 2007 named executives

were also granted restricted stock units which cliff-vested after three-year period that ended in

January 2010

The value of stock awards included in the tables is the aggregate fair value of the awards on the date

of grant For the restricted stock units granted in 2007 this means that the entire grant date fair value

of the awards is included in the table even though the awards vested in full after three-year service

period ended in January 2010 In the case of performance share units the value is based on what we

believe the most probable outcome is at the date of grant and excludes the effect of forfeitures The

grant date fair values in the tables are based on the grant date for accounting purposes which

generally is the date on which the material terms of the awards have been communicated to the named

executives The Compensation Committee determines the dollar value of equity awards at meeting

that precedes the date of grant and determines number of performance
share units to be granted

based on thirty day trailing average of the market price of our Common Stock As result the

amounts in the tables show the grant date fair value for accounting purposes which differs from the

value of the awards granted by the Compensation Committee as shown in the CDA on page 27 of

this Proxy Statement These values are neither guarantees
of performance by the Company nor

compensation to the executives Rather they generally are the aggregate amounts the named executives

may receive three years in the future if they and the Company meet expectations set by the

Compensation Committee We believe these values are helpful to readers as they give the reader an

understanding of the named executives potential compensation and the amounts the Compensation

Committee deemed appropriate compensation after the three-year period if the Company performed at

target

As described in CDA our 2009 annual bonuses had threshold target and maximum payouts based on

the achievement of Company financial measures In March 2010 we paid out bonuses to the named

executives at 83.8% of target as disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table Notwithstanding that

the bonuses were earned and paid we included the threshold target and maximum dollar amounts that

were possible during 2009 in the Estimated Possible Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Awards in the Grant of Plan-Based Awards in 2009 table

Although we consider all of our equity awards to be form of incentive compensation because their

value will increase as the market value of our Common Stock increases only awards with performance

criteria are considered equity incentive plan awards for SEC disclosure purposes As result only

performance share units have been included as Equity Incentive Plan Awards in the Outstanding

Equity Awards at December 31 2009 table Restricted stock units restricted stock awards and stock

options if any are disclosed in other tables as applicable
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Summary Compensation Table

Non-Equity
Stock Incentive Plan All Other

Salary Awards Compensation Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position lear $1 $2
David Steiner 2009 1116346 3069956 1035978 258524 5480804

Chief Executive Officer 2008 1066049 3928673 1050895 153976 6199593
2007 998077 3497982 1612277 131058 6239394

Lawrence ODonnell III 2009 805107 1255155 649691 66818 2776771
President Chief Operating 2008 768754 1606233 659102 83289 3117378
Officer 2007 721837 1484117 1012971 64749 3283674

Robert Simpson 2009 541022 845824 371098 31655 1789599
Senior Vice President Chief 2008 516483 1190651 376473 31114 2114721
Financial Officer 2007 483932 1166119 576880 55863 2282794

James Trevathan 2009 566298 499973 403374 12575 1482220
Senior Vice President Southern 2008 562105 703797 409936 32855 1708693
Group 2007 527878 689307 552546 53706 1823437

Duane Woods 2009 565710 499973 402955 15263 1483901
Senior Vice President Western 2008 561521 703797 378635 32382 1676335
Group 2007 521342 689307 580000 58649 1849298

For 2007 amounts include the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock units and performance
share units All other years consist of performance share units only

The table below shows the aggregate grant date fair value of performance share units if we assumed the

maximum amounts will be earned

Aggregate Grant Date Fair

Value of Award Assuming
Highest Level of Performance

Achieved

Year _____
Mr Steiner 2009 6139912

2008 7857346
2007 5247010

Mr ODonnell 2009 2510310
2008 3212466
2007 2226212

Mr Simpson 2009 1691648
2008 2381302
2007 1749178

Mr Trevathan 2009 999946
2008 1407594
2007 1033998

Mr Woods 2009 999946
2008 1407594
2007 1033998

See Note 16 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2009 Annual Report on

Form 10-K for discussion of the assumptions used in the evaluation of our equity awards
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The amounts included in All Other Compensation for 2009 are shown below in dollars

Personal Deferral

Use of 401k Plan Life

Company Annual Matching Matching Insurance

Aircraft Physical Contributions Contribution Premiums Other

Mr Steiner 196777 390 11025 47868 2464

Mr ODonnell 500 11025 53514 1779

Mr Simpson 500 11025 18936 1194

Mr Trevathan 250 11025 1300

Mr Woods 390 11025 1297 2551

Mr Steiner is required by us to use the Company aircraft for all travel whether for personal or business

purposes We calculated the amount of the perquisite based on the incremental cost to us which includes

fuel crew travel expenses on-board catering landing fees trip related hangar/parking costs and other

variable costs We own or operate our aircraft primarily for business use therefore we do not include the

fixed costs associated with the ownership or operation such as pilots salaries purchase costs and non-trip

related maintenance

The amounts reported under Other include infrequent items that do not fall within
any

of the other

categories The amounts reported under Other for Mr Woods relate to an airline club membership and

Company-sponsored entertainment event and include the amounts of the gross-ups provided by the

Company for the taxes owed on those perquisites

Grant of Plan-Based Awards in 2009

Grant Date
Estimated Possible Payouts Under

Fair Value

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Estimated Future Payouts Under
of Stock and

Awards1 Equity Incentive Plan Awards2
Option

Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Awards

Name Date

David Steiner 370875 1236250 2472500

03/09/09 81305 135509 271018 3069956

Lawrence ODonnell III 232586 775288 1550576

03/09/09 33242 55403 110806 1255155

Robert Simpson 132851 442837 885674

03/09/09 22401 37335 74670 845824

James Trevathan 144406 481353 962706

03/09/09 13241 22069 44138 499973

Duane Woods 144256 480854 961708

03/09/09 13241 22069 44138 499973

Actual payouts of our 2009 cash bonuses are shown in the Summary Compensation Table under Non
Equity Incentive Plan Compensation The named executives target and maximum bonuses are percent

age of base salary provided for in their employment agreements The threshold levels represent the bonus

amounts that would have been payable if the minimum performance requirements were met for each per
formance measure

Represents the number of shares of Common Stock potentially issuable based on the achievement of per

formance criteria under performance share unit awards granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31 2009

Option Awards Stock Awards1

Equity

Equity Incentive

Incentive Plan

Plan Awards
Awards Market or

Number of Payout

Number of Market Unearned Value of

Number of Number of Shares or Value of Shares Unearned

Securities Securities Units of Shares or Units or Shares

Underlying Underlying Stock Units of Other Units or

Unexercised Unexercised Option That Have Stock Rights That Other

Options Options Exercise Option Not That Have Not Rights That

Exercisable Unexercisable Price Expiration Vested Have Not Vested Have Not

Name Date Vested Vested

David Steiner 24922 38.205 03/06/2013 37207 $1257969 325222 $10995756

90000 29.24 03/04/2014

335000 21.08 04/03/2013

56593 19.61 03/06/2013

135000 27.88 03/07/2012

70000 30.30 07/12/2011

30000 24.01 03/01/2011

50000 23.75 11/13/2010

Lawrence ODonnell III 31429 37.985 03/06/2013 15785 533691 134053 4532332

90000 29.24 03/04/2014

79466 19.61 03/06/2013

150000 27.88 03/07/2012

175000 24.01 03/01/2011

Robert Simpson 12892 37.095 03/06/2013 12403 419345 96963 3278319

33000 27.60 05/13/2014

42000 29.24 03/04/2014

65000 21.08 04/03/2013

13768 19.61 03/06/2013

33000 27.88 03/07/2012

35000 24.01 03/01/2011

James Trevathan 20000 29.23 07/19/2014 7330 247827 57316 1937854

50000 29.24 03/04/2014

120000 19.61 03/06/2013

65000 27.88 03/07/2012

100000 24.01 03/01/2011

Duane Woods 50000 28.45 06/03/2014 7330 247827 57316 1937854

20000 29.24 03/04/20 14

18000 19.61 03/06/2013

10000 26.77 05/16/2012

15000 27.88 03/07/2012

10000 24.01 03/01/2011

All amounts are as of December 31 2009 and dollar values are based on the closing price of the Compa

nys Common Stock on that date of $33.81

Represents reload stock options All reload stock options become exercisable once the market value of our

Common Stock has increased by 25% over the options exercise price

Includes the final vesting of the 2006 restricted stock unit awards which vested in equal annual installments

over four year period and the entire 2007 restricted stock unit awards which vested in full after three years

The 2006 awards which vested in full on January 27 2010 included the following Mr Steiner 13750

Mr ODonnell 5833 Mr Simpson 4583 Mr Trevathan 2708 and Mr Woods 2708 The 2007

awards which vested in full on January 26 2010 included the following Mr Steiner 23457
Mr ODonnell 9952 Mr Simpson 7820 Mr Trevathan 4622 and Mr Woods 4622
Includes performance share units with three-year performance periods ending as follows Performance share

units are paid after the Companys financial results of operations for the entire performance period are reported

typically in mid to late February of the succeeding year The performance period ended on December 31 2009
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includes the following performance share units Mr Steiner 70373 Mr ODonnell 29858
Mr Simpson 23460 Mr Trevathan 13868 and Mr Woods 13868 The performance period ending

on December 31 2010 includes the following performance share units Mr Steiner 119340 Mr ODon
nell 48792 Mr Simpson 36168 Mr Trevathan 21379 and Mr Woods 21379 The performance

period ending on December 31 2011 includes the following performance share units Mr Steiner 135509

Mr ODonnell 55403 Mr Simpson 37335 Mr Trevathan 22069 and Mr Woods 22069

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009

Stock Awards1

Number of Shares Value Realized

Acquired on Vesting on Vesting

Name ________________ ___________

David Steiner 78980 2366585

Lawrence ODonnell III 33509 1004074

Robert Simpson 26329 788930

James Trevathan 15559 466213

Duane Woods 155593 466213

Includes restricted stock units granted in 2005 and 2006 that vested in equal installments over four years

and performance share units granted in 2006 with performance period ended December 31 2008 that

were paid out in February 2009

We withheld shares in payment of the exercise price and minimum statutory tax withholding from

Mr ODonnells exercise of non-qualified stock options Mr ODonnell received 91716 net shares in this

transaction

Mr Woods deferred receipt of 10142 shares valued at $288996 based on the market value of our Com
mon Stock on the date of payment payable under his 2006 performance share unit award Mr Woods

elected to defer the receipt of the shares until he leaves the Company Information about deferrals of per

formance share units can be found in the CDA

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation in 2009

Option Awards

Number of Shares Value Realized

Acquired on Exercise on Exercise

3258522 4290656

12500 99395

4000 37296

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate

Contributions Contributions Earnings Aggregate Balance at

in Last in Last in Last Withdrawals Last Fiscal

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Distributions Year End

Name $1 $2 $3 $4 $1
David Steiner 223269 47868 198762 1676080

Lawrence ODonnell III 87853 53514 159593 2680423

Robert Simpson 32461 18936 81329 402331

James Trevathan 83757 2552186

Duane Woods 201973 1492192

Contributions are under the Companys Deferral Plan as described in CDA In this Proxy Statement as

well as in previous years we include executive contributions to the Deferral Plan in Base Salary in the

Summary Compensation Table Aggregate Balance at Last Fiscal Year End includes the following aggre

gate amounts of the named executives base salaries that were included in Base Salary in the Summary

Compensation Table in 2007-2009 Mr Steiner $585845 Mr ODonnell $1123288 Mr Simp

son $127233 Mr Trevathan $1009121 and Mr Woods $498721

Company contributions to the executives Deferral Plan accounts are included in All Other Compensation

but not Base Salary in the Summary Compensation Table
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Earnings on these accounts are not included in any other amounts in the tables included in this Proxy

Statement as the amounts of the named executives earnings represent the general market gains or losses

on investments rather than amounts or rates set by the Company for the benefit of the named executives

Accounts are distributed as either lump sum payment or in annual installments when the employee

has reached at least 65 years of age or ii at future date that occurs after termination of employment

Special circumstances may allow for modified distribution in the event of the employees death an

unforeseen emergency or upon change-in-control of the Company In the event of death distribution will

be made to the designated beneficiary in the form previously elected by the executive In the event of an

unforeseen emergency the plan administrator may allow an early payment in the amount required to sat

isfy the emergency All participants are immediately 100% vested in all of their contributions Company

matching contributions and gains and/or losses related to their investment choices

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control

The Company has entered into employment agreements with each of the named executive officers The

agreements contain provisions regarding consideration payable by the Company upon termination of employ
ment as described below In some cases the form of award agreements for equity awards may also contain

provisions regarding termination or change-in-control Each of the agreements also contains post-termination

restrictive covenants including covenant not to compete non-solicitation covenants and non-disparage

ment covenant each of which lasts for two years after termination

We entered into employment agreements with our named executive officers based on competitive market

practices and because they provide form of protection for the Company through restrictive covenant

provisions They also provide the named executives sense of security and trust that they will be treated fairly

in the event of termination not for cause or under change-in-control situation We believe change-in-control

protections ensure impartiality and objectivity for our named executives and enhance the interest of our

stockholders

Employment agreements entered into with named executive officers after February 2004 include

clawback feature that allows for the suspension and refund of termination benefits for subsequently discovered

cause These provisions are applicable to Mr Simpson and Mr Woods whose agreements were entered into in

October 2004 The agreements generally allow the Company to cancel any remaining payments due and

obligate the named executive to refund to the Company any severance payments already made if within one

year of termination of employment of the named executive by the Company for any reason other than for

cause the Company determines that the named executive could have been terminated for cause Additionally

in August 2007 the Compensation Committee adopted an Executive Compensation Clawback Policy The

purpose of the policy is to set forth guidelines as to when the Company should seek reimbursement of

payments that are predicated on the achievement of financial results Generally the policy allows the

Compensation Committee to require reimbursement when there has been intentional or reckless conduct that

caused financial results to materially increase an award or payment

The terms Cause Good Reason and Change-in-Control as used in the table below are defined in

the executives employment agreements and have the meanings generally described below You should refer to

the individual agreements for the actual definitions

Cause generally means the named executive has

deliberately refused to perform his duties

breached his duty of loyalty to the Company

been convicted of felony

intentionally and materially harmed the Company or

breached the covenants contained in his agreement
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Good Reason generally means that without the named executives consent

his duties or responsibilities have been substantially changed

he has been removed from his position

the Company has breached his employment agreement

any successor to the Company has not assumed the obligations under his employment agreement or

he has been reassigned to location more than 50 miles away

Change-in-Control generally means that

at least 25% of the Companys Common Stock has been acquired by one person or persons acting as

group

the majority of the Board of Directors consists of individuals other than those serving as of the date of

the named executives employment agreement or those that were not elected by at least two-thirds of

those directors

there has been merger of the Company in which at least 50% of the combined post-merger voting

power of the surviving entity does not consist of the Companys pre-merger voting power or merger

to effect recapitalization that resulted in person or persons acting as group acquired 25% or more

of the Companys voting securities or

the Company is liquidating or selling all or substantially all of its assets

The following tables represent potential payouts to our named executives upon termination of employment

in the circumstances indicated pursuant to the terms of their employment agreements In the event named

executive is terminated for cause he is entitled to any accrued but unpaid salary only

The payouts assume the triggering event indicated occurred on December 31 2009 at which time the

closing price of our Common Stock was $33.81 per share These payouts are determined for SEC disclosure

purposes and are not necessarily indicative of the actual amounts the named executive would receive Any

actual performance share unit payouts will be based on future performance of the Company We have based

the payout of performance share units included in the amounts below on target awards outstanding at

December 31 2009 The payout for continuation of benefits and perquisites is an estimate of the cost the

Company would incur to continue those benefits
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Potential Consideration upon Termination of Employment

David Steiner

Payout

1257969

10995756

2150000

1075000

15478725

4622500

20544

1204819

6589772

12437635

6933750

30816

1257969

10995756

2472500
5266093

26956884

Triggering Event

Death or Disability

Termination Without Cause by the Company or

For Good Reason by the Employee

Termination Without Cause by the Company or For

Good Reason by the Employee Six Months Prior to

or Two Years Following Change-in-Control

Double Trigger

Compensation Component

Severance Benefits

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units

Payment of performance share units based on

actual performance at end of performance

period

Two times base salary as of date of termination

payable in bi-weekly installments over two-

year period1
Life insurance benefit in the case of Death

Total

Severance Benefits

Two times base salary plus target annual bonus

one-half payable in lump sum one-half

payable in bi-weekly installments over two-

year period

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for two years

Prorated vesting of restricted stock units

Prorated payment of performance share units

Total

Severance Benefits

Three times base salary plus target bonus paid

in lump sum

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for three years

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock

units2

Accelerated payment of performance share

units3

Full maximum bonus prorated to date of

termination

Gross-up payment for any excise taxes

Total
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Lawrence ODonnell III

1550576

776000

7392599

3101152

20544

107029

22050

511106

2730935

6492816

4651728

30816

160544

33075

533691

4532332

1550576

2814666

14307428

PayoutCompensation Component __________

Severance Benefits

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units 533691

Payment of perfonnance share units based on

actual performance at end of performance

period 4532332

Two times base salary as of date of termination

payable in bi-weekly installments over two-

year period1
Life insurance benefit in the case of Death

__________

Triggering Event

Death or Disability

Termination Without Cause by the

Company or For Good Reason by the Employee

Termination Without Cause by the Company or

For Good Reason by the Employee Six Months

Prior to or Two Years Following

Change-in-Control Double Trigger

Total

Severance Benefits

Two times base salary plus target annual bonus

one-half payable in lump sum one-half payable

in bi-weekly installments over two-year

period

Continued coverage under benefit plans for two

years

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Deferred Savings Plan

401k
Prorated vesting of restricted stock units

Prorated payment of performance share units

Total

Severance Benefits

Three times base salary plus target bonus paid

in lump sum

Continued coverage under benefit plans for three

years

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Deferred Savings Plan

401k
Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units2

Accelerated payment of performance share

units3

Full maximum bonus prorated to date of

termination

Gross-up payment for any excise taxes

Total
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Robert Simpson

Termination Without Cause by the Company or For

Good Reason by the Employee

Termination Without Cause by the Company or For

Good Reason by the Employee Six Months Prior to

or Two Years Following Change-in-Control

Double Trigger

Compensation Component Payout

Severance Benefits

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units

Payment of performance share units based on

actual performance at end of performance

period

Life insurance benefit in the case of Death

Total
________

Severance Benefits

Two times base salary plus target annual bonus

one-half payable in lump sum one-half payable

in bi-weekly installments over two-year

period

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for two years

Prorated vesting of restricted stock units

Prorated payment of performance share units

Total
______

Severance Benefits

Three times base salary plus target bonus paid in

lump sum

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for three years

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units2

Accelerated payment of performance share

units3

Full maximum bonus prorated to date of

termination

Gross-up payment for any excise taxes

Total
______

Triggering Event

Death or Disability

419345

3278319

521000

4218664

1927644

20544

401595

2027281

4377064

2891466

30816

419345

3278319

885674

1809757

9315377
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James Trevathan

1132596

567000

3885277

2095302

20544

22050

237346

1198362

3573604

2095302

20544

22050

247827

1937854

962706

1238177

6524460

Triggering Event Compensation Component Payout

Death or Disability Severance Benefits

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units 247827

Payment of performance share units based on

actual performance at end of performance

period 1937854

Two times base salary as of date of termination

payable in bi-weekly installments over two-

year period1
Life insurance benefit in the case of Death

Total

Termination Without Cause by the Company or Severance Benefits

For Good Reason by the Employee Two times base salary plus target annual bonus

one-half payable in lump sum one-half

payable in hi-weekly installments over two-

year period

Continued coverage under benefit plans for two

years

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Deferred Savings Plan

.401k
Prorated vesting of restricted stock units

Prorated payment of performance share units..

Total

Termination Without Cause by the Company or Severance Benefits

For Good Reason by the Employee Six Months Two times base salary plus target bonus paid in

Prior to or Two Years Following lump sum

Change-in-Control Double Trigger Continued coverage under benefit plans for two

years

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Deferred Savings Plan

401k
Accelerated vesting of restricted stock

units2

Accelerated payment of performance share

units3

Full maximum bonus prorated to date of

termination

Gross-up payment for any excise taxes

Total
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Duane Woods

Termination Without Cause by the Company or

For Good Reason by the Employee

Termination Without Cause by the Company or

For Good Reason by the Employee Six Months

Prior to or Two Years Following

Change-in-Control Double Trigger

Compensation Component Payout

Severance Benefits

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock units

Payment of performance share units based on

actual performance at end of performance

period

Life insurance benefit in the case of Death
_________

Total ________

Severance Benefits

Two times base salary plus target annual bonus

one-half payable in lump sum one-half

payable in bi-weekly installments over two-

year period

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for two years

Prorated vesting of restricted stock units

Prorated payment of performance share units

Total ________

Severance Benefits

Three times base salary plus target bonus paid

in lump sum

Continued coverage under health and welfare

benefit plans for three years

Accelerated vesting of restricted stock

units2

Accelerated payment of performance share

units3

Full maximum bonus prorated to date of

termination

Gross-up payment for any excise taxes
_________

Total

The double trigger refers to the provisions in the named executive officers employment agreements As

described in the following footnotes the restricted stock unit and performance share unit award agreements

accelerate payments of those awards in most cases upon change-in-control without termination event

Although these provisions were included in certain named executives employment agreements prior to

2004 it is not the Compensation Committees current practice to include increased payments in the event

of death or disability in employment agreements

The restricted stock unit award agreements provide that the awards will be accelerated upon

change-in-control unless the successor entity assumes the awards and converts them into equivalent grants

of the successor regardless of termination of employment however if the awards are converted the agree

ments also provide for an acceleration of vesting if the employee is terminated without cause during the

referenced window period

The performance share unit award agreements provide that the awards will be accelerated upon

change-in-control regardless of termination of employment In the event of change-in-control the employee

would receive payout of shares of Common Stock calculated on shortened performance period plus

restricted stock unit award in the successor entity to compensate for the lost opportunity from the date of the

change-in-control to the end of the original performance period If the employee is thereafter terminated within

the window period referenced he would vest in full in the new restricted stock unit award The payment in the

event of acceleration is based on the achievement as of the date of the change-in-control of the performance

target interpolated back to the date of the change-in-control The performance targets of performance share

units are for three-year average
because the achievement of the interpolated target cannot be determined we

Triggering Event

Death or Disability

247827

1937854
566000

2751681

2093128

20544

237346

1198362

3549380

3139692

30816

247827

1937854

961708

2064444

8382341

42



have assumed the interpolated target was the same as the original target and was met as of the date of the

change-in-control

All of the named executives stock options other than reload options have vested in full In the event of

termination for cause all options are immediately cancelled However some of our named executive officers

have provisions in their employment agreements that give them continued exercisability of stock options in the

event of the termination of their employment that is longer than the normal terms contained in the stock option

agreements themselves The employment agreements we entered into with Mr Steiner Mr ODonnell and

Mr Simpson give them the ability to exercise all stock options granted before 2004 for two years after

termination of employment without cause or for good reason and ii three years after termination without

cause or for good reason six months prior to or two years following change-in-control Mr Trevathans

employment agreement gives him the ability to exercise all stock options granted before 2004 for two years

after termination of employment without cause or for good reason or ii without cause or for good reason

six months prior to or two years following change-in-control Mr Woods employment agreement does not

provide for extended exercisability of his stock options upon termination The value if any of the benefit of

continued exercisability to executives is dependent on whether the market value of our Common Stock exceeds

the exercise prices of the stock options during the post-termination period of exercisability We have valued

the benefit based on the potential gain the named executive could have realized if the stock options were

exercised as of December 31 2009 as follows Mr Steiner $7322721 Mr ODonnell $4144217

Mr Simpson $1958516 Mr Trevathan $3389500 and Mr Woods $872350

RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Item on the Proxy Card

Our Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee has ratified the selection of

Ernst Young LLP to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010 subject

to ratification by our stockholders

Representatives of Ernst Young LLP will be at the Annual Meeting They will be able to make

statement if they want and will be available to answer any appropriate questions stockholders may have

Although ratification of the selection of Ernst Young is not required by our Bylaws or otherwise we

are submitting the selection to stockholders for ratification because we value our stockholders views on our

independent registered public accounting firm and as matter of good governance If our stockholders do not

ratify our selection it will be considered direction to our Board and Audit Committee to consider selecting

another firm Even if the selection is ratified the Audit Committee may in its discretion select different

independent registered public accounting firm subject to ratification by the Board at any time during the year

if it determines that such change is in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE RATIFICATION

OF ERNST YOUNG LLP AS THE COMPANYS INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR FISCAL YEAR 2010

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fee Information

Fees for professional services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in each of

the last two fiscal years in each of the following categories were as follows

2009 2008

In millions

Audit Fees $7.1 $7.7

Audit-Related Fees 1.2 1.2

Tax Fees 0.1 0.0

All Other Fees 0.0 0.0

Total $8.4 $8.9
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Audit includes fees for the annual audit reviews of the Companys Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q

work performed to support the Companys debt issuances accounting consultations and separate subsidiary

audits required by statute or regulation both domestically and internationally Audit-related fees principally

include separate subsidiary audits not required by statute or regulation and employee benefit plan audits Tax

fees were for tax audit and compliance assistance in certain foreign jurisdictions

The Audit Committee has adopted procedures for the approval of Ernst Youngs services and related

fees At the beginning of each year all audit and audit-related services tax fees and other fees for the

upcoming audit are provided to the Audit Committee for approval The services are grouped into significant

categories and provided to the Audit Committee in the format shown above All projects that have the

potential to exceed $100000 are separately identified and reported to the Committee for approval The Audit

Committee Chairman has the authority to approve additional services not previously approved between

Committee meetings Any additional services approved by the Audit Committee Chairman between Committee

meetings are ratified by the full Committee at the next regularly scheduled meeting The Audit Committee is

updated on the status of all services and related fees at every regular meeting In 2009 and 2008 the Audit

Committee pre-approved all audit audit-related and tax services performed by Ernst Young

As set forth in the Audit Committee Report on page the Audit Committee has considered whether the

provision of these non-audit services is compatible with maintaining auditor independence and has determined

that they are

PROPOSAL TO AMEND THE COMPANYS SECOND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

Item on the Proxy Card

The next item on the agenda is proposal to amend our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation the

Certificate to eliminate the supermajority stockholder voting provisions subject to stockholder approval

After careful consideration and review and upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Governance

Committee the Board has determined to eliminate the supermajority vote requirement for votes that are

contained in our current Certificate and Bylaws

In general our supermajority vote provisions were designed to ensure that director could not be

removed by vote of stockholders representing less than two-thirds of the shares outstanding and entitled to

vote The supermajority vote provisions also allowed the existing Board to control the size of the Companys
Board of Directors in order to limit actions by minority stockholders who may attempt to increase the size of

the Board or remove directors to create vacancies that the minority stockholders could seek to fill While our

Board believes these actions should not be taken without the support of substantial proportion of our

stockholders the Board has determined that an amendment and restatement of the Certificate to eliminate the

supermajority vote requirements is advisable and is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders

Such amendment and restatement if adopted would change the provisions contained in Article Ninth of the

Certificate that require an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the

Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors considered as single class to remove

directors and ii to amend or repeal provisions of Article Ninth of the Certificate or adopt any provision

inconsistent with one or more of the provisions contained in that Article

The Board has adopted resolutions approving and declaring the advisability of adopting the proposed

amended and Restated Certificate the Restated Certificate and recommends that stockholders approve the

Restated Certificate by voting in favor of this Proposal

In determining whether eliminating the current supermajority voting requirements is in the best interests

of the Companys stockholders the Nominating and Governance Committee and the Board noted that such

provisions are designed to provide safeguards and avoid disruption to the Companys Board of Directors unless

such actions are with the consensus of the holders of at least two-thirds of stockholders
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The Board also considered the view of investors who believe that supermajority voting provisions are

inconsistent with current trends in corporate governance because they may limit the ability of simple

majority of stockliolders at any particular time to remove directors by essentially providing veto to large

minority stockholder or group
of stockholders As related matter some commentators note the difficulty of

obtaining two-thirds vote Other commentators have suggested that lower threshold for stockholder votes

can increase stockholders ability to participate effectively in corporate governance At the Companys 2009

Annual Meeting of Stockholders our stockholders approved proposal to eliminate the supermajority vote

requirements contained in our Certificate arid Bylaws

If the proposed amendments are adopted then the affirmative vote of majority of the outstanding shares

of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors considered as single

class will be required for stockholders to remove any director or ii amend or repeal or adopt any

provision inconsistent with any one or more provisions contained in Article Ninth of the Restated Certificate

This is the lowest vote allowed by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware the DGCL for

the removal of directors as provided for in Section 141 of the DGCL

As currently written Article Ninth of the Certificate can only be amended by the affirmative vote of at

least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the

election of directors considered as single class An abstention or other failure to vote on this Proposal is

not an affirmative vote and therefore will have the same effect as vote against this Proposal Therefore it is

important that you vote your shares in person or by proxy

If this Proposal is approved by stockholders it will be effected by the filing of the Restated Certificate

with the State of Delaware promptly after the Annual Meeting The Companys current Bylaws also provide

in Section 3.3 that two-thirds of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote

generally in the election of directors considered as single class is necessary to remove directors If the

Proposal is adopted and the Certificate is amended the Board of Directors also will amend Section 3.3 of the

Companys Bylaws to provide that only majority of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors considered as single class is required to remove

directors

copy of the Restated Certificate marked to show all changes proposed under this Proposal against the

current Certificate is attached as Appendix to this Proxy Statement with proposed deletions indicated by

strikeout and proposed additions indicated by underline The above descriptions of the current provisions of

the Certificate and the Restated Certificate are qualified in their entirety by reference to the actual text as set

forth in Appendix

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE APPROVAL OF

THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE COMPANYS SECOND RESTATED CERTIFI

CATE OF INCORPORATION TO ELIMINATE THE SUPERMAJORITY VOTE REQUIREMENTS

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL RELATING TO
DISCLOSURE OF POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Item on the Proxy Card

The following proposal was submitted by the International Brotherhood of Teamsters General Fund 25

Louisiana Avenue N.W Washington D.C 20001 which owns 143 shares of Waste Management Common
Stock The proposal has been included verbatim as we received it

Stockholder Proposal

RESOLVED That the shareholders of Waste Management Inc Company hereby request that the

Company provide report updated semi-annually disclosing the Companys

Policies and procedures for political contributions and expenditures both direct and indirect

made with corporate funds
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Monetary and non-monetary political contributions and expenditures not deductible under

Section 162 e1B of the Internal Revenue Code including but not limited to contributions to or

expenditures on behalf of political candidates political parties political committees and other political

entities organized and operating under 26 USC Sec 527 of the Internal Revenue Code and
any portion of

any dues or similar payments made to any tax exempt organization that is used for an expenditure or

contribution that if made directly by the corporation would not be deductible under Section 162

e1B of the Internal Revenue Code The report shall include the following

An accounting of the Companys funds that are used for political contributions or expendi

tures as described above

Identification of the
person or persons in the Company who participated in making the

decisions to make the political contribution or expenditure and

The internal guidelines or policies if any governing the Companys political contributions

and expenditures

The report shall be presented to the Board of Directors Audit Committee or other relevant oversight

committee and posted on the Companys website to reduce costs to shareholders

SUPPORTING STATEMENT As long-term Waste Management shareholders we support policies that

apply transparency and accountability to corporate political spending

Absent system of accountability we are concerned that Company assets may be used for policy

objectives that may be inimical to Waste Managements long-term interests

For example Waste Management is trying to establish itself as the industry leader for waste and

environmental services in new green economy Waste Management senior executive sits on the Board of

Directors of The National Association of Manufacturers NAM which has reportedly fought legislation that

caps greenhouse gas emissions According to news reports Duke Energy one of the countrys largest utilities

decided to leave NAM in part because of the groups opposition to climate change legislation Duke Energy

ditches manufacturing group Politico May 2009 Without disclosure it is impossible for shareholders to

know whether Waste Management payments to NAM are used for the groups political activities including

those opposing climate change legislation

Based on available public records Waste Management has contributed at least $4 million in corporate

funds since the 2002 election cycle http//moneyline.cq.com/pml/home.do http//www.followthemoney.org

Relying on publicly available data does not provide complete picture of the Companys political

expenditures Payments to trade associations used for political activities are undisclosed and unknown

Waste Management does not disclose its political expenditures the executives who authorize them or the

guidelines that help the Company determine the appropriateness of such expenditures

Last year
this proposal received approximately 32 percent support

We urge your support FOR this proposal

Waste Management Response to Stockholder Proposal Relating to Disclosure of Political Contributions

Waste Management is fully committed to complying with all applicable laws concerning political

contributions including laws requiring public disclosure of political contributions and lobbying expenses

Accordingly Waste Management believes this proposal is unnecessary because comprehensive system of

reporting and accountability for political contributions already exists

Current law limits the amounts of political contributions that can be made restricts the organizations or

entities that can receive corporate funding and requires that clear system of accountability be in place as

established by regulatory agencies in the United States Political contributions or donations made by the

Company and its Political Action Committee PAC are required to be disclosed under federal state and local

campaign finance law The Company fully complies with these disclosure and reporting requirements As
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result information on the Companys political contributions is available to stockholders and interested parties

through public sources

Waste Management believes that it is important to participate in the political process because it is of

intrinsic benefit to our business and employees Our policy on political contributions is published in the

Companys Code of Conduct which is disseminated to all employees We do not expect the candidates to

whom we contribute funds to agree with our positions on all issues at all times We do however seek to

support candidates who recognize the importance of the environmental services we provide while also

recognizing that fair free market system provides the best environment for continued improvement of cost-

effective services

Contributions of funds from the Companys PAC to federal state and local candidates and all other

Company contributions are approved in advance by the Government Affairs Department The PAC files

monthly reports of receipts and disbursements to the Federal Election Commission FEC as well as pre

election and post-election FEC reports Those publicly available reports identify the names of candidates

supported and amounts contributed by the PAC In addition all political contributions to federal candidates

over $200 are publicly disclosed by the FEC Under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 Waste Management

submits to Congress semi-annual reports of amounts spent on lobbying and the subjects lobbied which are

also publicly available Those reports have been submitted quarterly since April 2008 under the Honest

Leadership and Open Government Act of 2007 and semi-annual reports include list of all federal election

candidates to whom the PAC contributed during the previous six months

senior executive of the Company sits on the Board of Directors of the National Association of

Manufacturers NAM in an effort to ensure that the Companys interests are represented by that trade

association NAM has supported inclusion of landfill gas-to-energy and waste-to-energy in the Federal

Renewable Portfolio Standard contained in the House-passed climate change bill and the pending Senate bill

It has opposed the House bill but has not opposed the Senate bill It has stated that climate change legislation

should maintain level playing field for US companies in the global marketplace NAM has called for

legislation that ensures national approach enhances our economic leadership is technology-driven provides

flexibility and fosters innovation and promotes global participation Those elements have broad support in the

deliberations currently under consideration in the Senate

Adoption of this proposal would require Waste Management to expend resources unnecessarily to create

semi-annual report disclosing political contributions duplicating reports already publicly available

This proposal was submitted to the vote of our stockholders at the 2008 and 2009 annual meetings and

failed to pass on both occasions

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE AGAINST THE ADOPTION

OF THIS PROPOSAL

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL RELATING TO RIGHT OF STOCKHOLDERS TO
CALL SPECIAL STOCKHOLDER MEETINGS

Item on the Proxy Card

The following proposal was submitted by William Steiner 112 Abbottsford Gate Piermont NY 10968

who owns 7600 shares of Waste Management Common Stock The proposal has been included verbatim as

we received it

Stockholder Proposal

Special Shareowner Meetings

RESOLVED Shareowners ask our board to take the steps necessary to amend our bylaws and each

applicable governing document to give holders of 10% of our outstanding common stock or the lowest

percentage allowed by law above 10% the power to call special shareowner meeting This includes multiple
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shareowners combining their holdings to equal the 10%-of-outstanding-common threshold This includes that

such bylaw and/or charter text will not have any exception or exclusion conditions to the fullest extent

permitted by state law that apply only to shareowners but not to management and/or the board

special meeting allows shareowners to vote on important matters such as electing new directors that

can arise between annual meetings If shareowners cannot call special meeting investor returns may suffer

Shareowners should have the ability to call special meeting when matter merits prompt attention This

proposal does not impact our boards current power to call special meeting

The Simple Majority Vote topic won our overwhelming 80%
support at our 2009 annual meeting The

Council of Institutional Investors www.cii.org recommends that management adopt shareholder proposals upon

receiving their first 50%-plus vote The Simple Majority Vote topic even won 57%-support from all our shares

outstanding

This proposal topic also won more than 60% support the following companies in 2009 CVS Caremark

CVS Sprint Nextel Safeway SWY Motorola MOT and Donnelley RRD William Steiner and

Nick Rossi sponsored these proposals

The merit of this Special Shareowner Meetings proposal should also be considered in the context of the

need for improvement in our companys 2009 reported corporate governance status

John Pope our Chairman and on our three most important board committees audit nomination and

executive pay was designated as Flagged Problem Director by The Corporate Library due to his

involvement with the Federal-Mogul FDML bankruptcy Pastora San Juan Cafferty had 15-years director

tenure independence concern and yet was assigned to two of our most important board committees John

Pope and Patrick Gross each held five board seats over-extension concern

Our directors served on six boards rated by The Corporate Library www.thecorporatelibrary.com an

independent investment research firm John Pope Kraft Foods Inc KFT David Steiner FedEx FDX and

Tyco Electronics TEL Patrick Gross Capital One Financial COF and Taleo TLEO and Steven Rothmeier

ArvinMeritor ARM
In order to best align our CEOs interests with shareholders the minimum stockholding requirement

should be lOX base salary according to the Corporate Library Yet our CEO David Steiner was required to

hold only 5X base salary We had no shareholder right to cumulative voting lead director to call special

meeting or vote on executive pay Shareholder proposals to address all or some of these topics have received

majority votes at other companies and would be excellent topics for our next annual meeting

The above concerns show there is need for improvement Please encourage our board to respond

positively to this proposal Special Shareowner Meetings Yes on

Waste Management Response to Stockholder Proposal Relating to the Right of Stockholders to Call

Special Stockholder Meetings

Our Board believes that this proposal is contrary to the interests of the Company and its stockholders

Our Bylaws currently provide that special meeting may be called by majority of the Board of Directors

the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer The current Bylaw provision is an appropriate

corporate governance provision for public company of our size because it allows the directors and our most

senior management to exercise their judgment to determine when it is in the best interests of our stockholders

to convene special meeting special meeting should only be called to consider extraordinary events which

cannot wait until the next annual meeting State law and regulatory provisions require that our Board seek

stockholders approval for most significant actions such as the acceptance of merger proposals the adoption of

new equity incentive plans and amendments to the Companys Certificate of Incorporation

This proposal if implemented would permit stockholders holding only 10% of our outstanding Common
Stock or groups of small stockholders whose aggregate holdings equal only 10% to call special meeting at

any time and with any frequency This would be true regardless of how long those stockholders have held our

stock Additionally the meetings called could cover agenda items in which stockholders generally have little
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or no interest or that are relevant to only very narrow constituencies Allowing meetings to be called in this

manner could be disruptive to the Companys operations and time-consuming for management Meetings of

stockholders are expensive and allowing possibly unlimited number of meetings to be called by small

ownership percentage is not responsible use of time or financial resources Our Board believes that adopting

such Bylaw would not be in the best interests of our stockholders

Our stockholders have other rights available to them that are effective and far less costly to the Company

such as the ability to act by written consent We also provide significant opportunity for our stockholders to

raise matters at our annual meetings Stockholders have frequently used our annual meetings to propose

business by making proposals through the proxy rules such as this one and are able to communicate their

concerns during the question and answer session of an annual meeting

Our Board is strongly committed to good governance practices and is keenly interested in the views and

concerns of our stockholders We do not have classified Board which means each of our directors is elected

annually Further our directors are elected by majority of votes cast at each meeting Additionally as

described in this Proxy Statement our Board is currently seeking stockholder approval for amendments to our

governing documents that will reduce any supermajority stockholder voting provision to require the vote of

only majority of the outstanding shares

This proposal should be evaluated in the context of these practices as well as our overall governance

practices Our Board has wide range and depth of experience that benefits our stockholders RiskMetrics

Group has ranked our corporate governance practices in the 97th percentile for our industry group The

Corporate Library has assigned our Board Low Corporate Governance Risk Assessment indicating that

our Companys governance practices are not cause for concern

In light of our Boards continuing commitment to ensuring effective corporate governance and the other

reasons outlined in this response our Board does not believe that adoption of the proposal is necessary

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE AGAINST THE ADOPTION

OF THIS PROPOSAL

OTHER MATTERS

We do not intend to bring any other matters before the Annual Meeting nor do we have any present

knowledge that any other matters will be presented by others for action at the meeting If any other matters

are properly presented your proxy card authorizes the people named as proxies to vote as they think best
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APPENDIX

SECONDTHIRD RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

Waste Management Inc corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware

the Corporation hereby certifies as follows

The name of the Corporation is Waste Management Inc and the name under which the

Corporation was originally incorporated is USA Waste Services Inc The date of filing of its original

Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware was April 28 1995

This SccondThird Restated Certificate of Incorporation the Restated Certificate of Incorpora

tion restates and iiiiates and further amends the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of this

Corporation by amcnding Articlc Ninth to providc for thc clcction of dircctors annually

The text of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation as amended or supplemented

heretofore is further amended hereby to read as herein set forth in full

First The name of the Corporation is Waste Management Inc

Second The registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is located at Corporation

Trust Center 1209 Orange Street in the City of Wilmington County of New Castle The name and address of

its registered agent is The Corporation Trust Company Corporation Trust Center 1209 Orange Street

Wilmington Delaware 19801

Third The nature of the business objects and purposes to be transacted promoted or carried on by the

Corporation is

To engage in any lawful activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation

Law of Delaware

Fourth The total number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue

is one billion five hundred and ten million 1510000000 divided into one billion five hundred million

1500000000 shares of Common Stock of the par value of one cent $0.01 per share and ten million

10000000 shares of Preferred Stock of the par value of one cent $0.01 per share

No holder of Common Stock or Preferred Stock of the Corporation shall have any pre-emptive

preferential or other right to purchase or subscribe for any shares of the unissued stock of the Corporation

or of any stock of the Corporation to be issued by reason of any increase of the authorized capital stock

of the Corporation or of the number of its shares or of any warrants options or bonds certificates of

indebtedness debentures or other securities convertible into or carrying options or warrants to purchase

stock of the Corporation or of any
stock of the Corporation purchased by it or its nominee or nominees

or other securities held in the treasury
of the Corporation whether issued or sold for cash or other

consideration or as dividend or otherwise other than with respect to Preferred Stock such rights if any

as the Board of Directors in its discretion from time to time may grant and at such price as the Board of

Directors in its discretion may fix

The holders of Common Stock shall have the right to one vote per
share on all questions to the

exclusion of all other classes of stock except as by law expressly provided as otherwise herein expressly

provided or as contained within certificate of designation with respect to the holders of any other class

or classes of stock

The Board of Directors is authorized subject to limitations prescribed by law by resolution or

resolutions to provide for the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock in series and by filing certificate

pursuant to the applicable law of the State of Delaware to establish from time to time the number of

shares to be included in each such series and to fix the designation powers preferences and rights of
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the shares of each such series and the qualifications limitations or restrictions thereof The authority of

the Board with respect to each series shall include but not be limited to determination of the following

The number of shares constituting that series and the distinctive designation of that series

The dividend rights and dividend rate on the shares of that series whether dividends shall

be cumulative and if so from which date or dates and the relative rights of priority if any of

payment of dividends on shares of that series

Whether that series shall have voting rights in addition to the voting rights provided by

law and if so the terms of such voting rights

Whether that series shall have conversion or exchange privileges and if so the terms and

conditions of such conversion or exchange including provision for adjustment of the conversion or

exchange rate in such events as the Board of Directors shall determine

Whether or not the shares of that series shall be redeemable and if so the terms and

conditions of such redemption including the date or dates upon or after which they shall be

redeemable and the amount per share payable in cash on redemption which amount may vary
under

different conditions and at different redemption dates

Whether that series shall have sinking fund for the redemption or purchase of shares of

that series and if so the terms and amount of such sinking fund

The rights of the shares of that series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation

dissolution or winding up of the Corporation and the relative rights of priority if any of payment of

shares of that series

Any other relative rights preferences and limitations of that series or

Any or all of the foregoing terms

Except where otherwise set forth in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of

Directors of the Corporation providing for the issue of any series of Preferred Stock created thereby the

number of shares comprising such series may be increased or decreased but not below the number of

shares then outstanding from time to time by like action of the Board of Directors of the Corporation

Should the number of shares of any series be so decreased the shares constituting such decrease shall

resume the status which they had prior to adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of

shares of such series

Shares of any series of Preferred Stock which have been redeemed whether through the

operation of sinking fund or otherwise purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation or which

if convertible or exchangeable have been converted into or exchanged for shares of stock of any other

class or classes shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of Preferred Stock and may be

reissued as part of the series of which they were originally part or may be reclassified or reissued as

part of new series of Preferred Stock to be created by resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors

or as part of any other series of Preferred Stock all subject to the conditions or restrictions adopted by

the Board of Directors of the Corporation providing for the issue of any series of Preferred Stock and to

any filing required by law

Fifth The Corporation is to have perpetual existence

Sixth Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless the bylaws of the Corporation shall so

provide Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware as the bylaws may

provide The books of the Corporation may be kept subject to any provision contained in the statutes of the

State of Delaware outside the State of Delaware at such place or places as may be designated from time to

time by the Board of Directors or in the bylaws of the Corporation

Seventh No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders

for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as director provided that this provision shall not
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eliminate or limit the liability of director for any breach of the directors duty of loyalty to the

Corporation or its stockholders ii for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional

misconduct or knowing violation of law iii under Section 174 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware

or any amendment thereto or successor provision thereto or iv for any transaction from which the director

derived an improper personal benefit If the General Corporation Law of Delaware hereafter is amended to

authorize the further elimination or limitation of the liability of directors then the liability of director of the

Corporation in addition to the limitation on personal liability provided herein shall be limited to the fullest

extent permitted by the amended General Corporation Law of Delaware Neither this SccondRestated

Certificate of Incorporation nor any amendment alteration or repeal of this Article nor the adoption of any

provision of the SccondRestated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article shall adversely

affect eliminate or reduce any right or protection of director of the Corporation hereunder with respect to

any act omission or matter occurring or any action suit or claim that but for this Article would accrue or

arise prior to the time of such amendment modification repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision All

references in this Article to director shall also be deemed to refer to such person or persons if any who

pursuant to provision of the SccondRestated Certificate of Incorporation in accordance with subsection of

Section 141 of the Delaware General Corporation Law exercise or perform any of the powers or duties

otherwise conferred or imposed upon the Board of Directors by the Delaware General Corporation Law

Eighth This Corporation shall to the maximum extent permitted from time to time under the law of

the State of Delaware indemnify and upon request shall advance expenses to any person who is or was

party or is threatened to be made party to any threatened pending or completed action suit proceeding or

claim whether civil criminal administrative or investigative by reason of the fact that such person is or was

or has agreed to be director or officer of this Corporation or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries or while

such director or officer is or was serving at the request of this Corporation as director officer partner

trustee employee or agent of any corporation partnership joint venture trust or other enterprise including

service with respect to employee benefit plans against expenses including attorneys fees and expenses

judgments fines penalties and amounts paid in settlement incurred in connection with the investigation

preparation to defend or defense of such action suit proceeding or claim provided however that the

foregoing shall not require this Corporation to indemnify or advance
expenses to any person

in connection

with any action suit proceeding claim or counterclaim initiated by or on behalf of such person Such

indemnification shall not be exclusive of other indemnification rights arising under any bylaws agreement

vote of directors or stockholders or otherwise and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs and legal

representatives of such person Any person seeking indemnification under this Article shall be deemed to have

met the standard of conduct required for such indemnification unless the contrary shall be established

Ninth Except as otherwise provided in this Sccond Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the

bylaws of the Corporation relating to the rights of the holders of any class or series of Preferred Stock voting

separately by class or series to elect additional directors under specified circumstances the number of

directors of the Corporation shall be as fixed from time to time by or in the manner provided in the bylaws

of the Corporation Unless approved by at least two-thirds of the incumbent directors the number of directors

which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be no fewer than three and no more than nine

Commencing with the election of directors at the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders all directors

other than those who may be elected by the holders of
any

class or series of Preferred Stock voting separately

by class or series shall be elected annually Notwithstanding the foregoing provision of this Article each

director shall serve until his successor is duly elected and qualified or until his earlier death resignation or

removal

Except as otherwise provided pursuant to the provisions of this Sccond Restated Certificate of

Incorporation or the bylaws of the Corporation relating to the rights of the holders of any class or series of

Preferred Stock voting separately by class or series to elect directors under specified circumstances any

director or directors may be removed from office at any time with or without cause but only by the

affirmative vote at any annual meeting or special meeting as the case may be of the stockholders of not less

than two thirdsa majority of the total number of votes of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the
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Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors voting together as single class but only if

notice of such proposal was contained in the notice of such meeting

In the event of
any

increase or decrease in the authorized number of directors the newly created or

eliminated directorships resulting from such increase or decrease shall be appointed or determined by the

Board of Directors No decrease in the authorized number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall

shorten the term of any incumbent director

Vacancies in the Board of Directors however caused and newly-created directorships shall be filled

solely by majority vote of the directors then in office whether or not quorum and any director so chosen

shall hold office until his successor is duly elected and qualified or until his earlier death resignation or

removal

Notwithstanding the foregoing whenever the holders of any one or more classes or series of Preferred

Stock issued by the Corporation shall have the right voting separately by class or series to elect directors at

an annual or special meeting of stockholders the election term of office filling of vacancies and other

features of such directorships shall be governed by the terms of this Sccond Restated Certificate of

Incorporation applicable thereto and such directors so elected shall not be divided into classes pursuant to this

Article unless expressly provided by such terms

Notwithstanding any other provision of this ccond Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the

bylaws of the Corporation and notwithstanding the fact that lesser percentage may be specified by law this

Sccond Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the bylaws of the Corporation the affirmative vote at any

regular meeting or special meeting of the stockholders of not less than two-thirdsa majority of the total

number of votes of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in

the election of directors voting together as single class shall be required to amend or repeal or to adopt

any provision inconsistent with the purpose or intent of this Article but only if notice of the proposed

alteration or amendment was contained in the notice of such meeting

Tenth In furtherance of and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute the Board of Directors

is expressly authorized to adopt amend or repeal the bylaws of the Corporation or adopt new bylaws without

any action on the part of the stockholders provided however that no such adoption amendment or repeal

shall be valid with respect to bylaw provisions which have been adopted amended or repealed by the

stockholders and further provided that bylaws adopted or amended by the Directors and any powers thereby

conferred may be amended altered or repealed by the stockholders

Eleventh The Corporation reserves the right at any time and from time to time to amend alter

change or repeal any provision contained in this Sccond Restated Certificate of Incorporation and other

provisions authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware at the time in force may be added or inserted in

the manner now or hereafter prescribed by law and all rights preferences and privileges of whatsoever nature

conferred upon stockholders directors or any
other persons whomsoever by and pursuant to this Sccond

Restated Certificate of Incorporation in its present form or as hereafter amended are granted subject to the

rights reserved in this Article provided however that the Corporation shall not amend Article Ninth to be

effective on date other than date on which directors are elected

This Sccond Restated Certificate of Incorporation was duly adopted by vote of the stockholders in

accordance with Section 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF WASTE MANAGEMENT INC has caused this Third Restated Certificate of

Incorporation to be signed by its this day of 2OTU

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC
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PART

Item Business

General

The financial statements presented in this report represent the consolidation of Waste Management Inc

Delaware corporation our wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and certain variable interest entities for

which we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary Waste Management Inc is holding company and

all operations are conducted by its subsidiaries When the terms the Company we us or our are used in this

document those terms refer to Waste Management Inc its consolidated subsidiaries and consolidated variable

interest entities When we use the term WMI we are referring only to the parent holding company

WMI was incorporated in Oklahoma in 1987 under the name USA Waste Services Inc and was reincor

porated as Delaware company in 1995 In 1998 merger the Illinois-based waste services company formerly

known as Waste Management Inc became wholly-owned subsidiary of WMI and changed its name to Waste

Management Holdings Inc WM Holdings At the same time our parent holding company changed its name

from USA Waste Services to Waste Management Inc Like WMI WM Holdings is holding company and all

operations are conducted by subsidiaries For detail on the financial position results of operations and cash flows of

WMI WM Holdings and their subsidiaries see Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our principal executive offices are located at 1001 Fannin Street Suite 4000 Houston Texas 77002 Our

telephone number at that address is 713 512-6200 Our website address is http//www.wm.com Our annual reports

on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K are all available free of charge on

our website as soon as practicable after we file the reports with the SEC Our stock is traded on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol WM
We are the leading provider of integrated waste services in North America Using our vast network of assets

and employees we provide comprehensive range of waste management services Through our subsidiaries we

provide collection transfer recycling disposal and waste-to-energy services In providing these services we

actively pursue projects and initiatives that we believe make positive difference for our environment including

recovering and processing the methane gas produced naturally by landfills into renewable
energy source Our

customers include commercial industrial municipal and residential customers other waste management compa
nies electric utilities and governmental entities During 2009 our largest customer represented approximately 1%

of annual revenues We employed approximately 43400 people as of December 31 2009

Our Companys goals are targeted at serving our customers our employees the environment the communities

in which we work and our stockholders

Our primary strategy continues to be to improve our organization and maximize returns to shareholders by

focusing on operational excellence pricing excellence and the profitable growth of our business We believe that

creating more efficient operations and attracting and retaining customers while ensuring appropriate pricing are the

steps that provide the foundation for growth We are continuing to focus on pricing and working to lower operating

and selling general and administrative expenses through process standardization and productivity improvements

We also are continuing programs designed to ensure we make the best use of our assets and capital to realize returns

in addition to increasing our operating margins

We intend to continue to focus on meeting the needs of changing environment As the largest waste services

provider in North America we believe we are well positioned to meet the needs of our customers and communities

as they too Think Green We believe that helping our customers achieve their environmental goals will enable us

to achieve profitable growth

Our focus on operational excellence has provided us strong foundation on which to build We intend to take

advantage of strategic opportunities as they arise and continue to seek profitable growth through targeted sales

efforts and acquisitions We also continue to seek to grow our business in different areas that fit into our current

operations We believe that making such investments will provide long-term value to our stockholders In addition

we intend to continue to return value to our shareholders through common stock repurchases and dividend



payments We recently announced that our Board of Directors expects that future quarterly dividend payments will

be increased to $0.3 15 per share in 2010 which is an 8.6% increase from the quarterly dividend we paid in 2009

This will result in an increase in the amount of free cash flow that we expect to pay out as dividends for the seventh

straight year which is an indication of our ability to generate strong and consistent cash flows All future dividend

declarations will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors

Operations

General

We manage and evaluate our principal operations through five Groups Our four geographic Groups which

include our Eastern Midwest Southern and Western Groups provide collection transfer recycling and disposal

services Our fifth Group is the Wheelabrator Group which provides waste-to-energy
services We also provide

additional services that are not managed through our five Groups as described below These operations are

presented in this report as Other

The table below shows the total revenues in millions contributed annually by each of our Groups or

reportable segments in the three-year period ended December 31 2009 More information about our results of

operations by reportable segment is included in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this report

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Eastern 2960 3319 3411

Midwest 2855 3267 3289

Southern 3328 3740 3737

Western 3125 3387 3444

Wheelabrator 841 912 868

Other 628 897 832

Intercompany 1946 2134 2271

Total $11791 $13388 $13310

The services we provide include collection landfill solid and hazardous waste landfills transfer Wheela

brator waste-to-energy facilities and independent power production plants recycling and other services as

described below The following table shows revenues in millions contributed by these services for each of the three

years indicated

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Collection 7980 8679 8714

Landfill 2547 2955 3047

Transfer 1383 1589 1654

Wheelabrator 841 912 868

Recycling
741 1180 1135

Other 245 207 163

Intercompany 1946 2134 2271

Total $11791 $13388 $13310

Collection Our commitment to customers begins with vast waste collection network Collection involves

picking up and transporting waste and recyclable materials from where it was generated to transfer station



material recovery facility MRF or disposal site We generally provide collection services under one of two types

of arrangements

For commercial and industrial collection services typically we have three-year service agreement The

fees under the agreements are influenced by factors such as collection frequency type of collection

equipment we furnish type and volume or weight of the waste collected distance to the disposal facility

labor costs cost of disposal and general market factors.As part of the service we provide steel containers to

most customers to store their solid waste between pick-up dates Containers vary in size and type according

to the needs of our customers and the restrictions of their communities Many are designed to be lifted

mechanically and either emptied into trucks compaction hopper or directly into disposal site By using

these containers we can service most of our commercial and industrial customers with trucks operated by

only one employee

For most residential collection services we have contract with or franchise granted by municipality

homeowners association or some other regional authority that gives us the exclusive right to service all or

portion of the homes in an area These contracts or franchises are typically for periods of one to five years

We also provide services under individual monthly subscriptions directly to households The fees for

residential collection are either paid by the municipality or authority from their tax revenues or service

charges or are paid directly by the residents receiving the service

Landfill Landfills are the main depositories for solid waste in North America At December 31 2009 we
owned or operated 268 solid waste landfills which

represents the largest network of landfills in North America

Solid waste landfills are built and operated on land with geological and hydrological properties that limit the

possibility of water pollution and are operated under prescribed procedures landfill must be maintained to meet

federal state or provincial and local regulations The operation and closure of solid waste landfill includes

excavation construction of liners continuous spreading and compacting of waste covering of waste with earth or

other inert material and constructing final capping of the landfill These operations are carefully planned to maintain

sanitary conditions to maximize the use of the airspace and to prepare the site so it can ultimately be used for other

purposes

All solid waste management companies must have access to disposal facility such as solid waste landfill

We believe it is usually preferable for our collection operations to use disposal facilities that we own or operate

practice we refer to as internalization rather than using third-party disposal facilities Internalization generally

allows us to realize higher consolidated margins and stronger operating cash flows The fees charged at disposal

facilities which are referred to as tipping fees are based on several factors including competition and the type and

weight or volume of solid waste deposited

We also operate five secure hazardous waste landfills in the United States Under federal environmental laws

the federal government or states with delegated authority must issue permits for all hazardous waste landfills All

of our hazardous waste landfills have obtained the required permits although some can accept only certain types of

hazardous waste These landfills must also comply with specialized operating standards Only hazardous waste in

stable solid form which meets regulatory requirements can be deposited in our secure disposal cells In some

cases hazardous waste can be treated before disposal Generally these treatments involve the separation or removal

of solid materials from liquids and chemical treatments that transform waste into inert materials that are no longer

hazardous Our hazardous waste landfills are sited constructed and operated in manner designed to provide long-

term containment of waste We also operate hazardous waste facility at which we isolate treated hazardous waste

in liquid form by injection into deep wells that have been drilled in rock formations far below the base of fresh water

to point that is separated by other substantial geological confining layers

Transfe At December 31 2009 we owned or operated 345 transfer stations in North America We deposit

waste at these stations as do other waste haulers The solid waste is then consolidated and compacted to reduce the

volume and increase the density of the waste and transported by transfer trucks or by rail to disposal sites

Access to transfer stations is critical to haulers who collect waste in areas not in close proximity to disposal

facilities Fees charged to third parties at transfer stations are usually based on the type and volume or weight of the

waste deposited at the transfer station the distance to the disposal site and general market factors



The utilization of our transfer stations by our own collection operations improves internalization by allowing

us to retain fees that we would otherwise pay to third parties for the disposal of the waste we collect It enables us to

manage costs associated with waste disposal because transfer trucks railcars or rail containers have larger

capacities than collection trucks allowing us to deliver more waste to the disposal facility in each trip iiwaste is

accumulated and compacted at transfer stations that are strategically located to increase the efficiency of our

network of operations and iiiwe can retain the volume by managing the transfer of the waste to one of our own

disposal sites

The transfer stations that we operate but do not own generally are operated through lease agreements under

which we lease property from third parties There are some instances where transfer stations are operated under

contract generally for municipalities In most cases we own the permits and will be responsible for
any regulatory

requirements relating to the operation and closure of the transfer station

Wheelabrator As of December 31 2009 we owned or operated 16 waste-to-energy
facilities and five

independent power production plants or IPPs which are located in the Northeast and in Florida California and

Washington

At our waste-to-energy facilities solid waste is burned at high temperatures in specially designed boilers to

produce heat that is converted into high-pressure steam As of December 31 2009 our waste-to-energy
facilities

were capable of processing up to 21100 tons of solid waste each day In 2009 our waste-to-energy
facilities

received and processed 7.0 million tons of solid waste or approximately 19200 tons per day

Our IPPs convert various waste and conventional fuels into steam The plants burn wood waste anthracite coal

waste cuim tires landfill gas and natural gas These facilities are integral to the solid waste industry disposing of

urban wood waste tires railroad ties and utility poles Our anthracite culm facility in Pennsylvania processes the

waste materials left over from coal mining operations from over half century ago Ash remaining after burning the

culm is used to reclaim the land damaged by decades of coal mining

We generate steam at our waste-to-energy and IPP facilities for the production of electricity We sell the

electricity produced at our facilities into wholesale markets which include investor-owned utilities power

marketers and regional power pools Some of our facilities also sell steam directly to end users Fees charged

for electricity and steam at our waste-to-energy facilities and IPPs have generally been subject to the terms and

conditions of long-term contracts that include interim adjustments to the prices charged for changes in market

conditions such as inflation electricity and other general market factors In 2009 several of our long-term energy

contracts and short-term pricing arrangements expired significantly increasing our waste-to-energy revenues

exposure to volatility attributable to changes in market prices for electricity which generally correlate with

fluctuations in natural gas prices in the markets where we operate Refer to the Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosure About Market Risk section of this report for additional information about the Companys current

considerations related to the management of this market exposure

Recycling Our recycling operations focus on improving the sustainability and future growth of recycling

programs within communities and industries During the first quarter of 2009 we transferred responsibility for the

oversight of day-to-day recycling operations at our material recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities

to the management teams of our geographic Groups Before that all of our recycling operations other than certain

services that were embedded within the geographic Groups other operations had comprised and been reported as

separate segment The financial results of our material recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities are

now included as component of their respective geographic Group and the financial results of our recycling

brokerage business and electronics recycling services are included as part of our Other operations We believe that

integrating the management of our recycling facilities with the remainder of our solid waste business ensures that

we are focusing on maximizing the profitability and return on invested capital of all aspects of our business and

efficiently providing comprehensive environmental solutions to our customers

In 2001 we became the first major solid waste company to focus on residential single-stream recycling which

allows customers to mix recyclable paper plastic and glass in one bin Residential single-stream programs have

greatly increased the recycling rates Single-stream recycling is possible through the use of various mechanized

screens and optical sorting technologies We have also been advancing the single-stream recycling programs for



commercial applications Recycling involves the separation of reusable materials from the waste stream for

processing and resale or other disposition Our recycling operations include the following

Materials processing Through our collection operations we collect recyclable materials from res

idential commercial and industrial customers and direct these materials to one of our MRFs for processing

We operate 90 MRFs where paper metals plastics glass and other recyclable commodities are recovered for

resale We also operate eight secondary processing facilities where recyclable materials can be further

processed into raw products used in the manufacturing of consumer goods Specifically material processing

services include data destruction automated color sorting and construction and demolition processing

Plastics materials recycling Using state-of-the-art sorting and processing technology we process

inventory and sell plastic commodities making the recycling of such items more cost effective and convenient

Commodities recycling We market and resell recyclable commodities to customers world-wide We

manage the marketing of recyclable commodities that are processed in our facilities by maintaining com
prehensive service centers that continuously analyze market prices logistics market demands and product

quality

Fees for recycling services are influenced by the type of recyclable commodities being processed the volume

or weight of the recyclable material degree of processing required the market value of the recovered material and

other market factors

The recyclable materials processed in our MRFs are purchased from various sources including third parties

and our own operations The cost per ton of material purchased is based on market prices and the cost to transport

the finished goods to our customers to whom we sell the materials The price we pay for recyclable materials is often

referred to as rebate Rebates generally are based upon the price we receive for sales of finished goods and

market conditions but in some cases are based on fixed contractual rates or defined minimum per-ton rates As

result changes in commodity prices can significantly affect our revenues the rebates we pay to our suppliers and

our operating income and margins

Other Other services not managed within our Groups include the following

We provide recycling brokerage and electronic recycling services Recycling brokerage includes managing the

marketing of recyclable materials for third parties The experience of our recycling operations in managing

recyclable commodities for our own operations gives us the expertise needed to effectively manage volumes for

third parties Utilizing the resources and knowledge of our recycling operations service centers we can assist

customers in marketing and selling their recyclable commodities with little to no capital requirements We also

provide electronics recycling We recycle discarded computers communications equipment and other electronic

equipment Services include the collection sorting and disassembling of electronics in an effort to reuse or recycle

all collected materials In recent years we have teamed with major electronics manufacturers to offer compre
hensive take-back programs of their products to assist the general public in disposing of their old electronics in

convenient and environmentally safe manner

We provide sustainability services to businesses through our Upstream and Green Squad organizations This

includes in-plant services where our employees work full-time inside our customers facilities to provide full-

service waste management solutions and consulting services Our vertically integrated waste management oper
ations enable us to provide customers with full management of their waste The breadth of our service offerings and

the familiarity we have with waste management practices gives us the unique ability to assist customers in

identifying recycling opportunities minimizing waste and determining the most efficient means available for

waste collection and disposal

We develop operate and promote projects for the beneficial use of landfill gas through our Waste Management

Renewable Energy Program Landfill
gas is produced naturally as waste decomposes in landfill The methane

component of the landfill gas is readily available renewable energy source that can be gathered and used

beneficially as an alternative to fossil fuel The EPA endorses landfill gas as renewable
energy resource in the

same category as wind solar and geothermal resources At December 31 2009 landfill
gas beneficial use projects

were producing commercial quantities of methane gas at 119 of our solid waste landfills At 87 of these landfills the



processed gas is delivered to electricity generators The electricity is then sold to public utilities municipal utilities

or power cooperatives At 23 landfills the gas is delivered by pipeline to industrial customers as direct substitute

for fossil fuels in industrial processes
At nine landfills the landfill gas is processed to pipeline-quality natural gas

and then sold to natural gas suppliers

Our WM Healthcare Solutions subsidiary offers integrated medical waste services for healthcare facilities

pharmacies and individuals We provide full-service solutions to facilities to assist them in best practices

indentifying waste streams and proper disposal Our healthcare services also include sharps mail return program

through which individuals can safely dispose of their used syringes and lancets using our MedWaste Tracker

system

Although by their very nature many waste management services such as collection and disposal are local

services our National Accounts program works with customers whose locations
span

the United States Our

National Accounts program provides centralized customer service billing and management of accounts to

streamline the administration of customers multiple and nationwide locations waste management needs

We also have begun investing in businesses and technologies that are designed to offer services and solutions

ancillary or supplementary to our current operations These investments include joint ventures acquisitions and

partial ownership interests The solutions and services include the development operation and marketing of plasma

gasification facilities operation of landfill gas-to-liquid natural gas plant solar powered compact trash com

pactors and organic waste-to-fuel conversion technology Part of our expansion of services includes offering

portable self-storage services and fluorescent bulb and universal waste mail-back through our LampTracker

program

Finally we rent and service portable restroom facilities to municipalities and commercial customers under the

name PortoLet and provide street and parking lot sweeping services

Competition

The solid waste industry is very competitive Competition comes from number of publicly held solid waste

companies private solid waste companies large commercial and industrial companies handling their own waste

collection or disposal operations and public and private waste-to-energy companies We also have competition from

municipalities and regional government authorities with respect to residential and commercial solid waste

collection and solid waste landfills

Operating costs disposal costs and collection fees vary widely throughout the geographic areas in which we

operate The prices that we charge are determined locally and typically vary by the volume and weight type of

waste collected treatment requirements risk of handling or disposal frequency of collections distance to final

disposal sites the availability of airspace within the geographic region labor costs and amount and type of

equipment furnished to the customer We face intense competition in our core business based on pricing and quality

of service We have also begun competing for business based on service offerings As companies individuals and

communities have begun to look for ways to be more sustainable we are ensuring our customers know about our

comprehensive services that go beyond our core business of picking up and disposing of waste

Employees

At December 31 2009 we had approximately 43400 full-time employees of which approximately 7300

were employed in administrative and sales positions and the balance in operations Approximately 9900 of our

employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements

Financial Assurance and Insurance Obligations

Financial Assurance

Municipal and governmental waste service contracts generally require contracting parties to demonstrate

financial responsibility for their obligations under the contract Financial assurance is also requirement for

obtaining or retaining disposal site or transfer station operating permits Various forms of financial assurance also



are required by regulatory agencies for estimated closure post-closure and remedial obligations at many of our

landfills In addition certain of our tax-exempt borrowings require us to hold funds in trust for the repayment of our

interest and principal obligations

We establish financial assurance using surety bonds letters of credit insurance policies trust and escrow

agreements and financial guarantees The type of assurance used is based on several factors most importantly the

jurisdiction contractual requirements market factors and availability of credit capacity The following table

summarizes the various forms and dollar amounts in millions of financial assurance that we had outstanding as of

December 31 2009

Surety bonds

Issued by consolidated subsidiarya 251

Issued by affiliated entityb 1035

Issued by third-party surety companies 1848

Total surety bonds $3134

Letters of credit

Revolving credit facilityc 1578

Letter of credit facilitiesd 371

Other lines of credit 173

Total letters of credit 2122

Insurance policies

Issued by consolidated subsidiarya 1066

Issued by affiliated entityb 16

Issued by third-party insurance companies 66

Total insurance policies 1148

Funded trust and escrow accountse 241

Financial guaranteesf 243

Total financial assurance $6888

We use surety bonds and insurance policies issued by wholly-owned insurance subsidiary National Guaranty

Insurance Company of Vermont the sole business of which is to issue financial assurance to WMI and our

subsidiaries National Guaranty Insurance Company is authorized to write up to approximately $1.4 billion in

surety bonds or insurance policies for our closure and post-closure requirements waste collection contracts

and other business-related obligations

We hold non-controlling financial interest in an entity that we use to obtain financial assurance Our

contractual agreement with this entity does not specifically limit the amounts of surety bonds or insurance that

we may obtain making our financial assurance under this agreement limited only by the guidelines and

restrictions of surety and insurance regulations

WMI has $2.4 billion revolving credit facility that matures in August2011 At December 31 2009 we had no

outstanding borrowings and $1578 million of letters of credit issued and supported by the facility The unused

and available credit capacity of the facility was $822 million as of December 31 2009

We have three separate letter of credit facilities including $175 million facility maturing in June 2010

$105 million facility maturing June 2013 and $100 million facility maturing December 2014 At December31

2009 $371 million of letters of credit were outstanding under these agreements leaving an unused and available

capacity of $9 million

Our funded trust and escrow accounts generally have been established to support landfill closure post-closure

and environmental remediation obligations and our performance under various operating contracts Balances

maintained in these trust funds and escrow accounts will fluctuate based on changes in statutory

requirements ii future deposits made to comply with contractual arrangements iii the ongoing use of



funds for qualifying activities iv acquisitions or divestitures of landfills and changes in the fair value of

the financial instruments held in the trust fund or escrow accounts The assets held in our funded trust and

escrow accounts may be drawn and used to meet the obligations for which the trusts and escrows were

established

WMI provides financial guarantees on behalf of its subsidiaries to municipalities customers and regulatory

authorities They are provided primarily to support our performance of landfill closure and post-closure

activities

Our $2.4 billion revolving credit facility becomes current in the third quarter of 2010 Accordingly we will be

working to renegotiate our existing facility in the near-term We currently expect that the cost of similar facility

will be significantly higher than the cost of our existing facility In an effort to manage our financial assurance costs

as well as ensure that we have access to facilities that meet our ongoing financial assurance needs we are currently

evaluating options for alternative cost-effective sources of financial assurance

Virtually no claims have been made against our financial assurance instruments in the past and considering

our current financial position management does not expect there to be claims against these instruments that will

have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements

Insurance

We carry
broad

range
of insurance coverages including general liability automobile liability real and

personal property
workers compensation directors and officers liability pollution legal liability and other

coverages we believe are customary to the industry Our exposure to loss for insurance claims is generally limited to

the
per

incident deductible under the related insurance policy As of December 31 2009 our per-incident deductible

for our general liability program was $2.5 million and our per-incident deductible for our workers compensation

insurance program was $5 million As of December 31 2009 our auto liability insurance program included per-

incident base deductible of $5 million subject to additional aggregate deductibles in the $5 million to $10 million

layer of $4.8 million We do not expect the impact of any known casualty property environmental or other

contingency to have material impact on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows Our estimated

insurance liabilities as of December 31 2009 are summarized in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Regulation

Our business is subject to extensive and evolving federal state or provincial and local environmental health

safety and transportation laws and regulations These laws and regulations are administered by the U.S EPA and

various other federal state and local environmental zoning transportation land use health and safety agencies in

the United States and various agencies in Canada Many of these agencies regularly examine our operations to

monitor compliance with these laws and regulations and have the power to enforce compliance obtain injunctions

or impose civil or criminal penalties in case of violations

Because the major component of our business is the collection and disposal of solid waste in an environ

mentally sound manner significant amount of our capital expenditures is related either directly or indirectly to

environmental protection measures including compliance with federal state or provincial and local provisions that

regulate the placement of materials into the environment There are costs associated with siting design operations

monitoring site maintenance corrective actions financial assurance and facility closure and post-closure obli

gations In connection with our acquisition development or expansion of disposal facility or transfer station we

must often spend considerable time effort and money to obtain or maintain required permits and approvals There

cannot be any assurances that we will be able to obtain or maintain required governmental approvals Once

obtained operating permits are subject to renewal modification suspension or revocation by the issuing agency

Compliance with these and any future regulatory requirements could require us to make significant capital and

operating expenditures However most of these expenditures are made in the normal course of business and do not

place us at any competitive disadvantage



The primary United States federal statutes affecting our business are summarized below

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 as amended regulates handling transporting and

disposing of hazardous and non-hazardous waste and delegates authority to states to develop programs to

ensure the safe disposal of solid waste In 1991 the EPA issued its final regulations under Subtitle of

RCRA which set forth minimum federal performance and design criteria for solid waste landfills These

regulations are typically implemented by the states although states can impose requirements that are more

stringent than the Subtitle standards We incur costs in complying with these standards in the ordinary

course of our operations

The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 as amended which

is also known as Superfund provides for federal authority to respond directly to releases or threatened

releases of hazardous substances into the environment that have created actual or potential environmental

hazards CERCLAs primary means for addressing such releases is to impose sthct liability for cleanup of

disposal sites upon current and former site owners and operators generators of the hazardous substances at

the site and transporters who selected the disposal site and transported substances thereto Liability under

CERCLA is not dependent on the intentional disposal of hazardous substances it can be based upon the

release or threatened release even as result of lawful unintentional and non-negligent action of hazardous

substances as the term is defined by CERCLA and other applicable statutes and regulations Liability may
include contribution for cleanup costs incurred by defendant in CERCLA civil action or by an entity that

has previously resolved its liability to federal or state regulators in an administrative or judicially-approved

settlement Liability could also include liability to PRP that voluntarily expends site clean-up costs

Further liability may include damage to publicly-owned natural resources We are subject to potential

liability under CERCLA as an owner or operator of facilities at which hazardous substances have been

disposed or as generator or transporter of hazardous substances disposed of at other locations

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 known as the Clean Water Act regulates the discharge of

pollutants into streams rivers groundwater or other surface waters from variety of sources including solid

and hazardous waste disposal sites If mn-off from our operations may be discharged into surface waters the

Clean Water Act requires us to apply for and obtain discharge permits conduct sampling and monitoring

and under certain circumstances reduce the quantity of pollutants in those discharges In 1990 the EPA
issued additional standards for management of storm water runoff that require landfills and other waste-

handling facilities to obtain storm water discharge permits In addition if landfill or other facility

discharges wastewater through sewage system to publicly-owned treatment works the facility must

comply with discharge limits imposed by the treatment works Also before the development or expansion of

landfill can alter or affect wetlands permit may have to be obtained providing for mitigation or

replacement wetlands The Clean Water Act provides for civil criminal and administrative penalties for

violations of its provisions

The Clean Air Act of 1970 as amended provides for increased federal state and local regulation of the

emission of air pollutants Certain of our operations are subject to the requirements of the Clean Air Act
including large municipal solid waste landfills and large municipal waste-to-energy facilities Standards

have also been imposed on manufacturers of transportation vehicles including waste collection vehicles In

1996 the EPA issued new sourºe performance standards and emission guidelines controlling landfill gases

from new and existing large landfills The regulations impose limits on air emissions from large municipal

solid waste landfills subject most of our large municipal solid waste landfills to certain operating permitting

requirements under Title of the Clean Air Act and in many instances require installation of landfill gas

collection and control systems to control emissions or to treat and utilize landfill gas on or off-site In

general controlling emissions involves drilling collection wells into landfill and routing the gas to

suitable
energy recovery system or combustion device We are currently capturing and utilizing the

renewable energy value of landfill gas at 119 of our solid waste landfills In January 2003 the EPA issued

additional regulations that required affected landfills to prepare by January 2004 startup shutdown and

malfunction plans to ensure proper operation of
gas collection control and treatment systems
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The EPA has issued new source performance standards and emission guidelines for large and small

municipal waste-to-energy facilities which include stringent emission limits for various pollutants based on

Maximum Achievable Control Technology standards These sources are also subject to operating permit

requirements under Title Vof the Clean Air Act The Clean Air Act requires the EPA to review and revise the

MACT standards applicable to municipal waste-to-energy facilities every five years

The Occupational Safety and Health Act Of 1970 as amended establishes certain employer responsibilities

including maintenance of workplace free of recognized hazards likely to cause death or serious injury

compliance with standards promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration and various

reporting and record keeping obligations as well as disclosure and procedural requirements Various

standards for notices of hazards safety in excavation and demolition work and the handling of asbestos

may apply to our operations The Department of Transportation and OSHA along with other federal

agencies have jurisdiction over certain aspects of hazardous materials and hazardous waste including

safety movement and disposal Various state and local agencies with jurisdiction over disposal of hazardous

waste may seek to regulate movement of hazardous materials in areas not otherwise preempted by federal

law

There are also various state or provincial and local regulations that affect our operations Sometimes states

regulations are stricter than federal laws and regulations when not otherwise preempted by federal law Addi

tionally our collection and landfill operations could be affected by legislative and regulatory measures requiring or

encouraging waste reduction at the source and waste recycling

Various states have enacted or are considering enacting laws that restrict the disposal within the state of solid

waste generated outside the state While laws that overtly discriminate against out-of-state waste have been found to

be unconstitutional some laws that are less overtly discriminatory have been upheld in court Additionally certain

state and local govemments have enacted flow control regulations which attempt to require that all waste

generated within the state or local jurisdiction be deposited at specific sites In 1994 the United States Supreme

Court ruled that flow control ordinance that
gave preference to local facility that was privately owned was

unconstitutional but in 2007 the Court ruled that an ordinance directing waste to facility owned by the local

government was constitutional In addition from time to time the United States Congress has considered

legislation authorizing states to adopt regulations restrictions or taxes on the importation of out-of-state or

out-of-jurisdiction waste The United States Congress adoption of legislation allowing restrictions on interstate

transportation of out-of-state or out-of-jurisdiction wasteS or certain types of flow control or the adoption of

legislation affecting interstate transportation of waste at the state level could adversely affect our operations

Courts interpretation of flow control legislation or the Supreme Court decisions also could adversely affect our

solid and hazardous waste management services

Many states provinces and local jurisdictions have enacted fitness laws that allow the agencies that have

jurisdiction over waste services contracts or permits to deny or revoke these contracts or permits based on the

applicants or permit holders compliance history Some states provinces and local jurisdictions go further and

consider the compliance history of the parent subsidiaries or affiliated companies in addition to the applicant or

permit holder These laws authorize the agencies to make determinations of an applicants or permit holders fitness

to be awarded contract to operate and to deny or revoke contract or permit because of unfitness unless there is

showing that the applicant or permit holder has been rehabilitated through the adoption of various operating policies

and procedures put in place to assure future compliance with applicable laws and regulations

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures relating to our current assessments of the

impact of regulations on our current and future operations

Item 1A Risk Factors

In an effort to keep our stockholders and the public informed about our business we may make forward

looking statements Forward-looking statements usually relate to future events and anticipated revenues earnings
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cash flows or other aspects of our operations or operating results Forward-looking statements generally include

statements containing

projections about accounting and finances

plans and objectives for the future

projections or estimates about assumptions relating to our performance or

our opinions views or beliefs about the effects of current or future events circumstances or performance

You should view these statements with caution These statements are not guarantees of future performance

circumstances or events They are based on facts and circumstances known to us as of the date the statements are

made All phases of our business are subject to uncertainties risks and other influences many of which we do not

control Any of these factors either alone or taken together could have material adverse effect on us and could

change whether any forward-looking statement ultimately turns out to be true Additionally we assume no

obligation to update any forward-looking statement as result of future events circumstances or developments The

following discussion should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto

Outlined below are some of the risks that we believe could affect our business and financial statements for 2010 and

beyond

General economic conditions can adversely affect our revenues and our operating margins

Our business is affected by changes in national and general economic factors that are outside of our control

including consumer confidence interest rates and access to capital markets Although our services are of an

essential nature weak economy generally results in decreases in volumes of waste generated which decreases our

revenues Additionally consumer uncertainty and the loss of consumer confidence may limit the number or amount

of services requested by customers and our ability to increase customers pricing During weak economic

conditions we may also be adversely impacted by customers inability to pay us in timely manner if at all

due to their financial difficulties which could include bankruptcies In addition to disruption in the credit markets

economic conditions over the last eighteen months negatively affected business and consumer spending generally

If our customers do not have access to capital we do not expect that our volumes will improve or that we will

increase new business

The waste industiy is highly competitive and if we cannot successfully compete in the marketplace our

business financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected

We encounter intense competition from governmental quasi-governmental and private sources in all aspects

of our operations In North America the industry consists primarily of two national waste management companies

regional companies and local companies of varying sizes and financial resources We compete with these

companies as well as with counties and municipalities that maintain their own waste collection and disposal

operations These counties and municipalities may have financial competitive advantages because tax revenues are

available to them and tax-exempt financing is more readily available to them Also such governmental units may
attempt to impose flow control or other restrictions that would give them competitive advantage

In addition competitors may reduce their prices to expand sales volume or to win competitively bid contracts

When this happens we may roll back prices or offer lower pricing to attract or retain our customers resulting in

negative impact to our revenue growth from yield on base business

If we do not successfully manage our costs or do not successfully implement our plans and strategies to

improve margins our income from operations could be lower than expected

In recent years we have implemented several profit improvement initiatives aimed at lowering our costs and

enhancing our revenues

We have implemented price increases and environmental fees both of which have increased our internal

revenue growth and we have continued our fuel surcharge program to offset fuel costs The loss of volumes as

result of price increases may negatively affect our cash flows or results of operations We continue to seek to divest
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underperforming
and non-strategic assets if we cannot improve their profitability We may not be able to

successfully negotiate the divestiture of underperforming
and non-strategic operations which could result in

asset impairments or the continued operation of low-margin businesses If we are not able to fully or successfully

implement our plans and strategies for any reason many of which are out of our control we may not see the

expected improvements in our income from operations or our operating margins

The seasonal nature of our business causes our quarterly results to fluctuate and prior performance is

not necessarily indicative of our future results

Our operating revenues tend to be somewhat higher in summer months primarily due to the higher volume of

construction and demolition waste The volumes of industrial and residential waste in certain regions where we

operate also tend to increase during the summer months Our second and third quarter revenues and results of

operations typically reflect these seasonal trends Additionally certain destructive weather conditions that tend to

occur during the second half of the year such as the hurricanes generally experienced by our Southern Group

actually increase our revenues in the areas affected However for several reasons including significant start-up

costs such revenue often generates earnings at comparatively
lower margins Certain weather conditions may result

in the temporary suspension of our operations which can significantly affect the operating results of the affected

regions The operating results of our first quarter also often reflect higher repair and maintenance expenses because

we rely on the slower winter months when waste flows are generally lower to perform scheduled maintenance at

our waste-to-energy
facilities

For these and other reasons operating results in any interim period are not necessarily indicative of operating

results for an entire year and operating results for any historical period are not necessarily indicative of operating

results for future period

We cannot predict with certainty the extent offuture costs under environmental health and safety laws

and cannot guarantee that they will not be material

We could be liable if our operations cause environmental damage to our properties or to the property of other

landowners particularly as result of the contamination of air drinking water or soil Under current law we could

even be held liable for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired the assets or operations

involved Also we could be liable if we arrange
for the transportation disposal or treatment of hazardous substances

that cause environmental contamination or if predecessor owner made such arrangements
and under applicable

law we are treated as successor to the priorowner Any substantial liability for environmental damage could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations
and cash flows

In the ordinary course of our business we have in the past and may in the future become involved in variety

of legal and administrative proceedings relating to land use and environmental laws and regulations These include

proceedings in which

agencies of federal state local or foreign governments seek to impose liability on us under applicable

statutes sometimes involving civil or criminal penalties for violations or to revoke or deny renewal of

permit we need and

local communities citizen groups landowners or governmental agencies oppose the issuance of permit or

approval we need allege violations of the permits under which we operate or laws or regulations to which we

are subject or seek to impose liability on us for environmental damage

We generally seek to work with the authorities or other persons
involved in these proceedings to resolve any

issues raised If we are not successful the adverse outcome of one or more of these proceedings could result in

among other things material increases in our costs or liabilities as well as material charges for asset impairments
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The waste industry is subject to extensive government regulation and existing or future regulations may
restrict our operations increase our costs of operations or require us to make additional capital

expenditures

Stringent government regulations at the federal state provincial and local level in the United States and
Canada have substantial impact on our business large number of complex laws rules orders and interpretations

govern environmental protection health safety land use zoning transportation and related matters Among other

things they may restrict our operations and adversely affect our financial condition results of operations and cash
flows by imposing conditions such as

limitations on siting and constructing new waste disposal transfer or processing facilities or expanding
existing facilities

limitations regulations or levies on collection and disposal prices rates and volumes

limitations or bans on disposal or transportation of out-of-state waste or certain categories of waste or

mandates regarding the disposal of solid waste including requirements to recycle rather than landfill certain

waste streams

Regulations affecting the siting design and closure of landfills could require us to undertake investigatory or

remedial activities curtail operations or close landfills temporarily or permanently Future changes in these

regulations may require us to modify supplement or replace equipment or facilities The costs of complying with

these regulations could be substantial

In order to develop expand or operate landfill or other waste management facility we must have various

facility permits and other governmental approvals including those relating to zoning environmental protection and
land use The permits and approvals are often difficult time consuming and costly to obtain and could contain

conditions that limit our operations

The adoption of climate change legislation or regulations restricting emissions of greenhouse gases
could increase our costs to operate

Environmental advocacy groups and regulatory agencies in the United States have been focusing considerable

attention on the emissions of carbon dioxide methane and other greenhouse gases and their potential role in

climate change The adoption of laws and regulations to implement controls of greenhouse gases including the

imposition of fees or taxes could
adversely affect our collection and disposal operations Congress is currently

working on legislation to control and reduce emissions of greenhouse gases in the United States which includes

establishing cap-and-trade programs Additionally the EPA recently announced proposed regulations to control

emissions of greenhouse gases from stationary sources including municipal solid waste landfills and several states

have already begun taking actions to reduce future emissions of greenhouse gases Depending on the form of

legislation and regulations that are ultimately enacted our operating expenses could increase and some of our

operations could be less profitable as we may be required to take
any number of actions including the purchase of

emission allowances or installation of additional pollution control technology

Significant shortages in fuel supply or increases in fuel prices will increase our operating expenses

The price and supply of fuel are unpredictable and can fluctuate significantly based on international political

and economic circumstances as well as other factors outside our control such as actions by the Organization of the

Petroleum Exporting Countries or OPEC and other oil and gas producers regional production patterns weather

conditions and environmental concerns We have seen average quarterly fuel prices increase by as much as 56% on

year-over-year basis and decrease by as much as 47% on year-over-year basis within the last two years We need
fuel to run our collection and transfer trucks and equipment used in our landfill operations Supply shortages could

substantially increase our operating expenses Additionally as fuel prices increase our direct operating expenses
increase and many of our vendors raise their prices as means to offset their own rising costs We have in place
fuel surcharge program designed to offset increased fuel expenses however we may not be able to pass through all

of our increased costs and some customers contracts prohibit any pass-through of the increased costs We may
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initiate other programs or means to guard against the rising costs of fuel although there can be no assurances that we

will be able to do so or that such programs will be successful Regardless of any offsetting surcharge programs the

increased operating costs will decrease our operating margins

We have substantial financial assurance and insurance requirements and increases in the costs of

obtaining adequate financial assurance or the inadequacy of our insurance coverages could negatively

impact our liquidity and increase our liabilities

The amount of insurance we are required to maintain for environmental liability is governed by statutory

requirements We believe that the cost for such insurance is high relative to the coverage
it would provide and

therefore our coverages are generally maintained at the minimum statutorily-required levels We face the risk of

incurring additional costs for environmental damage if our insurance coverage is ultimately inadequate to cover

those damages We also carry broad range
of other insurance coverages that are customary for company our size

We use these programs to mitigate risk of loss thereby enabling us to manage our self-insurance exposure

associated with claims The inability of our insurers to meet their commitments in timely manner and the effect of

significant claims or litigation against insurance companies may subject us to additional risks To the extent our

insurers were unable to meet their obligations or our own obligations for claims were more than we estimated there

could be material adverse effect to our financial results

In addition to fulfill our financial assurance obligations with respect to environmental closure and post-closure

obligations we generally obtain letters of credit or surety bonds rely on insurance including captive insurance

fund trust and escrow accounts or rely upon WMI financial guarantees We currently have in place all financial

assurance instruments necessary for our operations We currently do not anticipate any unmanageable difficulty in

obtaining financial assurance instruments in the future but general economic factors may adversely affect the cost

of our current financial assurance instruments and changes in regulations may impose stricter requirements on the

types of financial assurance that will be accepted Additionally in the event we are unable to obtain sufficient surety

bonding letters of credit or third-party insurance coverage at reasonable cost or one or more states cease to view

captive insurance as adequate coverage we would need to rely on other forms of financial assurance It is possible

that we could be forced to deposit cash to collateralize our obligations Other forms of financial assurance could be

more expensive to obtain and any requirements to use cash to support our obligations would negatively impact our

liquidity and capital resources and could affect our ability to meet our obligations as they become due

We may record material charges against our earnings due to any number of events that could cause

impairments to our assets

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles we capitalize certain expenditures and advances

relating to disposal site development expansion projects acquisitions software development costs and other

projects Events that could in some circumstances lead to an impairment include but are not limited to shutting

down facility or operation or abandoning development project or the denial of an expansion permit If we

determine development or expansion project is impaired we will charge against earnings any unamortized

capitalized expenditures and advances relating to such facility or project reduced by any portion of the capitalized

costs that we estimate will be recoverable through sale or otherwise We also carry significant amount of goodwill

on our Consolidated Balance Sheet which is required to be assessed for impairment annually and more frequently

in the case of certain triggering events

We may be required to incur charges against earnings if we determine that events such as those described cause

impairments Any such charges could have material adverse effect on our results of operations

Our revenues will fluctuate based on changes in commodity prices

Our recycling operations process for sale certain recyclable materials including fibers aluminum and glass

all of which are subject to significant market price fluctuations The majority of the recyclables that we process
for

sale are paper fibers including old corrugated cardboard known as 0CC and old newsprint or ONP The

fluctuations in the market prices or demand for these commodities can affect our operating income and cash flows

as we experienced in 2008 In the fourth quarter of 2008 the monthly market prices for 0CC and ONP fell by 79%
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and 72% respectively from their high points within the year Additionally the decline in market prices for

commodities resulted in year-over-year decrease in revenue of $447 million in 2009 Our recycling operations

offer rebates to suppliers Therefore even if we experience higher revenues based on increased market prices for

commodities the rebates we pay will also increase and in some circumstances the rebates may have floors even as

market prices decrease which could eliminate
any expected profit margins

There may be significant price fluctuations in the price of methane gas electricity and other energy-related

products that are marketed and sold by our landfill
gas recovery waste-to-energy and independent power

production plant operations The marketing and sales of energy related products by our landfill gas and

waste-to-energy operations are generally pursuant to long-term sales agreements Therefore market volatility

does not cause our quarterly results to fluctuate significantly However as longer-term agreements expire and are up

for renewal or as market prices remain at lower levels for sustained periods our revenues will be adversely affected

Many of our longer-term agreements expired in 2009 and the electricity prices we were able to charge without the

benefit of long-term agreements were tied to market electricity prices which generally correlate with fluctuations in

natural gas prices in the markets where we operate As result we experienced $76 million decline in revenues for

the year ended December 31 2009 as compared with the prior year Additionally revenues from our independent

power production plants can be affected by price fluctuations If we are unable to successfully negotiate long-term

contracts or depending on market conditions even with long-term contracts our revenues could be adversely

affected

The development and acceptance of alternatives to landfill disposal and waste-to-energy facilities could

reduce our ability to operate at full capacity

Our customers are increasingly using alternatives to landfill and waste-to-energy disposal such as recycling

and composting and others are working to reduce the waste they generate In addition some state and local

governments mandate recycling and waste reduction at the source and prohibit the disposal of certain types of

waste such as yard waste at landfills or waste-to-energy facilities Although such mandates are useful tool to

protect our environment these developments reduce the volume of waste going to landfills and waste-to-energy

facilities in certain areas which may affect our ability to operate our landfills and waste-to-energy facilities at full

capacity as well as the prices that we can charge for landfill disposal and waste-to-energy services Our landfills and

our waste-to-energy facilities currently provide and have historically provided our highest operating margins We
have been expanding our service offerings and growing lines of businesses to have the ability to service waste

streams that do not go to landfills or waste-to-energy facilities and to provide services for customers that wish to

reduce waste entirely However it is reasonably possible that our revenues and our operating margins could be

negatively affected due to disposal alternatives

Our operating expenses
could increase as result of labor unions organizing or changes in regulations

related to labor unions

Labor unions constantly make attempts to organize our employees and these efforts will likely continue in the

future Certain
groups of our employees have already chosen to be represented by unions and we have negotiated

collective bargaining agreements with these unions Additional
groups

of employees may seek union representation

in the future and if successful the negotiation of collective bargaining agreements could divert management

attention and result in increased operating expenses
and lower net income Additionally it is possible that attempts

to amend federal labor laws could be successful and make it easier for unions to become recognized as the

bargaining representative for employees If we are unable to negotiate acceptable collective bargaining agreements

our operating expenses could increase significantly as result of work stoppages including strikes Any of these

matters could adversely affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Currently pending or future litigation or governmental proceedings could result in material adverse con

sequences including judgments or settlements

We are involved in civil litigation in the ordinary course of our business and from time-to-time are involved in

governmental proceedings relating to the conduct of our business The timing of the final resolutions to these types

of matters is often uncertain Additionally the possible outcomes or resolutions to these matters could include
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adverse judgments or settlements either of which could require substantial payments adversely affecting our

liquidity

We are increasingly dependent on technology in our operations and if our technology fails our business

could be adversely affected

We may experience problems with either the operation of our current information technology systems or the

development and deployment of new information technology systems that could adversely affect or even

temporarily disrupt all or portion of our operations until resolved We encountered problems with the revenue

management application that we had been piloting throughout 2007 resulting in the termination of the pilot which

has impeded our ability to realize improved operating margins as result of new system Inabilities and delays in

implementing new systems can also affect our ability to realize projected or expected cost savings

Additionally any systems failures could impede our ability to timely collect and report
financial results in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations

We may experience adverse impacts on our reported results of operations as result of adopting new

accounting standards or interpretations

Our implementation
of and compliance with changes in accounting rules including new accounting rules and

interpretations could adversely affect our reported operating results or cause unanticipated fluctuations in our

reported operating results in future periods

Our capital requirements could increase our expenses or cause us to change our growth and development

plans

We currently expect to meet our anticipated cash needs for capital expenditures scheduled debt repayments

acquisitions and other cash expenditures with our cash flows from operations and to the extent necessary and

available additional financings Recent economic conditions have reduced our cash flows from operations and

could do so in the future If impacts on our cash flows from operations are significant we may reduce or suspend

capital expenditures acquisition activity dividend declarations or share repurchases We may choose to incur

indebtedness to pay for these activities and there can be no assurances that we would be able to incur indebtedness

on terms we deem acceptable We also may need to incur indebtedness to refinance scheduled debt maturities and it

is possible that the cost of financing could increase significantly thereby increasing our expenses and decreasing

our net income

Additionally we have $3.0 billion of debt as of December 31 2009 that is exposed to changes in market

interest rates within the next twelve months because of the combined impact of our tax-exempt bonds our interest

rate swap agreements
and borrowings outstanding under our Canadian Credit Facility Therefore increases in

interest rates can increase our interest expenses
which also would lower our net income

We may use our revolving credit facility to meet our cash needs to the extent available As of December 31

2009 we had $822 million of capacity under our revolving credit facility In the event of default under our credit

facility we could be required to immediately repay all outstanding borrowings and make cash deposits as collateral

for all obligations the facility supports
which we may not be able to do Additionally any

such default could cause

default under many of our other credit agreements and debt instruments Without waivers from lenders party to

those agreements any
such default would have material adverse effect on our ability to continue to operate

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal executive offices are in Houston Texas where we lease approximately 400000 square
feet

under leases expiring at various times through 2020 Our Group offices are in Pennsylvania Illinois Georgia

Arizona and New Hampshire We also have field-based administrative offices in Arizona Illinois and Texas We
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own or lease real property in most locations where we have operations We have operations in each of the fifty states

other than Montana We also have operations in the District of Columbia Puerto Rico and throughout Canada

Our principal property and equipment consists of land primarily landfills and other disposal facilities transfer

stations and bases for collection operations buildings vehicles and equipment We believe that our vehicles

equipment and operating properties are adequately maintained and sufficient for our current operations However
we expect to continue to make investments in additional equipment and property for expansion for replacement of

assets and in connection with future acquisitions For more infonnation see Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included within this report

The following table summarizes our various operations at December 31 for the periods noted

2009 2008

Landfills

Owned
211 212

Operated through lease agreements 26 27

Operated through contractual agreements 36 34

273 273

Transfer stations 345 355

Material
recovery facilities 90 98

Secondary processing facilities

Waste-to-energy facilities 16 16

Independent power production plants

The following table provides certain information by Group regarding the 237 landfills owned or operated

through lease agreements and count by Group of contracted disposal sites as of December 31 2009

Contracted

Total Permitted Expansion Disposal

Landfills Acreagea Acreageb Acreagec Sites

Eastern 40 30419 6406 533

Midwest 75 32347 9139 1390

Southern 76 38427 12395 288 13

Western 42 38452 8666 993

Wheelabrator 781 299 39

237 140426 36905 36

Total acreage includes permitted acreage expansion acreage other acreage available for future disposal that

has not been permitted buffer land and other land owned or leased by our landfill operations

Permitted acreage consists of all acreage at the landfill encompassed by an active permit to dispose of waste

Expansion acreage consists of unpermitted acreage where the related expansion efforts meet our criteria to

be included as expansion airspace discussion of the related criteria is included within the Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Estimates

and Assumptions section included herein

Item Legal Proceedings

Information regarding our legal proceedings can be found under the Litigation section of Note 11 in the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

We did not submit any matters to vote of our stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2009

18



PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol WM The

following table sets forth the range
of the high and low per share sales prices for our common stock as reported on

the NYSE

High Low

2008

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter 33.43

2009

$34.64

39.24

37.34

$28.10

33.33

31.05

24.51

$22.10

25.06

26.31

28.28

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

First Quarter $33.99

Second Quarter 29.00

Third Quarter
30.80

Fourth Quarter
34.18

2010

First Quarter through February 11 2010 $35.00 $31.30

On February 11 2010 the closing sale price as reported on the NYSE was $31.93 per share The number of

holders of record of our common stock at February 11 2010 was 14327

The graph below shows the relative investment performance of Waste Management Inc common stock the

Dow Jones Waste Disposal Services Index and the SP 500 Index for the last five years assuming reinvestment

of dividends at date of payment into the common stock The graph is presented pursuant to SEC rules and is not

meant to be an indication of our future performance
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$50

$0

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09

Waste Management Inc $100 $104 $129 $118 $124 $131

SP 500 Index $100 $105 $121 $128 81 $102

Dow Jones Waste Disposal Services Index $100 $106 $130 $136 $128 $146

2009
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Under capital allocation programs approved by our Board of Directors we have paid quarterly cash dividends

of $0.24 per share for total of $495 million in 2007 $0.27 per share for total of $531 million in 2008 and $0.29

per share for total of $569 million in 2009

Our Board-approved capital allocation programs have also provided for common stock repurchases The

Company did not make any common stock repurchases in the first six months of 2009 due primarily to the state of

the financial markets and the economy In June 2009 we decided that the improvement in the capital markets and

the economic environment supported decision to repurchase up to $400 million of our common stock during the

second half of 2009 We repurchased $226 million of our common stock during 2009 including $70 million of

repurchases during the third quarter of 2009 and $156 million during the fourth quarter of 2009

The following table summarizes common stock repurchases made during the fourth quarter of 2009

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of

Total Shares Purchased as Approximate Maximum
Number of Average Part of Publicly Dollar Value of Shares that

Shares Price Paid Announced Plans or May Yet be Purchased Under

Period Purchased per Sharea Programs the Plans or Programs

October 31 1218000 $29.93 1218000 $293 million

November 30 2383900 $32.22 2383900 $216 million

December 131 1272900 $33.22 1272900 $174 million

Total 4874800 $31.91 4874800

This amount represents the weighted average price paid per share and includes
per

share commission paid for

all repurchases
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Item Selected Financial Data

The information below was derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report

and in previous annual reports we filed with the SEC This information should be read together with those

Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto The adoption of new accounting pronouncements

changes in certain accounting policies and certain reclassifications impact the comparability of the financial

information presented below These historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in

the future

Years Ended December 31

2009a 2008a 2007a 2006 2005

In millions except per share amounts

Statement of Operations Data

Operating revenues $11791 $13388 $13310 $13363 $13074

Costs and expenses

Operating 7241 8466 8402 8587 8631

Selling general and administrative 1364 1477 1432 1388 1276

Depreciation and amortization 1166 1238 1259 1334 1361

Restructuring
50 10 28

Income expense from divestitures asset

impairments and unusual items 83 29 47 25 68

9904 11154 11056 11334 11364

Income from operations 1887 2234 2254 2029 1710

Other expense net 414 437 505 511 570

Income before income taxes 1473 1797 1749 1518 1140

Provision for benefit from income taxes 413 669 540 325 90

Consolidated net income 1060 1128 1209 1193 1230

Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling

interests 66 41 46 44 48

Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc 994 1087 1163 1149 1182

Basic earnings per common share 2.02 2.21 2.25 2.13 2.11

Diluted earnings per common share 2.01 2.19 2.23 2.10 2.09

Cash dividends declared
per common share 2005

includes $0.22 paid in 2006 1.16 1.08 0.96 0.66 1.02

Cash dividends paid 1.16 1.08 0.96 0.88 0.80

Balance Sheet Data at end of period

Working capital deficit 109 701 118 86 194

Goodwill and other intangible assets net 5870 5620 5530 5413 5514

Total assets 21154 20227 20175 20600 21135

Debt including current portion 8873 8326 8337 8317 8687

Total Waste Management Inc stockholders equity 6285 5902 5792 6222 6121

Total equity 6591 6185 6102 6497 6402

For more information regarding these financial data see the Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations section included in this report For disclosures associated with

the impact of the adoption of new accounting pronouncements and changes in our accounting policies on the

comparability of this information see Note of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This section includes discussion of our results of operations for the three years ended December 31 2009
This discussion may contain forward-looking statements that anticipate results based on managements plans that

are subject to uncertainty We discuss in more detail various factors that could cause actual results to differ from

expectations in Item 1A Risk Factors The following discussion should be read in light of that disclosure and

together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2009 Overview

In our outlook for 2009 we communicated our belief that we would be well positioned to weather the

challenges presented by the current economic environment We also noted that we would focus our efforts on

ensuring we are operating efficiently and generating strong and consistent free cash flows When reviewing our

2009 financial results we believe that our focus throughout the year on maintaining our pricing discipline

ii controlling our costs and reducing discretionary spending and iii ensuring that our cost structure is flexible

enough to respond to volume changes in timely manner has enabled us to produce solid results in difficult

environment

During 2009 our most significant challenges included reduced volumes due to an overall decrease in waste

produced that can be attributed to sharp declines in residential and commercial construction and in consumer and

business spending ii an unusually weak recyclable commodities market for most of the year and iiidecreases in

market prices for electricity which affect the yield of our waste-to-energy and landfill gas-to-energy operations

Against this backdrop we believe that our 2009 results of operations reflected the resilience of our core business

and the opportunities that economic
recovery will present for our more efficient organization The highlights of our

2009 financial results include

Revenues of $11.8 billion and internal revenue growth from yield from collection and disposal operations of

2.9%

Income from operations of $1.9 billion and income from operations as percentage of revenue of 16.0% in

spite of the recognition of $83 million of non-cash impairment charges which were primarily result of

our decision to abandon the SAP software as our revenue management system and ii change in

expectations for the future operations of landfill in California

Effective tax rate of 28.1% due principally to the favorable impacts of fourth quarter adjustments to our

provision for income taxes related to the carry-back of capital loss recognition of state net operating losses

and tax credits and revaluation of deferred taxes due to Canadian tax rate reductions

Diluted earnings per
share of $2.01 and

Cash flow generated from operating activities of $2.4 billion and free cash flow of $1.2 billion

In February 2009 we announced that we were consolidating our 45 Market Areas into 25 Areas to further

streamline our operations and throughout 2009 we incurred $50 million of restructuring costs related to these

efforts The restructuring was result of our continued efforts to improve the efficiency of our operations In 2009
we exceeded our expected cost savings of $120 million on an annualized basis due to the restructuring Although

one of our most significant focuses throughout 2009 was on controlling costs there are areas in which we have

purposefully increased spending as we believe that the long-term benefits we will achieve outweigh their negative

short-term effect on our costs and margins These include professional fees related to expansion projects

acquisitions and the growth of new business lines We also have not cut back on spending for information

technology which we believe is imperative to enable our employees to perform efficiently

Liquidity and Cash Flow Although the credit markets came to an unprecedented standstill in late 2008 in

February 2009 we were able to issue an aggregate of $800 million of senior notes The proceeds of this debt issuance

were primarily used to refinance debt maturities which is generally consistent with our practice The state of the

credit markets in late 2009 allowed us in large part because of our investment grade credit rating and strong balance

sheet to issue an additional $600 million of 30-year senior notes at an interest rate of 6.125% We believe that the

decision to raise capital on such favorable terms was prudent decision and will increase our flexibility in
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pursuing acquisitions and investments in businesses when opportunities arise Even with the increased indebted

ness we are well within our debt to capitalization goals and all of our financial covenant requirements However the

increased indebtedness is expected to increase our interest expense in 2010

As is our practice we are presenting free cash flow which is non-GAAP measure of liquidity We believe free

cash flow gives investors insight into our ability to pay our quarterly dividends repurchase common stock fund

acquisitions and other investments and in the absence of refinancings to repay our debt obligations However the

use of free cash flow as liquidity measure has material limitations because it excludes certain expenditures that are

required or that we have committed to such as declared dividend payments and debt maturities

We calculate free cash flow as shown in the table below in millions which may not be the same as similarly-

titled measures presented by other companies

Years Ended

December 31

2009 2008

Net cash provided by operating activities 2362 2575

Capital expenditures 1179 1221

Proceeds from divestitures of businesses net of cash divested and other sales

of assets 28 112

Free cash flow 1211 1466

The decrease in our free cash flow in 2009 as compared with 2008 was due in large part to the decline in

operating cash flows The decrease in cash flows provided by operating activities can generally be attributed to the

economy and market conditions the impacts of which are discussed in detail throughout the remainder of

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Decreased proceeds

from divestitures on year-over-year basis also contributed to the decline due in large part to us having fewer

underperforming operations to sell

Our ability to generate over $1.2 billion in free cash flow in 2009 enabled us to return $795 million to

stockholders during the year through the payment of $569 million in cash dividends and the repurchase of

$226 million of our common stock

Basis of Presentation of Consolidated and Segment Financial Information

Fair Value Measurements In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued author

itative guidance associated with fair value measurements This guidance defined fair value established framework

for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value measurements In February 2008 the FASB

delayed the effective date of the guidance for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities except those that

are measured at fair value on recurring basis Accordingly we adopted this guidance for assets and liabilities

recognized at fair value on recurring basis effective January 2008 and adopted the guidance for non-financial

assets and liabilities measured on non-recurring basis effective January 2009 The application of the fair value

framework did not have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

Business Combinations In December 2007 the FASB issued revisions to the authoritative guidance

associated with business combinations This guidance clarified and revised the principles for how an acquirer

recognizes and measures identifiable assets acquired liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the

acquiree This guidance also addressed the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in business

combinations and expanded disclosure requirements related to business combinations Effective January

2009 we adopted the FASBs revised guidance associated with business combinations The portions of this

guidance that relate to business combinations completed before January 2009 did not have material impact on

our consolidated financial statements Further business combinations completed in 2009 which are discussed in

Note 19 of our Consolidated Financial Statements have not been material to our financial position results of

operations or cash flows However to the extent that future business combinations are material our adoption of the

FASBs revised authoritative guidance associated with business combinations may significantly impact our
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accounting and reporting for future acquisitions principally as result of expanded requirements to value

acquired assets liabilities and contingencies at their fair values when such amounts can be determined and ii the

requirement that acquisition-related transaction and restructuring costs be expensed as incurred rather than

capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements In December 2007 the FASB issued

authoritative guidance that established accounting and reporting standards for noncontrolling interests in subsid

iaries and for the de-consolidation of subsidiary The guidance also established that noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated

financial statements We adopted this guidance on January 2009 The presentation and disclosure requirements of

this guidance which must be applied retrospectively for all periods presented have resulted in reclassifications to

our priorperiod consolidated financial information and the remeasurement of our 2008 and 2007 effective tax rates

which are discussed in Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements

Refer to Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to the impact of

the implementation of new accounting pronouncements on our results of operations and financial position

Reclassification of Segment Information During the first quarter of 2009 we transferred responsibility for

the oversight of day-to-day recycling operations at our material
recovery facilities and secondary processing

facilities to the management teams of our four geographic Groups We believe that by integrating the management
of our recycling facilities operations with the remainder of our solid waste business we can more efficiently

provide comprehensive environmental solutions to our customers and ensure that we are focusing on maximizing
the profitability and retum on invested capital of our business on an integrated basis As result of this operational

change we also changed the way we review the financial results of our geographic Groups Beginning in 2009 the

financial results of our material recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities are included as component
of their respective geographic Group and the financial results of our recycling brokerage business and electronics

recycling services are included as part of our Other operations We have reflected the impact of these changes for

all periods presented to provide financial information that consistently reflects our current approach to managing

our geographic Group operations Refer to Note 21 of our Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

about our reportable segments

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

In preparing our financial statements we make numerous estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting

for and recognition and disclosure of assets liabilities equity revenues and expenses We must make these

estimates and assumptions because certain information that we use is dependent on future events cannot be

calculated with high degree of precision from data available or simply cannot be readily calculated based on

generally accepted methods In some cases these estimates are particularly difficult to determine and we must

exercise significant judgment In preparing our financial statements the most difficult subjective and complex

estimates and the assumptions that deal with the greatest amount of uncertainty relate to our accounting for landfills

environmental remediation liabilities asset impairments and self-insurance reserves and recoveries Actual results

could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that we use in the preparation of our financial

statements

Landfills

Accounting for landfills requires that significant estimates and assumptions be made regarding the cost to

construct and develop each landfill asset ii the estimated fair value of capping closure and post-closure asset

retirement obligations which must consider both the expected cost and timing of these activities iii the

determination of each landfills remaining permitted and expansion airspace and iv the airspace associated

with each final capping event

Landfill Costs We estimate the total cost to develop each of our landfill sites to its remaining permitted and

expansion capacity This estimate includes such costs as landfill liner material and installation excavation for

airspace landfill leachate collection systems landfill gas collection systems environmental monitoring equipment

for groundwater and landfill gas directly related engineering capitalized interest on-site road construction and
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other capital infrastructure costs Additionally landfill development includes all land purchases for landfill

footprint and required landfill buffer property The projection of these landfill costs is dependent in part on

future events The remaining amortizable basis of each landfill includes costs to develop site to its remaining

permitted and expansion capacity and includes amounts previously expended and capitalized net of accumulated

airspace amortization and projections of future purchase and development costs

Final Capping Costs We estimate the cost for each final capping event based on the area to be finally

capped and the capping materials and activities required The estimates also consider when these costs would

actually be paid and factor in inflation and discount rates Our engineering personnel allocate final landfill capping

costs to specific capping events The landfill capacity associated with each final capping event is then quantified and

the final capping costs for each event are amortized over the related capacity associated with the event as waste is

disposed of at the landfill We review these costs annually or more often if significant facts change Changes in

estimates such as timing or cost of construction for final capping events immediately impact the required liability

and the corresponding asset When the change in estimate relates to fully consumed asset the adjustment to the

asset must be amortized immediately through expense When the change in estimate relates to final capping event

that has not been fully consumed the adjustment to the asset is recognized in income prospectively as component

of landfill airspace amortization

Closure and Post-Closure Costs We base our estimates for closure and post-closure costs on our inter

pretations of permit and regulatory requirements for closure and post-closure maintenance and monitoring The

estimates for landfill closure and post-closure costs also consider when the costs would actually be paid and factor

in inflation and discount rates The possibility of changing legal and regulatory requirements and the forward-

looking nature of these types of costs make any estimation or assumption less certain Changes in estimates for

closure and post-closure events immediately impact the required liability and the corresponding asset When the

change in estimate relates to fully consumed asset the adjustment to the asset must be amortized immediately

through expense When the change in estimate relates to landfill asset that has not been fully consumed the

adjustment to the asset is recognized in income prospectively as component of landfill airspace amortization

Remaining Permitted Airspace Our engineers in consultation with third-party engineering consultants and

surveyors are responsible for determining remaining permitted airspace at our landfills The remaining permitted

airspace is determined by an annual survey
which is then used to compare the existing landfill topography to the

expected final landfill topography

Expansion Airspace We include currently unpermitted expansion airspace in our estimate of remaining

permitted and expansion airspace in certain circumstances First to include airspace associated with an expansion

effort we must generally expect the initial expansion permit application to be submitted within one year and the

final expansion permit to be received within five years Second we must believe the success of obtaining the

expansion permit is likely considering the following criteria

Personnel are actively working to obtain land use and local state or provincial approvals for an expansion of

an existing landfill

It is likely that the approvals will be received within the normal application and processing time periods for

approvals in the jurisdiction in which the landfill is located

We have legal right to use or obtain land to be included in the expansion plan

There are no significant known technical legal community business or political restrictions or similar

issues that could impair the success of such expansion

Financial analysis has been completed and the results demonstrate that the expansion has positive

financial and operational impact and

Airspace and related costs including additional closure and post-closure costs have been estimated based on

conceptual design

For unpermitted airspace to be initially included in our estimate of remaining permitted and expansion

airspace the expansion effort must meet all of the criteria listed above These criteria are evaluated by our field
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based engineers accountants managers and others to identify potential obstacles to obtaining the permits Once the

unpermitted airspace is included our policy provides that airspace may continue to be included in remaining

permitted and expansion airspace even if these criteria are no longer met based on the facts and circumstances of

specific landfill In these circumstances continued inclusion must be approved through landfill-specific review

process that includes approval of our Chief Financial Officer and review by the Audit Committee of our Board of

Directors on quarterly basis Of the 39 landfill sites with expansions at December 31 2009 14 landfills required

the Chief Financial Officer to approve the inclusion of the unpermitted airspace Nine of these landfills required

approval by our Chief Financial Officer because of community or political opposition that could impede the

expansion process The remaining five landfills required approval primarily due to the permit application processes

not meeting the one- or five-year requirements

When we include the expansion airspace in our calculations of remaining permitted and expansion airspace

we also include the projected costs for development as well as the projected asset retirement cost related to final

capping and closure and post-closure of the expansion in the amortization basis of the landfill

Once the remaining permitted and expansion airspace is determined in cubic yards an airspace utilization

factor or AUF is established to calculate the remaining permitted and expansion capacity in tons The AUF is

established using the measured density obtained from previous annual surveys and is then adjusted to account for

settlement The amount of settlement that is forecasted will take into account several site-specific factors including

current and projected mix of waste type initial and projected waste density estimated number of years of life

remaining depth of underlying waste anticipated access to moisture through precipitation or recirculation of

landfill leachate and operating practices In addition the initial selection of the AUF is subject to subsequent

multi- level review by our engineering group and the AUF used is reviewed on periodic basis and revised as

necessary Our historical experience generally indicates that the impact of settlement at landfill is greater later in

the life of the landfill when the waste placed at the landfill approaches its highest point under the permit

requirements

After determining the costs and remaining permitted and expansion capacity at each of our landfills we

determine the per ton rates that will be expensed as waste is received and deposited at the landfill by dividing the

costs by the corresponding number of tons We calculate per ton amortization rates for each landfill for assets

associated with each final capping event for assets related to closure and post-closure activities and for all other

costs capitalized or to be capitalized in the future These rates per ton are updated annually or more often as

significant facts change

It is possible that actual results including the amount of costs incurred the timing of final capping closure and

post-closure activities our airspace utilization or the success of our expansion efforts could ultimately turn out to be

significantly different from our estimates and assumptions To the extent that such estimates or related assump
tions prove to be significantly different than actual results lower profitability may be experienced due to higher

amortization rates or higher expenses or higher profitability may result if the opposite occurs Most significantly if

it is determined that the expansion capacity should no longer be considered in calculating the recoverability of the

landfill asset we may be required to recognize an asset impairment or incur significantly higher amortization

expense If it is determined that the likelihood of receiving an expansion permit has become remote the capitalized

costs related to the expansion effort are expensed immediately

Environmental Remediation Liabilities

We are subject to an array of laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment Under current

laws and regulations we may have liabilities for environmental damage caused by our operations or for damage

caused by conditions that existed before we acquired site These liabilities include potentially responsible party or

PRP investigations settlements and certain legal and consultant fees as well as costs directly associated with site

investigation and clean up such as materials external contractor costs and incremental internal costs directly

related to the remedy We provide for
expenses

associated with environmental remediation obligations when such

amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated We routinely review and evaluate sites that require

remediation and determine our estimated cost for the likely remedy based on number of estimates and

assumptions

26



Where it is probable that liability has been incurred we estimate costs required to remediate sites based on

site-specific facts and circumstances We routinely review and evaluate sites that require remediation considering

whether we were an owner operator transporter or generator at the site the amount and type of waste hauled to the

site and the number of years we were associated with the site Next we review the same type of information with

respect to other named and unnamed PRPs Estimates of the cost for the likely remedy are then either developed

using our internal resources or by third-party environmental engineers or other service providers Internally

developed estimates are based on

Managements judgment and experience in remediating our own and unrelated parties sites

Information available from regulatory agencies as to costs of remediation

The number financial resources and relative degree of responsibility of other PRPs who may be liable for

remediation of specific site and

The typical allocation of costs among PRPs unless the actual allocation has been determined

Asset Impairments

Our long-lived assets including landfills and landfill expansions are carried on our financial statements based

on their cost less accumulated depreciation or amortization We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be

recoverable In order to assess whether potential impairment exists the assets carrying values are compared with

their undiscounted expected future cash flows Estimating future cash flows requires significant judgment about

factors such as general economic conditions and projected growth rates and our estimates often vary from the cash

flows eventually realized Impairments are measured by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying value

Fair value is generally determined by considering internally developed discounted projected cash flow analysis

of the asset ii actual third-party valuations and/or iii information available regarding the current market

environment for similar assets If the fair value of an asset is determined to be less than the carrying amount of the

asset an impairment in the amount of the difference is recorded in the period that the events or changes in

circumstances that indicated the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable occurred These events or

changes in circumstances are referred to as impairment indicators

There are other considerations for impairments of landfills and goodwill as described below

Landfills Certain impairment indicators require significant judgment and understanding of the waste

industry when applied to landfill development or expansion projects For example regulator may initially deny

landfill expansion permit application though the expansion permit is ultimately granted In addition management

may periodically divert waste from one landfill to another to conserve remaining permitted landfill airspace

Therefore certain events could occur in the ordinary course of business and not necessarily be considered indicators

of impairment of our landfill assets due to the unique nature of the waste industry

Goodwill At least annually we assess whether goodwill is impaired We assess whether an impairment

exists by comparing the fair value of each operating segment to its carrying value including goodwill We use

combination of two valuation methods market approach and an income approach to estimate the fair value of our

operating segments Fair value computed by these two methods is arrived at using number of factors including

projected future operating results economic projections anticipated future cash flows comparable marketplace

data and the cost of capital There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and to our judgment in applying

them to this analysis However we believe that these two methods provide reasonable approach to estimating the

fair value of our operating segments

The masket approach estimates fair value by measuring the aggregate market value of publicly-traded

companies with similar characteristics of our business as multiple of their reported cash flows We then apply that

multiple to our operating segments cash flows to estimate their fair value We believe that this approach is

appropriate because it provides fair value estimate using valuation inputs from entities with operations and

economic characteristics comparable to our operating segments
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The income approach is based on the long-term projected future cash flows of our operating segments We

discount the estimated cash flows to present value using weighted-average cost of capital that considers factors

such as the timing of the cash flows and the risks inherent in those cash flows We believe that this approach is

appropriate because it provides fair value estimate based upon our operating segments expected long-term

performance considering the economic and market conditions that generally affect our business

Additional impairment assessments may be performed on an interim basis if we encounter events or changes in

circumstances that would indicate that more likely than not the carrying value of goodwill has been impaired

Self-Insurance Reserves and Recoveries

We have retained significant portion of the risks related to our health and welfare automobile general

liability and workers compensation insurance programs Our liabilities associated with the exposure for unpaid

claims and associated expenses including incurred but not reported losses generally is estimated with the

assistance of external actuaries and by factoring in pending claims and historical trends and data Our estimated

accruals for these liabilities could be significantly different than our ultimate obligations if variables such as the

frequency or severity of future incidents differ significantly from our assumptions Estimated insurance recoveries

related to recorded liabilities are recorded as assets when we believe that the receipt of such amounts is probable

Results of Operations

Operating Revenues

Our operating revenues in 2009 were $11.8 billion compared with $13.4 billion in 2008 and $13.3 billion in

2007 We manage and evaluate our operations primarily through our Eastern Midwest Southern Western Groups

and our Wheelabrator Group which includes our waste-to-energy facilities and independent power production

plants or IPPs These five Groups are our reportable segments Shown below in millions is the contribution to

revenues during each year provided by our five Groups and our Other waste services

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Eastern 2960 3319 3411

Midwest 2855 3267 3289

Southern 3328 3740 3737

Western 3125 3387 3444

Wheelabrator 841 912 868

Other 628 897 832

Intercompany 1946 2134 2271

Total $11791 $13388 $13310

Our operating revenues generally come from fees charged for our collection disposal transfer recycling and

waste-to-energy services and from sales of commodities by our recycling and waste-to-energy operations

Revenues from our collection operations are influenced by factors such as collection frequency type of collection

equipment furnished type and volume or weight of the waste collected distance to the MRF or disposal facility and

our disposal costs Revenues from our landfill operations consist of tipping fees which are generally based on the

type and weight or volume of waste being disposed of at our disposal facilities Fees charged at transfer stations are

generally based on the weight or volume of waste deposited taking into account our cost of loading transporting

and disposing of the solid waste at disposal site Recycling revenue generally consists of tipping fees and the sale

of recyclable commodities to third parties The fees we charge for our collection disposal transfer and recycling

services generally include fuel surcharges which are indexed to current market costs for fuel Our waste-to-energy

revenues which are generated by our Wheelabrator Group are based on the type and weight or volume of waste

received at our waste-to-energy facilities and IPPs and amounts charged for the sale of energy and steam Our

Other revenues include our in-plant services landfill gas-to-energy operations PortOLet services street and

parking lot sweeping services portable self-storage fluorescent lamp recycling and healthcare solutions services
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Intercompany revenues between our operations have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements The

mix of operating revenues from our different services is reflected in the table below in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Collection 7980 8679 8714

Landfill 2547 2955 3047

Transfer 1383 1589 1654

Wheelabrator 841 912 868

Recycling 741 1180 1135

Other 245 207 163

Intercompany 1946 2134 2271

Total $11791 $13388 $13310

The following table provides details associated with the period-to-period change in revenues dollars in

millions along with an explanation of the significant components of the current period changes

Period-to-Period Period-to-Period

Change Change
2009 vs 2008 2008 vs 2007

Asa%of Asa%of
Total Total

Amount Companya Amount Companya

Average yieldb 528 3.9% 644 4.9%

Volume 1078 8.1 557 4.2

Internal revenue growth 1606 12.0 87 0.7

Acquisitions 97 0.7 117 0.9

Divestitures 37 0.2 130 1.0

Foreign currency translation 51 OA

$1597 11.9% 78

Calculated by dividing the amount of current year increase or decrease by the prior years total company

revenue $13388 million and $13310 million for 2009 and 2008 respectively adjusted to exclude the impacts

of current year divestitures $37 million and $130 million for 2009 and 2008 respectively

The amounts reported herein represent the changes in our revenue attributable to average yield for the total

Company We analyze the changes in average yield in terms of related business revenues in order to

differentiate the changes in yield attributable to our pricing strategies from the changes that are caused by

market-driven price changes in commodities The following table summarizes changes in revenues from

average yield on related-business basis
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Period-to-Period Period-to-Period

Change Change
2009 vs 2008 2008 vs 2007

Asa%of Asa%of
Related Related

Amount Businessi Amount Businessi

Average yield

Collection landfill and transfer 321 3.0% $347 3.2%

Waste-to-energy disposalii 0.5 0.7

Collection and disposalii 323 2.9 350 3.1

Recycling commodities 447 36.3 81 6.9

Electricityii 76 21.3 24 7.1

Fuel surcharges and mandated fees 328 46.5 189 36.5

Total $528 3.9 $644 4.9

Calculated by dividing the increase or decrease for the current year by the prior-years related business

revenue adjusted to exclude the impacts of divestitures for the current year $37 million and $130 million

for 2009 and 2008 respectively The table below summarizes the related business revenues for each year

adjusted to exclude the impacts of divestitures

Denominator

2009 2008

Related business revenues

Collection landfill and transfer $10622 $10715

Waste-to-energy disposal 434 431

Collection and disposal 11056 11146

Recycling commodities 1233 1180

Electricity 356 336

Fuel surcharges and mandated fees 706 518

Total Company $13351 $13180

ii Average revenue growth from yield from Collection and disposal excludes all electricity-related

revenues generated by our Wheelabrator Group which are reported as Electricity revenues Before

2009 we reported electricity-related revenues from Wheelabrators IPPs as Electricity and electricity-

related revenues from Wheelabrators waste-to-energy facilities in Waste-to-energy Beginning in

2009 all of Wheelabrators electricity-related revenues are included in Electricity and only the

disposal revenues are included in Waste-to-energy disposal We have reflected the impact of this

change for all years presented to provide information that consistently reflects our current approach

Our revenues decreased $1597 million or 11.9% in 2009 as compared with 2008 substantial portion of

these declines can be attributed to market factors including recyclable commodity prices ii lower fuel prices

which reduced revenue provided by our fuel surcharge program iiithe effect of lower electricity prices on our

waste-to-energy business and iv foreign currency translation on revenues from our Canadian operations

In addition revenues continue to decline due to lower volumes which have resulted from the slowdown in the

economy In 2009 economic pressures continued to significantly reduce consumer and business spending which

meant less waste was being generated However our revenue growth from average yield on our collection and

disposal operations was $323 million in 2009 which demonstrates our commitment to pricing even in the current

economic environment

Towards the end of 2009 we began to see the trend of volume decline moderate For the fourth quarter of 2009

our revenue decline was $102 million or 3.3% as compared with the fourth quarter of 2008 This improvement as
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compared with our full-year revenue decline of 11.9% is primarily driven by the steady commodity price recovery

trend that occurred throughout 2009 as compared with the severe decline in commodity pricing and demand in the

fourth quarter of 2008 Additionally in the fourth quarter of 2009 we began to see our year-over-year volume

comparisons improve in our collection and disposal businesses

The following provides further details associated with our period-to-period change in revenues

Average yield

Collection and disposal average yield This measure reflects the effect on our revenue from the pricing

activities of our collection transfer landfill and waste-to-energy disposal operations exclusive of volume changes

Revenue growth from collection and disposal average yield includes not only base rate changes and environmental

and service fee increases but also certain average price changes related to the overall mix of services which are

due to both the types of services provided and the geographic locations where our services are provided ii changes

in average price from new and lost business and iiiprice decreases to retain customers

In both 2009 and 2008 the increases in revenues from yield were driven by our collection operations which

experienced substantial yield growth in all lines of business and in every geographic operating group primarily as

result of our continued focus on pricing initiatives including various fee increases As discussed below increased

collection revenues due to pricing have been more than offset by revenue declines from lower collection volumes

However increased revenue growth from yield on base business and focus on controlling variable costs has

consistently provided margin improvements in our collection line of business In addition to the revenue growth

from yield in the collection line of business we experienced increases in revenues from yield at our landfills and our

transfer stations due to our continued focus on pricing activities

Revenues from our environmental fee which are included in average yield on collection and disposal

increased by $37 million and $60 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Environmental fee revenues totaled $218 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared with $181 million

in 2008 and $121 million in 2007

Recycling commodities For the first nine months of 2008 record high commodity prices favorably

impacted our revenue growth Then during the fourth quarter of 2008 we saw rapid decline in commodity

prices due to significant decrease in the demand for commodities both domestically and internationally

Commodity demand and prices continued to be weak in the first nine months of 2009 as compared with

record-high commodity prices experienced through September of 2008 However market prices for recyclable

commodities are recovering and prices have increased significantly from the record lows experienced in late 2008

and early 2009 While commodity prices are still significantly less than the levels seen in 2007 and the first nine

months of 2008 the current price recovery trend contributed to revenue growth in the fourth quarter of 2009 and is

expected to contribute to revenue growth in the coming year

Electricity The changes in revenue from yield provided by our waste-to-energy business are largely due to

fluctuations in rates charged for electricity under our power purchase contracts that generally correlate with natural

gas prices in the markets where we operate In 2009 we experienced decline of $76 million in revenue from yield

at our waste-to-energy facilities due to the falling electricity prices During 2009 approximately 34% of the

electricity revenue at our waste-to-energy facilities was subject to current market rates which is an increase from

18% during 2008 Our waste-to-energy facilities exposure to market price volatility is increasing as more long-

term contracts expire

In 2008 we saw an increase of $24 million in revenue from yield provided by our waste-to-energy business

This increase was largely due to annual rate increases for electricity under long-term contracts and favorable energy

market pricing

Fuel surcharges and mandated fees Revenue generated by our fuel surcharge program decreased by

$328 million and increased by $189 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The

fluctuation is directly attributable to the fluctuation in the crude oil index prices we use for our fuel surcharge

program
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The mandated fees included in this line item are primarily related to the pass-through of fees and taxes assessed

by various state county and municipal governmental agencies at our landfills and transfer stations These mandated

fees have not had significant impact on the comparability of revenues for the periods included in the table above

Volume Our collection business accounted for $622 million of the total volume decrease in 2009 Our

industrial collection operations experienced the most significant revenue declines due to lower volumes primarily as

result of the continued slowdown in both residential and commercial construction activities across the United

States Our commercial and residential collection lines of business tend to be more recession resistant than our other

lines of business However we still experienced some commercial and residential collection volume declines in

2009 that we attribute to the recessionary economic environment as well as to pricing and competition

In 2009 we also experienced 16% decline in third-party revenue due to volume at our landfills This decrease

was most significant in our more economically sensitive special waste and construction and demolition waste

streams although municipal solid waste streams at our landfills have also decreased Lower third-party volumes in

our transfer station operations also caused revenue declines and can generally be attributed to economic conditions

and the effects of pricing and competition Lower volumes in our recycling operations caused declines in revenues

of $74 million in 2009 These decreases are attributable to the drastic decline in the domestic and international

demand for recyclables in late 2008 Demand for recyclable commodities has recovered throughout 2009 although

it has yet to compare favorably to the levels we experienced in advance of the market shift in the fourth quarter of

2008

In 2008 revenue declines due to lower volumes were driven by lower collection volumes and to lesser

extent lower transfer station and third-party disposal volumes Declines in revenues from volumes in these lines of

business were most significantly affected by our focus on improving margins through increased pricing and

ii economic conditions which particularly affected our industrial collection line of business Revenue declines

attributable to lower volumes also affected our recycling operations due to the rapid decline in demand for

recyclable commodities experienced during the fourth quarter of 2008

Acquisitions and divestituresRevenues increased $97 million and $117 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively due to acquisitions principally in the collection transfer and recycling

businesses although we also made acquisitions starting in 2008 in our Other business as we focused on entering

new complementary lines of business Divestitures accounted for decreased revenues of $37 million and

$130 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively These divestitures were primarily

comprised of collection operations and to lesser extent transfer station and recycling operations Beginning in the

second quarter of 2008 revenue growth from acquisitions exceeded revenue declines from divestitures trend we

had not seen in over two years This change reflects our shift in focus from divesting underperforming operations to

acquiring businesses

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses
include labor and related benefits excluding labor costs associated with main

tenance and repairs discussed below which include salaries and wages bonuses related payroll taxes insurance

and benefits costs and the costs associated with contract labor ii transfer and disposal costs which include tipping

fees paid to third-party disposal facilities and transfer stations iiimaintenance and repairs relating to equipment

vehicles and facilities and related labor costs iv subcontractor costs which include the costs of independent

haulers who transport waste collected by us to disposal facilities and are affected by variables such as volumes

distance and fuel prices costs of goods sold which are primarily the rebates paid to suppliers associated with

recycling commodities vi fuel costs which represent the costs of fuel and oil to operate our truck fleet and landfill

operating equipment vii disposal and franchise fees and taxes which include landfill taxes municipal franchise

fees host community fees and royalties viii landfill operating costs which include interest accretion on asset

retirement and environmental remediation obligations leachate and methane collection and treatment landfill

remediation costs and other landfill site costs ix risk management costs which include workers compensation

and insurance and claim costs and other operating costs which include among other costs equipment and

facility rent and property taxes
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Our operating expenses decreased by $1225 million or 14.5% when comparing 2009 with 2008 and increased

$64 million or 0.8% when comparing 2008 with 2007 Operating expenses as percentage of revenues were 61.4%

in 2009 63.2% in 2008 and 63.1% in 2007 The changes in our operating expenses during the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 can largely be attributed to the following

Volume declines and divestitures Throughout 2009 and 2008 we experienced volume declines as

result of the economy iipricing and competition and iii divestitures We continue to manage our fixed

costs and reduce our variable costs as we experience volume declines and have achieved significant cost

savings as result These cost decreases have benefited each of the operating cost categories identified in the

table below

Changes in market prices for recyclable commodities Market prices for recyclable commodities

declined sharply when comparing 2009 with 2008 This significant decrease in market prices was the driver of

the decrease in cost of goods sold during 2009 Market prices for recyclable commodities climbed robustly

through most of 2008 achieving levels during the first nine months of 2008 that had not been seen in several

years However during the fourth quarter of 2008 the market prices and demand for recyclable commodities

declined sharply The resulting near-historic low prices and reduced demand carried into the first quarter of

2009 and although prices have steadily increased during 2009 they remained significantly below prior-year

levels throughout most of 2009

Fuel price changes Lower market prices for fuel caused decreases in both our direct fuel costs and our

subcontractor costs for the year ended December 31 2009 On average diesel fuel prices decreased 35% from

$3.81 per gallon for 2008 to $2.46 per gallon for 2009 Diesel fuel prices varied significantly in 2008 reaching

record-high price of $4.76 per gallon in July and falling to three-year low of $2.33 per gallon by the end of

the year On average diesel fuel prices increased 32% in 2008 from $2.88 per gallon in 2007 to $3.81 per

gallon

Changes in risk-free interest rates We recognized $35 million in favorable adjustments during 2009

compared with $33 million in unfavorable adjustments during 2008 and $8 million in unfavorable adjustments

during 2007 due to changes in United States Treasury rates which are used to estimate the present value of our

environmental remediation obligations and recovery assets Over the course of 2009 the discount rate we use

increased from 2.25% to 3.75% During 2008 the discount rate we use declined from 4.00% to 2.25% During

2007 the discount rate we use declined from 4.75% to 4.00% These adjustments have been reflected in the

landfill operating costs category in the table below

Canadian exchange rates When comparing the average exchange rate for the years ended Decem

ber 31 2009 and 2008 the Canadian exchange rate weakened by 7% which decreased our expenses in all

operating cost categories The weakening of the Canadian dollar decreased our total operating expenses by

$40 million for 2009 as compared with 2008 Changes in currency exchange rates had very little impact when

comparing the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Acquisitions and growth initiatives In both 2009 and 2008 we have experienced cost increases

attributable to recently acquired businesses and to lesser extent our various growth and business devel

opment initiatives These cost increases have affected each of the operating cost categories identified in the

table below
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The following table summarizes the major components of our operating expenses including the impact of

foreign currency translation for the years ended December 31 dollars in millions

Period-to- Period-to-

2009 Period Change 2008 Period Change 2007

Labor and related benefits $2260 160 6.6% $2420 0.3% $2412

Transfer and disposal costs 937 111 10.6 1048 100 8.7 1148

Maintenance and repairs 1033 41 3.8 1074 0.5 1079

Subcontractor costs 700 201 22.3 901 0.1 902

Cost of goods sold 488 324 39.9 812 43 5.6 769

Fuel 414 301 42.1 715 134 23.1 581

Disposal and franchise fees and taxes 578 30 4.9 608 1.0 602

Landfill operating costs 222 69 23.7 291 30 11.5 261

Risk management 211 1.0 209 3.7 217

Other 398 10 2.6 388 43 10.0 431

$7241 $1225 14.5% $8466 64 0.8% $8402

The period-to-period changes for each category of operating expenses are discussed below

Labor and related benefits

When comparing 2009 with 2008 the cost declines were generally result of headcount and overtime

reductions related to volume declines ii effects of foreign currency translation iii benefit from the

restructuring we initiated in January of 2009 although most of these savings are reflected in our selling

general and administrative expenses and iv cost savings provided by our operational improvement

initiatives These cost savings have been offset in part by higher hourly wages due to merit increases and

ii increased accrued bonus expense as our performance against targets established by our annual incentive

plans was stronger than it had been in 2008

When comparing 2008 with 2007 wages increased due to annual merit adjustments although these higher

costs were more than offset by headcount reductions due to operational efficiencies and divestitures We

experienced additional overtime and other labor costs due to severe winter weather conditions during the

first quarter of 2008 in our Midwest Group Our accrued bonus expenses were lower in 2008 because our

performance against targets established by our incentive plans was not as strong as it had been in 2007

The comparability of our labor and related benefits costs for the periods presented has also been affected by

costs incurred for the resolution of labor disputes with certain collective bargaining units Such costs

increased our 2009 expense by $9 million and our 2008 expense by $42 million The costs incurred during

2009 and 2008 were primarily associated with the withdrawal of certain bargaining units from underfunded

multi-employer pension plans

Transfer and disposal costs During 2009 and 2008 these cost decreases were result of volume declines

and our continued focus on reducing disposal costs associated with our third-party disposal volumes by improving

internalization The 2009 decrease was also partially due to foreign currency
translation

Maintenance and repairs During 2009 these costs declined as result of volume declines and various fleet

initiatives that have favorably affected our maintenance parts and supplies costs These decreases have been offset

partially by cost increases due to differences in the timing and scope of planned maintenance projects at our

waste-to-energy and landfill gas-to-energy facilities

Subcontractor costs During 2009 these cost decreases are result of volume declines significant

decrease in diesel fuel prices and the effects of foreign currency translation

Cost of goods sold The 2009 and 2008 cost changes are principally due to changes in the recycling

commodity rebates we pay to our customers as result of changes in market prices for recyclable commodities

discussed above and volume declines
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Fuel The cost changes for 2009 and 2008 are result of changes in market prices for diesel fuel discussed

above and volume declines

Disposal and franchise fees and taxes These cost decreases are principally result of volume declines

although the comparability of the periods presented is also affected by the favorable resolution of disposal tax

matter in our Eastern Group which reduced these
expenses by $18 million during 2007 and $3 million during 2008

Landfill operating costs The changes in this category for the
years presented was primarily driven by the

changes in U.S Treasury rates used to estimate the present value of our environmental remediation obligations and

recovery assets The impacts of these rate changes are discussed above

Risk management Our consistent risk management costs reflect the success we have had over the last

several years in managing these costs which can be primarily attributed to our continued focus on safety and

reduced accident and injury rates For 2008 the decrease in expense was largely associated with reduced actuarial

projections of workers compensation costs and reduced auto and general liability claims for current claim periods

Other The comparison of these costs has been significantly affected by the following

In 2009 we had significant increase in the property taxes assessed for one of our waste-to-energy facilities

In 2008 and 2007 we had relatively higher gains recognized on the sales of assets due to our focus on

identifying and selling under-utilized assets in order to increase our efficiency

In 2007 our Western Group incurred Other operating expenses of $33 million for security labor lodging

travel and other costs incurred as result of labor disruptions in Oakland and Los Angeles California

In 2007 we incurred $21 million of lease termination costs associated with the purchase of one of our

independent power production plants that had previously been operated through lease agreement

Selling General and Administrative

Our selling general and administrative expenses consist of labor costs which include salaries bonuses

related insurance and benefits contract labor payroll taxes and equity-based compensation ii professional fees

which include fees for consulting legal audit and tax services iii provision for bad debts which includes

allowances for uncollectible customer accounts and collection fees and iv other general and administrative

expenses which include among other costs facility-related expenses voice and data telecommunication adver

tising travel and entertainment rentals postage and printing In addition the financial impacts of litigation

settlements generally are included in our Other selling general and administrative expenses

The following table summarizes the major components of our selling general and administrative
expenses

for

the years ended December 31 dollars in millions

Period-to- Period-to-

2009 Period Change 2008 Period Change 2007

Labor and related benefits 775 78 9.1% 853 $18 2.2% 835

Professional fees 167 0.6 168 5.0 160

Provision for bad debts 54 5.3 57 16.3 49

Other 368 31 7.8 399 11 2.8 388

$1364 $113 7.7% $1477 $45 3.1% $1432

Significant changes in our selling general and administrative expenses during the reported periods are as

summarized below

Labor and related benefits In 2009 our labor and related benefits costs have declined because we have been

realizing benefits associated with our January 2009 restructuring The comparability of our labor and related benefits

expenses in 2009 has also been affected by significant decrease in non-cash compensation costs associated with

the equity-based compensation provided for by our long-term incentive plans as result of decline in the grant

date fair value of our equity awards ii lower performance against established targets for certain awards than in the
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prior year and iii the reversal of all compensation costs previously recognized for our 2008 performance share

units based on determination that it is no longer probable that the targets established for that award will be met

This decrease in non-cash compensation costs was offset in part by higher costs associated with our salary deferral

plan the costs of which are directly affected by equity-market conditions Additionally contract labor costs

incurred for various Corporate support functions were lower during 2009 than in 2008

The 2008 increase in labor and related benefits costs was primarily attributable to higher salaries and hourly

wages due to merit increases iihigher compensation costs due to an increase in headcount driven by an increase in

the size of our sales force and our focus on our people and business development initiatives and iii higher non-

cash compensation costs associated with the equity-based compensation provided for by our long-term incentive

plans Additionally we also experienced higher insurance and benefit costs These increases were offset partially by

lower bonus expenses accrued in 2008 because our performance against targets established by our incentive plan

was not as strong as it had been in 2007

Professional fees In 2009 we experienced slight decrease in professional fees due primarily to lower

consulting fees related to our various strategic initiatives as compared with 2008 This decrease was largely offset

by higher legal fees and expenses in 2009

In 2008 our professional fees increased year-over-year due to legal and consulting costs we incurred related to

the support of proposed acquisition in 2008 and ii our business development initiatives These increases were

partially offset by lower consulting costs in 2008 related to various strategic initiatives during 2007 including the

support and development of the SAP waste and recycling revenue management system which we discontinued

development of in early 2008

Provision for bad debts The $3 million decline in our provision for bad debts in 2009 can be generally

attributed to the decrease in our revenues and accounts receivable due to current economic conditions and market

factors and ii our continued focus on the management and collection of our receivables However in 2008 our

provision for bad debts increased $8 million as the effects of the weakened economy increased collection risks

associated with certain customers

Other During 2009 our costs associated with advertising meetings seminars and travel and entertainment

declined as result of our increased efforts to reduce controllable spending These lower costs were due in part to

the recent restructuring This decline was offset partially by higher legal expenses In 2008 we were focusing on our

sales marketing and other initiatives and identifying new customers which resulted in increases in our advertising

costs and travel and entertainment

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of property and equipment including assets recorded

for capital leases on straight-line basis from three to 50 years ii amortization of landfill costs including those

incurred and all estimated future costs for landfill development construction and asset retirement costs arising from

closure and post-closure on units-of-consumption method as landfill airspace is consumed over the estimated

remaining permitted and expansion capacity of site iii amortization of landfill asset retirement costs arising

from final capping obligations on units-of-consumption method as airspace is consumed over the estimated

capacity associated with each final capping event and iv amortization of intangible assets with definite life

either using 150% declining balance approach or straight-line basis over the definitive terms of the related

agreements which are generally from two to ten years depending on the type of asset
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The following table summarizes the components of our depreciation and amortization costs for the years ended

December 31 dollars in millions

Period-to- Period-to-

Period Period

2009 Change 2008 Change 2007

Depreciation of tangible property and

equipment 779 0.8% 785 $11 1.4% 796

Amortization of landfill airspace 358 71 16.6 429 11 2.5 440

Amortization of intangible assets 29 20.8 24 4.3 23

$1166 $72 5.8% $1238 $21 1.7% $1259

In both 2009 and 2008 the decrease in depreciation of tangible property and equipment is largely due to

components of enterprise-wide software becoming fully-depreciated and ii our focus on retiring or selling

under-utilized assets

The decrease in amortization of landfill airspace expense in 2009 and 2008 is largely due to volume declines as

result of the slowdown in the economy ii our pricing program and competition both of which have

significantly reduced our collection volumes and iiithe re-direction of waste to third-party disposal facilities in

certain regions due to either the closure of our own landfills or the current capacity constraints of landfills where we

are working on procuring an expansion permit The comparability of our amortization of landfill airspace for the

years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 has also been affected by adjustments recorded in each year for

changes in estimates related to our final capping closure and post-closure obligations During the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 landfill amortization expense was reduced by $14 million $3 million and

$17 million respectively for the effects of these changes in estimates In each year the majority of the reduced

expense resulting from the revised estimates was associated with final capping changes that were generally the

result of concerted efforts to improve the operating efficiencies of our landfills and volume declines both of

which have allowed us to delay spending for final capping activities ii effectively managing the cost of final

capping material and construction or iii landfill expansions that resulted in reduced or deferred final capping

costs

Restructuring

In January 2009 we took steps to further streamline our organization by consolidating our Market Areas

iiintegrating the management of our recycling operations with our other solid waste business and iiirealigning

our Corporate organization with this new structure in order to provide support functions more efficiently

Our principal operations are managed through our Groups Each of our four geographic Groups had been

further divided into 45 Market Areas As result of our restructuring the Market Areas were consolidated into 25

Areas We found that our larger Market Areas generally were able to achieve efficiencies through economies of

scale that were not present in our smaller Market Areas and this reorganization has allowed us to lower costs and to

continue to standardize
processes and improve productivity In addition during the first quarter of 2009 respon

sibility for the oversight of day-to-day recycling operations at our material recovery facilities and secondary

processing facilities was transferred from our Waste Management Recycle America or WMRA organization to our

four geographic Groups By integrating the management of our recycling facilities operations with our other solid

waste business we are able to more efficiently provide comprehensive environmental solutions to our customers In

addition as result of this realignment we have significantly reduced the overhead costs associated with managing

this portion of our business and have increased the geographic Groups focus on maximizing the profitability and

return on invested capital of our business on an integrated basis

This restructuring eliminated over 1500 employee positions throughout the Company During 2009 we

recognized $50 million of pre-tax charges associated with this restructuring of which $41 million were related to

employee severance and benefit costs The remaining charges were primarily related to lease obligations that we

will continue to incur over the remaining lease term for certain operating lease agreements
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Income Expense from Divestitures Asset Impairments and Unusual Items

The following table summarizes the major components of Income expense from divestitures asset

impairments and unusual items for the year ended December 31 for the respective periods in millions

Years Ended

December 31

2009 2008 2007

Income expense from divestitures including held-for-sale impairments $33 $59

Asset impairments excluding held-for-sale impairments 83 12

$83 $29 $47

Income expense from divestitures including held-for-sale impairments The net gains from divestitures

during 2008 and 2007 were result of our focus on selling underperforniing businesses In 2008 these gains were

primarily related to the divestiture of underperforming collection operations in our Southern Group and in 2007

the gains were related to the divestiture of underperforming collection transfer and recycling operations in our

Eastern Western and Southern Groups

Asset impairments excluding held-for-sale impairments Through December 31 2008 we had capitalized

$70 million of accumulated costs associated with the development of our waste and recycling revenue management

system significant portion of these costs was specifically associated with the purchase of the license of SAPs

waste and recycling revenue management software and the efforts required to develop and configure that software

for our use After failed pilot implementation of the software in one of our smallest Market Areas the development

efforts associated with the SAP revenue management system were suspended in 2007 As disclosed in Note 11 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements in March 2008 we filed suit against SAP and are currently scheduled for trial in

May 2010

During 2009 we determined to enhance and improve our existing revenue management system and not pursue

alternatives associated with the development and implementation of revenue management system that would

include the licensed SAP software Accordingly after careful consideration of the failures of the SAP software we

determined to abandon any alternative that would include the use of the SAP software The determination to

abandon the SAP software as our revenue management system resulted in non-cash charge of $51 million

$49 million of which was recognized during the first quarter of 2009 and $2 million of which was recognized during

the fourth quarter of 2009

We recognized an additional $32 million of impairment charges during 2009 $27 million of which was

recognized by the West Group during the fourth quarter of 2009 to fully impair landfill in California as result of

change in our expectations for the future operations of the landfill The remaining impairment charges were

primarily attributable to charge required to write down our investments in certain portable self-storage operations

to their fair value as result of our acquisition of controlling financial interest in those operations

During 2008 we recognized $4 million impairment charge primarily as result of decision to close

landfill in our Southern Group During 2007 we recognized $12 million in impairment charges related to two

landfills in our Southern Group The impairments were necessary as result of the re-evaluation of our business

alternatives for one landfill and the expiration of contract that we had expected would be renewed that had

significantly contributed to the volumes for the second landfill
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Income From Operations by Reportable Segment

The following table summarizes income from operations by reportable segment for the years ended

December 31 dollars in millions
Period-to- Period-to-

Period Period

2009 Change 2008 Change 2007

Reportable segments

Eastern 483 40 7.6% 523 $27 4.9% 550

Midwest 450 25 5.3 475 49 9.4 524

Southern 768 104 11.9 872 46 5.6 826

Western 521 91 14.9 612 1.0 618

Wheelabrator 235 88 27.2 323 31 10.6 292

Other 136 76 60 22 38

Corporate and other 434 77 15.1 511 1.4 518

Total $1887 $347 15.5% $2234 $20 0.9% $2254

Percentage change does not provide meaningful comparison

Reportable segments The most significant items affecting the results of operations of our four geographic

Groups during the three-year period ended December 31 2009 are summarized below

During 2009 and 2008 each Group experienced declines in revenues due to lower volumes resulting in

decreased income from operations The volume declines were generally the result of the significant

downturn in the overall economic environment particularly in our industrial collection line of business

which has been affected by the sharp decline in residential and commercial construction across the United

States

Significantly lower recycling commodity prices in 2009 as compared with 2008 had an unfavorable effect on

each of the four geographic Groups results During the fourth quarter of 2008 commodity prices dropped

sharply from the prices we experienced throughout 2007 and the first nine months of 2008 This decline was

result of significant decrease in the demand for commodities both domestically and internationally The

resulting near-historic low prices and reduced demand carried into 2009 and although prices have steadily

recovered they remained significantly below the levels of the prior two years When comparing 2008 to

2007 the significant decline in commodity prices that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2008 resulted in

operating losses that more than offset the increases in operating income generated during the first nine

months of 2008

During 2009 we recorded $50 million of charges associated with our January 2009 restructuring During

2008 and 2007 we recorded restructuring charges of $2 million and $10 million respectively Refer to

Note 12 of our Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to the impact of these charges on

each of our reportable segments

The negative impact of these factors has been partially offset by the favorable effects of increased revenue

growth from yield on our collection and disposal business as result of our pricing strategies particularly in our

collection operations and ii cost savings attributed to our January 2009 restructuring our continued focus on

controlling costs through operating efficiencies and our increased focus on reducing controllable selling general

and administrative expenses particularly for travel and entertainment during 2009

Other significant items affecting the comparability of each Groups results of operations for
years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are summarized below

Eastern During 2009 the Group recognized an $18 million increase in revenues and income from

operations associated with an oil and
gas lease at one of our landfills and ii $9 million charge related to

bargaining unit employees in New Jersey agreeing to our proposal to withdraw them from an underfunded

multi-employer pension fund During 2008 the Groups operating income was negatively affected by
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$14 million charge related to the withdrawal of certain collective bargaining units from underfunded multi-

employer pension plans The Groups operating income for 2007 was favorably affected by net divestiture

gains of $33 million and ii an $18 million decrease in disposal fees and taxes due to the favorable resolution

of disposal tax matter

Midwest During 2009 the Groups operating results were favorably affected by $10 million

reduction in landfill amortization expense as result of changes in certain estimates related to final capping

closure and post-closure obligations The Groups 2008 operating results were negatively affected by

$44 million of additional operating expenses primarily incurred as result of labor dispute in Milwaukee

Wisconsin Included in the labor dispute expenses are $32 million in charges related to the withdrawal of

certain of the Groups bargaining units from underfunded multi-employer pension plans In addition the

Group experienced unfavorable weather conditions in the first quarter of 2008

Additionally when comparing the average exchange rate for 2009 with 2008 the Canadian exchange rate

weakened by 7% which decreased the Groups income from operations The effects of foreign currency

translation were the most significant to this Group because substantially all of our Canadian operations are

managed by our Midwest organization Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have significant

impact on the comparison of 2008 with 2007

Southern During 2008 the Groups operating income was favorably affected by $29 million of

divestiture gains offset in part by $3 million landfill impairment charge During 2007 the Group recorded

$12 million of impairment charges attributable to two of its landfills These charges were largely offset by

gains on divestitures of $11 million

Western The Groups 2009 income from operations includes the recognition of an impairment charge

of $27 million as result of change in expectations for the future operations of landfill in California which

was offset in part by the recognition of $6 million gain associated with the sale of water rights at landfill

During 2008 the Group recognized $6 million gain primarily related to the sale of surplus real estate In

2007 labor disputes negatively affected the Groups operating results by $37 million principally as result of

Operating expenses
incurred for security deployment and lodging costs for replacement workers Gains on

divestitures of operations were $16 million for 2007

Wheelabrator The comparability of the Groups 2009 income from operations with the prior years has

been significantly affected by decline in market prices for electricity which had more significant impact

on the Groups results in 2009 due to the expiration of several long-term energy contracts and short-term

pricing arrangements ii an increase in costs for international and domestic business development activities

and iiian increase in Operating expenses of $11 million as result of significant increase in the property

taxes assessed for one of our waste-to-energy facilities Exposure to current electricity market prices increased

from 18% of total electricity production in 2008 to 34% in 2009 The Groups exposure to current electricity

market price volatility is expected to continue to grow to about 50% by the end of 2010 as several long-term

contracts are set to expire next year The Groups 2008 operating results were favorably affected by increases in

market rates for energy during the second half of 2008 while the Groups 2007 operating results were

unfavorably affected by $21 million charge for the early termination of lease agreement The early

termination was due to the Groups purchase of an independent power production plant that it had previously

operated through lease agreement

Significant items affecting the comparability of the remaining components of our results of operations for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are summarized below

Other The unfavorable change in 2009 operating results compared with 2008 is largely due to the

effect that the previously discussed lower recycling commodity prices had on our recycling brokerage

activities ii an increase in costs being incurred to support the identification and development of new lines of

business that will complement our core business iiithe unfavorable impact lower energy prices during 2009

had on our landfill-gas-to-energy operations and iv certain year-end adjustments recorded in consolidation

related to our reportable segments that were not included in the measure of segment income from operations

used to assess their performance for the periods disclosed
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The unfavorable change in operating results in 2008 when compared with 2007 is the result of the

unfavorable effect that the previously discussed fourth quarter of 2008 sharp drop in recycling commodity

prices had on our recycling brokerage activities and ii costs being incurred to support our increased focus on

the identification and development of new lines of business that will complement our core business

Corporate and Other Significant items affecting the comparability of expenses for the periods

presented include

the recognition of $34 million of favorable adjustments during 2009 by our closed sites management group

due to increases in U.S Treasury rates used to estimate the present value of our environmental remediation

obligations and environmental remediation recovery assets while in 2008 and 2007 the same group

recognized charges to landfill operating costs of $32 million and $8 million respectively due to declines in

U.S Treasury rates during those periods

significant decline in Selling general and administrative expenses
in 2009 resulting from workforce

reductions associated with the January 2009 restructuring increased efforts to reduce our controllable

spending and lower equity compensation costs

$51 million of non-cash abandonment charges recognized during 2009 associated with the determination

that we would not pursue alternatives associated with the development and implementation of revenue

management system that would include the licensed SAP software

2008 cost decreases attributable to lower risk management expenses due to reduced actuarial projections of

claim losses for workers compensation and auto and general liability claims and lower bonus expense due to

relatively weak performance against established targets offset in part by costs incurred for proposed

acquisition

restructuring charges of $9 million in 2009 and $6 million in 2007 and

employee healthcare coverage expenses in the third quarter of 2007 due to unusually high claims activity

Interest Income and Expense Our interest expense was $426 million in 2009 $455 million in 2008 and

$521 million in 2007 Interest income was $13 million in 2009 $19 million in 2008 and $47 million in 2007 The

decreases in interest income and expense for the periods presented are primarily attributable to significant declines

in market interest rates

Interest expense Lower market interest rates have increased the benefits to interest expense provided by our

active interest rate swap agreements and reduced the interest expense associated with our tax-exempt bonds and our

Canadian Credit Facility The impacts of each of these items on our interest expense for the years
ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are summarized below

Interest rate swaps We use interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to changes in market interest

rates The impacts to interest expense of our interest rate swaps are primarily related to net periodic

settlements of current interest on our active interest rate swaps and ii the amortization of previously

terminated interest rate swap agreements as adjustments to interest expense The following table summarizes

the impact of periodic settlements of active swap agreements and the impact of terminated swap agreements on

our results of operations in millions

Increase Decrease to Interest Expense Due to Hedge
Years Ended December 31

Accounting for Interest Rate Swaps 2009 2008 2007

Periodic settlements of active swap agreementsa $46 $48
Terminated swap agreementsb 19 42 37

$65 $50 $11

These amounts represent the net of our periodic variable-rate interest obligations and the swap counter

parties fixed-rate interest obligations Our variable-rate obligations are based on spread from the three

month LIBOR Three-month LIBOR rates have varied significantly during the reported periods During
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2007 the three-month LIBOR exceeded 5.0% for most of the year while during 2008 the rate was as high

as 4.8% and as low as 1.4% and during 2009 rates were consistently below 1.0% for most of the year

The amortization to interest expense of terminated swap agreements has decreased due to the maturity of

certain previously hedged senior notes In addition in 2008 this amount included $10 million net

reduction in interest expense associated with the early retirement of $244 million of 8.75% senior notes

At December 31 2009 $18 million on pre-tax basis of the carrying value of debt associated with

terminated swap agreements is scheduled to be reclassified as reduction to interest expense over the next

twelve months

Tax-exempt bonds Certain of our tax-exempt bonds are subject to remarketing processes that result in

periodic adjustments to the interest rates of the bonds As of December 31 2009 $817 million of our tax-

exempt bonds are variable-rate instruments and re-price on either daily or weekly basis We also have tax-

exempt bonds with term interest rate periods that end before the bonds scheduled maturities and $387 million

of these bonds were re-priced during 2009 These remarketing processes have significantly reduced the

weighted average interest rates of our tax-exempt bonds which decreased from 4.5% at December 31 2007 to

4.0% at December 31 2008 and 3.4% at December 31 2009

Canadian credit facilily Borrowings outstanding under our Canadian Credit Facility have short-term

maturities but are generally renewed at maturity under the terms of the facility which results in the effective

interest rates of the borrowings being reset to reflect current market interest rates The weighted average

interest rates of borrowings outstanding under our Canadian Credit Facility have decreased from 5.3% as of

December 31 2007 to 3.3% as of December 31 2008 and 1.3% at December 31 2009

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company issued an additional $600 million of senior notes which mature in

2039 and have coupon rate of 6.125% This debt issuance is expected to increase our average
debt balances and

our interest expense in 2010 as we currently expect to use the proceeds from the issuance to make various

acquisitions and investments rather than as source for the repayment of existing debt As of December 31 2009

the Companys debt-to-total capital ratio was 57.4% which continues to be consistent with our targeted long-term

debt-to-total capitalization of up to 60%

Interest income When comparing 2009 with 2008 the decrease in interest income is generally related to the

decline in market interest rates offset in part by an increase in our cash and cash equivalents balances throughout

the year As of December 31 2009 our cash and cash equivalents balances exceeded $1 billion due in large part to

our $600 million issuance of senior notes during the fourth quarter 2009 We currently expect to utilize significant

portion of these funds for investments and acquisitions in the first half of 2010 including our anticipated purchase

of 40% equity investment in Shanghai Environment Group which is discussed in Note 11 of our Consolidated

Financial Statements and additional investments in our waste-to-energy and solid waste businesses

When comparing 2008 with 2007 the decrease in interest income is primarily due to significant declines in

market interest rates ii the recognition of $7 millionin interest income during the first quarter of 2007 for the favorable

resolution of disposal tax matter in our Eastern Group and iii decrease in our average cash and investment balances

Equity in Net Losses of Unconsolidated Entities During 2007 our Equity in net losses of unconsolidated

entities was primarily related to our equity interests in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities The

equity losses generated by the facilities were offset by the tax benefits realized as result of these investments as

discussed below within Provision for income taxes

Provision for Income Taxes We recorded provisions for income taxes of $413 million in 2009 $669 million in

2008 and $540 million in 2007 These tax provisions resulted in an effective income tax rate of approximately 28.1%

37.2% and 30.9% for each of the three
years respectively At current income levels we expect that our 2010 recurring

effective tax rate will be approximately 38% The comparability of our reported income taxes for the years ended

December31 2009 2008 and 2007 is primarily affected by variations in our income before taxes ii the utilization of

capital loss carry-back iii the realization of state net operating loss and credit carry-forwards iv changes in effective
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state and Canadian statutory tax rates differences in the impacts of tax audit settlements and vi the impact of non-

conventional fuel tax credits which expired at the end of 2007 The impacts of these items are summarized below

Utilization of capital loss carry-back During 2009 we generated capital loss from the liquidation of

foreign subsidiary and determined that the capital loss could be utilized to offset capital gains from prior

years specifically 2006 and 2007 The utilization of this capital loss resulted in reduction to our 2009

Provision for income taxes of $65 million representing 4.4 percentage point reduction in our effective

tax rate

State net operating loss and credit carry-forwards During 2009 and 2008 we realized state net operating

loss and credit carry-forwards by reducing related valuation allowances resulting in reduction to our

Provision for income taxes for those periods of $35 million and $3 million respectively No corresponding

benefit was recognized in 2007

Canadian and state effective tax rates During 2009 the provincial tax rates in Ontario were reduced

which resulted in $13 million tax benefit as result of the revaluation of the related deferred tax balances

During 2007 the Canadian federal government enacted tax rate reductions which resulted in $30 million

tax benefit for the revaluation of the related deferred tax balances We did not have any comparable

adjustments to Canadian rates during 2008 During 2009 our current state tax rate increased from 6.0% to

6.25% and our deferred state tax rate increased from 5.5% to 5.75% During 2008 our current state tax rate

increased from 5.5% to 6.0% The increases in these rates was primarily due to changes in state law

Tax audit settlements Excluding the effects of interest income the settlement of various tax audits

resulted in reductions in income tax expense
of $11 million for the year ended December 31 2009

$26 million for the year ended December 31 2008 and $40 million for the year ended December 31 2007

Non-conventional fuel tax credits Through December 31 2007 non-conventional fuel tax credits were

derived from our landfills and our investments in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities Our

income taxes for the year
ended December 31 2007 included $50 million of non-conventional fuel tax

credits These tax credits resulted in 2.9 percentage point reduction in our effective tax rate for the year

ended December 31 2007 Non-conventional fuel tax credits expired at the end of 2007

Nonconfrolling Interests Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests was $66 million in 2009

$41 million in 2008 and $46 million in 2007 In each period these amounts have been principally
related to third

parties equity interests in two limited liability companies that own three waste-to-energy facilities operated by our

Wheelabrator Group The profitability of one of the LLCs has improved in 2009 as result of an increase in the

rentals paid by Wheelabrator to the LLC for the lease of one of the facilities We have consolidated these variable

interest entities since 2003 because we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary for accounting

purposes We are in the process
of reconsidering our consolidation of the LLCs as result of revised authoritative

guidance associated with the consolidation of variable interest entities Additional information related to these

investments is included in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The comparison of these amounts for the reported periods has also been affected by significant adjustments

recognized in consolidated operating expenses
for changes in the present

value of our environmental remediation

obligations and recovery assets as result of changes in the U.S Treasury rates used to measure these balances

Landfill and Environmental Remediation Discussion and Analysis

We owned or operated 268 solid waste and five hazardous waste landfills at December 31 2009 and we owned

or operated 267 solid waste and six hazardous waste landfills at December 31 2008 At December 31 2009 and
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2008 the expected remaining capacity in cubic yards and tonnage of waste that can be accepted at our owned or

operated landfills is shown below in millions

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Remaining Remaining
Permitted Expansion Total Permitted Expansion Total

Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity

Remaining cubic yards 4546 739 5285 4456 816 5272

Remaining tonnage 4075 726 4801 3979 794 4773

Based on remaining permitted airspace as of December 31 2009 and projected annual disposal volumes the

weighted average remaining landfill life for all of our owned or operated landfills is approximately 35
years Many

of our landfills have the potential for expanded disposal capacity beyond what is currently permitted We monitor

the availability of permitted disposal capacity at each of our landfills and evaluate whether to pursue an expansion at

given landfill based on estimated future waste volumes and prices remaining capacity and likelihood of obtaining

an expansion permit We are seeking expansion permits at 39 of our landfills that meet the expansion criteria

outlined in the Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions section above Although no assurances can be made
that all future expansions will be permitted or permitted as designed the weighted average remaining landfill life for

all owned or operated landfills is approximately 41
years when considering remaining permitted airspace

expansion airspace and projected annual disposal volume

The number of landfills we own or operate as of December 31 2009 segregated by their estimated operating
lives in years based on remaining permitted and expansion airspace and projected annual disposal volume was as

follows

OtoS to 10 11 to 20 21 to 40 41 Thtal

Owned 14 11 37 68 81 211

Operated through leasea 26

Operating contractsb 12 10 36

Total landfills 31 20 52 78 92 273

From an operating perspective landfills we operate through lease agreements are similar to landfills we own
because we own the landfills operating permit and will operate the landfill for the entire lease term which in

many cases is the life of the landfill We are usually responsible for the closure and post-closure obligations of

the landfills we lease

For operating contracts the property owner owns the permit and we operate the landfill for contracted term
which may be the life of the landfill The property owner is generally responsible for closure and post-closure

obligations under our operating contracts
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The following table reflects landfill capacity and airspace changes as measured in tons of waste for landfills

owned or operated by us during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 in millions

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Remaining Remaining
Permitted Expansion Total Permitted Expansion Total

Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity

Balance beginning of year 3979 794 4773 3787 893 4680

Acquisitions divestitures

newly permitted landfills

and closures 33 33 20 15 35

Changes in expansions

pursueda 83 83 94 94

Expansion permits

grantedb 129 129 228 228

Airspace consumed 92 92 107 107

Changes in engineering

estimates and otherc 26 22 51 20 71

Balance end of
year 4075 726 4801 3979 794 4773

Amounts reflected here relate to the combined impacts of new expansions pursued ii increases or

decreases in the airspace being pursued for ongoing expansion efforts iii adjustments for differences

between the airspace being pursued and airspace granted and iv decreases due to decisions to no longer

pursue expansion permits

We received expansion permits at ten of our landfills during 2009 and 28 of our landfills during 2008

demonstrating our continued success in working with municipalities and regulatory agencies to expand the

disposal capacity of our existing landfills

Changes in engineering estimates can result in changes to the estimated available remaining capacity of

landfill or changes in the utilization of such landfill capacity affecting the number of tons that can be placed in

the future Estimates of the amount of waste that can be placed in the future are reviewed annually by our

engineers and are based on number of factors including standard engineering techniques and site-specific

factors such as current and projected mix of waste type initial and projected waste density estimated number

of years of life remaining depth of underlying waste anticipated access to moisture through precipitation or

recirculation of landfill leachate and operating practices We continually focus on improving the utilization of

airspace through efforts that include recirculating landfill leachate where allowed by permit optimizing the

placement of daily cover materials and increasing initial compaction through improved landfill equipment

operations and training

The tons received at our landfills in 2009 and 2008 are shown below in thousands

2009 2008

of Total Tons of Total Tons
Sites Tons per Day Sites Tons per Day

Solid waste landfills 268a 91901 337 267 106731 391

Hazardous waste landfills 1026 1384

273 92927 341 273 108115 396

Solid waste landfills closed or divested

during related year 328 882

93255b 108997b

In 2009 we acquired landfills closed landfills and resumed operations at one landfill that we had

previously closed
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These amounts include 1.5 million tons at December 31 2009 and 2.0 million tons at December 31 2008 that

were received at our landfills but were used for beneficial purposes
and generally were redirected from the

permitted airspace to other areas of the landfill Waste types that are frequently identified for beneficial use

include green waste for composting and clean dirt for on-site construction projects

When landfill we own or operate
receives certification of closure from the applicable regulatory agency we

generally transfer the management of the site including any remediation activities to our closed sites management

group As of December 31 2009 our closed sites management group manages 201 closed landfills

Landfill Assets We capitalize various costs that we incur to ready landfill to accept waste These costs

generally include expenditures for land including the landfill footprint and required landfill buffer property

permitting excavation liner material and installation landfill leachate collection systems landfill gas
collection

systems environmental monitoring equipment for groundwater and landfill gas directly related engineering

capitalized interest and on-site road construction and other capital infrastructure costs The cost basis of our landfill

assets also includes estimates of future costs associated with landfill final capping closure and post-closure

activities which are discussed further below

The following table reflects the total cost basis of our landfill assets and accumulated landfill airspace

amortization as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and summarizes significant changes in these amounts during 2009

in millions

Accumulated

Cost Basis of Landfill Airspace

Landfill Assets Amortization Landfill Assets

December 31 2008 $11716 $6053 $5663

Capital additions 380 380

Asset retirement obligations incurred and

capitalized 39 39

Acquisitions 35 35

Amortization of landfill airspace 358 358

Foreign currency
translation 169 45 124

Asset retirements and other adjustments 38 30

December 31 2009 $12301 $6448 $5853

As of December 31 2009 we estimate that we will spend approximately $500 million in 2010 and

approximately $1 billion in 2011 and 2012 combined for the construction and development of our landfill assets

The specific timing of landfill capital spending is dependent on future events and spending estimates are subject to

change due to fluctuations in landfill waste volumes changes in environmental requirements and other factors

impacting landfill operations

Landfill and Environmental Remediation Liabilities As we accept waste at our landfills we incur signif

icant asset retirement obligations which include liabilities associated with landfill final capping closure and post-

closure activities These liabilities are accounted for in accordance with authoritative guidance associated with

accounting for asset retirement obligations and are discussed in Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements

We also have liabilities for the remediation of properties that have incurred environmental damage which generally

was caused by operations or for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired operations or site

We recognize environmental remediation liabilities when we determine that the liability is probable and the

estimated cost for the likely remedy can be reasonably estimated
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The following table reflects our landfill liabilities and our environmental remediation liabilities as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and summarizes significant changes in these amounts during 2009 in millions

Environmental

Landfill Remediation

December 31 2008 $1218 $299

Obligations incurred and capitalized 39

Obligations settled 80 43
Interest accretion 80

Revisions in cost estimates and interest rate assumptions

Acquisitions divestitures and other adjustments

December 31 2009 $1267 $256

Landfill Costs and Expenses As disclosed in the Operating Expenses section above our landfill operating

costs include interest accretion on asset retirement obligations interest accretion on and discount rate adjustments

to environmental remediation liabilities and recovery assets leachate and methane collection and treatment landfill

remediation costs and other landfill site costs The following table summarizes these costs for each of the three

years indicated in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Interest accretion on landfill liabilities 80 77 74

Interest accretion on and discount rate adjustments to environmental

remediation liabilities and recovery assets 30 41 17

Leachate and methane collection and treatment 69 69 59

Landfill remediation costs 23 17 17

Other landfill site costs 80 87 94

Total landfill operating costs $222 $291 $261

The comparison of these costs for the reported periods has been most significantly affected by accounting for

changes in the risk-free discount rate that we use to estimate the present value of our environmental remediation

liabilities and environmental remediation recovery assets which is based on the rate for U.S Treasury bonds with

term approximating the weighted-average period until settlement of the underlying obligations Additionally in

2009 and 2008 our lŁachate collection costs were higher in certain of our geographic Groups than they had been in

2007 primarily due to increased precipitation in the affected regions

Amortization of landfill airspace which is included as component of Depreciation and amortization

expense includes the following

the amortization of landfill capital costs including costs that have been incurred and capitalized and

ii estimated future costs for landfill development and construction required to develop our landfills to their

remaining permitted and expansion airspace and

the amortization of asset retirement costs arising from landfill final capping closure and post-closure

obligations including costs that have been incurred and capitalized and ii projected asset retirement

costs

Amortization expense is recorded on units-of-consumption basis applying cost as rate per ton The rate per

ton is calculated by dividing each component of the amortizable basis of landfill by the number of tons needed to

fill the corresponding assets airspace Landfill capital costs and closure and post-closure asset retirement costs are

generally incurred to support the operation of the landfill over its entire operating life and are therefore amortized

on per ton basis using landfills total airspace capacity Final capping asset retirement costs are attributed to

specific final capping event and are therefore amortized on per ton basis using each discrete capping events

estimated airspace capacity Accordingly each landfill has multiple per ton amortization rates
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The following table calculates our landfill airspace amortization
expense on per ton basis

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Amortization of landfill airspace in millions 358 429 440

Tons received net of redirected waste in millions 92 107 114

Average landfill airspace amortization expense per ton $3.90 $4.01 $3.86

Different per ton amortization rates are applied at each of our 273 landfills and
per ton amortization rates vary

significantly from one landfill to another due to inconsistencies that often exist in construction costs and

provincial state and local regulatory requirements for landfill development and landfill final capping closure and

post-closure activities and iidifferences in the cost basis of landfills that we develop versus those that we acquire

Accordingly our landfill airspace amortization expense measured on per ton basis can fluctuate due to changes in

the mix of volumes we receive across the Company year-over-year The comparability of our total Company

average landfill airspace amortization
expense per ton for the

years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 has

also been affected by the recognition of reductions to amortization
expense

for changes in our estimates related to

our final capping closure and post-closure obligations Landfill amortization
expense was reduced by $14 million

in 2009 $3 million in 2008 and $17 million in 2007 for the effects of these changes in estimates In each year the

majority of the reduced
expense

resulted from revisions in the estimated timing or cost of final capping events that

were generally the result of concerted efforts to improve the operating efficiencies of our landfills and volume

declines both of which have allowed us to delay spending .for final capping activities ii effectively managing the

cost of final capping material and construction or iiilandfill expansions that resulted in reduced or deferred final

capping costs

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We continually monitor our actual and forecasted cash flows our liquidity and our capital resources enabling

us to plan for our present needs and fund unbudgeted business activities that may arise during the year as result of

changing business conditions or new opportunities In addition to our working capital needs for the general and

administrative costs of our ongoing operations we have cash requirements for the construction and expansion of

our landfills ii additions to and maintenance of our trucking fleet and landfill equipment iii construction

refurbishments and improvements at waste-to-energy and materials
recovery facilities iv the container and

equipment needs of our operations capping closure and post-closure activities at our landfills vi repaying

debt and discharging other obligations and vii investments in acquisitions that we believe will be accretive and

provide continued growth in our business We also are committed to providing our shareholders with return on

their investment through our capital allocation program that provides for dividend payments share repurchases and

investments in acquisitions that we believe will be accretive and provide continued growth in our business
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Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted Trust and Escrow Accounts and Debt Obligations

The following is summary of our cash and cash equivalents restricted trust and escrow accounts and debt

balances as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 in millions

2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents $1140 480

Restricted trust and escrow accounts

Tax-exempt bond funds 65 123

Closure post-closure and environmental remediation funds 231 213

Debt service funds 35

Other 10 10

Total restricted trust and escrow accounts 306 381

Debt

Current portion 749 835

Long-term portion 8124 7491

Total debt $8873 $8326

Increase in carrying value of debt due to hedge accounting for interest rate

swaps 91 150

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit and money

market funds that invest in U.S government obligations all of which have original maturities of three months or

less The year-over-year increase in our cash balances is largely attributable to our November 2009 senior note

issuance which is discussed below We intend to use significant portion of the proceeds of this debt issuance to

fund investments and acquisitions during the first half of 2010 including our anticipated purchase of 40% equity

investment in Shanghai Environment Group which is discussed in Note 11 of our Consolidated Financial

Statements as well as additional investments in our waste-to-energy and solid waste businesses Pending

application of the offering proceeds as described we have temporarily invested the proceeds in money market

funds which are reflected as cash equivalents in our December 31 2009 Consolidated Balance Sheet

Restricted trust and escrow accounts Restricted trust and escrow accounts consist primarily of funds

deposited for
purposes

of settling landfill closure post-closure and environmental remediation obligations and

ii funds received from the issuance of tax-exempt bonds held in trust for the construction of various projects or

facilities These balances are primarily included within long-term Other assets in our Consolidated Balance

Sheets

Debt We use long-term borrowings in addition to the cash we generate from operations as part of our overall

financial strategy to support and grow our business We primarily use senior notes and tax-exempt bonds to borrow

on long-term basis but also use other instruments and facilities when appropriate The components of our long-

term borrowings as of December 31 2009 are described in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Changes in our outstanding debt balances from December 31 2008 to December 31 2009 can primarily be

attributed to $1749 million of cash borrowings including $793 million in net proceeds from the February 2009

issuance of $800 million of senior notes and $592 million in net proceeds from the November 2009 issuance of

$600 million of senior notes ii the cash repayment of $1335 million of outstanding borrowings iiiproceeds

from tax-exempt borrowings of $130 million iv $59 million decrease in the carrying value of our debt due to

hedge accounting for interest rate swaps $40 million increase in the carrying value of our debt due to foreign

currency translation and vi the impacts of accounting for other non-cash changes in our debt balances due to

acquisitions interest accretion and capital leases

As of December 31 2009 we had $998 million of debt maturing within twelve months consisting primarily

of U.S.$255 million under our Canadian credit facility and $600 million of 7.375% senior notes that mature in
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August 2010 and ii $767 million of fixed-rate tax-exempt borrowings subject to re-pricing within the next twelve

months The amount reported as the current portion of long-term debt as of December 31 2009 excludes certain of

these amounts because we have the intent and ability to refinance portions of our current maturities on lông-term

basis Refer to Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to our classification of

current maturities based on our intent and ability given the capacity available under our revolving credit facility and

Canadian credit facility to refinance certain of these borrowings on long-term basis

We have credit facilities in place to support our liquidity and financial assurance needs The following table

summarizes our outstanding letters of credit in millions at December 31 categorized by facility

2009 2008

Revolving credit facilitya $1578 $1803

Letter of credit facilitiesb 371 272

Otherc 173 91

$2122 $2166

WMIs $2.4 billion revolving credit facility matures in August 2011 At December 31 2009 we had no

outstanding borrowings and $1578 million of letters of credit issued and supported by the facility The unused

and available credit capacity was $822 million at December 31 2009

At December 31 2009 we have $175 million letter of credit facility that expires in June 2010 $105 million

letter of credit facility that expires in June 2013 and $100 million letter of credit facility that expires in

December 2014 At December 31 2009 no borrowings were outstanding under these agreements and we had

$9 million of unused and available capacity

These letters of credit are outstanding under various arrangements that do not obligate the counterparty to

provide committed capacity

Summary of Cash Flow Activity

The following is summary of our cash flows for the
years

ended December 31 in millions

2009 2008 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities 2362 2575 2439

Net cash used in investing activities $1250 $l183 761

Net cash used in financing activities 457 $l256 $1946

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities The most significant items affecting the comparison of our

operating cash flows for 2009 and 2008 are summarized below

Decrease in earnings Our income from operations excluding depreciation and amortization decreased

by $419 million on year-over-year basis However this earnings decline included the impact of the

following non-cash charges

The determination to abandon the SAP software as our revenue management system resulted in non-cash

impairment charges of $51 million

The recognition of $27 million non-cash charge in the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of change in

expectations for the future operations of landfill in California

Further approximately $55 million of the year-over-year decrease in earnings is related to the impact of

divestiture gains and gains on sale of assets for which the cash flow impacts are reflected in investing

activities in the caption Proceeds from divestitures of businesses and other sales of assets

The comparison of our 2009 and 2008 income from operations was also affected by an $86 million decrease

in non-cash charges attributable to equity-based compensation expense ii interest accretion on landfill

liabilities and iii interest accretion and discount rate adjustments on environmental remediation liabilities
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and recovery assets While the decrease in non-cash charges favorably affected our earnings comparison

there is no impact on net cash provided by operating activities

Change in receivables There was significant decrease in the operating cash flows provided by changes

in our receivables balances net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures when comparing 2009 with 2008

This decrease is primarily attributable to unusual activity in 2008 including the significant decrease in

sequential quarter revenues when comparing the fourth quarter of 2008 with the third quarter of 2008 which

was driven by the decline in the demand and market prices for recyclable commodities and ii the collection

of $60 million outstanding receivable related to our investments in synthetic fuel production facilities that

provided us with Section 45K tax credits through 2007

Decreased income tax payments Cash paid for income taxes net of excess tax benefits associated with

equity-based transactions was approximately $140 million lower on year-over-year basis The compa

rability of our effective tax rates is discussed in the Provision for income taxes section above

Decreased interest payments Cash paid for interest was approximately $60 million lower on

year-over-year basis This decrease is primarily due to decline in market interest rates which increased

the benefits to our interest costs provided by our active interest rate swap agreements and ii reduced the

interest costs associated with our variable-rate tax-exempt debt

Decreased bonus payments Employee bonus payments earned in 2008 which were paid in the first

quarter of 2009 were lower than the bonus payments earned in 2007 but paid in 2008 due to the relative

strength of our financial performance against incentive measures in 2007 as compared with 2008 The

year-over-year
decrease in cash bonuses favorably affected the comparison of our cash flow from operations

by approximately $35 million

Termination of interest rate swaps In December 2009 we elected to terminate interest rate swaps with

notional amount of $350 million that were scheduled to mature in November 2012 Upon termination of the

swaps we received $20 million in cash for their fair value plus accrued interest receivable The cash

proceeds received from the termination of interest rate swap agreements have been classified as change in

other assets within Net cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Accounts payable processes We continue to work to improve our working capital management including

continuing to manage our accounts payable process
in manner that provides optimal cash management

which has favorably impacted our year-over-year cash flow from operations change by approximately

$20 million

The most significant items affecting the comparison of our operating cash flows for 2008 and 2007 are

summarized below

Earnings decline Our income from operations net of depreciation and amortization decreased by

$41 million on year-over-year basis which negatively affected our cash flow from operations in 2008

Receivables The change in our trade receivables balances net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures

provided source of cash of approximately $185 million in 2008 In 2008 our receivables balances declined

primarily due to decrease in fourth quarter revenues as compared with the prior year but also due to

improved efficiency of collections Additionally during the third quarter of 2008 we collected an

outstanding receivable related to our investments in the synthetic fuel production facilities that provided

us with Section 45K tax credits through 2007 Approximately $60 million of the cash we received

represented refund of amounts that we paid to the facilities during 2006 and 2007 for which we did

not ultimately realize tax benefit and was reflected as an operating cash inflow

Increased income tax payments Cash paid for income taxes net of excess tax benefits associated with

equity-based transactions was approximately $170 million higher on year-over-year basis due in large

part to an increase in both our taxable income and our effective tax rate The comparability of our effective

tax rates is discussed in the Provision for income taxes section above In addition the overpayment of

income taxes in 2006 reduced our 2007 tax payments
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Decreased intere St payments Cash paid for interest was approximately $65 million lower on year-over-year

basis This decline is due primarily to decline in our weighted average borrowing rate which can be atthbuted

to the maturity of higher rate debt that we refinanced at lower rates and decline in market rates

Accounts payable processes In 2008 we began various initiatives to improve our working capital

management including reviewing our accounts payable process to ensure vendor payments are made on

basis that results in more optimal cash management The changes made to the timing of our vendor payments

favorably impacted our cash flow from operations on year-over-year basis by approximately $30 million

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities The most significant items affecting the comparison of our investing

cash flows for the periods presented are summarized below

Acquisitions Our spending on acquisitions increased from $90 million during 2007 to $280 million during

2008 and to $281 million in 2009 due to an increased focus on acquisitions and other investments

Divest jtures Proceeds from divestitures net of cash divested and other sales of assets were $28 million in

2009 $112 million in 2008 and $278 million in 2007 Our proceeds from divestitures for all three years have

been driven by the divestiture of underperforming and non-strategic operations The decrease in proceeds

from divestitures in 2008 and 2009 was largely result of having fewer underperforming operations to sell as

part of our fix-or-seek-exit initiative

Capital expenditures We used $1179 million during 2009 for capital expenditures compared with

$1221 million in 2008 and $1211 million in 2007

Net receipts from restricted funds Net funds received from our restricted trust and escrow accounts which

are largely generated from the issuance of tax-exempt bonds for our capital needs contributed $196 million

to our investing activities in 2009 compared with $178 million in 2008 and $120 million in 2007

Purchases and sales of short-term investments Net sales of short-term investments provided $184 million

of cash in 2007 We used proceeds from the sale of our short-term investments to provide cash that we used to

fund our common stock repurchases dividend payments and debt repayments which are discussed below

We did not hold any short-term investments during 2008 or 2009

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities The most significant items affecting the comparison of our financing

cash flows for the periods presented are summarized below

Share repurchases and dividend payments Our 2009 2008 and 2007 share repurchases and dividend

payments have been made in accordance with capital allocation programs approved by our Board of

Directors

We paid $226 million for share repurchases in 2009 compared with $410 million in 2008 and $1421 million

in 2007 We repurchased approximately million 12 million and 40 million shares of our common stock in

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The significant declines in share repurchases for 2008 and 2009 are

largely attributable to the suspension of our share repurchases in late 2008 given the state of the financial

markets and the economy Given the stabilization of the capital markets and economic conditions we

elected to resume our share repurchases during the third quarter of 2009

We paid an aggregate of $569 million in cash dividends during 2009 compared with $531 million in 2008

and $495 million in 2007 The increase in dividend payments is due to our quarterly per share dividend

increasing from $0.24 in 2007 to $0.27 in 2008 and to $0.29 in 2009

In December 2009 the Board of Directors announced that it expects future quarterly dividend payments will

be $0.3 15
per

share for dividends declared in 2010 All future share repurchases will be made at the

discretion of management and the Board of Directors will declare dividends at their discretion with any

decisions dependent on various factors including our net earnings financial condition cash required for

future acquisitions and investments and other factors the Board may deem relevant
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Proceeds and tax benefits from the exercise of options and warrants The exercise of common stock

options and warrants and the related excess tax benefits generated total of $24 million of financing cash

inflows during 2009 compared with $44 million during 2008 and $168 million in 2007

Net debt repayments Net debt borrowings were $414 million in 2009 and net debt repayments were

$260 million in 2008 and $256 million in 2007 The following summarizes our most significant cash

borrowings and debt repayments made during each year in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Borrowings

Revolving credit facility 350 300

Canadian credit facility 364 581 644

Senior notes 1385 594

1749 $1525 944

Repayments

Revolving credit facility 310 371
Canadian credit facility 395 634 680

Senior notes 500 633 300

Tax exempt bonds 65 19 52
Tax exempt project bonds 39 67 61

Capital leases and other debt 26 61 107

$1335 $1785 $1200

Net borrowings repayments 414 260 256

This summary excludes the impacts of non-cash borrowings and debt repayments For the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 these non-cash financing activities were primarily associated with our

tax-exempt bond financings Proceeds from tax-exempt bond issuances net of principal repayments made

directly from trust funds were $105 million in 2009 $169 million in 2008 and $144 million in 2007

Accrued liabilities for checks written in excess of cash balances Changes in our accrued liabilities for

checks written in excess of cash balances are reflected as Other financing activities in the Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows There are significant changes in these accrued liability balances as of each year

end which is generally attributable to the timing of cash deposits
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Summary of Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December31 2009 and the anticipated effect

of these obligations on our liquidity in future
years in millions

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total

Recorded Obligations

Expected environmental liabilitiesa

Final capping closure and post-closure 125 $100 96 90 90 $1947 2448

Environmental remediation 41 36 23 17 14 146 277

166 136 119 107 104 2093 2725

Debt paymentsbcd 985 259 584 174 430 6358 8790

Unrecorded Obligations

Non-cancelable operating lease

obligations 88 75 72 58 47 258 598

Estimated unconditional purchase

obligationsfgh 166 61 53 31 18 278 607

Anticipated liquidity impact as of

December 31 2009 $1405 $531 $828 $370 $599 $8987 $12720

Environmental liabilities include final capping closure post-closure and environmental remediation costs

The amounts included here reflect environmental liabilities recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of

December 31 2009 without the impact of discounting and inflation Our recorded environmental liabilities for

final capping closure and post-closure will increase as we continue to place additional tons within the

permitted airspace at our landfills

The amounts reported here represent the scheduled principal payments related to our long-term debt excluding

related interest

Our debt obligations as of December 31 2009 include $767 million of tax-exempt bonds subject to re-pricing

within the next twelve months which is prior to their scheduled maturities If the re-offerings of the bonds are

unsuccessful then the bonds can be put to us requiring immediate repayment We have classified the anticipated

cash flows for these contractual obligations based on the scheduled maturity of the borrowing for purposes of this

disclosure For additional information regarding the classification of these borrowings in our Consolidated

Balance Sheet as of December 31 2009 refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our recorded debt obligations include non-cash adjustments associated with discounts premiums and fair

value adjustments for interest rate hedging activities These amounts have been excluded here because they

will not result in an impact to our liquidity in future periods

Our unrecorded obligations represent operating lease obligations and purchase commitments from which we

expect to realize an economic benefit in future periods We have also made certain guarantees as discussed in

Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements that we do not expect to materially affect our current or

future financial position results of operations or liquidity

Our unconditional purchase obligations are for various contractual obligations that we generally incur in the

ordinary course of our business Certain of our obligations are quantity driven For these contracts we have

estimated our future obligations based on the current market values of the underlying products or services

Accordingly the amounts reported in the table are not necessarily indicative of our actual cash flow

obligations See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the nature and terms

of our unconditional purchase obligations

In December 2009 we entered into plan under SEC Rule lObS-i to effect market purchases of our common
stock We have included $58 million of common stock repurchases in our 2010 contractual obligations because

this amount represents the minimum amount of common stock that could be repurchased under the terms of the

plan We repurchased $68 million of our common stock pursuant to the plan which was completed on

February 12 2010
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In August 2009 we entered into an agreement to purchase 40% equity investment in Shanghai Environment

Group subsidiary of Shanghai Chengtou Holding for approximately $140 million As of December 31

2009 our investment was subject to regulatory approval Accordingly the impact of this cash investment was

excluded from amounts reported
herein The Ministry of Commerce of the Peoples Republic of China

approved the transaction in January 2010 and we currently expect the transaction to close during the first half

of 2010

Liquidity Impacts of Uncertain Tax Positions

As discussed in Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements we have liabilities associated with

unrecognized tax benefits and related interest These liabilities are primarily included as component of long-

term Other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheet because the Company generally does not anticipate that

settlement of the liabilities will require payment of cash within the next twelve months We are not able to

reasonably estimate when we would make any
cash payments required to settle these liabilities but do not believe

that the ultimate settlement of our obligations will materially affect our liquidity

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are party to guarantee arrangements
with unconsolidated entities as discussed in the Guarantees section of

Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements These arrangements have not materially affected our financial

position results of operations or liquidity during the year
ended December 31 2009 nor are they expected to have

material impact on our future financial position results of operations or liquidity

Seasonal Trends and Inflation

Our operating revenues normally tend to be somewhat higher in the summer months primarily due to the

traditional seasonal increase in the volume of construction and demolition waste The volumes of industrial and

residential waste in certain regions where we operate also tend to increase during the summer months Our second

and third quarter revenues and results of operations typically reflect these seasonal trends although we saw

significantly weaker seasonal volume increase during 2009 than we generally experience

Additionally certain destructive weather conditions that tend to occur during the second half of the year such

as the hurricanes experienced by our Southern Group can actually increase our revenues in the areas affected

However for several reasons including significant mobilization costs such revenue often generates earnings at

comparatively lower margins Certain weather conditions may result in the temporary suspension of our operations

which can significantly affect the operating results of the affected regions The operating results of our first quarter

also often reflect higher repair and maintenance expenses because we rely on the slower winter months when waste

flows are generally lower to perform scheduled maintenance at our waste-to-energy facilities

While inflationary increases in costs including the cost of fuel have affected our operating margins in recent

years we believe that inflation generally has not had and in the near future is not expected to have any material

adverse effect on our results of operations However as of December 31 2009 approximately 35% of our collection

revenues were generated under long-term franchise agreements with municipalities or similar local or regional

authorities These contractual agreements generally provide for price adjustments based on various indicies

intended to measure inflation Additionally managements estimates associated with inflation have had and will

continue to have an impact on our accounting for landfill and environmental remediation liabilities

New Accounting Pronouncements

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities In June 2009 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance

associated with the consolidation of variable interest entities This revised guidance replaces the current quan

titative-based assessment for determining which enterprise has controlling interest in variable interest entity with

an approach that is now primarily qualitative This qualitative approach focuses on identifying the enterprise that

has the power to direct the activities of the variable interest entity that can most significantly impact the entitys

performance and ii the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive benefits from the entity that could

potentially be significant to the variable interest entity This revised guidance also requires an ongoing assessment

of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity rather than reassessment only upon
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the occurrence of specific events The new FASB-issued authoritative guidance associated with the consolidation of

variable interest entities is effective for the Company January 2010 The change in accounting may either be

applied by recognizing cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings on the date of adoption or by

retrospectively restating one or more years and recognizing cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings

as of the beginning of the earliest
year restated We are currently in the

process of assessing the provisions of this

revised guidance and have not determined whether the adoption will have material impact on our consolidated

financial statements

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements In September 2009 the FASB amended authoritative guid
ance associated with multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements This amended guidance addresses the determi

nation of when individual deliverables within an arrangement may be treated as separate units of accounting and

modifies the manner in which transaction consideration is allocated across the separately identifiable deliverables

The amendments to authoritative guidance associated with multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements are effective

for the Company January 2011 although the FASB does permit early adoption of the guidance provided that it is

retroactively applied to the beginning of the year of adoption The new accounting standard may be applied either

retrospectively for all periods presented or prospectively to arrangements entered into or materially modified after

the date of adoption We are in the
process of assessing the provisions of this new guidance and currently do not

expect that the adoption will have material impact on our consolidated financial statements However our

adoption of this guidance may significantly impact our accounting and reporting for future revenue arrangements to

the extent they are material

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

In the normal course of business we are exposed to market risks including changes in interest rates Canadian

currency rates and certain commodity prices From time to time we use derivatives to manage some portion of these

risks Our derivatives are agreements with independent counterparties that provide for payments based on notional

amount As of December 31 2009 all of our derivative transactions were related to actual or anticipated economic

exposures We are exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by our derivative counterparties However
we monitor our derivative positions by regularly evaluating our positions and the creditworthiness of the

counterparties

Interest Rate Exposure Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our

financing activities although our interest costs can also be significantly affected by our on-going financial

assurance needs which are discussed in the Financial Assurance and Insurance Obligations section of Item

As of December 31 2009 we had $8.8 billion of long-term debt when excluding the impacts of accounting for

fair value adjustments attributable to interest rate derivatives discounts and premiums The effective interest rates

of approximately $3.0 billion of our outstanding debt obligations are subject to change during 2010 The most

significant components of our variable-rate debt obligations are $1.1 billion of receive fixed pay variable

interest rate swaps associated with outstanding fixed-rate senior notes ii $817 million of tax-exempt bonds that

are subject to re-pricing on either daily or weekly basis through remarketing process iii $767 million of tax-

exempt bonds with term interest rate periods that are subject to re-pricing within twelve months and iv $257 mil
lion of outstanding advances under our Canadian Credit Facility As of December 31 2008 the effective interest

rates of approximately $3.4 billion of our outstanding debt obligations was subject to change within twelve months

The decrease in outstanding debt obligations exposed to variable interest rates in 2009 is generally as result of

an $850 million decrease in the notional amount of outstanding interest rate swaps offset in part by an increase in

the portion of our outstanding tax-exempt bonds with term interest rate periods that are subject to re-pricing within

twelve months The decline in our variable-rate debt obligations has reduced the potential volatility to our operating

results and cash flows that results from fluctuations in market interest rates We currently estimate that 100 basis

point increase in the interest rates of our outstanding variable-rate debt obligations would increase our 2010 interest

expense by approximately $23 million

Our remaining outstanding debt obligations have fixed interest rates through either the scheduled maturity of

the debt or for certain of our fixed-rate tax exempt bonds through the end of term interest rate period that

exceeds twelve months In addition as of December 31 2009 we have Treasury rate locks with notional amount
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of $200 million and forward-starting interest rate swaps with notional amount of $525 million The fair value of

our fixed-rate debt obligations and various interest rate derivative instruments can increase or decrease significantly

if market interest rates change

We have performed sensitivity analyses to determine how market rate changes might affect the fair value of our

market risk-sensitive derivatives and related positions These analyses are inherently limited because they reflect

singular hypothetical set of assumptions Actual market movements may vary significantly from our assumptions

An instantaneous one percentage point increase in interest rates across all maturities and applicable yield curves

attributable to these instruments would have decreased the fair value of our combined debt and interest rate

derivative positions by approximately $610 million at December 31 2009

We are also exposed to interest rate market risk because we have significant cash and cash equivalent balances

as well as assets held in restricted trust funds and escrow accounts These assets are generally invested in high

quality liquid instruments including money market funds that invest in U.S government obligations with original

maturities of three months or less Because of the short terms to maturity of these investments we believe that our

exposure to changes in fair value due to interest rate fluctuations is insignificant

Commodity Price Exposure In the normal course of our business we are subject to operating agreements

that expose us to market risks arising from changes in the prices for commodities such as diesel fuel recyclable

materials including aluminum old corrugated cardboard and old newsprint and electricity which generally

correlates with natural gas prices in the markets where we operate During the three years ended December 31

2009 we generally have not entered into derivatives to hedge the risks associated with changes in the market prices

of these commodities Alternatively we attempt to manage these risks through operational strategies that focus on

capturing our costs in the prices we charge our customers for the services provided Accordingly as the market

prices for these commodities increase or decrease our revenues also increase or decrease

During 2009 approximately 34% of the electricity revenue at our waste-to-energy facilities was subject to

current market rates and we currently expect that nearly 50% of our electricity revenues at our waste-to-energy

facilities will be at market rates in 2010 Our exposure to variability associated with changes in market prices for

electricity has increased because several long-term power purchase agreements have expired The energy
markets

have changed significantly since the expiring contracts were executed and we have found that medium- and long-

term electricity contracts are less favorable in the current environment As we renegotiate our power-purchase

agreements we expect that more substantial portion of our energy sales at our waste-to-energy facilities and

landfill gas-to-energy plants will be based on current market rates Accordingly in 2010 we will be implementing

more actively managed energy program which will include hedging strategy intended to decrease the exposure of

our revenues to volatility due to market prices for electricity

Currency Rate Exposure From time to time we have used currency
derivatives to mitigate the impact of

currency translation on cash flows of intercompany Canadian-currency denominated debt transactions Our foreign

currency derivatives have not materially affected our financial position or results of operations for the periods

presented In addition while changes in foreign currency exchange rates could significantly affect the fair value of

our foreign currency derivatives we believe these changes in fair value would not have material impact to the

Company
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Our internal controls were

designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of our financial reporting ii the reliability of the

preparation and presentation
of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and iiithe safeguarding of assets from unauthorized

use or disposition

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission Through this evaluation we did not identify any

material weaknesses in our internal controls There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of

internal control over financial reporting however based on our evaluation we have concluded that our internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst Young LLP an

independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report
which is included herein
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Waste Management Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Waste Management Inc the Company
as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above
present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Waste Management Inc at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2009 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements effective January 2007 the Company
adopted certain provisions of ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes related to accounting for

uncertainty in income
taxes Additionally effective January 2009 the Company adopted certain provisions of ASC Topic 810
Consolidation related to noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
United States Waste Management Inc.s internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orga
nizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 16 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Houston Texas

February 16 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Waste Management Inc

We have audited Waste Management Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Waste Management Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Waste Management Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Waste Management Inc as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and

the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in

the period ended December 31 2009 and our report dated February 16 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Houston Texas

February 16 2010
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In Millions Except Share and Par Value Amounts

December 31

2009 2008

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $1140 480

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $31 and $39 respectively 1408 1463

Other receivables 119 147

Parts and supplies 110 110

Deferred income taxes 116 39

Other assets 117 96

Total current assets 3010 2335

Property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $13994 and $13273

respectively 11541 11402

Goodwill 5632 5462

Other intangible assets net 238 158

Other assets 733 870

Total assets $21154 $20227

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 567 716

Accrued liabilities 1128 1034

Deferred revenues 457 451

Current portion of long-term debt 749 835

Total current liabilities 2901 3036

Long-term debt less current portion 8124 7491

Deferred income taxes 1509 1484

Landfill and environmental remediation liabilities 1357 1360
Other liabilities 672 671

Total liabilities 14563 14042

Commitments and contingencies

Equity

Waste Management Inc stockholders equity

Common stock $0.01 par value 1500000000 shares authorized 630282461 shares issued

Additional paid-in capital 4543 4558

Retained earnings 6053 5631

Accumulated other comprehensive income 208 88

Treasury stock at cost 144162063 and 139546915 shares respectively 4525 4381
Total Waste Management Inc stockholders equity 6285 5902

Noncontrolling interests 306 283

Total equity 6591 6185

Total liabilities and equity $21154 $20227

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In Millions Except per Share Amounts

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Operating revenues $11791 $13388 $13310

Costs and expenses

Operating 7241 8466 8402

Selling general and administrative 1364 1477 1432

Depreciation and amortization 1166 1238 1259

Restructuring 50 10

Income expense from divestitures asset impairments and unusual items 83 29 47

9904 11154 11056

Income from operations 1887 2234 2254

Other income expense

Interest expense 426 455 521

Interest income 13 19 47

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities 35

Other net

414 437 505

Income before income taxes 1473 1797 1749

Provision for income taxes 413 669 540

Consolidated net income 1060 1128 1209

Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 66 41 46

Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc 994 1087 1163

Basic earnings per common share 2.02 2.21 2.25

Diluted earnings per common share 2.01 2.19 2.23

Cash dividends declared per common share 1.16 1.08 0.96

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In Millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income $1060 $1128 $1209

Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization 1166 1238 1259

Deferred income tax benefit provision 94 150 70

Interest accretion on landfill liabilities 80 77 74

Interest accretion on and discount rate adjustments to environmental remediation

liabilities and recovery assets 30 41 17

Provision for bad debts 48 50 43

Equity-based compensation expense 30 48 37

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities net of distributions 39

Net gain from disposal of assets 13 33 27
Effect of income expense from divestitures asset impairments and unusual items 83 29 47
Excess tax benefits associated with equity-based transactions 26
Change in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures

Receivables 29 216 22
Other current assets

Other assets 20

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 51 183 88
Deferred revenues and other liabilities 62 118 110

Net cash provided by operating activities 2362 2575 2439

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions of businesses net of cash acquired 281 280 90
Capital expenditures 1179 1221 1211
Proceeds from divestitures of businesses net of cash divested and other sales of

assets 28 112 278

Purchases of short-term investments 1220
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 1404

Net receipts from restricted trust and escrow accounts 196 178 120

Other 14 28 42
Net cash used in investing activities 1250 1183 761

Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings 1749 1525 944

Debt repayments 1335 1785 1200
Common stock repurchases 226 410 1421
Cash dividends 569 531 495
Exercise of common stock options and warrants 20 37 142

Excess tax benefits associated with equity-based transactions 26

Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests 50 56 20
Other 50 43 78

Net cash used in financing activities 457 1256 1946

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 660 132 266
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 480 348 614

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $1140 480 348

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In Millions Except Shares in Thousands

Waste Management Inc Stockholders Equity

Balance December 31 2006 6497

Comprehensive Income

Net income 1209

Other comprehensive income

loss net of taxes

Unrealized losses resulting

from changes in fair value of

derivative instruments net of

taxes of $22 34
Realized losses on derivative

instruments reclassified into

earnings net of taxes of

$30 47

Unrealized gains losses on

marketable securities net of

taxes of $3

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments
89

Change in funded status of

defined benefit plan

liabilities net of taxes of

$3

Other comprehensive income

loss 107

Comprehensive income 1316

Cash dividends declared 495

Equity-based compensation

transactions including dividend

equivalents net of taxes 210

Common stock repurchases 1421
Distributions paid to

noncontrolling interests 20
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle

Other 11

Balance December 31 2007 6102

Comprehensive Income

Net income 1128

Other comprehensive income

loss net of taxes

Unrealized gains resulting from

changes in fair value of

derivative instruments net of

taxes of $25 40

Realized gains on derivative

instruments reclassified into

earnings net of taxes of

$24 39
Unrealized losses on

marketable securities net of

taxes of $4 18
Foreign currency translation

adjustments 127

Change in funded status of

defined benefit plan

liabilities net of taxes of

$5

Other comprehensive income

loss _____

Comprehensive income 976

Cash dividends declared 531

Equity-based compensation

transactions including dividend

equivalents net of taxes 106

Common stock repurchaset 410
Distributions paid to

noncontrolling interests 56
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle

Other ___Q
Balance December 31 2008 6185

630282 $4542 $5080

$1128 1087

Accumulated

Other

Additional Comprehensive

Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In Retained Income Treasury Stock

Noncontrolling

Total Income Shares Amounts Capital Earnings Loss Shares Amounts Interests

630282 $4513 $4410 129 96599 $2836 $275

$1209 1163 46

34 34

47
47

89 89

107

$1316

495

30 6067 182

39946 1421

20

314 10

229 130164 $4065 $310

41

40

39

11

127

531

16 2995 94

12390 410

56

12

630282 $4558 $5631 88 139547 $438t $283

40

39

18

127

152

976
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Continued

In Millions Except Shares in Thousands

Total

Balance December 31 2008 6185

Comprehensive Income

Net income 1060

Other Comprehensive income

loss net of taxes

Unrealized losses resulting

from changes in fair value of

derivative instruments net of

taxes of $13 21
Realized losses on derivative

instruments reclassified into

earnings net of taxes of

$21 32

Unrealized gains on marketable

securities net of taxes of

$2 10

Foreign currency translation

adjustments 99

Change in funded status of

defined benefit plan

liabilities net of taxes of

$4

Other
comprehensive income

loss 126

Comprehensive income 1186

Cash dividends declared 569
Equity-based compensation

transaclions including dividend

equivalents net of taxes 64

Common stock repurchases 226
Distributions paid to

noncontrolling interests 50
Other

Balance December 31 2009 $6591

Waste Management Inc Stockholders_Equity

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

__________ ________
Loss

88

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Comprehensive
Common Stock

Income Shares Amounts

630282

Additional

Paid-In Retained

________
Capital Earnings

$4558 $5631

994$1060

21 21

32 32

10

99 99

126

$1186

-.- 569

15

Treasury Stock
Noncontrolling

Shares Amounts Interests

139547 $438l $283

66

2610 82

7237 226

50
12

208 144162 $4525 $306630282 $4543 $6053
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Business

The financial statements presented in this report represent the consolidation of Waste Management Inc

Delaware corporation Waste Managements wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and certain variable

interest entities for which Waste Management or its subsidiaries are the primary beneficiary as described in Note 20

Waste Management is holding company and all operations are conducted by its subsidiaries When the terms the

Company we us or our are used in this document those terms refer to Waste Management Inc its

consolidated subsidiaries and consolidated variable interest entities When we use the term WMI we are referring

only to Waste Management Inc the parent holding company

We are the leading provider of integrated waste services in North America Using our vast network of assets

and employees we provide comprehensive range of waste management services Through our subsidiaries we

provide collection transfer recycling disposal and waste-to-energy services In providing these services we

actively pursue projects and initiatives that we believe make positive difference for our environment including

recovering and processing the methane gas produced naturally by landfills into renewable energy source Our

customers include commercial industrial municipal and residential customers other waste management compa

nies electric utilities and governmental entities

We manage and evaluate our principal operations through five Groups Our four geographic Groups which

include our Eastern Midwest Southern and Western Groups provide collection transfer recycling and disposal

services Our fifth Group is the Wheelabrator Group which provides waste-to-energy
services We also provide

additional services that are not managed through our five Groups which are presented in this report as Other

Additional information related to our segments including changes in the basis for our reported segments from

December 31 2008 can be found under Reclassifications in Note and in Note 21

Accounting Changes and Reclassifications

Accounting Changes

Fair Value Measurements In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued author

itative guidance associated with fair value measurements This guidance defined fair value established framework

for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value measurements In February 2008 the FASB

delayed the effective date of the guidance for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities except those that

are measured at fair value on recurring basis Accordingly we adopted this guidance for assets and liabilities

recognized at fair value on recurring basis effective January 2008 and adopted the guidance for non-financial

assets and liabilities measured on non-recurring basis effective January 2009 The application of the fair value

framework did not have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

Business Combinations In December 2007 the FASB issued revisions to the authoritative guidance

associated with business combinations This guidance clarified and revised the principles for how an acquirer

recognizes and measures identifiable assets acquired liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the

acquiree This guidance also addressed the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in business

combinations and expanded disclosure requirements related to business combinations Effective January

2009 we adopted the FASBs revised guidance associated with business combinations The portions of this

guidance that relate to business combinations completed before January 2009 did not have material impact on

our consolidated financial statements Further business combinations completed in 2009 which are discussed in

Note 19 have not been material to our financial position results of operations or cash flows However to the extent

that future business combinations are material our adoption of the FASBs revised authoritative guidance

associated with business combinations may significantly impact our accounting and reporting for future acqui

sitions principally as result of expanded requirements to value acquired assets liabilities and contingencies at
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

their fair values when such amounts can be determined and ii the requirement that acquisition-related transaction

and restructuring costs be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements In December 2007 the FASB issued

authoritative guidance that established accounting and reporting standards for noncontrolling interests in subsid

iaries and for the de-consolidation of subsidiary The guidance also established that noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated

financial statements We adopted this guidance on January 2009 The presentation and disclosure requirements of

this guidance which must be applied retrospectively for all periods presented have resulted in reclassifications to

our priorperiod consolidated financial information and the remeasurement of our 2008 and 2007 effective tax rates

which are discussed in Note

Accounting for Uncertainly in income Taxes In June 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance

associated with accounting for uncertainty in income taxes This guidance prescribed recognition threshold

and measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected

to be taken in tax returns This guidance also addressed the de-recognition classification and disclosure of tax

positions as well as the accounting for related interest and penalties In May 2007 the FASB issued authoritative

guidance associated with the criteria that must be evaluated in determining if tax position has been effectively

settled and should be recognized as tax benefit Our adoption of this guidance effective January 2007 resulted in

the recognition of $28 million increase in our liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits $32 million increase in our

non-current deferred tax assets and $4 million increase in our beginning retained earnings as cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle Refer to Note for additional information about our unrecognized tax benefits

Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-retirement Plans In September 2006
the FASB issued revisions to the authoritative guidance associated with the accounting and reporting of post-

retirement benefit plans This guidance required companies to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of

their defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans as an asset or liability and to recognize changes in that

funded status through comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur We adopted these recognition

provisions effective December 31 2006 The FASB revised guidance also required companies to measure the

funded status of defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans as of their year-end reporting date These

measurement date provisions were effective for us as of December 31 2008 We applied the measurement

provisions by measuring our benefit obligations as of September 30 2007 our prior measurement date and

recognizing pro-rata share of net benefit costs for the transition period from October 2007 to December 31 2008

as cumulative effect of change in accounting principle in retained earnings as of December 31 2008 The

application of the recognition and measurement provisions of this revised authoritative guidance did not have

material impact on our financial position or results of operations for the periods presented

Subsequent Events In May 2009 the FASB established standards related to accounting for and disclosure

of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be

issued We have adopted the provisions of this guidance which became effective for interim and annual reporting

periods ending after June 15 2009 We have evaluated subsequent events through the date and time the financial

statements were issued on February 16 2010 No material subsequent events have occurred since December 31
2009 that required recognition or disclosure in our current period financial statements

Reclassificalions

Segments During the first
quarter of 2009 we transferred responsibility for the oversight of day-to-day

recycling operations at our material recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities to the management teams

of our four geographic Groups We believe that by integrating the management of our recycling facilities

operations with our other solid waste business we can more efficiently provide comprehensive environmental

solutions to our customers and ensure that we are focusing on maximizing the profitability and return on invested

capital of our business on an integrated basis As result of this operational change we also changed the way we

68



WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

review the financial results of our geographic Groups Beginning in 2009 the financial results of our material

recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities are included as component of their respective geographic

Group and the financial results of our recycling brokerage business and electronics recycling services are included

as part of our Other operations We have reflected the impact of these changes for all periods presented to provide

financial information that consistently reflects our current approach to managing our geographic Group operations

Refer to Note 21 for further discussion about our reportable segments

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of WMI its wholly-owned and

majority-owned subsidiaries and certain variable interest entities for which we have determined that we are the

primary beneficiary All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated Investments in

entities in which we do not have controlling financial interest are accounted for under either the equity method or

cost method of accounting as appropriate

Estimates and Assumptions

In preparing our financial statements we make numerous estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting

for and recognition and disclosure of assets liabilities equity revenues and expenses We must make these

estimates and assumptions because certain information that we use is dependent on future events cannot be

calculated with high degree of precision from data available or simply cannot be readily calculated based on

generally accepted methods In some cases these estimates are particularly difficult to determine and we must

exercise significant judgment In preparing our financial statements the most difficult subjective and complex

estimates and the assumptions that deal with the greatest amount of uncertainty relate to our accounting for landfills

environmental remediation liabilities asset impairments and self-insurance reserves and recoveries Each of these

items is discussed in additional detail below Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and

assumptions that we use in the preparation of our financial statements

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit and money market funds that invest in United

States government obligations with original maturities of three months or less

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and

cash equivalents investments held within our trust funds and escrow accounts accounts receivable and derivative

instruments We make efforts to control our exposure to credit risk associated with these instruments by placing

our assets and other financial interests with diverse group of credit-worthy financial institutions ii holding high-

quality financial instruments while limiting investments in any one instrument and iiimaintaining strict policies

over credit extension that include credit evaluations credit limits and monitoring procedures although generally we

do not have collateral requirements for credit extensions Our overall credit risk associated with trade receivables is

limited due to the large number of geographically diverse customers we service At December 31 2009 and 2008

no single customer represented greater than 5% of total accounts receivable

Trade and Other Receivables

Our receivables are recorded when billed or when cash is advanced and represent claims against third parties

that will be settled in cash The carrying value of our receivables net of the allowance for doubtful accounts

represents the estimated net realizable value We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical
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collection trends type of customer such as municipal or commercial the age of outstanding receivables and

existing economic conditions If events or changes in circumstances indicate that specific receivable balances may
be impaired further consideration is given to the collectibility of those balances and the allowance is adjusted

accordingly Past-due receivable balances are written off when our internal collection efforts have been unsuc

cessful Also we recognize interest income on long-term interest-bearing notes receivable as the interest accrues

under the terms of the notes

Landfill Accounting

Cost Basis of Landfill Assets We capitalize various costs that we incur to make landfill ready to accept

waste These costs generally include expenditures for land including the landfill footprint and required landfill

buffer property permitting excavation liner material and installation landfill leachate collection systems landfill

gas collection systems environmental monitoring equipment for groundwater and landfill gas directly related

engineering capitalized interest on-site road construction and other capital infrastructure costs The cost basis of

our landfill assets also includes asset retirement costs which
represent estimates of future costs associated with

landfill final capping closure and post-closure activities These costs are discussed below

Final Capping Closure and Post-Closure Costs Following is description of our asset retirement activities

and our related accounting

Final Capping Involves the installation of flexible membrane liners and geosynthetic clay liners

drainage and compacted soil layers and topsoil over areas of landfill where total airspace capacity has

been consumed Final capping asset retirement obligations are recorded on units-of-consumption basis as

airspace is consumed related to the specific final capping event with corresponding increase in the landfill

asset Each final capping event is accounted for as discrete obligation and recorded as an asset and

1iability based on estimates of the discounted cash flows and capacity associated with each final capping

event

Closure Includes the construction of the final portion of methane gas collection systems when required

demobilization and routine maintenance costs These are costs incurred after the site ceases to accept waste

but before the landfill is certified as closed by the applicable state regulatory agency These costs are accrued

as an asset retirement obligation as airspace is consumed over the life of the landfill with corresponding

increase in the landfill asset Closure obligations are accrued over the life of the landfill based on estimates of

the discounted cash flows associated with performing closure activities

Post-Closure Involves the maintenance and monitoring of landfill site that has been certified closed by

the applicable regulatory agency Generally we are required to maintain and monitor landfill sites for

30-year period These maintenance and monitoring costs are accrued as an asset retirement obligation as

airspace is consumed over the life of the landfill with corresponding increase in the landfill asset Post-

closure obligations are accrued over the life of the landfill based on estimates of the discounted cash flows

associated with performing post-closure activities

We develop our estimates of these obligations using input from our operations personnel engineers and

accountants Our estimates are based on our interpretation of current requirements and proposed regulatory changes

and are intended to approximate fair value Absent quoted market prices the estimate of fair value should be based

on the best available information including the results of present value techniques In many cases we contract with

third parties to fulfill our obligations for final capping closure and post-closure We use historical experience

professional engineering judgment and quoted and actual prices paid for similarwork to determine the fair value of

these obligations We are required to recognize these obligations at market prices whether we plan to contract with

third parties or perform the work ourselves In those instances where we perform the work with internal resources

the incremental profit margin realized is recognized as component of operating income when the work is

performed

70



WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Once we have determined the final capping closure and post-closure costs we inflate those costs to the

expected time of payment and discount those expected future costs back to present value During the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 we inflated these costs in current dollars until the expected time of payment using an

inflation rate of 2.5% We discount these costs to present value using the credit-adjusted risk-free rate effective at

the time an obligation is incurred consistent with the expected cash flow approach Any changes in expectations that

result in an upward revision to the estimated cash flows are treated as new liability and discounted at the current

rate while downward revisions are discounted at the historical weighted-average rate of the recorded obligation As

result the credit-adjusted
risk-free discount rate used to calculate the present value of an obligation is specific to

each individual asset retirement obligation The weighted-average rate applicable to our asset retirement obliga

tions at December 31 2009 is between 6.0% and 8.0% the range
of the credit-adjusted risk-free discount rates

effective since we adopted the FASBs authoritative guidance related to asset retirement obligations in 2003 We

expect to apply credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate of 6.0% to liabilities incurred in the first quarter of 2010

We record the estimated fair value of final capping closure and post-closure liabilities for our landfills based

on the capacity consumed through the current period The fair value of final capping obligations is developed based

on our estimates of the airspace consumed to date for each final capping event and the expected timing of each final

capping event The fair value of closure and post-closure obligations is developed based on our estimates of the

airspace consumed to date for the entire landfill and the expected timing of each closure and post-closure activity

Because these obligations are measured at estimated fair value using present value techniques changes in the

estimated cost or timing of future final capping closure and post-closure activities could result in material change

in these liabilities related assets and results of operations We assess the appropriateness
of the estimates used to

develop our recorded balances annually or more often if significant facts change

Changes in inflation rates or the estimated costs timing or extent of future final capping and closure and post-

closure activities typically result in both current adjustment to the recorded liability and landfill asset and ii

change in liability and asset amounts to be recorded prospectively over either the remaining capacity of the related

discrete final capping event or the remaining permitted and expansion airspace as defined below of the landfill

Any changes related to the capitalized and future cost of the landfill assets are then recognized in accordance with

our amortization policy which would generally
result in amortization expense being recognized prospectively over

the remaining capacity of the final capping event or the remaining permitted and expansion airspace of the landfill

as appropriate Changes in such estimates associated with airspace that has been fully utilized result in an

adjustment to the recorded liability and landfill assets with an immediate corresponding adjustment to landfill

airspace amortization expense

During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 adjustments associated with changes in our

expectations for the timing and cost of future final capping closure and post-closure of fully utilized airspace

resulted in $14 million $3 million and $17 million in net credits to landfill airspace amortization expense

respectively with the majority of these credits resulting from revised estimates associated with final capping

changes In managing our landfills our engineers look for ways to reduce or defer our construction costs including

final capping costs The benefit recognized in these years was generally the result of concerted efforts to improve

the operating efficiencies of our landfills and volume declines both of which have allowed us to delay spending for

final capping activities ii effectively managing the cost of final capping material and construction or iiilandfill

expansions that resulted in reduced or deferred final capping costs

Interest accretion on final capping closure and post-closure liabilities is recorded using the effective interest

method and is recorded as final capping closure and post-closure expense which is included in Operating costs

and expenses within our Consolidated Statements of Operations

Amortization of Landfill Assets The amortizable basis of landfill includes amounts previously

expended and capitalized ii capitalized landfill final capping closure and post-closure costs iii projections

of future purchase and development costs required to develop the landfill site to its remaining permitted and
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expansion capacity and iv projected asset retirement costs related to landfill final capping closure and post-

closure activities

Amortization is recorded on units-of-consumption basis applying expense as rate per ton The rate per ton

is calculated by dividing each component of the amortizable basis of landfill by the number of tons needed to fill

the corresponding assets airspace For landfills that we do not own but operate through operating or lease

arrangements the rate per ton is calculated based on expected capacity to be utilized over the lesser of the

contractual term of the underlying agreement or the life of the landfill

We apply the following guidelines in determining landfills remaining permitted and expansion airspace

Remaining Permitted Airspace Our engineers in consultation with third-party engineering consultants

and surveyors are responsible for determining remaining permitted airspace at our landfills The remaining

permitted airspace is determined by an annual survey which is then used to compare the existing landfill

topography to the expected final landfill topography

Expansion Airspace We also include currently unpermitted expansion airspace in our estimate of

remaining permitted and expansion airspace in certain circumstances First to include airspace associated

with an expansion effort we must generally expect the initial expansion permit application to be submitted

within one year and the final expansion permit to be received within five years Second we must believe the

success of obtaining the expansion permit is likely considering the following criteria

Personnel are actively working to obtain land use and local state or provincial approvals for an expansion

of an existing landfill

It is likely that the approvals will be received within the normal application and processing time periods

for approvals in the jurisdiction in which the landfill is located

We have legal right to use or obtain land to be included in the expansion plan

There are no significant known technical legal community business or political restrictions or similar

issues that could impair the success of such expansion

Financial analysis has been completed and the results demonstrate that the expansion has positive

financial and operational impact and

Airspace and related costs including additional closure and post-closure costs have been estimated based

on conceptual design

For unpermitted airspace to be initially included in our estimate of remaining permitted and expansion

airspace the expansion effort must meet all of the criteria listed above These criteria are evaluated by our field-

based engineers accountants managers and others to identify potential obstacles to obtaining the permits Once the

unpermitted airspace is included our policy provides that airspace may continue to be included in remaining

permitted and expansion airspace even if these criteria are no longer met based on the facts and circumstances of

specific landfill In these circumstances continued inclusion must be approved through landfill-specific review

process that includes approval of our Chief Financial Officer and review by the Audit Committee of our Board of

Directors on quarterly basis Of the 39 landfill sites with expansions at December 31 2009 14 landfills required

the Chief Financial Officer to approve the inclusion of the unpermitted airspace Nine of these landfills required

approval by our Chief Financial Officer because of community or political opposition that could impede the

expansion process The remaining five landfills required approval primarily due to the permit application processes
not meeting the one- or five-year requirements

When we include the expansion airspace in our calculations of remaining permitted and expansion airspace

we also include the projected costs for development as well as the projected asset retirement costs related to final

capping and closure and post-closure of the expansion in the amortization basIs of the landfill
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Once the remaining permitted and expansion airspace is determined in cubic yards an airspace utilization

factor or AUF is established to calculate the remaining permitted and expansion capacity in tons The AUF is

established using the measured density obtained from previous annual surveys and is then adjusted to account for

settlement The amount of settlement that is forecasted will take into account several site-specific factors including

current and projected mix of waste type initial and projected waste density estimated number of years of life

remaining depth of underlying waste anticipated access to moisture through precipitation or recirculation of

landfill leachate and operating practices In addition the initial selection of the AUF is subject to subsequent

multi-level review by our engineering group and the AUF used is reviewed on periodic basis and revised as

necessary Our historical experience generally indicates that the impact of settlement at landfill is greater later in

the life of the landfill when the waste placed at the landfill approaches its highest point under the permit

requirements

After determining the costs and remaining permitted and expansion capacity at each of our landfills we

determine the per ton rates that will be expensed as waste is received and deposited at the landfill by dividing the

costs by the corresponding number of tons We calculate per ton amortization rates for each landfill for assets

associated with each final capping event for assets related to closure and post-closure activities and for all other

costs capitalized or to be capitalized in the future These rates per ton are updated annually or more often as

significant facts change

It is possible that actual results including the amount of costs incurred the timing of final capping closure and

post-closure activities our airspace utilization or the success of our expansion efforts could ultimately turn out to be

significantly different from our estimates and assumptions To the extent that such estimates or related assump

tions prove to be significantly different than actual results lower profitability may be experienced due to higher

amortization rates or higher expenses or higher profitability may result if the opposite occurs Most significantly if

it is determined that expansion capacity should no longer be considered in calculating the recoverability of landfill

asset we may be required to recognize an asset impairment or incur significantly higher amortization expense If it

is determined that the likelihood of receiving an expansion permit has become remote the capitalized costs related

to the expansion effort are expensed immediately

Environmental Remediation Liabilities We are subject to an array
of laws and regulations relating to the

protection of the environment Under current laws and regulations we may have liabilities for environmental

damage caused by operations or for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired site These

liabilities include potentially responsible party or PRP investigations settlements and certain legal and consultant

fees as well as costs directly associated with site investigation and clean up such as materials external contractor

costs and incremental internal costs directly related to the remedy We provide for expenses associated with

environmental remediation obligations when such amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated We

routinely review and evaluate sites that require rernediation and determine our estimated cost for the likely remedy

based on number of estimates and assumptions

Where it is probable that liability has been incurred we estimate costs required to remediate sites based on

site-specific facts and circumstances We routinely review and evaluate sites that require remediation considering

whether we were an owner operator transporter or generator at the site the amount and type of waste hauled to the

site and the number of
years we were associated with the site Next we review the same type of information with

respect to other named and unnamed PRPs Estimates of the cost for the likely remedy are then either developed

using our internal resources or by third-party environmental engineers or other service providers Internally

developed estimates are based on

Managements judgment and experience in remediating our own and unrelated parties sites

Information available from regulatory agencies as to costs of remediation

The number financial resources and relative degree of responsibility of other PRPs who may be liable for

remediation of specific site and
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The typical allocation of costs among PRPs unless the actual allocation has been determined

There can sometimes be
range

of reasonable estimates of the costs associated with the likely remedy of site

In these cases we use the amount within the
range

that constitutes our best estimate If no amount within the range

appears to be better estimate than any other we use the amount that is the low end of such range If we used the

high ends of such ranges our aggregate potential liability would be approximately $150 million higher on

discounted basis than the $256 million recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 2009

Estimating our degree of responsibility for remediation is inherently difficult Determining the method and

ultimate cost of remediation requires that number of assumptions be made Our ultimate responsibility may differ

materially from current estimates It is possible that technological regulatory or enforcement developments the

results of environmental studies the inability to identify other PRPs the inability of other PRPs to contribute to the

settlements of such liabilities or other factors could require us to record additional liabilities Additionally our

ongoing review of our remediation liabilities could result in revisions that could cause upward or downward

adjustments to income from operations

Where we believe that both the amount of particular environmental remediation liability and the timing of the

payments are reliably determinable we inflate the cost in current dollars by 2.5% at both December 31 2009 and

2008 until the expected time of payment and discount the cost to present value using risk-free discount rate

which is based on the rate for United States Treasury bonds with term approximating the weighted average period

until settlement of the underlying obligation We determine the risk-free discount rate and the inflation rate on an

annual basis unless interim changes would significantly impact our results of operations For remedial liabilities

that have been discounted we include interest accretion based on the effective interest method in Operating
costs and expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations The following table summarizes the impacts of

revisions in the risk-free discount rate applied to our environmental remediation liabilities and recovery assets

during the reported periods in millions and the risk-free discount rate applied as of each reporting date

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Charge reduction to Operating expensesa 35 33

Risk-free discount rate applied to environmental remediation liabilities and

recovery assets 3.75% 2.25% 4.00%

In 2009 $9 million of the reduction in Operating expenses was attributable to noncontrolling interests and in

2008 $6 million of the charge to Operating expenses was attributable to noncontrolling interests

The portion of our recorded environmental remediation liabilities that has never been subject to inflation or

discounting as the amounts and timing of payments are not readily determinable was $44 million at December 31
2009 and $47 million at December 31 2008 Had we not inflated and discounted any portion of our environmental

remediation liability the amount recorded would have increased by $20 million at December 31 2009 and

decreased by $6 million at December 31 2008

Property and Equipment exclusive of landfills discussed above

We record property and equipment at cost Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized

and maintenance activities are expensed as incurred We depreciate property and equipment over the estimated

useful life of the asset using the straight-line method We assume no salvage value for our depreciable property and

equipment When property and equipment are retired sold or otherwise disposed of the cost and accumulated

depreciation are removed from our accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in results of operations as an

offset or increase to operating expense for the period
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The estimated useful lives for significant property and equipment categories are as follows in years

Useful Lives

Vehicles excluding rail haul cars to 10

Vehicles rail haul cars 10 to 20

Machinery and equipment
to 30

Buildings and improvements excluding waste-to-energy facilities to 40

Waste-to-energy facilities and related equipment up to 50

Furniture fixtures and office equipment to 10

We include capitalized costs associated with developing or obtaining internal-use software within furniture

fixtures and office equipment These costs include direct external costs of materials and services used in developing

or obtaining the software and internal costs for employees directly associated with the software development

project As of December 31 2009 capitalized costs for software placed in service net of accumulated depreciation

were $33 million In addition our furniture fixtures and office equipment includes $46 million as of December 31

2009 and $90 million as of December 31 2008 for costs incurred for software under development The significant

decrease in capitalized costs for software under development from December 31 2008 to December 31 2009 is

attributable to the recognition of $51 million charge recognized during 2009 as result of our determination to

abandon the SAP waste and recycling revenue management software Refer to Note 13 for additional information

related to the management determination to abandon this software development project

Leases

We lease property and equipment in the ordinary course of our business Our most significant lease obligations

are for property and equipment specific to our industry including real property operated as landfill transfer station

or waste-to-energy facility and equipment such as compactors Our leases have varying terms Some may include

renewal or purchase options escalation clauses restrictions penalties or other obligations that we consider in

determining minimum lease payments The leases are classified as either operating leases or capital leases as

appropriate

Operating Leases excluding landfills discussed below The majority of our leases are operating leases

This classification generally can be attributed to either relatively low fixed minimum lease payments as result

of real property lease obligations that vary based on the volume of waste we receive or process or iiminimum lease

terms that are much shorter than the assets economic useful lives Management expects that in the normal course of

business our operating leases will be renewed replaced by other leases or replaced with fixed asset expenditures

Our rent expense during each of the last three years and our future minimum operating lease payments for each of

the next five
years

for which we are contractually obligated as of December 31 2009 are disclosed in Note 11

Capital Leases excluding landfills discussed below Assets under capital leases are capitalized using

interest rates determined at the inception of each lease and are amortized over either the useful life of the asset or the

lease term as appropriate on straight-line basis The present value of the related lease payments is recorded as

debt obligation Our future minimum annual capital lease payments are included in our total future debt obligations

as disclosed in Note

Landfill Leases From an operating perspective landfills that we lease are similar to landfills we own

because generally we own the landfills operating permit and will operate the landfill for the entire lease term which

in many cases is the life of the landfill As result our landfill leases are generally capital leases The most

significant portion of our rental obligations for landfill leases is contingent upon operating factors such as disposal

volumes and often there are no contractual minimum rental obligations Contingent rental obligations are expensed

as incurred For landfill capital leases that provide for minimum contractual rental obligations we record the
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present value of the minimum obligation as part of the landfill asset which is amortized on units-of-consumption

basis over the shorter of the lease term or the life of the landfill

Acquisitions

We generally recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations including contingent

assets and liabilities based on fair value estimates as of the date of acquisition

Contingent Consideration In certain acquisitions we agree to pay additional amounts to sellers contingent

upon achievement by the acquired businesses of certain negotiated goals such as targeted revenue levels targeted

disposal volumes or the issuance of permits for expanded landfill airspace For acquisitions completed in 2009 we
have recognized liabilities for these contingent obligations based on their estimated fair value at the date of

acquisition with
any

differences between the acquisition-date fair value and the ultimate settlement of the

obligations being recognized as an adjustment to income from operations For acquisitions completed before

2009 these obligations were recognized as incurred and accounted for as an adjustment to the initial purchase price

of the acquired assets

Assumed Assets and Liabilities Assets and liabilities arising from contingencies such as pre-acquisition

environmental matters and litigation are recognized at their acquisition-date fair value when their respective fair

values can be determined If the fair values of such contingencies cannot be determined they are recognized at the

acquisition date if the contingencies are probable and an amount can be reasonably estimated Acquisition-date fair

value estimates are revised as necessary if and when additional information regarding these contingencies

becomes available to further define and quantify assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Beginning in 2009 all acquisition-related transaction costs have been expensed as incurred For acquisitions

completed before 2009 direct costs incurred for business combination were accounted for as part of the cost of the

acquired business

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of our purchase cost over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses We do

not amortize goodwill but as discussed in the Asset impairments section below we assess our goodwill for

impairment at least annually

Other intangible assets consist primarily of customer contracts customer lists covenants not-to-compete

licenses permits other than landfill permits as all landfill-related intangible assets are combined with landfill

tangible assets and amortized using our landfill amortization policy and other contracts Other intangible assets are

recorded at cost and are amortized using either 150% declining balance approach or straight-line basis as we
determine appropriate Customer contracts and customer lists are generally amortized over seven to ten years

Covenants not-to-compete are amortized over the term of the non-compete covenant which is generally two to five

years Licenses permits and other contracts are amortized over the definitive terms of the related agreements If the

underlying agreement does not contain definitive terms and the useful life is determined to be indefinite the asset is

not amortized

Asset Impairments

We monitor the carrying value of our long-lived assets for potential impairment and test the recoverability of

such assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be

recoverable These events or changes in circumstances are referred to as impairment indicators If an impairment

indicator occurs we perform test of recoverability by comparing the carrying value of the asset or asset group to

its undiscounted expected future cash flows If cash flows cannot be separately and independently identified for

single asset we will determine whether an impairment has occurred for the group of assets for which we can identify

the projected cash flows If the carrying values are in excess of undiscounted expected future cash flows we
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measure any impairment by comparing the fair value of the asset or asset group to its carrying value Fair value is

generally determined by considering internally developed discounted projected cash flow analysis of the asset or

asset group ii actual third-party valuations and/or iii information available regarding the current market for

similar assets If the fair value of an asset or asset group is determined to be less than the carrying amount of the asset

or asset group an impairment in the amount of the difference is recorded in the period that the impairment indicator

occurs and is included in the Income expense from divestitures asset impairments and unusual items line item

in our Consolidated Statement of Operations Estimating future cash flows requires significant judgment and

projections may vary from the cash flows eventually realized which could impact our ability to accurately assess

whether an asset has been impaired There are additional considerations for impairments of landfills and goodwill

as described below

Landfills Certain impairment indicators require significant judgment and understanding of the waste

industry when applied to landfill development or expansion projects For example regulator may initially deny

landfill expansion permit application though the expansion permit is ultimately granted In addition management

may periodically divert waste from one landfill to another to conserve remaining permitted landfill airspace

Therefore certain events could occur in the ordinary course of business and not necessarily be considered indicators

of impairment of our landfill assets due to the unique nature of the waste industry

Goodwill At least annually we assess whether goodwill is impaired We assess whether an impairment

exists by comparing the fair value of each operating segment to its carrying value including goodwill We use

combination of two valuation methods market approach and an income approach to estimate the fair value of our

operating segments Fair value computed by these two methods is arrived at using number of factors including

projected future operating results economic projections anticipated future cash flows comparable marketplace

data and the cost of capital There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and to our judgment in applying

them to this analysis However we believe that these two methods provide reasonable approach to estimating the

fair value of our operating segments

The market approach estimates fair value by measuring the aggregate market value of publicly-traded

companies with similarcharacteristics of our business as multiple of their reported cash flows We then apply that

multiple to our operating segments cash flows to estimate their fair value We believe that this approach is

appropriate because it provides fair value estimate using valuation inputs from entities with operations and

economic characteristics comparable to our operating segments

The income approach is based on the long-term projected future cash flows of our operating segments We

discount the estimated cash flows to present value using weighted-average cost of capital that considers factors

such as the timing of the cash flows and the risks inherent in those cash flows We believe that this approach is

appropriate because it provides fair value estimate based upon our operating segments expected long-term

performance considering the economic and market conditions that generally affect our business

Additional impairment assessments may be performed on an interim basis if we encounter events or changes in

circumstances that would indicate that more likely than not the carrying value of goodwill has been impaired

Refer to Note for additional information related to goodwill impairment considerations made during the reported

periods

Restricted Trust and Escrow Accounts

As of December 31 2009 our restricted trust and escrow accounts consist principally of funds deposited for

purposes of settling landfill closure post-closure and environmental remediation obligations and ii funds

received from the issuance of tax-exempt bonds held in trust for the construction of various projects or facilities

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had $306 million and $381 million respectively of restricted trust and

escrow accounts which are primarily included in long-term Other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Closure Post-Closure and Environmental Remediation Funds At several of our landfills we provide
financial assurance by depositing cash into restricted trust funds or escrow accounts for

purposes of settling closure

post-closure and environmental remediation obligations Balances maintained in these trust funds and escrow

accounts will fluctuate based on changes in statutory requirements ii future deposits made to comply with

contractual arrangements iii the ongoing use of funds for qualifying closure post-closure and environmental

remediation activities iv acquisitions or divestitures of landfills and changes in the fair value of the financial

instruments held in the trust fund or escrow accounts

Tax-Exempt Bond Funds We obtain funds from the issuance of industrial revenue bonds for the construction

of collection and disposal facilities and for equipment necessary to provide waste management services Proceeds

from these arrangements are directly deposited into trust accounts and we do not have the ability to use the funds in

regular operating activities Accordingly these borrowings are excluded from financing activities in our Consol

idated Statements of Cash Flows At the time our construction and equipment expenditures have been documented

and approved by the applicable bond trustee the funds are released and we receive cash These amounts are reported
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as an investing activity when the cash is released from the trust funds

Generally the funds are fully expended within few years of the debt issuance When the debt matures we repay

our obligation with cash on hand and the debt repayments are included as financing activity in the Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows

Foreign Currency

We have operations in Canada The functional currency of our Canadian subsidiaries is Canadian dollars The

assets and liabilities of our foreign operations are translated to U.S dollars using the exchange rate at the balance

sheet date Revenues and expenses are translated to U.S dollars using the average exchange rate during the period
The resulting translation difference is reflected as component of comprehensive income

Derivative Financial Instruments

We primarily use derivative financial instruments to manage our risk associated with fluctuations in interest

rates and foreign currency exchange rates We use interest rate swaps to maintain strategic portion of our long-

term debt obligations at variable market-driven interest rates In 2009 we entered into interest rate derivatives in

anticipation of senior note issuances planned for 2010 through 2014 to effectively lock in fixed interest rate for

those anticipated issuances Foreign currency exchange rate derivatives are used to hedge our exposure to changes
in exchange rates for anticipated cash transactions between WM Holdings and its Canadian subsidiaries

We obtain current valuations of our interest rate and foreign currency hedging instruments from third-party

pricing models The estimated fair values of derivatives used to hedge risks fluctuate over time and should be

viewed in relation to the underlying hedged transaction and the overall management of our exposure to fluctuations

in the underlying risks The fair value of derivatives is included in other current assets other long-term assets

accrued liabilities or other long-term liabilities as appropriate Any ineffectiveness present in either fair value or

cash flow hedges is recognized immediately in earnings without offset There was no significant ineffectiveness in

2009 2008 or 2007

Interest Rate Derivatives Our receive fixed pay variable interest rate swaps associated with out

standing fixed-rate senior notes have been designated as fair value hedges for accounting purposes

Accordingly derivative assets are accounted for as an increase in the carrying value of our underlying
debt obligations and derivative liabilities are accounted for as decrease in the carrying value of our

underlying debt instruments These fair value adjustments are deferred and recognized as an adjustment to

interest
expense over the remaining term of the hedged instruments Treasury locks and forward-starting

swaps executed in 2009 are hedges of anticipated debt issuances and have been designated as cash flow

hedges for accounting purposes Unrealized changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are

recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income within the equity section of our Consolidated
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Balance Sheets The associated balance in other comprehensive income will be reclassified to earnings as the

hedged cash flows occur The impacts of our use of interest rate derivatives on the carrying value of our debt

accumulated other comprehensive income and interest expense are discussed in Note

Foreign Currency Derivatives Our foreign currency derivatives have been designated as cash flow hedges

for accounting purposes which results in the unrealized changes in the fair value of the derivative

instruments being recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income within the equity section of

our Consolidated Balance Sheets The associated balance in other comprehensive income is reclassified to

earnings as the hedged cash flows occur In each of the periods presented these derivatives have effectively

mitigated the impacts of the hedged transactions resulting in immaterial impacts to our results of operations

for the periods presented

Self-Insurance Reserves and Recoveries

We have retained significant portion of the risks related to our health and welfare automobile general

liability and workers compensation insurance programs The exposure for unpaid claims and associated expenses

including incurred but not reported losses generally is estimated with the assistance of external actuaries and by

factoring in pending claims and historical trends and data The gross
estimated liability associated with settling

unpaid claims is included in ccrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets if expected to be settled

within one year or otherwise is included in long-term Other liabilities Estimated insurance recoveries related to

recorded liabilities are reflected as current Other receivables or long-term Other assets in our Consolidated

Balance Sheets when we believe that the receipt of such amounts is probable

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues are generated from the fees we charge for waste collection transfer disposal and recycling

services and the sale of recycled commodities electricity and steam The fees charged for our services are generally

defined in our service agreements and vary based on contract-specific terms such as frequency of service weight

volume and the general market factors influencing regions rates The fees we charge for our services generally

include fuel surcharges which are intended to pass through increased direct and indirect costs incurred because of

changes in market prices for fuel We generally recognize revenue as services are performed or products are

delivered For example revenue typically is recognized as waste is collected tons are received at our landfills or

transfer stations recycling commodities are delivered or as kilowatts are delivered to customer by waste-to-e

nergy facility or independent power production plant

We bill for certain services prior to performance Such services include among others certain residential

contracts that are billed on quarterly basis and equipment rentals These advance billings are included in deferred

revenues and recognized as revenue in the period service is provided

Capitalized Interest

We capitalize interest on certain projects under development including internal-use software and landfill

expansion projects and on certain assets under construction including operating landfills and waste-to-energy

facilities During 2009 2008 and 2007 total interest costs were $443 million $472 million and $543 million

respectively of which $17 million for 2009 $17 million for 2008 and $22 million for 2007 were capitalized

primarily for landfill construction costs The capitalization of interest for operating
landfills is based on the costs

incurred in the pursuit of probable landfill expansions and on discrete landfill cell construction projects that are

expected to exceed $500000 and require over 60 days to construct In addition to the direct cost of the cell

construction project the calculation of capitalized interest includes an allocated portion of the common landfill site

costs The common landfill site costs include the development costs of landfill project or the purchase price of an

operating landfill and the ongoing infrastructure costs benefiting the landfill over its useful life These costs are

amortized to expense in manner consistent with other landfill site costs
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Income Taxes

The Company is subject to income tax in the United States Canada and Puerto Rico Current tax obligations

associated with our provision for income taxes are reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as

component of Accrued liabilities and the deferred tax obligations are reflected in Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes are based on the difference between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and

liabilities The deferred income tax provision represents the change during the reporting period in the deferred tax

assets and deferred tax liabilities net of the effect of acquisitions and dispositions Deferred tax assets include tax

loss and credit carry-forwards and are reduced by valuation allowance if based on available evidence it is more

likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized Significant judgment is

required in assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items We establish reserves when despite

our belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable we believe that certain positions may be challenged and

potentially disallowed When facts and circumstances change we adjust these reserves through our provision for

income taxes

To the extent interest and penalties may be assessed by taxing authorities on any underpayment of income tax
such amounts have been accrued and are classified as component of income tax expense in our Consolidated

Statements of Operations

Contingent Liabilities

We estimate the amount of potential exposure we may have with respect to claims assessments and litigation

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States We are party to pending or

threatened legal proceedings covering wide
range of matters in various jurisdictions It is not always possible to

predict the outcome of litigation as it is subject to many uncertainties Additionally it is not always possible for

management to make meaningful estimate of the potential loss or range
of loss associated with such

contingencies

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Years Ended December 31

Cash paid during the year in millions for

Interest net of capitalized interest and periodic settlements from interest

rate swap agreements $416 $478 $543

Income taxes 466 603 416

Non-cash investing and financing activities are excluded from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows For

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 non-cash activities included proceeds from tax-exempt

borrowings net of principal payments made directly from trust funds of $105 million $169 million and

$144 million respectively
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Landfill and Environmental Remediation Liabilities

Liabilities for landfill and environmental remediation costs are presented in the table below in millions

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Environmental Environmental

Landfill Remediation Total Landfill Remediation Total

Current in accrued liabilities 125 41 166 108 49 157

Long-term 1142 215 1357 1110 250 1360

$1267 $256 $1523 $1218 $299 $1517

The changes to landfill and environmental remediation liabilities for the years
ended December 31 2008 and

2009 are reflected in the table below in millions

Environmental

Landfill Remediation

December 31 2007 $1178 $284

Obligations
incurred and capitalized

51

Obligations settled 72 38

Interest accretion
77

Revisions in cost estimates and interest rate assumptionsa 13 49

Acquisitions divestitures and other adjustments

December 31 2008 1218 299

Obligations incurred and capitalized
39

Obligations settled 80 43

Interest accretion
80

Revisions in cost estimates and interest rate assumptionsa

Acquisitions divestitures and other adjustments

December 31 2009 $1267 $256

The amounts reported for our environmental remediation liabilities include the impacts of revisions in the risk-

free discount rates used to measure these obligations The significant fluctuations in the applicable
discount

rates during the reported periods and the effects of those changes are discussed in Note

Our recorded liabilities as of December 31 2009 include the impacts of inflating certain of these costs based on

our expectations for the timing of cash settlement and of discounting certain of these costs to present value

Anticipated payments of currently identified environmental remediation liabilities as measured in current dollars

are $41 million in 2010 $36 million in 2011 $23 million in 2012 $17 million in 2013 $14 million in 2014 and

$146 million thereafter

At several of our landfills we provide financial assurance by depositing cash into restricted trust funds or

escrow accounts for purposes
of settling closure post-closure and environmental remediation obligations The fair

value of these escrow accounts and trust funds was $231 million at December 31 2009 and $213 million at

December 31 2008 and is primarily included as long-term Other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31 consisted of the following in millions

2009 2008

Land 632 606

Landfills 12301 11716
Vehicles 3660 3683
Machinery and equipment 3251 3079
Containers 2264 2272
Buildings and improvements 2745 2635
Furniture fixtures and office equipment 682 684

25535 24675
Less accumulated depreciation on tangible property and equipment 7546 7220
Less accumulated landfill airspace amortization 6448 6053

$11541 $11402

Depreciation and amortization expense including amortization expense for assets recorded as capital leases
was comprised of the following for the years ended December 31 in millions

2009 2008 2007

Depreciation of tangible property and equipment 779 785 796
Amortization of landfill airspace 358 429 440

Depreciation and amortization expense $1137 $1214 $1236

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill was $5632 million as of December 31 2009 compared with $5462 million as of December 31
2008 The $170 million increase in our goodwill during 2009 was primarily related to consideration paid for

acquisitions in excess of net assets acquired of $125 million and accounting for foreign currency translation

We incurred no impairment of goodwill as result of our annual fourth
quarter goodwill impairment tests in

2009 2008 or 2007 Additionally we did not encounter any events or changes in circumstances that indicated that

an impairment was more likely than not during interim periods in 2009 2008 or 2007 However there can be no
assurance that goodwill will not be impaired at any time in the future

As previously disclosed in late 2008 there was rapid and sharp decline in recyclable commodity prices due
to significant decrease in demand for recyclable commodities both domestically and internationally This

significant shift in recycling market conditions was analyzed for
purposes of our 2008 annual goodwill impairment

test although no impairment was required Consistent with our expectations the unprecedented declines in

recyclable commodity prices and demand experienced during late 2008 and early 2009 were temporary in nature

Accordingly we believe that the estimates and assumptions made with respect to the fair value of our recycling

operations for our annual goodwill impairment tests in 2008 and 2009 appropriately considered the effects of

commodity risks on this business
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Our other intangible assets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 were comprised of the following in millions

Customer

Contracts and Covenants Licenses

Customer Not-to- Permits

Lists Compete and Other Total

December 31 2009

Intangible assets $197 63 93 353

Less accumulated amortization 68 29 18 115

$129 $34 $75 $238

December 31 2008

Intangible assets $134 55 72 261

Less accumulated amortization 56 30 17 103

$78 $25 $55 $158

Additional information related to intangible assets acquired through 2009 business combinations is included in

Note 19

Amortization expense for other intangible assets was $29 million for 2009 $24 million for 2008 and

$23 million for 2007 At December 31 2009 we had $40 million of intangible assets that are not subject to

amortization which are primarily operating permits that do not have stated expirations or that have routine

administrative renewal processes The intangible asset amortization expense estimated as of December 31 2009 is

$34 million in 2010 $30 million in 2011 $28 million in 2012 $23 million in 2013 and $18 million in 2014

Debt

The following table summarizes the major components of debt at December 31 in millions and provides the

maturities and interest rates of each major category as of December 31 2009

2009 2008

Revolving credit facility weighted average interest rate of 2.4% at December 31

2008 300

Letter of credit facilities

Canadian credit facility weighted average interest rate of 1.3% at December 31

2009 and 3.3% at December 31 2008 255 242

Senior notes and debentures maturing through 2039 interest rates ranging from

5.0% to 7.7 5% weighted average interest rate of 6.8% at December 31 2009

and 2008 5465 4628

Tax-exempt bonds maturing through 2039 fixed and variable interest rates

ranging from 0.2% to 7.4% weighted average interest rate of 3.5% at

December 31 2009 and 3.9% at December 31 2008 2749 2684

Tax-exempt project bonds principal payable in periodic installments maturing

through 2029 fixed and variable interest rates ranging from 0.3% to 5.4%

weighted average
interest rate of 3.1% at December 31 2009 and 4.9% at

December 31 2008 156 220

Capital leases and other maturing through 2050 interest rates up to 12% 248 252

$8873 $8326

Less current portion 749 835

$8124 $7491
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Debt Classflcation

As of December 31 2009 we had $998 million of debt maturing within twelve months consisting primarily

of U.S.$255 million under our Canadian credit facility and $600 million of 7.375% senior notes that mature in

August 2010 and ii $767 million of fixed-rate tax-exempt borrowings subject to re-pricing within the next twelve

months Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States this $1765 million of debt must be

classified as current unless we have the intent and ability to refinance it on long-term basis As discussed below as

of December31 2009 we had the intent and ability to refinance $1016 million of this debt on long-term basis We
have classified the remaining $749 million as current obligations as of December 31 2009

All of the borrowings outstanding under the Canadian credit facility mature less than one year from the date of

issuance but may be renewed under the terms of the facility which matures in November 2012 As of December 31

2009 we intend to repay U.S.$57 million of the outstanding borrowings under the facility with available cash during

the next twelve months and refinance the remaining balance under the terms of the facility As result as of

December 31 2009 U.S.$ 198 million of advances under the facility were classified as long-term based on our

intent and ability to refinance the obligations on long-term basis under the terms of the facility

Additionally we have classified the $767 million of tax-exempt bonds subject io re-pricing within twelve

months as long-term as of December 31 2009 based on our intent and ability to refinance any failed re-pricings

using our $2.4 billion revolving credit facility Although we also intend to refinance the $600 million of senior notes

maturing in August 2010 on long-term basis an aggregate of $1578 million of capacity under our revolving credit

facility is currently utilized to support outstanding letters of credit and we currently forecast available capacity

under the facility during the next twelve months to be $4 million less than the current available capacity After

giving effect to these items only $51 million of capacity is forecasted to be available under the revolving credit

facility giving us the ability to classify only $51 million of the August 2010 maturity as long-term as of

December 31 2009

As of December 31 2009 we also have $771 million of variable-rate tax-exempt bonds and $46 million of

variable-rate tax-exempt project bonds The interest rates on these bonds are reset on either daily or weekly basis

through remarketing process If the remarketing agent is unable to remarket the bonds then the remarketing agent

can put the bonds to us These bonds are supported by letters of credit guaranteeing repayment of the bonds in this

event We classified these borrowings as long-term in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2009

because the borrowings are supported by letters of credit issued under our five-year revolving credit facility which

is long-term

Access to and Utilization of Credit Facilities

Revolving Credit Facility In August 2006 WMI entered into five-year $2.4 billion revolving credit

facility This facility provides us with credit capacity to be used for either cash borrowings or to support letters of

credit At December 31 2009 we had no outstanding borrowings and $1578 million of letters of credit issued and

supported by the facility The unused and available credit capacity of the facility was $822 million as of

December 31 2009

The $300 million of outstanding borrowings at December 31 2008 was repaid in the first quarter of 2009 with

proceeds from the February 2009 issuance of senior notes discussed below

Letter of Credit Facilities As of December 31 2009 we have $175 million letter of credit facility that

expires in June 2010 $105 million letter of credit facility that expires in June 2013 and $100 million letter of

credit facility that expires in December 2014 These facilities are currently being used to back letters of credit issued

to support our bonding and financial assurance needs Our letters of credit generally have terms providing for

automatic renewal after one year
In the event of an unreimbursed draw on letter of credit the amount of the draw

paid by the letter of credit provider generally converts into term loan for the remaining term of the respective
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facility Through December 31 2009 we had not experienced any unreimbursed draws on letters of credit under

these facilities

As of December 31 2009 no borrowings were outstanding under these letter of credit facilities and we had

unused and available credit capacity of $9 million

Canadian Credit Facility In November 2005 Waste Management of Canada Corporation one of our

wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into three-year credit facility agreement with an initial credit capacity of up to

C$410 million The agreement was entered into to facilitate WMIs repatriation of accumulated earnings and capital

from its Canadian subsidiaries In December 2007 we amended the agreement increasing the available capacity

which had been reduced to C$305 million due to debt repayments to C$340 million The amendment also extended

the maturity date of the facility to November 2012 and added an uncommitted option to increase the capacity by an

additional C$25 million

As of December 31 2009 we had U.S.$257 million of principal U.S.$255 million net of discount

outstanding under this credit facility Advances under the facility do not accrue interest during their terms

Accordingly the proceeds we initially received were for the principal amount of the advances net of the total interest

obligation due for the term of the advance and the debt was initially recorded based on the net proceeds received

The advances have weighted average effective interest rate of 1.3% at December 31 2009 which is being

amortized to interest expense
with corresponding increase in our recorded debt obligation using the effective

interest method During the year
ended December 31 2009 we increased the carrying value of the debt for the

recognition of U.S.$6 million of interest expense total of U.S.$3 million of advances under the facility matured

during 2009 and were repaid with available cash Accounting for changes in the Canadian currency
translation rate

increased the carrying value of these borrowings by U.S.$38 million during 2009

Debt Borrowings and Repayments

Senior Notes In February 2009 we issued $350 million of 6.375% senior notes due March 2015 and

$450 million of 7.375% senior notes due March 2019 The net proceeds from the debt issuance were $793 million

portion of the proceeds was used to repay $300 million of outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility

and the remaining proceeds were used in repaying $500 million of 6.875% senior notes that matured in May 2009

In November 2009 we issued $600 million of 6.125% senior notes due in November 2039 The net proceeds

from the debt issuance were $592 million We intend to use portion of the proceeds to fund our anticipated purchase

of 40% equity investment in Shanghai Environment Group for approximately $140 million as discussed in Note 11

We are actively pursuing other acquisitions and investment opportunities in our waste-to energy and solid waste

businesses and expect to spend up to an additional $350 million over the next six months from the proceeds of this

offering on such acquisitions and investments All remaining proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes

Pending application of the offering proceeds as described we have temporarily invested the proceeds in moneymarket

funds which are reflected as cash equivalents in our December 31 2009 Consolidated Balance Sheet

The remaining change in the carrying value of our senior notes from December 312008 to December 31 2009

is due to accounting for our fixed-to-floating interest rate swap agreements which are accounted for as fair value

hedges resulting in all fair value adjustments being reflected as component of the carrying value of the underlying

debt For additional information regarding our interest rate derivatives refer to Note

Tax-Exempt Bonds We actively issue tax-exempt bonds as means of accessing low-cost financing for

capital expenditures We issued $130 million of tax-exempt bonds during 2009 The proceeds from these debt

issuances may only be used for the specific purpose for which the money was raised which is generally to finance

expenditures for landfill construction and development equipment vehicles and facilities in support of our

operations Proceeds from bond issues are held in trust until such time as we incur qualified expenditures at which

time we are reimbursed from the trust funds During the year ended December 31 2009 $65 million of our tax

exempt bonds were repaid with available cash
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Tax-Exempt Project Bonds Tax-exempt project bonds have been used by our Wheelabrator Group to

finance the development of waste-to-energy facilities These facilities are integral to the local communities they

serve and as such are supported by long-term contracts with multiple municipalities The bonds generally have

periodic amortizations that are supported by the cash flow of each specific facility being financed During the year
ended December 31 2009 we repaid $64 million of our tax-exempt project bonds with either available cash or debt

service funds

Capital Leases and Other The decrease in our capital leases and other debt obligations in 2009 is primarily

related to the repayment of various borrowings upon their scheduled maturities

Scheduled Debt and Capital Lease Payments Scheduled debt and capital lease payments for the next five

years are as follows $985 million in 2010 $259 million in 2011 $584 million in 2012 $174 million in 2013 and

$430 million in 2014 Our recorded debt and capital lease obligations include non-cash adjustments associated with

discounts premiums and fair value adjustments for interest rate hedging activities which have been excluded from

these amounts because they will not result in cash payments

Secured Debt

Our debt balances are generally unsecured except for $70 million of the tax-exempt project bonds outstanding

at December 31 2009 that were issued by certain subsidiaries within our Wheelabrator Group These bonds are

secured by the related subsidiaries assets that have carrying value of $301 million and the related subsidiaries

future revenue

Debt Covenants

Our revolving credit facility and certain other financing agreements contain financial covenants The most

restrictive of these financial covenants are contained in our revolving credit facility The following table sum
marizes the requirements of these financial covenants and the results of the calculation as defined by the revolving

credit facility

Requirement December 31 December 31
Covenant

per Facility 2009 2008

Interest
coverage ratio 2.75 to 4.3 to 4.7 to

Total debt to EBITDA 3.5 to 2.9 to 2.4 to

Our revolving credit facility and senior notes also contain certain restrictions intended to monitor our level of

indebtedness types of investments and net worth We monitOr our compliance with these restrictions but do not

believe that they significantly impact our ability to enter into investing or financing arrangements typical for our

business As of December 31 2009 we were in compliance with the covenants and restrictions under all of our debt

agreements
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Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Derivatives

The following table summarizes the fair values of derivative instruments recorded in our Consolidated Balance

Sheets as of December 31 2009 in millions

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location Fair Value

Interest rate contracts Current other assets $13

Interest rate contracts Long-term other assets 32

Total derivative assets $45

Foreign exchange contracts Current accrued liabilities $18

Total derivative liabilities $18

The following table summarizes the fair values of derivative instruments recorded in our Consolidated Balance

Sheets as of December 31 2008 in millions

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location Fair Value

Interest rate contracts Current other assets

Interest rate contracts Long-term other assets 89

Foreign exchange contracts Current other assets

Foreign exchange contracts Long-term other assets 27

Total derivative assets $120

For information related to the methods used to measure our derivative assets and liabilities at fair value refer to

Note 18

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest Rate Swaps

We use interest rate swaps to maintain portion of our debt obligations at variable market interest rates As of

December 31 2009 we had approximately $5.4 billion in fixed-rate senior notes outstanding The interest

payments on $1.1 billion or 20% of these senior notes have been swapped to variable interest rates to protect the

debt against changes in fair value due to changes in benchmark interest rates As of December 31 2008 we had

approximately $4.5 billion in fixed-rate senior notes outstanding of which $2.0 billion or 43% had been swapped

to variable interest rates The significant terms of our interest rate swap agreements as of December 31 2009 and

2008 are summarized in the table below in millions

Notional

As of Amount Receive Pay Maturity Date

December 31 2009 $1100 Fixed 5.00%-7.65% Floating 0.05%-4.64% Through March 15 2018

December 31 2008 $1950 Fixed 5.00%-7.65% Floating l.22%-5.82% Through March 15 2018

The decrease in the notional amount of our interest rate swaps from December 31 2008 to December 31 2009

is due to the scheduled maturity of interest rate swaps with notional amount of $500 million in May 2009 and

ii our election to terminate interest rate swaps with notional amount of $350 million in December 2009 The

terminated interest rate swaps were scheduled to mature in November 2012 Upon termination of the swaps we

received $20 million in cash for their fair value plus accrued interest receivable The associated fair value

adjustments to long-term debt will be amortized as reduction to interest expense over the remaining term of the

underlying debt using the effective interest method The cash proceeds received from our termination of the swaps

87



WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

have been classified as change in other assets within Net cash provided by operating activities in the

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

We have designated our interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of our fixed-rate senior notes Fair value hedge

accounting for interest rate swap contracts increased the carrying value of debt instruments by $91 million as of

December 31 2009 and $150 million as of December 31 2008 The following table summarizes the accumulated

fair value adjustments from interest rate swap agreements at December 31 in millions

Increase in Carrying Value of Debt Due to Hedge
Accounting for Interest Rate Swaps 2009 2008

Senior notes

Active swap agreements $32 92

Terminated swap agreements 59 58

$91 $150

Gains or losses on the derivatives as well as the offsetting losses or gains on the hedged items attributable to our

interest rate swaps are recognized in current earnings We include gains and losses on our interest rate swaps as

adjustments to interest expense which is the same financial statement line item where offsetting gains and losses on

the related hedged items are recorded The following table summarizes the impact of changes in the fair value of our

interest rate swaps and the underlying hedged items on our results of operations in millions

Years Ended Statement of Operations Gain Loss on Gain Loss on
December 31 Classification Swap Fixed-Rate Debt

2009 Interest expense 60 60

2008 Interest expense $120 $120

2007 Interest expense 90 90

We also recognize the impacts of net periodic settlements of current interest on our active interest rate swaps
and ii the amortization of previously terminated interest rate swap agreements as adjustments to interest expense
The following table summarizes the impact of periodic settlements of active swap agreements and the impact of

terminated swap agreements on our results of operations in millions

Years Ended

Increase Decrease to Interest Expense Due to Hedge
December 31

Accounting for Interest Rate Swaps 2009 2008 2007

Periodic settlements of active swap agreementsa $46 $48
Terminated swap agreementsb 19 42 37

$65 $50 $11

These amounts represent the net of our periodic variable-rate interest obligations and the swap counterparties

fixed-rate interest obligations Our variable-rate obligations are based on spread from the three-month

LIBOR Three-month LIBOR rates have varied significantly during the reported periods During 2007 the

three-month LIBOR exceeded 5.0% for most of the year while during 2008 the rate was as high as 4.8% and as

low as 1.4% and during 2009 rates were consistently below 1.0% for most of the year

The amortization to interest
expense of terminated swap agreements has decreased due to the maturity of

certain previously hedged senior notes In addition in 2008 this amount included $10 million net reduction

in interest expense associated with the early retirement of $244 million of 8.75% senior notes At December31
2009 $18 million on pre-tax basis of the carrying value of debt associated with terminated swap agreements

is scheduled to be reclassified as reduction to interest expense over the next twelve months
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Treasury Rate Locks

During the third quarter of 2009 we entered into Treasury rate locks with total notional value of $200 million

to hedge the risk of changes in semi-annual interest payments that are expected for senior notes that the Company

plans to issue late in the second quarter of 2010 We have designated our Treasury rate lock derivatives as cash flow

hedges As of December 31 2009 the fair value of these interest rate derivatives is comprised of $4 million of

current assets We recognized pre-tax and after-tax gains of $4 million and $2 million respectively to other

comprehensive income for changes in their fair value during the year ended December 31 2009 There was no

significant ineffectiveness associated with these hedges during the year ended December 31 2009

Our Accumulated other comprehensive income also includes deferred losses net of taxes of $16 million as

of December 31 2009 and $20 million as of December 31 2008 related to Treasury rate locks that had been

executed in previous years in anticipation of senior note issuances As these instruments also were designated as

cash flow hedges the deferred losses are being reclassified to earnings over the term of the hedged cash flows

which extend through 2032 As of December 31 2009 $7 million on pre-tax basis is scheduled to be reclassified

into interest expense over the next twelve months

Forward-Starting Interest Rate Swaps

The Company currently expects to issue fixed-rate debt in March 2011 November 2012 and March 2014 and

has executed forward-starting interest rate swaps for these anticipated debt issuances with notional amounts of

$150 million $200 million and $175 million respectively We entered into the forward-starting interest rate swaps

during the fourth quarter of 2009 to hedge the risk of changes in the anticipated semi-annual interest payments due

to fluctuations in the forward ten-year LIBOR swap rate Each of the forward-starting swaps has an effective date of

the anticipated date of debt issuance and tenor of ten years

We have designated our forward-starting interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges As of December 31 2009 the

fair value of these interest rate derivatives is comprised of $9 million of long-term assets We recognized pre-tax and

after-tax gains of $9 million and $5 million respectively to other comprehensive income for changes in the fair

value of our forward-starting interest rate swaps during the year ended December 31 2009 There was no significant

ineffectiveness associated with these hedges during the year ended December 31 2009

Credit-Risk Features

Certain of our interest rate derivative instruments contain provisions related to the Companys credit ratings If

the Companys credit rating were to fall below investment grade the counterparties have the ability to cancel the

derivative agreements and request immediate payment of any net liability positions We do not have any derivative

instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that are in net liability position at December 31 2009

Foreign Exchange Derivatives

We use foreign currency exchange rate derivatives to hedge our exposure to changes in exchange rates for

anticipated intercompany cash transactions between WM Holdings and its Canadian subsidiaries As of Decem

ber 31 2009 we have foreign currency
forward contracts outstanding for all of our anticipated cash flows

associated with an outstanding debt arrangement with these wholly-owned subsidiaries The hedged cash flows

include C$370 million of principal payments which are scheduled for December 31 2010 and C$22 million of

interest payments scheduled for December 31 2010 We have designated our foreign currency
derivatives as cash

flow hedges

Gains or losses on the derivatives and the offsetting losses or gains on the hedged items attributable to foreign

currency exchange risk are recognized in current earnings We include gains and losses on our foreign currency

forward contracts as adjustments to other income and expense which is the same financial statement line item

where offsetting gains and losses on the related hedged items are recorded The following table summarizes the pre
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tax impacts of our foreign currency cash flow derivatives on our results of operations and comprehensive income in

millions

Amount of Gain or Amount of Gain or

Loss Recognized Loss Reclassified

in OCI on Statement of from AOCI into

Years Ended Derivatives Operations Income

December 31 Effective Portion Classification Effective Portion

2009 $47 Other income expense $47
2008 65 Other income expense 72

2007 $45 Other income expense $56

The above table represents the impacts of our foreign exchange contracts on pre-tax basis Amounts reported

in other comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive income are reported net of tax Adjustments

to other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of our foreign currency cash flow hedges resulted in the

recognition of an after-tax loss of $28 million during the year ended December 31 2009 an after-tax gain of

$40 million during the year ended December 31 2008 and an after-tax loss of $28 million during the year ended

December 31 2007 Adjustments for the reclassification of gains or losses from accumulated other compre
hensive income into income were $28 million during the year ended December 31 2009 $44 million during the

year ended December 31 2008 and $34 million during the year ended December 31 2007 There was no

significant ineffectiveness associated with these hedges during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007

Ineffectiveness has been included in other income and expense during each of the reported periods

Income Taxes

Provision for Income Taxes

Our Provision for income taxes consisted of the following in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Current

Federal $407 $436 $412

State 74 52 33

Foreign 26 31 25

507 519 470

Deferred

Federal 45 126 91

State 35 27

Foreign 14 18

94 150 70

Provision for income taxes $413 $669 $540
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The U.S federal statutory income tax rate is reconciled to the effective rate as follows

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Income tax expense at U.S federal statutory rate 35.00% 35.00% 35.00%

State and local income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 3.75 3.63 2.62

Non-conventional fuel tax credits 2.54

Noncontrolling interests 1.56 0.80 0.92

Taxing authority audit settlements and other tax adjustments 2.89 0.99 1.19

Nondeductible costs relating to acquired intangibles 0.18 0.79 1.08

Tax rate differential on foreign income 0.24 0.03 0.04

Cumulative effect of change in tax rates 0.49 1.76

Utilization of capital loss 4.44

Other 1.24 0.37 1.46

Provision for income taxes 28.07% 37.23% 30.87%

The comparability of our income taxes for the reported periods has been significantly affected by variations in

our income before income taxes tax audit settlements changes in effective state and Canadian statutory tax rates

utilization of state net operating loss and credit carry-forwards utilization of capital loss carry-back and non-

conventional fuel tax credits For financial reporting purposes income before income taxes showing domestic and

foreign sources was as follows in millions for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Domestic $1396 $1693 $1651

Foreign 77 104 98

Income before income taxes $1473 $1797 $1749

Tax Audit Settlements The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the United States and

Puerto Rico as well as various state and local jurisdictions and Canada We are currently under audit by the IRS and

from time to time we are audited by other taxing authorities Our audits are in various stages of completion

During 2009 we effectively settled an IRS audit for the 2008 tax year as well as various state tax audits The

settlement of these tax audits resulted in reduction to our Provision for income taxes of $11 million or $0.02 per

diluted share for the year
ended December 31 2009

During 2008 we settled IRS audits for the 2006 and 2007 tax years as well as various state tax audits In

addition we settled Canadian audits for the tax years
2002 through 2005 The settlement of these tax audits resulted

in reduction to our Provision for income taxes of $26 million or $0.05 per diluted share for the year
ended

December 31 2008

During 2007 we settled an IRS audit for the tax years
2004 and 2005 and various state tax audits resulting in

reduction in income tax expense of $40 million or $0.08 per
diluted share Our 2007 Net income attributable to

Waste Management Inc was also increased by $1 million due to interest income recognized from audit

settlements

We are currently in the examination phase of an IRS audit for the 2009 tax year
and expect this audit to be

completed within the next 12 months We participate in the IRSs Compliance Assurance Program which means we

work with the IRS throughout the year in order to resolve any material issues prior to the filing of our year-end
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return We are also currently undergoing audits by various state and local jurisdictions that date back to 1999 and

examinations associated with Canada that date back to 1998

Effective State Tax Rate Change During 2009 our current state tax rate increased from 6.0% to 6.25% and

our deferred state tax rate increased from 5.5% to 5.75% resulting in an increase to our provision for income taxes

of $3 million and $6 million respectively During 2008 our current state tax rate increased from 5.5% to 6.0%

resulting in an increase to our income taxes of $5 million The increases in these rates are primarily due to changes

in state law The comparison of our effective state tax rate during the reported periods has also been affected by

return-to-accrual adjustments which reduced our Provision for income taxes in 2009 2008 and 2007

Canada Statutory Tax Rate Change During 2009 the provincial tax rates in Ontario were reduced which

resulted in $13 million tax benefit as result of the revaluation of the related deferred tax balances In addition

during 2007 the Canadian federal government enacted tax rate reductions which resulted in $30 million tax

benefit on the revaluation of the related deferred tax balances We did not have any comparable adjustments during

the year ended December 31 2008

State Net Operating Loss and Credit Carry-Forwards During 2009 and 2008 we realized state net

operating loss and credit carry-forwards by reducing related valuation allowances resulting in reduction to

our Provision for income taxes for those periods of $35 million and $3 million respectively No corresponding

benefit was recognized in 2007

Capital Loss Carry-Back During 2009 we generated capital loss from the liquidation of foreign

subsidiary We have determined that the capital loss can be utilized to offset capital gains from 2006 and 2007
which resulted in reduction to our 2009 Provision for income taxes of $65 million

Non-Conventional Fuel Tax Credits The favorable impact of non-conventional fuel tax credits on our 2007

effective tax rate was derived from our investments in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities which

provided $37 million of tax credits in 2007 and our landfill gas-to-energy projects which provided $13 million of

tax credits in 2007 The fuel generated from the facilities and our landfill gas-to-energy projects qualified for tax

credits through 2007 under Section 45K of the Internal Revenue Code

Our noncontrolling interests in the coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities resulted in the recognition of

our pro-rata share of the facilities losses the amortization of our investments and additional expense associated

with other estimated obligations all being recorded as Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities within our

Consolidated Statements of Operations In 2007 our equity in the net losses of the facilities was $42 million and we

recognized tax benefit associated with the losses and the associated tax credits of $53 million

Unremitted Earnings in Foreign Subsidiaries At December 31 2009 remaining unremitted earnings in

foreign operations were approximately $550 million which are considered permanently invested and therefore no

provision for U.S income taxes has been accrued for these unremitted earnings
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Deferred Tax Assets Liabilities

The components of the net deferred tax assets liabilities at December 31 are as follows in millions

December 31

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss capital loss and tax credit carry-forwards
259 168

Landfill and environmental remediation liabilities 54 21

Miscellaneous and other reserves
176 249

Subtotal
489 438

Valuation allowance 139 135

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment 941 1012

Goodwill and other intangibles 802 736

Net deferred tax liabilities $1393 $1445

At December 31 2009 we had $28 million of federal net operating loss or NOL carry-forwards $1.4 billion

of state NOL carry-forwards and $12 million of Canadian NOL carry-forwards The federal and state NOL carry-

forwards have expiration dates through the year 2029 The Canadian NOL carry-forwards are expected to be

utilized in 2010 We also realized capital loss $76 million of which is carried forward and expires in 2014 In

addition we have $39 million of state tax credit carry-forwards at December 31 2009

We have established valuation allowances for uncertainties in realizing the benefit of certain tax loss and credit

carry-forwards and other deferred tax assets While we expect to realize the deferred tax assets net of the valuation

allowances changes in estimates of future taxable income or in tax laws may alter this expectation The valuation

allowance increased $4 million in 2009 This was primarily due to an increase of $26 million resulting from our

capital loss carry-forward offset in part by $24 million state tax benefit due to reduction in the valuation

allowance related to the expected utilization of state NOL and credit carry-forwards The remaining increase in our

valuation allowance was due to changes in our gross deferred tax assets due to changes in state NOL and credit

carry-forwards

Liabilities for Uncertain Tax Positions

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits including accrued interest

for 2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows in millions

2009 2008 2007

Balance at January
84 $102 $117

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
10

Additions related to tax positions of prior years
11

Accrued interest

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Settlements 10 36 26

Lapse of statute of limitations

Balance at December 31 $75 $84 $102

These liabilities are primarily included as component of long-term Other liabilities in our Consolidated

Balance Sheets because the Company generally does not anticipate that settlement of the liabilities will require
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payment of cash within the next twelve months As of December31 2009 $50 million of unrecognized tax benefits

if recognized in future periods would impact our effective tax rate

We recognize interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense During the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized approximately $4 million $4 million and $7 million

respectively of such interest expense as component of our Provision for income taxes We had approximately

$11 million and $9 million of accrued interest in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively We do not have any accrued liabilities or expense for penalties related to unrecognized tax

benefits for the
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

We anticipate that approximately $20 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits including accrued

interest and $7 million of related deferred tax assets may be reversed within the next 12 months The anticipated

reversals are related to various federal and state tax items none of which are material and are expected to result

from audit settlements or the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations period

10 Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Contribution Plans Our Waste Management retirement savings plans are 401k plans that cover

employees except those working subject to collective bargaining agreements that do not allow for
coverage under

such plans Employees are generally eligible to participate in the plans following 90-day waiting period after hire

and may contribute as much as 25% of their annual compensation subject to annual contribution limitations

established by the IRS Under our largest retirement savings plan we match in cash 100% of employee

contributions on the first 3% of their eligible compensation and match 50% of employee contributions on the

next 3% of their eligible compensation resulting in maximum match of 4.5% Both employee and Company
contributions vest immediately Charges to Operating and Selling general and administrative expenses for our

defined contribution plans were $50 million in 2009 $59 million in 2008 and $54 million in 2007

Defined Benefit Plans Certain of the Companys subsidiaries
sponsor pension plans that cover employees

not covered by the Savings Plan These employees are members of collective bargaining units In addition

Wheelabrator Technologies Inc wholly-owned subsidiary sponsors pension plan for its former executives and

former Board members As of December 31 2009 the combined benefit obligation of these pension plans was

$69 million and the plans had $51 million of plan assets resulting in an unfunded benefit obligation for these plans

of $18 million

In addition Waste Management Holdings Inc and certain of its subsidiaries provided post-retirement health

care and other benefits to eligible employees In conjunction with our acquisition of WM Holdings in July 1998 we
limited participation in these plans to participating retired employees as of December 31 1998 The unfunded

benefit obligation for these plans was $45 million at December 31 2009

Our accrued benefit liabilities for our defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans are $63 million

as of December 31 2009 and are included as components of Accrued liabilities and long-term Other liabilities

in our Consolidated Balance Sheet

We are participating employer in number of trustee-managed multi-employer defined benefit pension

plans for employees who participate in collective bargaining agreements Contributions of $34 million in 2009
$35 million in 2008 and $33 million in 2007 were charged to operations for our subsidiaries ongoing participation

in these defined benefit plans Our portion of the projected benefit obligation plan assets and unfunded liability of

the multi-employer pension plans are not material to our financial position Specific benefit levels provided by

union pension plans are not negotiated with or known by the employer contributors

Based on our negotiations with collective bargaining units and our review of the plans in which they

participate we may negotiate for the complete or partial withdrawal from one or more of these pension plans If we
elect to withdraw from these plans we may incur expenses associated with our obligations for unfunded vested
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benefits at the time of the withdrawal As discussed in Note 11 in 2009 and 2008 we recognized aggregate charges

of $9 million and $39 million respectively to Operating expenses for the withdrawal of certain bargaining units

from multi-employer pension plans

11 Commitments and Contingencies

Financial Instruments We have obtained letters of credit performance bonds and insurance policies and

have established trust funds and issued financial guarantees to support tax-exempt bonds contracts performance of

landfill closure and post-closure requirements environmental remediation and other obligations

Historically our revolving credit facilities have been used to obtain letters of credit to support our bonding and

financial assurance needs We also have three letter of credit facilities that were established to provide us with

additional sources of capacity from which we may obtain letters of credit These facilities are discussed further in

Note We obtain surety bonds and insurance policies from an entity in which we have noncontrolling financial

interest We also obtain insurance from wholly-owned insurance company the sole business of which is to issue

policies for the parent holding company and its other subsidiaries to secure such performance obligations In those

instances where our use of financial assurance from entities we own or have financial interests in is not allowed we

generally have available alternative bonding mechanisms

Because virtually no claims have been made against the financial instruments we use to support our

obligations and considering our current financial position management does not expect that any claims against

or draws on these instruments would have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements We

have not experienced any unmanageable difficulty in obtaining the required financial assurance instruments for our

current operations In an ongoing effort to mitigate risks of future cost increases and reductions in available

capacity we continue to evaluate various options to access cost-effective sources of financial assurance

Insurance We carry insurance coverage for protection of our assets and operations from certain risks

including automobile liability general liability real and personal property workers compensation directors and

officers liability pollution legal liability and other coverages we believe are customary to the industry Our

exposure to loss for insurance claims is generally limited to the per incident deductible under the related insurance

policy Our exposure however could increase if our insurers were unable to meet their commitments on timely

basis

We have retained significant portion of the risks related to our automobile general liability and workers

compensation insurance programs For our self-insured retentions the exposure for unpaid claims and associated

expenses including incurred but not reported losses is based on an actuarial valuation and internal estimates The

estimated accruals for these liabilities could be affected if future occurrences or loss development significantly

differ from the assumptions used As of December 31 2009 our general liability insurance program carried self

insurance exposures of up to $2.5 million per incident and our workers compensation insurance program carried

self-insurance exposures of up to $5 million per incident As of December 31 2009 our auto liability insurance

program included per-incident base deductible of $5 million subject to additional aggregate deductibles in the

$5 million to $10 million layer of $4.8 million Self-insurance claims reserves acquired as part of our acquisition of

WM Holdings in July 1998 were discounted at 3.75% at December31 2009 2.25% at December31 2008 and 4.0%
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at December 31 2007 The changes to our net insurance liabilities for the three years
ended December 31 2009 are

summarized below in millions

Gross Claims Estimated Insurance Net Claims

Liability Recoveriesa Liability

Balance December 31 2006 652 $267 385

Self-insurance expense benefit 144 143

Cash paid received 225 54 171

Balance December 31 2007 571 214 357

Self-insurance
expense benefit 169 28 141

Cash paid received 209 51 158

Balance December 31 2008 531 191 340

Self-insurance expense benefit 184 32 152

Cash paid received 174 29 145

Balance December 31 2009b 541 $194 347

Current portion at December 31 2009 149 63 86

Long-term portion at December 31 2009 392 $131 261

Amounts reported as estimated insurance recoveries are related to both paid and unpaid claims liabilities

We currently expect substantially all of our recorded obligations to be settled in cash in the next five years

For the 14 months ended January 2000 we insured certain risks including auto general liability and

workers compensation with Reliance National Insurance Company whose parent filed for bankruptcy in June

2001 In October 2001 the parent and certain of its subsidiaries including Reliance National Insurance Company

were placed in liquidation We believe that because of probable recoveries from the liquidation currently estimated

to be $14 million it is unlikely that events relating to Reliance will have material adverse impact on our financial

statements

We do not expect the impact of any known casualty property environmental or other contingency to have

material impact on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Operating Leases Rental expense for leased properties was $114 million during both 2009 and 2008 and

$135 million during 2007 These amounts primarily include rents under operating leases Minimum contractual

payments due for our operating lease obligations are $88 million in 2010 $75 million in 2011 $72 million in 2012

$58 million in 2013 and $47 million in 2014

Our minimum contractual payments for lease agreements during future periods is significantly less than

current year rent expense because our significant lease agreements at landfills have variable terms based either on

percentage of revenue or rate per ton of waste received

Purchase Commitment We continue to focus on the expansion of our waste-to-energy business and are

actively pursuing various projects in the United States and internationally In August 2009 we entered into an

agreement to purchase 40% equity investment in Shanghai Environment Group SEG subsidiary of Shanghai

Chengtou Holding for approximately $140 million As joint venture partner in SEG we will participate in the

operation and management of waste-to-energy and other waste services in the Chinese market SEG will also focus

on building new waste-to-energy facilities in China The Ministry of Commerce of the Peoples Republic of China

approved the transaction in January 2010 and we currently expect the transaction to close during the first half of

2010
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Other Commitments

Share Repurchases In December 2009 we entered into plan under SEC Rule 10b5-l to effect market

purchases of our common stock during the first quarter of 2010 See Note 15 for additional information

related to this arrangement

Fuel Supply We have purchase agreements expiring at various dates through 2011 that require us to

purchase minimum amounts of wood waste anthracite coal waste culm and conventional fuels at our

independent power production plants These fuel supplies are used to produce steam that is sold to industrial

and commercial users and electricity that is sold to electric utilities which is generally subject to the terms

and conditions of long-term contracts Our purchase agreements have been established based on the plants

anticipated fuel supply needs to meet the demands of our customers under these long-term electricity sale

contracts Under our fuel supply take-or-pay contracts we are generally obligated to pay for minimum

amount of waste or conventional fuel at stated rate even if such quantities are not required in our operations

Disposal We have several agreements expiring at various dates through 2052 that require us to dispose of

minimum number of tons at third-party disposal facilities Under these put-or-pay agreements we are

required to pay for the agreed upon minimum volumes regardless of the actual number of tons placed at the

facilities We generally fulfill our minimum contractual obligations by disposing of volumes collected in the

ordinary course of business at these disposal facilities

Waste Paper We are party to waste paper purchase agreement that requires us to purchase minimum

number of tons of waste paper The cost per ton we pay is based on market prices plus the cost of delivery to

our customers We currently expect to fulfill our purchase obligations by 2013

Royalties We have various arrangements that require us to make royalty payments to third parties

including prior land owners lessors or host communities where our operations are located Certain of these

agreements provide for minimum royalties and require that we make fixed periodic payments Our

obligations expire at various dates through 2025 Although minimum payments are required under certain

of the royalty agreements our obligations generally are based on per ton rates for waste actually received at

our transfer stations landfills or waste-to-energy facilities

Properly From time to time we make commitments to purchase assets that we expect to use in our

operations We are currently party to an agreement to purchase corporate aircraft to replace an existing

aircraft the lease for which is expiring in early 2011 The agreement requires that we make installment

payments between now and delivery expected in 2010 based on the total purchase price for the aircraft

Our unconditional obligations are established in the ordinary course of our business and are structured in

manner that provides us with access to important resources at competitive market-driven rates Our actual future

obligations under these outstanding agreements are generally quantity driven and as result our associated

financial obligations are not fixed as of December 31 2009 For these contracts we have estimated our future

obligations based on the current market values of the underlying products or services Our estimated minimum

obligations for the above-described purchase obligations are $166 million in 2010 $61 million in 2011 $53 million

in 2012 $31 million in 2013 and $18 million in 2014 We currently expect the products and services provided by

these agreements to continue to meet the needs of our ongoing operations Therefore we do not expect these

established arrangements to materially impact our future financial position results of operations or cash flows

Guarantees We have entered into the following guarantee agreements associated with our operations

As of December 31 2009 WM Holdings has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of WIVIIs senior

indebtedness including its senior notes revolving credit agreement and certain letter of credit facilities

which matures through 2039 WMI has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the senior indebtedness

of WM Holdings which matures through 2026 Performance under these guarantee agreements would be

required if either party
defaulted on their respective obligations No additional liabilities have been recorded
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for these
guarantees because the underlying obligations are reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

See Note 23 for further information

WMI and WM Holdings have guaranteed the tax-exempt bonds and other debt obligations of their

subsidiaries If subsidiary fails to meet its obligations associated with its debt agreements as they come

due WMI or WM Holdings will be required to perform under the related guarantee agreement No

additional liabilities have been recorded for these guarantees because the underlying obligations are

reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets See Note for information related to the balances and

maturities of our tax-exempt bonds

We have guaranteed certain financial obligations of unconsolidated entities The related obligations which

mature through 2020 are not recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets As of December 31 2009 our

maximum future payments associated with these guarantees are approximately $9 million We do not

believe that it is likely that we will be required to perform under these guarantees

Certain of our subsidiaries have guaranteed the market or contractually-determined value of certain

homeowners properties that are adjacent to certain of our landfills These guarantee agreements extend

over the life of the respective landfill Under these agreements we would be responsible for the difference if

any between the sale value and the guaranteed market or contractually-determined value of the home

owners properties Generally it is not possible to determine the contingent obligation associated with these

guarantees but we do not believe that these contingent obligations will have material effect on our

financial position results of operations or cash flows

We have indemnified the purchasers of businesses or divested assets for the occurrence of specified events

under certain of our divestiture agreements Other than certain identified items that are currently recorded as

obligations we do not believe that it is possible to determine the contingent obligations associated with these

indemnities Additionally under certain of our acquisition agreements we have provided for additional

consideration to be paid to the sellers if established financial targets are achieved post-closing For

acquisitions completed in 2009 we have recognized liabilities for these contingent obligations based on

an estimate of the fair value of these contingencies at the time of acquisition For acquisitions completed

before 2009 the costs associated with any additional consideration requirements are accounted for as

incurred Contingent obligations related to indemnifications arising from our divestitures and contingent

consideration provided for by our acquisitions are not expected to be material to our financial position

results of operations or cash flows

WMI and WM Holdings guarantee the service lease financial and general operating obligations of certain

of their subsidiaries If such subsidiary fails to meet its contractual obligations as they come due the

guarantor has an unconditional obligation to perform on its behalf No additional liability has been recorded

for service financial or general operating guarantees because the subsidiaries obligations are properly

accounted for as costs of operations as services are provided or general operating obligations as incurred No

additional liability has been recorded for the lease guarantees because the subsidiaries obligations are

properly accounted for as operating or capital leases as appropriate

We currently do not believe it is reasonably likely that we would be called upon to perform under these

guarantees and do not believe that any of the obligations would have material effect on our financial position

results of operations and cash flows

Environmental Matters significant portion of our operating costs and capital expenditures could be

characterized as costs of environmental protection as we are subject to an array of laws and regulations relating to

the protection of the environment Under current laws and regulations we may have liabilities for environmental

damage caused by our operations or for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired site In

addition to remediation activity required by state or local authorities such liabilities include PRP investigations
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The costs associated with these liabilities can include settlements certain legal and consultant fees as well as

incremental internal and external costs directly associated with site investigation and clean-up

As of December 31 2009 we had been notified that we are PRP in connection with 74 locations listed on the

EPAs National Priorities List or NPL Of the 74 sites at which claims have been made against us 16 are sites we
own Each of the NPL sites we own was initially developed by others as landfill disposal facility At each of these

facilities we are working in conjunction with the government to characterize or remediate identified site problems

and we have either agreed with other legally liable parties on an arrangement for sharing the costs of remediation or

are working toward cost-sharing agreement We generally expect to receive any amounts due from other

participating parties at or near the time that we make the remedial expenditures The other 58 NPL sites which we
do not own are at various procedural stages under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and

Liability Act of 1980 as amended known as CERCLA or Superfund

The majority of these proceedings involve allegations that certain of our subsidiaries or their predecessors

transported hazardous substances to the sites often prior to our acquisition of these subsidiaries CERCLA

generally provides for liability for those parties owning operating transporting to or disposing at the sites

Proceedings arising under Superfund typically involve numerous waste generators and other waste transportation

and disposal companies and seek to allocate or recover costs associated with site investigation and remediation

which costs could be substantial and could have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements

At some of the sites at which we have been identified as PRP our liability is well defined as consequence of

governmental decision and an agreement among liable parties as to the share each will pay for implementing that

remedy At other sites where no remedy has been selected or the liable parties have been unable to agree on an

appropriate allocation our future costs are uncertain

Litigation In April 2002 two former participants in the ERISA plans of Waste Management Holdings Inc

wholly-owned subsidiary we acquired in 1998 WM Holdings filed lawsuit in the U.S District Court for the

District of Columbia in case entitled William Harris et al James Koenig et al The lawsuit named as

defendants WM Holdings the members of WM Holdings Board of Directors prior to July 1998 the administrative

and investment committees of WM Holdings ERISA plans and their individual members WMIs retirement

savings plan the investment committees of WMIs plan and its individual members and State Street Bank Trust

the trustee and investment manager of the ERISA plans The lawsuit attempts to increase the recovery of class of

ERISA plan participants based on allegations related to both the events alleged in and the settlements relating to

the securities class action against WM Holdings that was settled in 1998 and the securities class action against WMI
that was settled in 2001 The defendants filed motions to dismiss the complaints on the pleadings and the Court

granted in part and denied in part the defendants motions in the first quarter of 2009 However in December 2009
the Court granted the plaintiffs motion for leave to file fourth amended complaint to overcome the dismissal of

certain complaints and motion for leave to file substitute fourth amended complaint to add two new claims Each

of Mr Pope Mr Rothmeier and Ms San Juan Cafferty members of our Board of Directors was member of the

WM Holdings Board of Directors and therefore is named defendant in these actions as is Mr Simpson our Chief

Financial Officer by virtue of his membership on the WMI ERISA plan Investment Committee at that time All of

the defendants intend to continue to defend themselves vigorously

There are two separate wage and hour lawsuits pending against certain of our subsidiaries in California each

seeking class certification The actions were coordinated to proceed in San Diego County Both lawsuits make the

same general allegations that the defendants failed to comply with certain California wage and hour laws including

allegedly failing to provide meal and rest periods and failing to properly pay hourly and overtime wages We deny

the claims and intend to continue to vigorously defend these matters Given the inherent uncertainties of litigation

the ultimate outcome cannot be predicted at this time nor can possible damages if any be reasonably estimated

Similarly purported class action lawsuit was filed against WMI in August 2008 in federal court in Minnesota

alleging that we violated the Fair Labor Standards Act The court in the Minnesota lawsuit denied the plaintiffs

motion for conditional class certification after which 33 separate lawsuits were filed in 32 states in addition to
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Minnesota all pursuing the same claims contained in the class action lawsuit but on state-by-state bases In

December 2009 we reached tentative settlement to resolve all 33 lawsuits

From time to time we also are named as defendants in personal injury and property damage lawsuits including

purported class actions on the basis of having owned operated or transported waste to disposal facility that is

alleged to have contaminated the environment or in certain cases on the basis of having conducted environmental

remediation activities at sites Some of the lawsuits may seek to have us pay the costs of monitoring of allegedly

affected sites and health care examinations of allegedly affected persons for substantial period of time even where

no actual damage is proven While we believe we have meritorious defenses to these lawsuits the ultimate

resolution is often substantially uncertain due to the difficulty of determining the cause extent and impact of alleged

contamination which may have occurred over long period of time the potential for successive groups of

complainants to emerge the diversity of the individual plaintiffs circumstances and the potential contribution or

indemnification obligations of co-defendants or other third parties among other factors

As large company with operations across the United States and Canada we are subject to various

proceedings lawsuits disputes and claims arising in the ordinary course of our business Many of these actions

raise complex factual and legal issues and are subject to uncertainties Actions filed against us include commercial

customer and employment-related claims including purported class action lawsuits related to our customer service

agreements and purported class actions involving federal and state wage and hour and other laws The plaintiffs in

some actions seek unspecified damages or injunctive relief or both These actions are in various procedural stages

and some are covered in part by insurance We currently do not believe that any such actions will ultimately have

material adverse impact on our consolidated financial statements

WMI charter and bylaws require indemnification of its officers and directors if statutory standards of conduct

have been met and allow the advancement of expenses to these individuals upon receipt of an undertaking by the

individuals to repay all expenses
if it is ultimately determined that they did not meet the required standards of

conduct Additionally WMI has entered into separate indemnification agreements
with each of the members of its

Board of Directors as well as its Chief Executive Officer its President and its Chief Financial Officer The Company

may incur substantial expenses in connection with the fulfillment of its advancement of costs and indemnification

obligations in connection with current actions involving former officers of the Company or its subsidiaries

including the Harris lawsuit mentioned above or other actions or proceedings that may be brought against its

former or current officers directors and employees

On March 20 2008 we filed lawsuit in state district court in Harris County Texas against SAPAG and SAP

America Inc alleging fraud and breach of contract The lawsuit relates to our 2005 software license from SAP for

waste and recycling revenue management system and agreement for SAP to implement the software on fixed-fee

basis We have alleged that SAP demonstrated and sold software that SAP represented was mature out-of-the

box software solution that met the specific business requirements of the Company ii that SAP represented no

production modification or customization would be necessary and iiithat SAP represented the software would be

fully implemented throughout the Company in 18 months We are vigorously pursuing all claims available

including recovery of all payments we have made costs we have incurred and the benefits we have not realized

SAP filed general denial to the suit Discovery is ongoing and trial is currently scheduled for May 2010

During the first quarter of 2009 we determined to enhance and improve our existing revenue management

system and not pursue alternatives associated with the development and implementation of revenue management

system that would include the licensed SAP software Accordingly after careful consideration of the failures and

immaturity of the SAP software we determined to abandon any alternative that includes the use of the SAP

software Our determination to abandon the SAP software resulted in non-cash impairment charges of $51 million

Refer to Note 13 for additional information related to the impairment charge

Item 103 of the SECs Regulation S-K requires disclosure of certain environmental matters when govern

mental authority is party to the proceedings and the proceedings involve potential monetary sanctions that we
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reasonably believe could exceed $100000 The following matter pending as of December 31 2009 is disclosed in

accordance with that requirement

On April 2006 the EPA issued Finding and Notice of Violation FNOV to Waste Management of

Hawaii Inc an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WMI and to the City and County of Honolulu for alleged

violations of the federal Clean Air Act based on alleged failure to submit certain reports and design plans required

by the EPA and the failure to begin and timely complete the installation of gas collection and control system for

the Waimanalo Gulch Sanitary Landfill on Oahu The FNOV did not propose penalty amount and the parties have

been in confidential settlement negotiations Pursuant to an indemnity agreement any penalty assessed will be paid

by the Company and not by the City and County of Honolulu

Multi-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans Over 20% of our workforce is covered by collective

bargaining agreements which are with various union locals across the United States As result of some of these

agreements certain of our subsidiaries are participating employers in number of trustee-managed multi-employer

defined benefit pension plans for the affected employees One of the most significant multi-employer pension plans

in which we participate is the Central States Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Plan Central States Pension

Plan which has reported that it adopted rehabilitation plan as result of its actuarial certification for the plan

year beginning January 2008 The Central States Pension Plan is in critical status as defined by the Pension

Protection Act of 2006

In connection with our ongoing re-negotiation of various collective bargaining agreements we may discuss

and negotiate for the complete or partial withdrawal from one or more of these pension plans In 2008 we

recognized an aggregate charge of $39 million to Operating expenses
for the withdrawal of certain bargaining

units from multi-employer pension plans including $35 million charge resulting from our partial withdrawal from

the Central States Pension Plan In 2009 we recognized an additional charge of $9 million to Operating expenses

for the withdrawal of certain bargaining units in the East from multi-employer pension plans We do not believe that

our withdrawals from the multi-employer plans individually or in the aggregate would have material adverse

effect on our financial condition or liquidity However withdrawals of other bargaining units in the future could

have material adverse effect on our results of operations for the period in which any such withdrawals may be

recorded

Tax Matters During 2009 we effectively settled our 2008 federal tax audit and various state tax audits

resulting in tax benefit of $11 million We are currently in the examination phase of an IRS audit for the 2009 tax

year
and expect this audit to be completed within the next 12 months We participate in the IRSs Compliance

Assurance Program which means we work with the IRS throughout the year in order to resolve any material issues

prior to the filing of our year-end tax return We are also currently undergoing audits by various state and local

jurisdictions that date back to 1999 and examinations associated with Canada that date back to 1998 To provide for

certain potential tax exposures we maintain liability for unrecognized tax benefits the balance of which

management believes is adequate Results of audit assessments by taxing authorities are not currently expected to

have material adverse impact on our results of operations or cash flows

12 Restructuring

2009 Restructuring In January 2009 we took steps to further streamline our organization by consol

idating our Market Areas ii integrating the management of our recycling operations with our other solid waste

business and iii realigning our Corporate organization with this new structure in order to provide support

functions more efficiently

Our principal operations are managed through our Groups which are discussed in Note 21 Each of our four

geographic Groups had been further divided into 45 Market Areas As result of our restructuring the Market Areas

were consolidated into 25 Areas We found that our larger Market Areas generally were able to achieve efficiencies

through economies of scale that were not present in our smaller Market Areas and this reorganization has allowed
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us to lower costs and to continue to standardize processes and improve productivity In addition during the first

quarter of 2009 responsibility for the oversight of day-to-day recycling operations at our material recovery facilities

and secondary processing facilities was transferred from our Waste Management Recycle America or WMRA
organization to our four geographic Groups By integrating the management of our recycling facilities operations

with our other solid waste business we are able to more efficiently provide comprehensive environmental solutions

to our customers In addition as result of this realignment we have significantly reduced the overhead costs

associated with managing this portion of our business and have increased the geographic Groups focus on

maximizing the profitability and return on invested capital of our business on an integrated basis

This restructuring eliminated over 1500 employee positions throughout the Company During 2009 we

recognized $50 million of pre-tax charges associated with this restructuring of which $41 million were related to

employee severance and benefit costs The remaining charges were primarily related to operating lease obligations

for property that will no longer be utilized The following table summarizes the charges recognized in 2009 for this

restructuring by each of our reportable segments and our Corporate and Other organizations in millions

Eastern $12

Midwest 11

Southern 10

Western

Wheelabrator

Corporate and Other 10

Total $51J

Through December 31 2009 we had paid approximately $36 million of the employee severance and benefit

costs incurred as result of this restructuring The length of time we are obligated to make severance payments

varies with the longest obligation continuing through the fourth quarter of 2010

2008 Restructuring The $2 million of restructuring expenses recognized during 2008 was related to

reorganization of customer service functions in our Western Group and the realignment of certain operations in our

Southern Group

2007 Restructuring In 2007 we restructured certain operations and functions resulting in the recognition

of charge of $10 million Approximately $7 million of our restructuring costs was incurred by our Corporate

organization $2 million was incurred by our Midwest Group and $1 million was incurred by our Western Group
These charges included $8 million for employee severance and benefit costs and $2 million related to operating

lease agreements

13 Income Expense from Divestitures Asset Impairments and Unusual Items

The following table summarizes the major components of Income expense from divestitures asset

impairments and unusual items for the year ended December 31 for the respective periods in millions

Years Ended

December 31

2009 2008 2007

Income expense from divestitures including held-for-sale impairments $33 $59
Asset impairments excluding held-for-sale impairments 83 12

$83 $29 $47

Income Expense from Divestitures including held-for-sale impairments The net gains from divestitures

during 2008 and 2007 were result of our focus on selling underperforming businesses In 2008 these gains were
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primarily related to the divestiture of underperforming collection operations in our Southern Group and in 2007

the gains were related to the divestiture of underperforming collection transfer and recycling operations in our

Eastern Western and Southern Groups

Asset Impairments excluding held-for-sale impairments Through December 31 2008 we had capitalized

$70 million of accumulated costs associated with the development of our waste and recycling revenue management

system significant portion of these costs was specifically associated with the purchase of the license of SAPs

waste and recycling revenue management software and the efforts required to develop and configure that software

for our use After failed pilot implementation of the software in one of our smallest Market Areas the development

efforts associated with the SAP revenue management system were suspended in 2007 As disclosed in Note 11 in

March 2008 we filed suit against SAP and are currently scheduled for trial in May 2010

During 2009 we determined to enhance and improve our existing revenue management system and not pursue

alternatives associated with the development and implementation of revenue management system that would

include the licensed SAP software Accordingly after careful consideration of the failures of the SAP software we

determined to abandon
any

alternative that would include the use of the SAP software The determination to

abandon the SAP software as our revenue management system resulted in non-cash charge of $51 million

$49 million of which was recognized during the first quarter of 2009 and $2 million of which was recognized during

the fourth quarter of 2009

We recognized an additional $32 million of impairment charges during 2009 $27 million of which was

recognized by the West Group during the fourth quarter of 2009 to fully impair landfill in California as result of

change in our expectations for the future operations of the landfill The remaining impairment charges were

primarily attributable to charge required to write down certain of our investments in portable self-storage

operations to their fair value as result of our acquisition of controlling financial interest in those operations

During 2008 we recognized $4 million impairment charge primarily as result of decision to close

landfill in our Southern Group During 2007 we recognized $12 million in impairment charges related to two

landfills in our Southern Group The impairments were necessary as result of the re-evaluation of our business

alternatives for one landfill and the expiration of contract that we had expected would be renewed that had

significantly contributed to the volumes for the second landfill

14 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income were as follows in millions

December 31

2009 2008 2007

Accumulated unrealized loss on derivative instruments net of taxes of $4

for 2009 $12 for 2008 and $13 for2007 $19 $20
Accumulated unrealized gain loss on marketable securities net of taxes of

$1 for 2009 $1 for 2008 and $3 for 2007

Foreign currency translation adjustments 212 113 240

Funded status of post-retirement benefit obligations net of taxes of $1 for

2009 $5 for 2008 and $0 for 2007

$208 88 $229

15 Capital Stock Share Repurchases and Dividends

Capital Stock

As of December 31 2009 we have 486.1 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding We have

1.5 billion shares of authorized common stock with par value of $0.01 per common share The Board of Directors
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is authorized to issue preferred stock in series and with respect to each series to fix its designation relative rights

including voting dividend conversion sinking fund and redemption rights preferences including dividends and

liquidation and limitations We have ten million shares of authorized preferred stock $0.01 par value none of

which is currently outstanding

Share Repurchases

In 2007 the maximum amount of capital allocated to our share repurchases and dividend payments by our

Board of Directors was $2.1 billion In 2008 our Board of Directors approved capital allocation program that

included the authorization for up to $1.4 billion in combined cash dividends and common stock repurchases

Additionally $184 million of the capital allocated to share repurchases in 2007 remained available for 2008

repurchases In July 2008 we suspended our share repurchases in connection with proposed acquisition In the

fourth quarter of 2008 we determined that given the state of the economy and the financial markets it would be

prudent to suspend repurchases for the foreseeable future As result share repurchases made during 2008 were

significantly less than that which was authorized

In June 2009 we decided that the improvement in the capital markets and the economic environment

supported decision to resume repurchases of our common stock during the second half of 2009

The following is summary of activity under our stock repurchase programs for each year presented

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Shares repurchased in thousands 7237 12390 39946

Per share purchase price $28.06-$33.80 $28.98-$38.44 $33.00$40.13

Total repurchases in millions $226 $410 $1421

In December 2009 we entered into plan under SEC Rule 10b5-1 to effect market purchases of our common

stock in 2010 These common stock repurchases were made in accordance with our Board approved capital

allocation program We repurchased $68 million of our common stock pursuant to the plan which was completed

on February 12 2010

Future share repurchases will be made within the limits approved by our Board of Directors at the discretion of

management and will depend on factors similarto those considered by the Board in making dividend declarations

Dividends

Our quarterly dividends have been declared by our Board of Directors and paid in accordance with the capital

allocation programs discussed above Cash dividends declared and paid were $569 million in 2009 or $1.16 per

common share $531 million in 2008 or $1.08 per common share and $495 million in 2007 or $0.96 per common

share

In December 2009 we announced that our Board of Directors expects to increase the per share quarterly

dividend from $0.29 to $0.3 15 for dividends declared in 2010 However all future dividend declarations are at the

discretion of the Board of Directors and depend on various factors including our net earnings financial condition

cash required for future business plans and other factors the Board may deem relevant

16 Stock-Based Compensation

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan under which employees that have been employed for at least

30 days may purchase shares of our common stock at discount The plan provides for two offering periods for

purchases January through June and July through December At the end of each offering period employees are able
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to purchase shares of our common stock at price equal to 85% of the lesser of the market value of the stock on the

first and last day of such offering period The purchases are made through payroll deductions and the number of

shares that may be purchased is limited by IRS regulations The total number of shares issued under the plan for the

offering periods in each of 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately 969000 839000 and 713000 respectively

Including the impact of the January 2010 issuance of shares associated with the July to December 2009 offering

period approximately 2.5 million shares remain available for issuance under the plan

Accounting for our Employee Stock Purchase Plan increased annual compensation expense by approximately

$6 million or $4 million net of tax for both 2009 and 2008 and by approximately $5 million or $3 million net of

tax for 2007

Employee Stock Incentive Plans

Pursuant to our stock incentive plan we have the ability to issue stock options stock awards and stock

appreciation rights all on terms and conditions determined by the Management Development and Compensation

Committee of our Board of Directors

The Companys 2004 Stock Incentive Plan which authorized the issuance of up to 34 million shares of our

common stock terminated by its terms in May 2009 at which time stockholders approved our 2009 Stock Incentive

Plan Under the 2009 Plan up to 26.2 million shares of our common stock are available for issuance All of our

stock-based compensation awards described herein have been made under either our 2004 or 2009 Plan We

currently utilize treasury shares to meet the needs of our equity-based compensation programs under the 2009 Plan

and to settle outstanding awards granted pursuant to previous incentive plans

During the three years ended December 31 2009 the Companys long-term incentive plan or LTIP has

included an annual grant of restricted stock units and performance share units for key employees Beginning in

2008 the annual LTIP grant made to the Companys senior leadership team which generally represents the

Companys executive officers has been comprised solely of performance share units During the reported periods

the Company has also granted restricted stock units to employees working on key initiatives in connection with

new hires and promotions and to field-based managers

Restricted Stock Units summary of our restricted stock units is presented in the table below units in

thousands

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Fair Fair Fair

Units Value Units Value Units Value

Unvested Beginning of year 1121 $33.46 1124 $32.58 1279 $30.63

Granted 369 $23.66 359 $33.33 324 $37.28

Vesteda 412 $31.49 338 $30.41 376 $30.43

Forfeited 48 $32.81 24 $33.22 103 $30.94

Unvested End of year 1030 $30.76 1121 $33.46 1124 $32.58

The total fair market value of the shares issued upon the vesting of restricted stock units during the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $13 million $11 million and $14 million respectively

Restricted stock units provide award recipients with dividend equivalents during the vesting period but the

units may not be voted or sold until time-based vesting restrictions have lapsed Restricted stock units provide for

three-year cliff vesting Unvested units are subject to forfeiture in the event of voluntary or for-cause termination
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Restricted stock units are subject to pro-rata vesting upon an employees retirement or involuntary termination other

than for cause and become immediately vested in the event of an employees death or disability

Compensation expense associated with restricted stock units is measured based on the grant-date fair value of

our conmion stock and is recognized on straight-line basis over the required employment period which is

generally the vesting period Compensation expense is only recognized for those awards that we expect to vest

which we estimate based upon an assessment of current period and historical forfeitures

Performance Share Units Performance share units are payable in shares of common stock based on the

achievement of certain financial measures after the end of three-year performance period At the end of the three-

year period the number of shares awarded can range
from 0% to 200% of the targeted amount summary of our

performance share units is presented in the table below units in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Fair Fair Fair

Units Value Units Value Units Value

Unvested Beginning of
year 2644 $34.10 2134 $32.72 1391 $29.52

Granted 1159 $22.66 1169 $32.92 907 $37.28

Vestedab 635 $31.93 615 $27.05 53 $27.05

Forfeited 86 $33.59 44 $34.48 111 $32.86

Unvested End of year 3082 $30.26 2644 $34.10 2134 $32.72

The units that vested in 2009 and 2008 were subject to three-year performance targets that were established

when the awards were granted The Companys financial results for the three-year periods ended December 31

2008 and December 31 2007 as measured for purposes of these awards were lower than the target levels

established Accordingly in 2009 we issued approximately 594000 shares for vested units or 94% of the

established target and in 2008 we issued approximately 561000 shares for vested units or 91% of the

established target The Companys performance exceeded the target level established for the awards that vested

in 2007 and we issued approximately 65000 shares

The shares issued upon the vesting of performance share units had fair market value of $17 million in 2009

$19 million in 2008 and $2 million in 2007

Performance share units have no voting rights and dividend equivalents are paid out in cash based on actual

performance at the end of the awards performance period Performance share units are payable to an employee or
his beneficiary upon death or disability as if that employee had remained employed until the end of the

performance period are subject to pro-rata vesting upon an employees retirement or involuntary termination

other than for cause and are subject to forfeiture in the event of voluntary or for-cause termination

Compensation expense
associated with performance share units that continue to vest based on future

performance is measured based on the grant-date fair value of our common stock Compensation expense is

recognized ratably over the performance period based on our estimated achievement of the established performance

criteria Compensation expense
is only recognized for those awards that we expect to vest which we estimate based

upon an assessment of both the probability that the performance criteria will be achieved and current period and

historical forfeitures

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized $22 million $42 million and

$31 million respectively of compensation expense associated with restricted stock unit and performance share unit

awards as component of Selling general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statement of

Operations Our Provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 include
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related deferred income tax benefits of $9 million $16 million and $12 million respectively We have not

capitalized any equity-based compensation costs during the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Compensation expense recognized in 2009 was significantly less than expense recognized in prior years

primarily due to the Companys determination that it is no longer probable that the targets established for

performance share units granted in 2008 will be met Accordingly during the second quarter of 2009 we recognized

an adjustment to Selling general and administrative expenses for the reversal of all previously recognized

compensation expense associated with this award As of December 31 2009 we estimate that total of

approximately $30 million of currently unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized in future periods

for unvested restricted stock unit and performance share unit awards issued and outstanding Our estimated

unrecognized compensation expense
is also lower in 2009 than in prior years as result of our determination that it

is no longer probable that the targets for performance share units granted in 2008 will be achieved Unrecognized

compensation expense
associated with all unvested awards currently outstanding is expected to be recognized over

weighted average period of approximately two years

Stock Options Prior to 2005 stock options were the primary form of equity-based compensation we granted

to our employees

summary of our stock options is presented in the table below shares in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding Beginning of
year 11045 $26.97 14620 $29.33 21779 $29.52

Granteda $27.90 $35.27 17 $38.47

Exercisedb 1285 $30.20 1506 $24.95 5252 $25.96

Forfeited or expired 961 $39.62 2075 $45.09 1924 $40.75

Outstanding End of yearc 8800 $25.98 11045 $26.97 14620 $29.33

Exercisable End of year 8798 $25.98 11044 $26.97 14618 $29.33

Although we stopped granting stock options in 2005 some of our outstanding options have reload feature that

provides for the automatic grant of new stock option when the exercise price of the existing stock option is

paid using already owned shares of common stock The new option will be for the same number of shares used

as payment of the exercise price

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 was $12 million $16 million and $62 million respectively

Stock options outstanding as of December 31 2009 have weighted average remaining contractual term of

2.9 years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $69 million based on the market value of our common stock on

December 31 2009

We received cash proceeds of $20 million $37 million and $135 million during the
years

ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively from our employees stock option exercises We also realized tax benefits from

these stock option exercises during the
years

ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 of $5 million $6 million and

$24 million respectively These amounts have been presented as cash inflows in the Cash flows from financing

activities section of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Exercisable stock options at December 31 2009 were as follows shares in thousands

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Price Remaining Years

$13.31-$20.00 1525 $19.21 2.87

$20.01-$30.00 7006 $27.18 2.91

$30.01-$39.93 267 $33.18 2.77

$13.31-$39.93 8798 $25.98 2.90

Non-Employee Director Plans

Our non-employee directors currently receive annual grants of shares of our common stock payable in two

equal installments under the same stock incentive plans we use for employees equity grants described above Prior

to 2008 our directors received deferred stock units and were allowed to elect to defer portion of their cash

compensation in the form of deferred stock units to be paid out in shares of our common stock at the termination of

board service pursuant to our 2003 Directors Deferred Compensation Plan In late 2007 each member of the

Board of Directors elected to receive payment of shares for his deferred stock units at the end of December 2008 and

recognized taxable income on such payment The Board of Directors terminated the 2003 Directors Plan in 2009

and as result no shares remain available for issuance under that plan

17 Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per
share were computed using the following common share data shares in

millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Number of common shares outstanding at year-end 486.1 490.7 500.1

Effect of using weighted average common shares outstanding 5.1 1.4 17.2

Weighted average
basic common shares outstanding 491.2 492.1 517.3

Dilutive effect of equity-based compensation awards warrants and other

contingently issuable shares 2.4 3.3 4.5

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding 493.6 495.4 521.8

Potentially issuable shares 13.2 15.1 18.2

Number of anti-dilutive potentially issuable shares excluded from diluted

common shares outstanding 0.3 0.8 2.4

18 Fair Value Measurements

Assets and Liabilities Accounted for at Fair Value

Authoritative guidance associated with fair value measurements provides framework for measuring fair

value and establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value giving the highest

priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities Level inputs and the lowest

priority to unobservable inputs Level inputs

We use valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable

inputs In measuring the fair value of our assets and liabilities we use market data or assumptions that we believe

market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability including assumptions about risk when appropriate As
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of December 31 2009 our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring basis include the

following in millions

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant

Prices in Other Significant

Active Observable Unobservable

Markets Inputs Inputs

Total Level Level Level

Assets

Cash equivalents $1096 $1096

Available-for-sale securities 308 308

Interest rate derivatives 45 45

Total assets $1449 $1404 $45

Liabilities

Foreign currency
derivatives 18 $18

Total liabilities 18 $18

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are reflected at fair value in our Consolidated Financial Statements based upon quoted

market prices and consist primarily of money market funds that invest in United States government obligations with

original maturities of three months or less

Available-for-Sale Securities

Available for-sale securities are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices These assets include

restricted trusts and escrow accounts invested in money market mutual funds equity-based mutual funds and other

equity securities The cost basis of restricted trusts and escrow accounts invested in equity-based mutual funds and

other equity securities was $77 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 Unrealized holding gains and losses on

these instruments are recorded as either an increase or decrease to the asset balance and deferred as component of

Accumulated other comprehensive income in the equity section of our Consolidated Balance Sheets The net

unrealized holding gains on these instruments net of taxes were $2 million as of December 31 2009 and the net

unrealized holding losses on these instruments net of taxes were $2 million as of December 31 2008 The fair

value of our remaining available-for-sale securities approximates our cost basis in the investments

Interest Rate Derivatives

As of December 31 2009 we are party to fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps that are designated as fair

value hedges of our currently outstanding senior notes ii forward-starting interest rate swaps that are designated

as cash flow hedges of anticipated interest payments for future fixed-rate debt issuances and iii Treasury rate

locks that are designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated interest payments of future fixed-rate debt issuance

Our fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps and forward-starting interest rate swaps are LIBOR based instruments

Accordingly these derivatives are valued using third-party pricing model that incorporates information about

LIBOR yield curves for each instruments respective term Our Treasury rate locks are valued using third-party

pricing model that incorporates information about the on-the-run 10-year U.S Treasury yield curve The third-party

pricing model used to value our interest rate derivatives also incorporates Company and counterparty
credit

valuation adjustments as appropriate Counterparties to our interest rate derivatives are financial institutions who

participate in our $2.4 billion revolving credit facility Valuations of our interest rate derivatives may fluctuate

significantly from period-to-period due to volatility in underlying interest rates which are driven by market
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conditions and the scheduled maturities of the derivatives Refer to Note for additional information regarding our

interest rate derivatives

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Our foreign currency derivatives are valued using forward Canadian dollar exchange prices at the reporting

date Counterparties to these contracts are financial institutions who participate in our $2.4 billion revolving credit

facility Valuations may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period due to volatility in the Canadian dollar to

U.S dollar exchange rate Due to the short-term maturities of the Companys foreign currency exchange

derivatives counterparty credit risk is not significant Refer to Note for additional information regarding our

foreign currency derivatives

Fair Value of Debt

At December 31 2009 the carrying value of our debt was approximately $8.9 billion compared with

$8.3 billion at December 31 2008 The carrying value of our debt includes adjustments for both the unamortized

fair value adjustments related to terminated hedge arrangements and fair value adjustments of debt instruments that

are currently hedged

The estimated fair value of our debt was approximately $9.3 billion at December 31 2009 and approximately

$7.7 billion at December 31 2008 The estimated fair value of our senior notes is based on quoted market prices

The carrying value of remarketable debt approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of the attached interest

rates The fair value of our other debt is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on rates we would

currently pay for similar types of instruments The increase in the fair value of our debt when comparing

December 31 2009 with December 31 2008 is primarily related to an increase in outstanding debt balances

ii an increase in market prices for corporate debt securities due to significant improvement in the condition of the

credit markets as compared with late 2008 which caused substantial increase in the fair value of our publicly-

traded seniOr notes and iii significant decrease in current market rates on fixed-rate tax-exempt bonds

Although we have determined the estimated fair value amounts using available market information and

commonly accepted valuation methodologies considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to

develop the estimates of fair value Accordingly our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we
or holders of the instruments could realize in current market exchange The use of different assumptions and/or

estimation methodologies could have material effect on the estimated fair values The fair value estimates are

based on information available as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 These amounts have not been

revalued since those dates and current estimates of fair value could differ significantly from the amounts presented

19 Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions

We continue to pursue the acquisition of businesses that are accretive to our solid waste operations and enhance

and expand our existing service offerings We have seen the greatest opportunities for realizing superior returns

from tuck-in acquisitions which are primarily the purchases of collection operations that enhance our existing route

structures and are strategically located near our existing disposal operations

In 2009 we acquired businesses primarily related to our collection operations Total consideration net of cash

acquired for acquisitions was $336 million which included $266 million in cash payments liability for additional

cash payments with an estimated fair value of $46 million and assumed liabilities of $24 million The additional

cash payments are contingent upon achievement by the acquired businesses of certain negotiated goals which

generally included targeted revenues At the date of acquisition our estimated obligations for the contingent cash

payments were between $42 million and $56 million As of December 31 2009 we had paid $15 million of this

contingent consideration
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The allocation of purchase price was primarily to Property and equipment which had an estimated fair value

of $102 million Other intangible assets which had an estimated fair value of $105 million and Goodwill of

$125 million Goodwill is result of expected synergies from combining the acquired businesses with our existing

operations and is tax deductible

Our 2009 acquisitions included the purchase of the remaining equity interest in one of our portable self-storage

investments increasing our equity interest in this entity from 50% to 100% As result of this acquisition we

recognized $4 million loss for the remeasurement of the fair value of our initial equity investment which was

determined to be $5 million This loss was recognized as component of Income expense from divestitures asset

impairments and unusual items in our Statement of Operations

In 2008 and 2007 we completed several acquisitions for cost net of cash acquired of $280 million and

$90 million respectively

Divest itures

The aggregate sales price for divestitures of operations was $1 million in 2009 $59 million in 2008 and

$224 million in 2007 The proceeds from these sales were comprised substantially of cash We recognized net gains

on these divestitures of $33 million in 2008 and $59 million in 2007 The impact to our 2009 income from

operations of gains and losses on divestitures was less than $1 million These divestitures were made as part of our

initiative to improve or divest certain underperforming and non-strategic operations

20 Variable Interest Entities

Following is description of our financial interests in variable interest entities that we consider significant

including those for which we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary of the entity and therefore

have consolidated the entity into our financial statements and ii those that represent significant interest in an

unconsolidated entity As disclosed in Note 24 we are in the process of assessing revised guidance from the FASB

related to variable interest entities that is effective for the Company January 2010

Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

Waste-to-Energy LLCs On June 30 2000 two limited liability companies were established to purchase

interests in existing leveraged lease financings at three waste-to-energy facilities that we lease operate and

maintain We own 0.5% interest in one of the LLCs LLC and 0.25% interest in the second LLC LLC II
John Hancock Life Insurance Company owns 99.5% of LLC land 99.75% of LLC II is owned by LLC land the CIT

Group In 2000 Hancock and CIT made an initial investment of $167 million in the LLCs which was used to

purchase the three waste-to-energy facilities and assume the sellers indebtedness Under the LLC agreements the

LLCs shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following events written decision of all members of

the LLCs ii December 31 2063 iii courts dissolution of the LLCs or iv the LLCs ceasing to own any

interest in the waste-to-energy facilities

Income losses and cash flows of the LLCs are allocated to the members based on their initial capital account

balances until Hancock and CIT achieve targeted returns thereafter we will receive 80% of the earnings of each of

the LLCs and Hancock and CIT will be allocated the remaining 20% based on their respective equity interests All

capital allocations made through December 31 2009 have been based on initial capital account balances as the

target returns have not yet been achieved

Our obligations associated with our interests in the LLCs are primarily related to the lease of the facilities In

addition to our minimum lease payment obligations we are required to make cash payments to the LLCs for

differences between fair market rents and our minimum lease payments These payments are subject to adjustment

based on factors that include the fair market value of rents for the facilities and lease payments made through the re

measurement dates In addition we may be required under certain circumstances to make capital contributions to
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the LLCs based on differences between the fair market value of the facilities and defined termination values as

provided for by the underlying lease agreements although we believe the likelihood of the occurrence of these

circumstances is remote

We determined that we are the primary beneficiary of the LLCs because our interest in the entities is subject to

variability based on changes in the fair market value of the leased facilities while Hancocks and CITs interests are

structured to provide targeted returns based on their respective initial investments As of December 31 2009 our

Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $331 million of net property and equipment associated with the LLCs

waste-to-energy facilities and $234 million in noncontrolling interests associated with Hancocks and CITs

interests in the LLCs During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized noncontrolling

interest
expense

of $50 million $41 million and $35 million respectively for Hancocks and CITs interests in the

LLCs earnings which are largely eliminated in WMIs consolidation

Trusts for Closure Post-Closure or Environmental Remediation Obligations We have determined that we

are the primary beneficiary of trust funds that were created to settle certain of our closure post-closure or

environmental remediation obligations Although we are not always the sole beneficiary of these trust funds we

have determined that we are the primary beneficiary because we retain majority of the risks and rewards associated

with changes in the fair value of the assets held in trust As the trust funds are expected to continue to meet the

statutory requirements for which they were established we do not believe that there is any material exposure to loss

associated with the trusts The consolidation of these variable interest entities has not materially affected our

financial position or results of operations

Significant Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities

Investments in Coal-Based Synthetic Fuel Production Facilities As discussed in Note through Decem

ber 31 2007 we owned an interest in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities Along with the other

equity investors we supported the operations of the entities in exchange for pro-rata share of the tax credits

generated by the facilities Our obligation to support the facilities operations was therefore limited to the tax

benefit we received We were not the primary beneficiary of either of these entities As such we accounted for these

investments under the equity method of accounting and did not consolidate the facilities

21 Segment and Related Information

We currently manage and evaluate our operations primarily through our Eastern Midwest Southern Western

and Wheelabrator Groups These five Groups are presented below as our reportable segments Our segments

provide integrated waste management services consisting of collection disposal solid waste and hazardous waste

landfills transfer waste-to-energy facilities and independent power production plants that are managed by

Wheelabrator recycling services and other services to commercial industrial municipal and residential customers

throughout the United States and in Puerto Rico and Canada The operations not managed through our five Groups

are presented herein as Other

As result of the transfer of responsibility for the oversight of day-to-day recycling operations at our material

recovery facilities and secondary processing facilities to the management teams of our geographic Groups we also

changed the way we review the financial results of our geographic Groups Beginning in 2009 the financial results

of our material
recovery

facilities and secondary processing facilities are included as component of their

respective geographic Group and the financial results of our recycling brokerage business and electronics recycling

services are included as part of our Other operations We have reflected the impact of these changes for all periods

presented to provide financial information that consistently reflects our current approach to managing our

geographic Group operations
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Summarized financial information concerning our reportib1e segments for the respective years ended

December 31 is shown in the following table in millions

Income

Gross Intercompany Net from

Operating Operating Operating Operations

Revenues Revenuesc Revenues de
2009

Eastern 2960 533 2427 483 276 216 4326

Midwest 2855 426 2429 450 261 218 4899

Southern 3328 431 2897 768 274 242 3250

Western 3125 412 2713 521 226 195 3667

Wheelabrator 841 123 718 235 57 11 2266

Othera 628 21 607 136 29 128 1112

13737 1946 11791 2321 1123 1010 19520

Corporate and Otherb 434 43 66 2281

Total $13737 $1946 $11791 $1887 $1166 $1076 $21801

2008

Eastern 3319 599 2720 523 284 318 4372

Midwest 3267 475 2792 475 287 296 4626

Southern 3740 493 3247 872 294 303 3218

Western 3387 428 2959 612 238 295 3686

Wheelabrator 912 92 820 323 56 24 2359

Othera 897 47 850 60 32 81 873

15522 2134 13388 2745 1191 1317 19134

Corporate and Otherb 511 47 45 1676

Total $15522 $2134 $13388 $2234 $1238 $1362 $20810

2007

Eastern 3411 633 2778 550 296 260 4358

Midwest 3289 500 2789 524 306 297 4876

Southern 3737 542 3195 826 300 273 3139

Western 3444 440 3004 618 233 224 3591

Wheelabrator 868 71 797 292 57 26 2399

Othera 832 85 747 38 13 66 997

15581 2271 13310 2772 1205 1146 19360

Corporate and Otherb 518 54 1472

Total $15581 $2271 $13310 $2254 $1259 $1144 $20832

Our Other net operating revenues and Other income from operations include the effects of those

elements of our in-plant services landfill gas-to-energy operations and third-party sub-contract and admin

istration revenues managed by our Upstream Renewable Energy and National Accounts organizations that are

not included with the operations of our reportable segments ii our recycling brokerage and electronic

recycling services and iiithe impacts of investments that we are making in expanded service offerings such
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as portable self-storage fluorescent lamp recycling and healthcare solutions In addition our Other income

from operations reflects the impacts of non-operating entities that provide financial assurance and self-

insurance support for the Groups or financing for our Canadian operations and ii certain year-end

adjustments recorded in consolidation related to the reportable segments that were not included in the

measure of segment profit or loss used to assess their performance for the periods disclosed

Corporate operating results reflect the costs incurred for various support services that are not allocated to our

five Groups These support services include among other things treasury legal information technology tax

insurance centralized service center processes other administrative functions and the maintenance of our

closed landfills Income from operations for Corporate and other also includes costs associated with our

long-term incentive program and any administrative expenses or revisions to our estimated obligations

associated with divested operations

Intercompany operating revenues reflect each segments total intercompany sales including intercompany

sales within segment and between segments Transactions within and between segments are generally made

on basis intended to reflect the market value of the service

For those items included in the determination of income from operations the accounting policies of the

segments are the same as those described in Note

The income from operations provided by our four geographic segments is generally indicative of the margins

provided by our collection landfill transfer and recycling businesses The operating margins provided by our

Wheelabrator segment waste-to-energy facilities and independent power production plants have historically

been higher than the margins provided by our base business generally due to the combined impact of long-term

disposal and energy contracts and the disposal demands of the regions in which our facilities are concentrated

However the revenues and operating results of our Wheelabrator Group have been unfavorably affected by

significant decrease in the rates charged for electricity under our power purchase contracts which correlate

with natural gas prices in the markets where we operate Exposure to market fluctuations in electricity prices

has increased for the Wheelabrator Group in 2009 due in large part to the expiration of several long-term

energy contracts Additionally the Companys current focus on the expansion of our waste-to-energy business

both internationally and domestically has increased Wheelabrators costs and expenses which has negatively

affected the comparability of their operating results for the periods presented From time to time the operating

results of our reportable segments are significantly affected by unusual or infrequent transactions or events

Refer to Note 12 and Note 13 for an explanation of transactions and events affecting the operating results of our

reportable segments

Includes non-cash items Capital expenditures are reported in our reportable segments at the time they are

recorded within the segments property plant and equipment balances and therefore may include amounts

that have been accrued but not yet paid

Because of the length of time inherent in completing certain fleet purchases our Corporate and Other segment

initiates certain fleet-related purchases on behalf of our reportable segments The related capital expenditures

are recorded in our Corporate and Other organization until the time at which the fleet items are delivered to our

Groups Once delivery occurs the total cost of the items received are reported as capital expenditures in our

Groups with an offset for the costs previously reported by the Corporate and Other organization In 2007 the

quantity of fleet purchases previously reported by the Corporate and Other organization that were delivered to

our Groups more than offset the quantity of new fleet purchases initiated by our Corporate and Other

organization
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The reconciliation of total assets reported above to Total assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as

follows in millions

2009
________ _________

Total assets as reported above $21801

Elimination of intercompany investments and advances 647 _______ _______

Total assets per
Consolidated Balance Sheets $21154

_______ _______

Collection

Landfill

Transfer

Wheelabrator

Recycling

Othera

Intercompanyb 1946

Operating revenues $11791

The Other line-of-business includes in-plant services landfill gas-to-energy operations PortOLet ser

vices portable self-storage fluorescent lamp recycling street and parking lot sweeping services and health-

care solutions services

Intercompany revenues between lines of business are eliminated within the Consolidated Financial Statements

included herein

December 31

2008

$20810

583

$20227

2007

$20832

657

$20175

Goodwill is included within each Groups total assets As discussed above for segment reporting purposes our

material
recovery

facilities and secondary processing facilities are included as component of their respective

geographic Group and our recycling brokerage business and electronics recycling services are included as part

of our Other operations The following table shows changes in goodwill during 2008 and 2009 by reportable

segment on realigned basis in millions

Eastern Midwest Southern Western Wheelabrator Other Total

$1489 $1334 $594 $1167 $788 $34 $5406

20 54 53 132

Balance December 31 2007

Acquired goodwill

Divested goodwill net of assets

held-for-sale

Translation and other adjustments

Balance December 31 2008

Acquired goodwill

Divested goodwill net of assets

held-for-sale

Translation adjustments

52

1488 1300

10 45

37

Balance December 31 2009 $1500 $1382

12 67

643 1208 788 35 5462

36 27 125

43

$1221 $788 $62 $5632
______ ______

$679
______

The table below shows the total revenues by principal line of business in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

7980 8679 8714

2547 2955 3047

1383 1589 1654

841 912 868

741 1180 1135

245 207 163

_______ 2134 2271

_______
$13388 $13310
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Net operating revenues relating to operations in the United States and Puerto Rico as well as Canada are as

follows in millions

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

United States and Puerto Rico $11137 $12621 $12566

Canada 654 767 744

Total $11791 $13388 $13310

Property and equipment net relating to operations in the United States and Puerto Rico as well as Canada are

as follows in millions

December 31

2009 2008 2007

United States and Puerto Rico $10251 $10355 $10122

Canada 1290 1047 1229

Total $11541 $11402 $11351

22 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following table summarizes the unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2009 and 2008 in millions

except per share amounts

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2009

Operating revenues $2810 $2952 $3023 $3006

Income from operations 372 534 525 456

Consolidated net income 170 267 292 331

Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc 155 247 277 315

Basic earnings per common share 0.31 0.50 0.56 0.65

Diluted earnings per common share 0.31 0.50 0.56 0.64

2008

Operating revenues $3266 $3489 $3525 $3108

Income from operations 511 632 632 459

Consolidated net income 248 331 323 226

Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc 241 318 310 218

Basic earnings per common share 0.49 0.65 0.63 0.44

Diluted earnings per common share 0.48 0.64 0.63 0.44

Basic and diluted earnings per common share for each of the quarters presented above is based on the

respective weighted average
number of common and dilutive potential common shares outstanding for each quarter

and the sum of the quarters may not necessarily be equal to the full
year

basic and diluted earnings per common

share amounts
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From time to time our operating results are significantly affected by unusual or infrequent transactions or

events The following significant and unusual items have affected the comparison of our operating results during the

periods presented

First Quarter 2009

Income from operations was positively affected by the recognition of $10 million favorable adjustment to

Operating expenses due to an increase from 2.25% to 2.75% in the discount rate used to estimate the

present value of our environmental remediation obligations This reduction to Operating expenses
resulted

in corresponding increase in Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests of $2 million The

discount rate adjustment increased the quarters Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc by

$5 million or $0.01 per diluted share

Income from operations was negatively affected by non-cash charge of $49 million related to the

abandonment of the SAP waste and recycling revenue management software which reduced Net income

attributable to Waste Management Inc by $30 million or $0.06 per
diluted share Additionally we

recognized $38 million of charges related to our January 2009 restructuring which reduced Net income

attributable to Waste Management Inc by $23 million or $0.05 per diluted share

Second Quarter 2009

Income from operations was positively affected by the recognition of $22 million favorable adjustment to

Operating expenses due to an increase from 2.75% to 3.50% in the discount rate used to estimate the

present value of our environmental remediation obligations and recovery assets This reduction to

Operating expenses resulted in corresponding increase in Net income attributable to noncontrolling

interests of $6 million Additionally our Selling general and administrative expenses were reduced by

$8 million as result of the reversal of all compensation costs previously recognized for our 2008

performance share units based on determination that it is no longer probable that the targets established

for that award will be met These items increased the quarters Net income attributable to Waste

Management Inc by $15 million or $0.03 per diluted share

Income from operations was negatively affected by $9 million charge to Operating expenses
for

withdrawal of bargaining unit employees from an underfunded multi-employer pension fund ii $5 million

of charges related to our January 2009 restructuring and iii $2 million impairment charge recognized by

our Southern Group due to change in expectations for the operating life of landfill These items decreased

the quarters Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc by $10 million or $0.02 per diluted

share

Third Quarter 2009

Income from operations was negatively affected by $3 million of charges related to our January 2009

restructuring This charge negatively affected Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc for the

quarter by $2 million

Our Provision for income taxes for the quarter was reduced by $19 million primarily as result of the

finalization of our 2008 tax returns and tax audit settlements which positively affected Diluted earnings per

common share by $0.04

Fourth Quarter 2009

Income from operations was positively affected by an $18 million increase in the revenues of our Eastern

Group for payments received under an oil and gas lease at one of our landfills and ii $22 million decrease

to Depreciation and amortization expense for adjustments associated with changes in our expectations for
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the timing and cost of future final capping closure and post-closure of fully utilized airspace These items

increased the quarters Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc by $24 million or $0.05 per
diluted share

Income from operations was negatively affected by $27 million impairment charge recognized by our

Western Group as result in change in expectations for the future operations of an inactive landfill in

California ii $12 million increase to Selling general and administrative expenses for several legal

matters iii $4 million impairment charge required to write-down certain of our investments in portable

self-storage operations to their fair value as result of our acquisition of controlling financial interest in

those operations iv $4 million of charges related to our January 2009 restructuring and $2 million

impairment charge related to the abandonment of the SAP waste and recycling revenue management
software These items decreased the quarters Net income attributable to Waste Management Inc by
$29 million or $0.06 per

diluted share

Our Provision for income taxes for the quarter was reduced by $108 million as result of the liquidation

of foreign subsidiary which generated capital loss that could be utilized to offset capital gains generated

in previous years ii the utilization of state net operating loss and credit carry-forwards and iii reduction

in provincial tax rates in Ontario Canada which resulted in the revaluation of related deferred tax balances

This significant decrease in taxes resulted in an effective tax rate of 4.9% for the fourth quarter of 2009 and

positively affected the quarters Diluted earnings per common share by $0.22

First Quarter 2008

Net income was positively affected by $6 million reduction in our Provision for income taxes recognized

as result of the settlement of tax audits

Second Quarter 2008

Net income was positively affected by $7 million reduction in our Provision for income taxes

recognized as result of the settlement of tax audits and ii $10 million net reduction in Interest

expense or $6 million net of tax for the immediate recognition of fair value adjustments associated with

terminated interest rate swaps related to our $244 million of 8.75% senior notes that were repaid in May
2008 but would have matured in 2018

Third Quarter 2008

Income from operations was positively affected by the recognition of $23 million net credit to Income
expense from divestitures asset impairments and unusual items due to $26 million of gains from

divestitures of underperforming collection operations in our Southern Group offset in part by $3 million

impairment charge recognized as result of decision to close landfill in our Southern Group These items

positively affected net income for the period by $14 million or $0.03 per diluted share

Income from operations was negatively affected by $26 million of increased Operating expenses due to

labor disruption associated with the renegotiation of collective bargaining agreement in Milwaukee

Wisconsin and the related agreement of the bargaining unit to withdraw from the Central States Pension

Fund These charges negatively affected net income for the period by $16 million or $0.03 per diluted share

Fourth Quarter 2008

Income from operations was positively affected by $6 million reduction in landfill amortization

expenses associated with changes in our expectations for the timing and cost of future final capping closure

and post-closure of fully utilized airspace and ii the recognition of $5 million net credit to Income
expense from divestitures asset impairments and unusual items for the divestiture of operations principally
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in our Midwest Group These items positively affected net income for the period by $6 million or $0.01 per

diluted share

Income from operations was negatively affected by $24 million of increased Operating expenses due to

labor disruptions associated with the renegotiation of various collective bargaining agreements and the

related withdrawal of the bargaining units from multi-employer pension plans and ii $33 million charge

to Operating expenses as result of decrease in the risk-free interest rate used to discount our

environmental remediation liabilities The charge to Operating expenses associated with the change in the

discount rate used for our environmental remediation liabilities resulted in $6 million decrease in net

income attributable to noncontrolling interests during the period Collectively these items negatively

affected net income for the period by $30 million or $0.06 per
diluted share

Net income was positively affected by $13 million reduction in our Provision for income taxes

recognized as result of tax audit settlements

23 Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

WM Holdings has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of WMIs senior indebtedness WMI has fully and

unconditionally guaranteed all of WM Holdings senior indebtedness None of WMIs other subsidiaries have

guaranteed any of Wivils or WM Holdings debt As result of these guarantee arrangements we are required to

present the following condensed consolidating financial information in millions

119



WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 2009

WM Non-Guarantor
WMI Holdings Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1093 47 1140

Other current assets 24 1845 1870

1117 1892 3010

Property and equipment net 11541 11541

Investments in and advances to affiliates 10174 12770 2303 25247
Other assets 62 17 6524 6603

Total assets $11353 $12788 $22260 $25247 $21154

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 580 35 134 749

Accounts payable and other current

liabilities 90 17 2045 2152

670 52 2179 2901

Long-term debt less current portion 4398 601 3125 8124
Other liabilities 3538 3538

Total liabilities 5068 653 8842 14563

Equity

Stockholders equity 6285 12135 13112 25247 6285

Noncontrolling interests 306 306

6285 12135 13418 25247 6591

Total liabilities and equity $11353 $12788 $22260 $25247 $21154
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS Continued

December 31 2008

WM Non-Guarantor

WMI Holdings Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
450 30 480

Other current assets 1849 1855

456 1879 2335

Property and equipment net 11402 11402

Investments in and advances to affiliates 9851 11615 1334 22800

Other assets 109 18 6363 6490

Total assets $10416 $11633 $20978 $22800 $20227

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 507 328 835

Accounts payable and other current

liabilities 76 17 2108 2201

583 17 2436 3036

Long-term debt less current portion 3931 638 2922 7491

Other liabilities 3515 3515

Total liabilities 4514 655 8873 14042

Equity

Stockholders equity 5902 10978 11822 22800 5902

Noncontrolling interests 283 283

5902 10978 12105 22800 6185

Total liabilities and equity $10416 $11633 $20978 $22800 $20227
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31 2009

Operating revenues

Costs and expenses

Income from operations

Other income expense
Interest income expense

Equity in subsidiaries net of taxes

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated

entities and other net

Income before income taxes

Provision for benefit from income taxes..

Consolidated net income

Less Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to Waste

Management Inc

Year Ended December 31 2008

Operating revenues

Costs and expenses

Income from operations

Income before income taxes

Provision for benefit from income taxes

Consolidated net income

Less Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to Waste

Management Inc

WM Non-Guarantor
WMI Holdings Subsidiaries

$11791

9904

1887

268 41 104
1157 1182

889 1141 105
889 1141 1782

105 16 534

994 1157 1248

66

994 $1157 1182

$13388

11154

2234

40 122
1278

123

2111

792

1319

41

$1087 $1254 1278

Eliminations Consolidated

$11791

9904

1887

2339
413

414

1473

413

1060

66

$2339 994

$13388

11154

2234

2532
436

2339

2339

2339

Other income expense

Interest income expense 274
Equity in subsidiaries net of taxes 1254

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated

entities and other net

980

980

107

1087

1238

1238

16
1254

2532

2532

2532

437

1797

669

1128

41

$2532 1087

122



WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS Continued

WM Non-Guarantor

WMI Holdings Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Year Ended December 31 2007

Operating revenues $13310 $13310

Costs and expenses
11056 11056

Income from operations
2254 2254

Other income expense

Interest income expense 291 66 117 474

Equity in subsidiaries net of taxes 1347 1389 2736

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated

entities and other net 31 31

1056 1323 148 2736 505

Income before income taxes 1056 1323 2106 2736 1749

Provision for benefit from income taxes 107 24 671 540

Consolidated net income 1163 1347 1435 2736 1209

Less Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 46 46

Net income attributable to Waste

Management Inc $1163 $1347 1389 $2736 1163
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries net of

taxes

Other adjustments
_______ _______

Net cash provided by used in operating

activities

_______ _______

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions of businesses net of cash

acquired

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from divestitures of businesses

net of cash divested and other sales

of assets

Net receipts from restricted trust and

escrow accounts and other net

Net cash used in investing activities
_______ _______

Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings

Debt repayments

Common stock repurchases

Cash dividends

Exercise of common stock options

Distributions paid to noncontrolling

interests and other

Increase decrease in intercompany and

investments net

Net cash provided by used in financing

activities

_______ _______

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents
______

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

period
______ ______ ______

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

period

WM Non-Guarantor
WMI Holdings Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

994 1157 1248 $2339 1060

1157 1182 2339

26 1279 1302

137 28 2527 2362

281 281
1179 1179

28 28

182 182

1250 1250

1385 364 1749

810 525 1335
226 226
569 569

20 20

99 96

977 28 1005

780 28 1265 457

643 17 660

450 30 480

1093 47 1140
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Year Ended December 31 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries net of

taxes

Other adjustments
_______ _______ _______ _______

Net cash provided by used in operating

activities
_______ _______ _______

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of businesses net of cash

acquired

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from divestitures of businesses

net of cash divested and other sales

of assets

Net receipts from restricted trust and

escrow accounts and other net
______ ______

Net cash used in investing activities
_______ _______

Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings

Debt repayments

Common stock repurchases

Cash dividends

Exercise of common stock options

Distributions paid to noncontrolling

interests and other

Increase decrease in intercompany and

investments net
_______ _______ _______ _______

Net cash provided by used in financing

activities
________ ________ ________ ________

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents _______ _______ _______

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

period ______ ______ ______

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

period ______ ______ ______ _____

WM Non-Guarantor

WMI Holdings Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

1087 1254 1319 $2532 1128

1254 1278 2532

22 16 1485 1447

189 40 2804 2575

280 280
1221 1221

112 112

206

1183

944 1525

760 244 1785

410 410

531 531
37 37

92

938 284 68

225 40 68 1256

68 132

416 68 348

$450 $30 $480

208

1181

581

781

99

1290

1589

3034
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Year Ended December 31 2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries net of

taxes

Other adjustments

Net cash provided by used in operating

activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of businesses net of cash

acquired

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from divestitures of businesses

net of cash divested and other sales

of assets

Purchases of short-term investments

Proceeds from sales of short-term

investments

Net receipts from restricted trust and

escrow accounts and other net

Net cash provided by used in investing

activities

Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings

Debt repayments

Conmion stock repurchases

Cash dividends

Exercise of common stock options

Distributions paid to noncontrolling

interests and other

Increase decrease in intercompany and

investments net

Net cash provided by used in financing

activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

period

1347 1389
53 1286

237 45 2721

90
1211

82

184 941

644

848

$2736 1209

2736

1230

2439

90
1211

278

1220

1404

78

761

944

1200
1421

495
142

84

WM Non-Guarantor

WMI Holdings Subsidiaries

$1163 1347 $1435

Eliminations Consolidated

1220

1404

278

300

352
1421

495
142

26 58

1594 49 1636

206 49 1782 1946

259 266

675 61 614

416 68 348
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24 New Accounting Pronouncements Unaudited

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities In June 2009 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance

associated with the consolidation of variable interest entities This revised guidance replaces the current quan
titative-based assessment for determining which enterprise has controlling interest in variable interest entity with

an approach that is now primarily qualitative This qualitative approach focuses on identifying the enterprise that

has the power to direct the activities of the variable interest entity that can most significantly impact the entitys

performance and ii the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive benefits from the entity that could

potentially be significant to the variable interest entity This revised guidance also requires an ongoing assessment

of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity rather than reassessment only upon
the occurrence of specific events The new FASB -issued authoritative guidance associated with the consolidation of

variable interest entities is effective for the Company January 2010 The change in accounting may either be

applied by recognizing cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings on the date of adoption or by

retrospectively restating one or more years and recognizing cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings

as of the beginning of the earliest year restated We are currently in the process of assessing the provisions of this

revised guidance and have not determined whether the adoption will have material impact on our consolidated

financial statements

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements In September 2009 the FASB amended authoritative guid
ance associated with multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements This amended guidance addresses the determi
nation of when individual deliverables within an arrangement may be treated as separate units of accounting and

modifies the manner in which transaction consideration is allocated across the separately identifiable deliverables

The amendments to authoritative guidance associated with multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements are effective

for the Company January 2011 although the FASB does permit early adoption of the guidance provided that it is

retroactively applied to the beginning of the year of adoption The new accounting standard may be applied either

retrospectively for all periods presented or prospectively to arrangements entered into or materially modified after

the date of adoption We are in the process of assessing the provisions of this new guidance and currently do not

expect that the adoption will have material impact on our consolidated financial statements However our

adoption of this guidance may significantly impact our accounting and reporting for future revenue arrangements to

the extent they are material
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

We maintain set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information we are required to

disclose in reports that we file or submit with the SEC is recorded processed summarized and reported within the

time periods specified by the SEC An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of

the Companys management including the Chief Executive Officer CEO and Chief Financial Officer CFO
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report

Based on that evaluation the CEO and CFO have concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and procedures

are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file with

the SEC is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods required by the SEC and is

accumulated and communicated to management including our CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements report on our internal control over financial reporting can be found in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data of this report The Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms

attestation report on managements assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

can also be found in Item of this report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management together with our CEO and CFO evaluated the changes in our internal control over financial

reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2009 We determined that there were no changes in our internal

control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2009 that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Companys definitive Proxy

Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 11 2010

We have adopted code of ethics that applies to our CEO CFO and Chief Accounting Officer as well as other

officers directors and employees of the Company The code of ethics entitled Code of Conduct is posted on our

website at http//www.wm.com under the caption Ethics and Diversity

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is set forth in the 2010 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by

reference
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Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Table

The following table provides information as of December 31 2009 about the number of shares to be issued

upon vesting or exercise of equity awards and the number of shares remaining available for issuance under our

equity compensation plans

Number of Securities to Number of

be Issued Upon
Securities

Exercise Weighted-Average Remaining Available

of Outstanding Exercise Price of for Future Issuance

Options Outstanding Options Under Equity

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holdersa 12738118b $26.03c 21292299d

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security

holderse 173912 $23.43 132714

Total 12912030 $25.98 21425013

Includes our 1993 Stock Incentive Plan 2000 Stock Incentive Plan 1996 Non-Employee Directors Plan 2004

Stock Incentive Plan and 2009 Stock Incentive Plan Only our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan is available for

awards Also includes our Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Excludes purchase rights that accrue under the ESPP Purchase rights under the ESPP are considered equity

compensation for accounting purposes however the number of shares to be purchased is indeterminable until

the time shares are actually issued as automatic employee contributions may be terminated before the end of

an offering period and due to the look-back pricing feature the purchase price and corresponding number of

shares to be purchased
is unknown Includes 8625716 stock options 3082118 shares underlying perfor

mance share units at target performance and 1030284 shares underlying restricted stock units

Excludes performance share units and restricted stock units because those awards do not have exercise prices

associated with them Also excludes purchase rights under the ESPP for the reasons described in above

The shares remaining available include 18792503 shares under our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan and

2499796 shares under our ESPP In determining the number of shares available under the 2009 Stock

Incentive Plan we used the maximum number of shares that may be issued under our performance share units

which is two times the number at target No additional shares may be issued under any of the other plans

approved by stockholders

Includes our 2000 Broad-Based Employee Plan No awards under the Broad-Based Plan are held by or may be

granted to any of our directors or executive officers The Broad-Based Plan allows for the granting of equity

awards on such terms and conditions as the Management Development and Compensation Committee may

decide provided that the exercise price of options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the

stock on the date of grant and all options expire no later than ten years from the date of grant

The remainder of the information required by this Item is set forth in the 2010 Proxy Statement and is

incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is set forth in the 2010 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by

reference

129



Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is set forth in the 2010 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not significant or is included in the

financial statements or notes thereto or is not applicable

Exhibits

The exhibit list required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Exhibit Index filed as part of this

report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has

duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Date February 16 2010

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

By Is DAVID STEINER

David Steiner

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title

Is DAVID STEINER

David Steiner

Chief Executive Officer and Director Principal

Executive Officer

February 16 2010

Is ROBERT SIMPSON

Robert Simpson

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer Principal Financial Officer

February 16 2010

Is GREG ROBERTSON

Greg Robertson

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

February 16 2010

PASTORA SAN JUAN CAFFERTY

Pastora San Juan Cafferty

Is FRANK CLARK

Frank Clark

Is PATRICK GROSS

Patrick Gross

Director

Director

February 16 2010

February 16 2010

Is JOHN POPE

John Pope

Chairman of the Board and Director February 16 2010

Is ROBERT REUM

Robert Reum

/st STEVEN ROTHMEIER

Steven Rothmeier

1st THOMAS WEIDEMEYER

Thomas Weidemeyer

Director

Director

Director

February 16 2010

February 16 2010

February 16 2010

Date

Is Director February 16 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Waste Management Inc

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Waste Management Inc as of December 31 2009

and 2008 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 and have issued our report thereon

dated February 16 2010 included elsewhere in this Form 10-K Our audits also included the financial statement

schedule listed in Item 15a2 of this Form 10-K This schedule is the responsibility of the Companys
management Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits

In our opinion the financial statement schedule referred to above when considered in relation to the basic

financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Houston Texas

February 16 2010
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WASTE MANAGEMENT INC

SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

In Millions

Accounts

Balance Charged Written Balance

Beginning of Credited to Off/Use of End of

Year Income Reserve Othera Year

2007 Reserves for doubtful accountsb $51 $43 $44 $47

2008 Reserves for doubtful accountsb $47 $50 $56 $39

2009 Reserves for doubtful accountsb $39 $48 $57 $32

2007 Merger and restructuring accrualsc $10

2008 Merger and restructuring accrualsc

2009 Merger and restructuring accrualsc $50 $42 $10

The Other activity is related to reserves for doubtful accounts of acquired businesses reserves associated

with dispositions of businesses reserves reclassified to operations held-for-sale and reclassifications among

reserve accounts

Includes reserves for doubtful accounts receivable and notes receivable

Included in accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets These accruals represent employee

severance and benefit costs and transitional costs
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

No
Description

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30 2002

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K dated

December 11 20081

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31 1998

4.2 Indenture for Subordinated Debt Securities dated February 1997 among the Registrant and Texas

Commerce Bank National Association as trustee by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

Form 8-K dated February 1997
4.3 Indenture for Senior Debt Securities dated September 10 1997 among the Registrant and Texas

Commerce Bank National Association as trustee by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

Form 8-K dated September 10 1997
10.1 2009 Stock Incentive Plan by reference to Appendix A-ito the Proxy Statement for the

2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

10.2 2005 Annual Incentive Plan by reference to Appendix D-1 to the Proxy Statement for

the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

10.3 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan by reference to Appendix to the Proxy
Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

10.4 Waste Management Inc 409A Deferral Savings Plan by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006
10.5 $2.4 Billion Revolving Credit Agreement by and among Waste Management Inc and Waste

Management Holdings Inc and certain banks party thereto and Citibank N.A as Administrative

Agent JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A and Bank of America N.A as Syndication Agents and Barclays
Bank PLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc as Documentation Agents and J.P Morgan Securities

Inc and Banc of America Securities LLC as Lead Arrangers and Bookrunners dated August 17
2006 by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30
2006

10.6 Ten-Year Letter of Credit and Term Loan Agreement among the Company Waste Management

Holdings Inc and Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and Letter of Credit Issuer and
the Lenders party thereto dated as of June 30 2003 by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003
10.7 Seven-Year Letter of Credit and Term Loan Agreement among the Company Waste Management

Holdings Inc and Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and Letter of Credit Issuer and
the Lenders party thereto dated as of June 30 2003 by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Form i0Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003
10.8 2003 Waste Management Inc Directors Deferred Compensation Plan by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003
10.9 Employment Agreement between the Company and Cherie Rice dated August 26 2005

by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K dated August 26 2005
10.10 Employment Agreement between the Company and Greg Robertson dated August 2003

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2004
10.11 Employment Agreement between the Company and Lawrence ODonnell III dated January 21 2000

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2000
10.12 Employment Agreement between the Company and Puneet Bhasin dated December 2009

10.13 Employment Agreement between the Company and Duane Woods dated October 20 2004

by reference to Form 8-K dated October 20 2004
10.14 Employment Agreement between the Company and David Steiner dated as of May 2002

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2002
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Exhibit

No Description

10.15 Employment Agreement between the Company and James Trevathan dated as of June 2000

by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31 2000

10.16 Employment Agreement between Recycle America Alliance LLC and Patrick DeRueda dated as of

August 2005 by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K dated August 20051

10.17 Employment Agreement between the Company and Robert Simpson dated as of October 20 2004

by reference to Form 8-K dated October 20 2004

10.18 Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry Caidwell dated as of September 23

2002 by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2002

10.19 Employment Agreement between the Company and David Aardsma dated June 16 2005

by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K dated June 22 20051

10.20 Employment Agreement between the Company and Rick Wittenbraker dated as of November 10

2003 by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

20031

10.21 Employment Agreement between Wheelabrator Technologies Inc and Mark Weidman dated

May 11 2006 by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated May 11 20061

10.22 Employment Agreement between the Company and Jeff Harris dated December 2006

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated December 20061

10.23 Employment Agreement between the Company and Michael Jay Romans dated January 25 2007

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated January 25 20071

10.24 Employment Agreement between Waste Management Inc and Brett Frazier dated July 13 2007

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated July 13 2007

10.25 CDN $410000000 Credit Facility Credit Agreement by and between Waste Management of Canada

Corporation as Borrower Waste Management Inc and Waste Management Holdings Inc as

Guarantors BNP Paribas Securities Corp and Scotia Capital as Lead Arrangers and Book Runners

and Bank of Nova Scotia as Administrative Agent and the Lenders from time to time party to the

Agreement dated as of November 30 2005 by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Form 10-K

for the year
ended December 31 20051

10.26 First Amendment Agreement dated as of December 21 2007 to Credit Agreement dated as of

November 30 2005 by and between Waste Management of Canada Corporation as borrower Waste

Management Inc and Waste Management Holdings Inc as guarantors the lenders from time to time

party thereto and the Bank of Nova Scotia as Administrative Agent by reference to

Exhibit 10.28 to Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31 20071

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule Sd- 14a under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended of

David Steiner Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 15d-14a under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended of

Robert Simpson Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 of David Steiner Chief Executive Officer

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 of Robert Simpson Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

101 The following materials from Waste Management Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period

ended December 31 2009 formatted in XBRL Extensible Business Reporting Language the

Consolidated Balance Sheets ii the Consolidated Statements of Operations iiithe Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows iv the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements tagged as blocks of text

Filed herewith
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OFFICERS CORPORATE HEADUUARTERS

PASTORA SAN JUAN CAFFERTY

Professor Emerita
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ComEd
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JOHN POPE

Non-Executive Chairman of the Board

Waste Management Inc
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DAVID STEINER
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Chief Operating Officer

DAVID AARDSMA
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PUNEET BHASIN
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